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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties. All statements
other than statements of historical fact included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements give our current expectations and projections relating to our financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives,
future performance and business. You can identify forward-looking statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or
current facts. These statements may include words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” “plan,” “intend,” “believe,”
“may,” “will,” “should,” “can have,” “likely” and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any discussion of the
timing or nature of future operating or financial performance or other events. These forward-looking statements are not historical
facts, and are based on current expectations, estimates and projections about the Company and the Company’s industry,
management’s beliefs and certain assumptions made by management, many of which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and
beyond the Company’s control. Accordingly, readers are cautioned that any such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of
future performance and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Although the Company
believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable as of the date made, results may prove to
be materially different. Unless otherwise required by law, the Company disclaims any obligation to update its view of any such risks
or uncertainties or to announce publicly the result of any revisions to the forward-looking statements made in this report.

Factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those indicated in our forward-looking statements include, but
are not limited to, the following:
 

 •  our results of operations;
 

 
•  continuing costs associated with the investigation into our legacy premium finance business by the United States

Attorneys’ Office for the District of New Hampshire (“USAO”) (the “USAO Investigation”), an investigation by the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) (the “SEC Investigation”) and indemnification obligations related to the investigations;

 

 
•  adverse developments, including financial ones, associated with the USAO Investigation and SEC Investigation, other

litigation and judicial actions or similar matters;
 

 
•  our ability to continue to comply with the covenants and other obligations, including the conditions precedent for additional

fundings, under our revolving credit facility;
 

 
•  our ability to receive distributions from policy proceeds from life insurance policies pledged as collateral under our revolving

credit facility;
 

 
•  our ability to obtain financing on favorable terms or at all for life insurance policies that have not been pledged as collateral

under our revolving credit facility;
 

 •  our ability to continue to make premium payments on the life insurance policies that we own;
 

 
•  adverse developments, including financial ones, and costs associated with an investigation by the Internal Revenue

Services (“IRS”) (the “IRS Investigation”);
 

 
•  loss of business due to negative press from the USAO Investigation, SEC Investigation, Non-Prosecution Agreement, IRS

Investigation, litigation or otherwise;
 

 •  increases to the discount rates used to value the life insurance policies that we own;
 

 •  inaccurate estimates regarding the likelihood and magnitude of death benefits related to life insurance policies that we own;
 

 •  changes in mortality rates and inaccurate assumptions about life expectancies;
 

 •  changes in life expectancy calculation methodologies by third party medical underwriters;
 

 •  changes to actuarial life expectancy tables;
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 •  lack of mortalities of insureds of the life insurance policies that we own;
 

 •  increased carrier challenges to the validity of our owned life insurance policies;
 

 •  delays in the receipt of death benefits from our portfolio of life insurance policies;
 

 •  challenges to the ownership of the policies in our portfolio;
 

 •  costs related to obtaining death benefits from our portfolio of life insurance policies;
 

 •  the effect on our financial condition as a result of any lapse of life insurance policies;
 

 •  deterioration of the market for life insurance policies and life settlements;
 

 •  our ability to re-sell the life insurance policies we own at favorable prices, if at all;
 

 •  adverse developments associated with uncooperative co-trustees;
 

 •  loss of the services of any of our executive officers;
 

 
•  adverse court decisions interpreting insurable interest and the obligation of a life insurance carrier to pay death benefits or

return premiums upon a successful rescission or contest;
 

 •  our inability to continue to grow our businesses;
 

 •  liabilities associated with our legacy structured settlement business;
 

 •  changes in laws and regulations applicable to premium finance transactions or life settlements;
 

 •  adverse developments in capital markets;
 

 •  disruption of our information technology systems;
 

 •  our failure to maintain the security of personally identifiable information pertaining to our customers and counterparties;
 

 •  regulation of life settlement transactions as securities;
 

 •  our limited operating experience and our ability to successfully implement our lending strategy;
 

 •  deterioration in the credit worthiness of the life insurance companies that issue the policies included in our portfolio;
 

 •  increases in premiums on life insurance policies that we own;
 

 
•  the effects of United States involvement in hostilities with other countries and large-scale acts of terrorism, or the threat of

hostilities or terrorist acts; and
 

 •  changes in general economic conditions, including inflation, changes in interest or tax rates and other factors.

See “Risk Factors” for more information. All written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company, or persons
acting on its behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements. You should evaluate all forward-looking
statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in the context of these risks and uncertainties. The Company cautions you that
the important factors referenced above may not contain all of the factors that are important to you.

All statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Imperial,” “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” refer to Imperial Holdings, Inc.
and its consolidated subsidiaries unless the context suggests otherwise.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Founded in December 2006 as a Florida limited liability company, Imperial Holdings, LLC, converted into Imperial Holdings, Inc.
(with its subsidiaries, the “Company” or “Imperial”) on February 3, 2011, in connection with the Company’s initial public offering.

Incorporated in Florida, Imperial owns and manages a portfolio of 612 life insurance policies, also referred to as life settlements,
with a fair value of $303.0 million and an aggregate death benefit of approximately $3.0 billion at December 31, 2013. The Company
primarily earns income on these policies from changes in their fair value and through death benefits when a policy matures. The
Company has historically operated in two reportable business segments: life finance and structured settlements. On October 25,
2013, the Company sold its structured settlements business. See “Discontinued Operations” below.

Life Finance Business

Life Settlements Portfolio & Portfolio Management

At December 31, 2013, Imperial owned 612 life insurance policies with a fair value of $303.0 million. Valuation of insurance
policies is a critical component of Imperial’s estimate for the fair value of investments in life settlements. Imperial uses a probabilistic
method of valuing life insurance policies, meaning the individual insured’s probability of survival and probability of death are applied to
the required premium and net death benefit of the policy to extrapolate the likely cash flows over the life expectancy. These likely
cash flows are then discounted using a net present value formula. The weighted average discount rate used to value these policies
was 19.14% at December 31, 2013 and the discount rate used in valuing the individual policies ranged from 14.80% to 26.80%.
Management believes this to be the preferred valuation method at the present time in the industry. Please see Item 7—
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Policies, for a more
detailed discussion of determining the fair value of life settlements.

The life insurance policies in Imperial’s portfolio were acquired through a combination of policy surrenders or foreclosures in
satisfaction of loans issued under the Company’s legacy premium finance business, direct policy purchases from the original policy
owners (the secondary market) and from purchases of policies owned by other institutional investors (the tertiary market).

Until a policy matures, the Company must pay ongoing premiums to keep that policy in force and to prevent it from lapsing.
Upon a policy lapse, the Company would suffer a complete loss on its investment in that policy. Accordingly, the Company must
proactively manage its cash in order to effectively run its business, avoid liquidity risk and continue to pay premiums in order to
maintain the policies in its portfolio.

On April 29, 2013, White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LLC, (“White Eagle”), a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a 15-year
revolving credit facility providing for up to $300.0 million in borrowings (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) to pay premiums on the
policies pledged as collateral under the facility, debt service and for the fees and expenses of certain service providers. The initial
advance under the Revolving Credit Facility was approximately $83.0 million, with a portion of such borrowings used to fund a $48.5
million release payment under a termination agreement (the “Termination Agreement”) to the Company’s lender protection insurance
coverage provider (the “LPIC Provider”) who released all of its salvage and subrogation rights in 323 policies that the Company
historically treated as contingent assets and described as “Life Settlements with Subrogation rights, net” as well as in 93 policies that
were owned by CTL Holdings, LLC (“CTL”). On April 30, 2013, the Company acquired CTL. At December 31, 2013, the Company or
its subsidiaries owned 392 policies that were acquired through the acquisition of CTL or that were considered contingent assets prior
to the effectiveness of
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the Termination Agreement, with an aggregate death benefit of $1.8 billion and an estimated fair value of approximately $161.1
million. The Company believes that it was uniquely positioned to transact with both the LPIC Provider and CTL and that the
transaction prices were, accordingly, not indicative of what an exit price would be for these policies in a negotiated market transfer.

While borrowings from the Revolving Credit Facility should provide the funds necessary to pay premiums on the policies that
have been pledged as collateral, any available proceeds under the facility’s waterfall provisions will generally be directed to pay
outstanding interest and principal on the loan unless the lenders determine otherwise. Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to
when the proceeds from maturities of the policies pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility will be distributed to the
Company by White Eagle. The Company may in the future pledge and/or borrow against certain or all of the 155 policies that have not
been pledged under the Revolving Credit Facility, the majority of which were historically maintained by the LPIC Provider. It may also
determine to sell all or a portion of these non-pledged policies and, under certain circumstances, lapse certain of these policies as its
portfolio strategy and liquidity needs dictate. Should it choose to maintain all of the policies that have not been pledged as collateral
under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Company estimates that it will need to pay approximately $8.2 million to maintain these 155
policies in force through 2014.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company collected $12.0 million in death benefits from policies that matured
during 2013. The Company also surrendered two policies for gross proceeds of $1.0 million and sold eight policies that were not
pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility for gross proceeds of $5.8 million. Additionally, the Company lapsed 20
policies.

Institutional Lending

On February 21, 2014, Imperial issued $70.7 million of 8.50% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019 (the “Notes”). The
Company plans to use a portion of the proceeds to strategically lend against portfolios of life settlements owned by institutional
investors and anticipates that it will be able to enter into loan transactions where the Company would lend, as a first-priority secured
lender, on a “last money in—first money out” basis, meaning that proceeds from the policies pledged as collateral under a loan that
will first be distributed, after premium payments and fees to service providers, to pay outstanding interest and principal on the loan.
The Company expects that its participation in any such loan will be conditioned on being granted a participation in the proceeds of
the death benefits from the underlying portfolios. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—2013 Key Highlights, Recent Developments & Outlook.”

Premium Finance & Associated Litigation

The Company historically provided premium finance loans for individual life insurance policies. In a premium finance transaction,
a life insurance policyholder obtains a loan, usually through an irrevocable life insurance trust established by the insured, to pay
insurance premiums for a fixed period of time. A premium finance loan allows a policyholder to maintain coverage under the policy
without having to make premium payments during the term of the loan. We acquired life insurance policies when a borrower defaulted
on a premium finance loan originated by us, and we foreclosed on the policy. As described below, on April 30, 2012, the Company
voluntarily terminated its premium finance business in connection with the entry into a Non-Prosecution Agreement with the USAO.
We had effectively suspended originating premium finance as of the end of the third quarter of 2011.

On September 27, 2011, the Company was informed that it was being investigated by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District
of New Hampshire (the “USAO Investigation”). At that time, the Company was informed that, among other individuals, its former
president and chief operating officer and three former life finance sales executives were considered “targets” of the USAO
Investigation. The USAO Investigation focused on the Company’s premium finance loan business.
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On April 30, 2012, the Company entered into a Non-Prosecution Agreement (the “Non-Prosecution Agreement”) with the USAO,
which agreed not to prosecute the Company for its involvement in the making of misrepresentations on life insurance applications in
connection with its premium finance business or any potential securities fraud claims related to its premium finance business. In the
Non-Prosecution Agreement, the USAO and the Company agreed among other things, that the following facts are true and correct:
(i) at all relevant times (x) certain insurance companies required that the prospective insured applying for a life insurance policy, and
sometimes the agent, disclose information relating to premium financing on applications for life insurance policies, and (y) the
questions typically required the prospective insured to disclose if he or she intended to seek premium financing in connection with the
policy and sometimes required the agent to disclose if he or she was aware of any such intent on the part of the applicant; (ii) in
connection with a portion of the Company’s retail operation known as “retail non-seminar” that began in December 2006 and was
discontinued in January 2009, Imperial had a practice of disclosing on applications that the prospective insured was seeking premium
financing when the life insurance company allowed premium financing from Imperial; however, in certain circumstances, Imperial
internal life agents facilitated and/or made misrepresentations on applications that the prospective insured was not seeking premium
financing when the insurance carrier was likely to deny the policy on the basis of premium financing; and (iii) to the extent that
external agents, brokers and insureds caused other misrepresentations to be made in life insurance applications in connection with
the retail non-seminar business, Imperial failed to appropriately tailor controls to prevent potential fraudulent practices in that
business. In total, the Company originated 114 premium finance loans as part of the retail non-seminar business. As of December 31,
2013, the Company had 39 policies in its portfolio that once served as collateral for premium finance loans derived through the retail
non-seminar business.

In connection with the Non-Prosecution Agreement, Imperial voluntarily agreed to terminate its premium finance business, which
historically accounted for the majority of the Company’s income and terminated certain senior sales staff associated with the premium
finance business. Additionally, the Company paid the United States Government $8.0 million, and agreed to cooperate fully with the
USAO’s ongoing investigation and to refrain from and self-report any criminal conduct.

Following the announcement of the USAO Investigation, the Company and certain of its officers and directors were named as
defendants in several purported class and derivative actions. Final settlements in respect of these matters received court approval
during the fourth quarter of 2013. Please see “Litigation” under Note 15, “Commitments and Contingencies,” to our consolidated
financial statements for more information concerning these matters.

Regulation

The sale and solicitation of life insurance is highly regulated by the laws and regulations of individual states and other applicable
jurisdictions. The purchase of a policy directly from a policy owner is referred to as a life settlement and is regulated on a state-by-
state basis.

At December 31, 2013, we maintained licenses to transact life settlements in 26 of the states that currently require a license and
could conduct business in 34 states, and the District of Columbia.

Our primary regulator is the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation. A majority of the state laws and regulations concerning life
settlements are based on the Model Act and Model Regulation adopted by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners
(NAIC) and the Model Act adopted by the National Conference of Insurance Legislators (NCOIL). The NAIC and NCOIL models
include provisions which relate to: (i) provider and broker licensing requirements; (ii) reporting requirements; (iii) required contract
provisions and disclosures; (iv) privacy requirements; (v) fraud prevention measures; (vi) criminal and civil remedies; (vii) marketing
requirements; (viii) the time period in which policies cannot be sold in life settlement transactions; and (viii) other rules governing the
relationship between policy owners, insured persons, insurer, and others.
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Competition

Competition in the life finance space comes through two channels: other life settlement providers and institutional investors. To
be a life settlement provider and transact with the original holder of a life insurance policy requires, in most instances, a license on a
state-by-state basis. The life settlement business is highly fragmented and, therefore, competition is diverse. Often, life settlement
providers are originating on behalf of institutional investors who do not maintain the necessary licenses to transact in the secondary
market for life insurance. These investors may have significantly more resources than the Company and can generally also transact
directly in the tertiary market.

Employees

At December 31, 2013, we employed 107 full-time employees and no part-time employees. As contemplated in the sale of our
structured settlement business, on January 1, 2014, 66 of these employees were hired by the purchaser of our structured settlements
business and ceased working for us. None of our employees is subject to any collective bargaining agreement. We believe that our
employee relations are good.

Discontinued Operations

On October 25, 2013, the Company sold substantially all of the operating assets comprising its structured settlement business to
Majestic Opco L.L.C for $12.0 million pursuant to an asset purchase agreement. As a result, the Company has discontinued segment
reporting and classified its structured settlement operating results, net of income taxes, as discontinued operations. In this Annual
Report, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related
consolidated statements of operations for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013, and the related notes to
the consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively revised to reflect the classification of our structured settlement
business operating results, net of tax, as discontinued operations.

Structured settlements refer to a contract between a plaintiff and defendant whereby the plaintiff agrees to settle a lawsuit
(usually a personal injury, product liability or medical malpractice claim) in exchange for periodic payments over time. A defendant’s
payment obligation with respect to a structured settlement is usually assumed by a casualty insurance company. This payment
obligation is then satisfied by the casualty insurer through the purchase of an annuity from a life insurance company, which provides a
stream of payments to the plaintiff.

Recipients of structured settlements are permitted to sell their deferred payment streams to a structured settlement purchaser
pursuant to state statutes that require certain disclosures, notice to the obligors and state court approval. Through such sales, we
previously purchased a certain number of fixed, scheduled future settlement payments on a discounted basis in exchange for a single
lump sum payment.

Company Website Access and SEC Filings

Our website may be accessed at www.imperial.com. All of our filings with the SEC can be accessed free of charge through our
website promptly after filing; however, in the event that the website is inaccessible, we will provide paper copies of our most recent
annual report on Form 10-K, the most recent quarterly report on Form 10-Q, current reports filed or furnished on Form 8-K, and all
related amendments, excluding exhibits, free of charge upon request. These filings are also accessible on the SEC’s website at
www.sec.gov.

General Information

Our registrar and stock transfer agent is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC. Our transfer agent is responsible for
maintaining all records of shareholders, canceling or issuing stock certificates and
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resolving problems related to lost, destroyed or stolen certificates. For more information, please contact: American Stock Transfer &
Trust Company at 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, NY 11219 Phone: 800-937-5449.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risks Related to Our Business

We may not have access to cash flows from proceeds of policies pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit
Facility and may be required to pay income taxes on the income generated by such policies, which could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to fund future operations.

As of December 31, 2013, there were 457 life insurance policies pledged by White Eagle as collateral under the Revolving
Credit Facility with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.3 billion. Proceeds from these policies will be distributed pursuant
to a contractual waterfall governing priority of payments. After payments to customary service providers, 100% of available proceeds
will be directed to pay outstanding interest and principal on the loan, unless the lenders under the Revolving Credit Facility determine
otherwise. Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to when proceeds from these policies will be distributed to us by White Eagle.

Although we will not directly receive the proceeds from the policies for an indefinite period of time, we may still recognize taxable
income on the portion of the proceeds in excess of our tax basis in the policies. Although we currently have net operating losses that
we may be able to use to reduce a portion of our future taxable income, the inability to access cash flows from the proceeds of the
policies pledged under the Revolving Credit Facility could have a material adverse effect on our ability to pay future tax liabilities, to
fund our operations, to service our other debt and to pay the premiums required to maintain policies that are not pledged as collateral
under the Revolving Credit Facility. We are exploring alternatives that may permit us to own our policies in a more tax-neutral
manner, although there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so.

We may require additional capital and there can be no assurance that we will be able to raise additional capital in a
timely manner on favorable terms or at all.

Subject to borrowing base limitations and other conditions to funding, our subsidiary may borrow proceeds to pay premiums on
457 life insurance policies pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility at December 31, 2013. However, we estimate
that, in addition to general overhead expenses, we will need to pay approximately $8.2 million in premiums to keep our remaining 155
life insurance policies that have not been pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility in force through December 31,
2014. As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $22.7 million of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash of $13.5
million. Accordingly, we must proactively manage our cash and may need to raise additional capital in order to effectively run our
businesses, maintain the policies that have not been pledged under the Revolving Credit Facility and opportunistically grow our
assets. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to raise additional capital on favorable terms or at all.

As part of our cash management and business strategy, we may determine to sell all or a portion of the non-pledged policies,
but there can be no assurance that we can consummate any sales or that, if consummated, sales of policies will be at or above their
carrying values. We may also determine to lapse certain of these policies that have a low return profile or as its portfolio management
needs dictate. The lapsing of policies, if any, would create losses as the assets would be written down to zero.

We may not have sufficient funds to pay our debt and other obligations.

Our cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and operating cash flows may be inadequate to meet our obligations under
the Notes or our other obligations. In addition, we are not able to borrow money under our Revolving Credit Facility to pay interest or
principal on the Notes. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash
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flow or otherwise obtain funds necessary to make required payments on the Notes, we will be in default under the Notes, which could
cause defaults under any of our other indebtedness then outstanding. Any such default would have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition and operating results. There may be other events that could hurt our financial condition that
would not entitle you to have your Notes repurchased by us.

Indemnification and advancement obligations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Contractual obligations, including those undertaken in the settlements of the class action and derivative litigation arising from the
USAO Investigation, require that we indemnify and advance the legal costs incurred by certain individuals who would otherwise be
entitled to coverage under our director and officer liability insurance in connection with the USAO Investigation and the SEC
Investigation. The obligation to continue to advance and indemnify on behalf of these individuals, while currently unquantifiable, is
likely to continue to be substantial and will likely further strain our liquidity position and could have a material adverse effect on our
financial position and results of operations.

Our success in operating our life finance business is dependent on making accurate assumptions about life
expectancies and maintaining adequate cash balances to pay premiums.

We are responsible for paying all premiums necessary to keep the policies in our portfolio in force and prevent them from
lapsing. We estimate that we will need to pay $8.2 million in premiums to keep our current portfolio of life insurance policies that are
not pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility in force through 2014. As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately
$22.7 million of cash and $13.5 million in restricted cash. By using cash reserves to pay premiums for retained life insurance policies,
we will have less cash available for other business purposes. Therefore, our cash flows and the required amount of our cash
reserves to pay premiums will become dependent on our assumptions about life expectancies being accurate.

Life expectancies are estimates of the expected longevity or mortality of an insured and are inherently uncertain. A life
expectancy obtained on an insured for a life insurance policy may not be predictive of the future longevity or mortality of the insured.
Inaccurate forecasting of an insured’s life expectancy could result from, among other things: (i) advances in medical treatment (e.g.,
new cancer treatments) resulting in deaths occurring later than forecasted; (ii) inaccurate diagnosis or prognosis; (iii) changes to life
style habits or the individual’s ability to fight disease, resulting in improved health; (iv) reliance on outdated or incomplete age or
health information about the insured, or on information that is inaccurate (whether or not due to fraud or misrepresentation by the
insured); or (v) improper or flawed methodology or assumptions in terms of modeling or crediting of medical conditions. In forecasting
estimated life expectancies, we utilize third party medical underwriters to evaluate the medical condition and life expectancy of each
insured. The firms that provide health assessments and life expectancy information may depend on, among other things, actuarial
tables and model inputs for insureds and third-party information from independent physicians who, in turn, may not have personally
performed a physical examination of any of the insureds and may have relied solely on reports provided to them by attending
physicians or other health care providers with whom they were authorized to communicate. The accuracy of this information has not
been and will not be independently verified by us or our service providers.

21st Services, LLC (“21st Services”), one of the life expectancy providers whose reports are used by us to calculate fair value,
announced significant revisions to its underwriting methodology in 2013, which according to 21st Services, has generally been
understood to lengthen the average reported life expectancy it furnished by 19%. As of December 31, 2013, we received 226
updated life expectancy reports from 21st Services of which 183 were used to calculate life expectancy extension. These life
expectancies reported an average lengthening of life expectancies of 14.67%. At this time, we are continuing to monitor these
developments and whether other market participants will continue to use 21st Services and AVS life expectancy reports for valuation
purposes
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going forward. As a result of these developments, we may need to adjust the application of life expectancy reports in our fair value
methodology or source reports from different life expectancy providers in future periods, which could have a material adverse impact
on our fair value calculations.

If life expectancy valuations underestimate the longevity of the insureds, the actual maturity date of the life insurance policies
may therefore be farther in the future than projected. Consequently, we may not have sufficient cash for payment of insurance
premiums and we may allow the policies to lapse or be forced to sell policies, resulting in a loss of our investment in those policies, or
if we continue to fund premium payments, the time period within which we could expect to receive a return of our investment in such
life insurance policies may be extended, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Additionally, if widely used mortality tables are adjusted, as they were in 2008, to generally assume prolonged life expectancies,
the fair value of our portfolio of life insurance policies could be adversely affected, which may have a material adverse effect on our
business, operations and financial results. Further, updated life expectancy reports may indicate that an insured’s health has
improved since we last procured a life expectancy report, which would generally result in a decrease in the fair value of the life
insurance policy insuring the life of that insured.

Contractions in the market for life insurance policies could make it more difficult for us to opportunistically sell
policies that we own and may make it more difficult to borrow under the Revolving Credit Facility.

A potential sale of a life insurance policy owned by us depends significantly on the market for life insurance, which may contract
or disappear depending on the impact of potential government regulation, future economic conditions and/or other market variables.
For example, the secondary and tertiary markets for life insurance policies incurred a significant slowdown in 2008, which has
continued through the present. Historically, many investors who invest in life insurance policies are foreign investors who are
attracted by potential investment returns from life insurance policies issued by United States life insurers with high ratings and
financial strength, as well as by the view that such investments are non-correlated assets—meaning changes in the equity or debt
markets should not affect returns on such investments. Changes in the value of the United States dollar and corresponding exchange
rates, as well as changes to the ratings of United States life insurers can cause foreign investors to suffer a reduction in the value of
their United States dollar denominated investments and reduce their demand for such products. Additionally, we believe increased
carrier litigation, as well as criminal investigations involving the life settlement market, have significantly depleted the investor base.
Any of the above factors could result in a further contraction of the market, which could make it more difficult for us to opportunistically
sell our life insurance policies.

The ability of White Eagle to continue to draw borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility is controlled by a borrowing base
formula. To the extent the above noted and other factors result in market contractions, they will likely also negatively impact the value
of the policies owned by White Eagle that are pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility, which could decrease the
borrowing base under the facility. If White Eagle is unable to draw under the Revolving Credit Facility, it may not be able to sustain the
policies it owns, which could lead to lapses or an event of default under the Revolving Credit Facility.

Our fair value assumptions are inherently subjective and, if the fair value of the life insurance policies decreases, we
will report losses with respect to the policies we own.

When we obtain ownership of a life insurance policy, we record the investment in the policy as an investment in life settlements
at the transaction price as of the date of acquisition. At the end of each reporting period, we re-value the life insurance policies we
own. To the extent that the calculation results in an adjustment to the fair value of the policy, we record this as a change in fair value
of our investment in life insurance policies.
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This evaluation of the fair value of life insurance policies is inherently subjective as it requires estimates and assumptions that are
susceptible to significant revision as more information becomes available. Using our valuation model, we determine the fair value of
life insurance policies on a discounted cash flow basis. The most significant assumptions that we estimate are the life expectancy of
the insured, expected premium payments and the discount rate. The discount rate is based upon current information about market
interest rates, the credit exposure to the insurance company that issued the life insurance policy and our estimate of the risk margin
an investor in the policy would require. We estimate the life expectancy of an insured by analyzing medical reviews from third-party
medical underwriters, who evaluate the health of the insured by examining the insured’s historical and current medical records. We
then calculate a mortality impairment factor for the insured as that factor which, when applied to our mortality table, reproduces the
same life expectancy for that insured. We use the resulting mortality impairment factor to generate a series of probabilistic future cash
flows for the policy, which we then discount and aggregate to arrive at the fair value of the policy. If we are unable to accurately
estimate any of these factors, or if the actuarial tables are revised (as they were in 2008), we may have to write down the fair value of
our investments in life settlements, which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and our financial condition.

Insurable interest concerns regarding a life insurance policy can also adversely impact its fair value. A claim or the perceived
potential for a claim for rescission or a challenge to insurable interest by an insurance company or by persons with an insurable
interest in the insured of a portion of or all of the policy death benefit can negatively impact the fair value of a life insurance policy. If
the USAO Investigation, SEC Investigation, IRS investigation or Non-Prosecution Agreement cause us to experience more
challenges to the life insurance policies that we own than we otherwise would experience, those challenges could negatively impact
the fair value of the life insurance policies that we own. See “Litigation” under Note 15, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our
consolidated financial statements.

If the calculation of fair value results in a decrease in value, we record this reduction as a loss. If we determine that it is
appropriate to increase the discount rate or adjust other inputs to our fair value model, if we are otherwise unable to accurately
estimate the assumptions in our valuation model, or if other factors cause the fair value of our life insurance policies to decrease, the
carrying value of our assets may be materially adversely affected and may materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

The life insurance policies that we own may be subject to contest, rescission and/or non-cooperation by the issuing life
insurance company, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

All states require that the initial purchaser of a new life insurance policy insuring the life of an individual have an “insurable
interest,” meaning a stake in the insured’s health and wellbeing, rather than the insured’s death, in such individual’s life at the time of
original issuance of the policy. Whether an insurable interest exists in the context of the purchase of a life insurance policy is critical
because, in the absence of a valid insurable interest, life insurance policies are unenforceable under most states’ laws. Where a life
insurance policy has been issued to a policyholder without an insurable interest in the life of the individual who is insured, the life
insurance company may be able to void or rescind the policy. Even if the insurance company cannot void or rescind the policy, the
insurable interest laws of a number of states provide that persons with an insurable interest on the life of the insured may have the
right to recover a portion or all of the death benefit payable under a policy from a person who has no insurable interest on the life of
the insured. These claims can generally only be brought if the policy was originally issued to a person without an insurable interest in
the life of the insured.

Many states have enacted statutes prohibiting stranger-originated life insurance, or STOLI, in which an individual purchases a
life insurance policy with the intention of selling it to a third-party investor, who lacks an insurable interest in the insured’s life. Some
insurance carriers have contested policies as STOLI arrangements, specifically citing the existence of certain nonrecourse premium
financing arrangements as a basis to challenge the validity of the policies used to collateralize the financing. Additionally, if an
insurance carrier alleges that
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there were misrepresentations or fraud in the application process for an insurance policy, they may sue us or others to contest or
rescind that policy. If a policy that we own is subject to a successful contest or rescission, the fair value of the policy could be reduced
to zero, negatively impacting the discount rates used to value our portfolio generally and our ability to sell policies. Generally, life
insurance policies may only be rescinded by the issuing life insurance company within the contestability period, which, in most states
is two years. Lack of insurable interest can in some instances form the basis of loss of right to payment under a life insurance policy
for many years beyond the contestability period and insurance carriers have been known to challenge claims for death benefits for
more than five years from issuance of the policy.

From time to time, insurance carriers have challenged the validity of policies owned by us or that once served as the underlying
collateral for a premium finance loan made by us. We believe the USAO Investigation, the SEC Investigation and the Non-Prosecution
Agreement have caused us to experience more challenges to policies by insurers attempting to use such investigations and the Non-
Prosecution Agreement as grounds for rescinding or contesting a policy. Any such future challenges may result in a cloud over title
and collectability, increased costs, delays in payment of life insurance proceeds or even the voiding of a policy, and could have a
material adverse effect on the ability to comply with the covenants in the Revolving Credit Facility, our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Additionally, if an insurance company successfully rescinds or contests a policy, the insurance company may not be required to
refund all or, in some cases, any of the insurance premiums paid for the policy. While defending an action to contest or rescind a
policy, premium payments may have to continue to be made to the life insurance company. Hence, in the case of a contest or
rescission, premiums paid to the carrier (including those paid during the pendency of a contest or rescission action) may not be
refunded. If they are not, we may suffer a complete loss with respect to a policy, which may adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Premium financed life insurance policies are susceptible to a higher risk of fraud and misrepresentation on life
insurance applications, which increases the risk of contest, rescission or non-cooperation by issuing life insurance
carriers.

While fraud and misrepresentation by applicants and potential insureds in completing life insurance applications (especially with
respect to the health and medical history and condition of the potential insured as well as the applicant’s net worth) exist generally in
the life insurance industry, such risk of fraud and misrepresentation is heightened in connection with life insurance policies for which
the premiums are financed through premium finance loans. In particular, there is a risk that applicants and potential insureds may not
answer truthfully or completely to any questions related to whether the life insurance policy premiums will be financed through a
premium finance loan or otherwise, the applicants’ purpose for purchasing the policy or the applicants’ intention regarding the future
sale or transfer of the life insurance policy. Such risk may be further increased to the extent life insurance agents communicated to
applicants and potential insureds regarding potential premium finance arrangements or transfers of life insurance policies through
payment defaults under premium finance loans. In the ordinary course of our legacy premium finance business, our sales team
received inquiries from life insurance agents and brokers regarding the availability of premium finance loans for their clients. However,
any communication between the life insurance agent and the potential policyholder or insured is beyond our control and we may not
know whether a life insurance agent discussed with the potential policyholder or the insured the possibility of a premium finance loan
by us or the subsequent transfer of the life insurance policy. Consequently, notwithstanding the representations and certifications we
obtained from the policyholders, insureds and the life insurance agents, there is a risk that we may have financed premiums for
policies that an insurance carrier or others could contest based on fraud or misrepresentation as to any information provided to the
life insurance company, including the life insurance application.

Misrepresentations, fraud, omissions or lack of insurable interest can also, in some instances, form the basis of loss of right to
payment under a life insurance policy. Based on statements made in the Non-Prosecution
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Agreement, there is a risk that policies that we own may increasingly be challenged by insurance carriers. Any such challenges to the
policies may result in increased costs, delays in payment of life insurance proceeds or even the voiding of a policy, a reduction in the
fair value of a policy and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

As of December 31, 2013, of the 612 policies in our life settlement portfolio, 569 policies were previously premium financed. We
acquired 39 of those life settlements as a result of defaults under premium finance loans originated as part of the retail non-seminar
business.

Delays in payment and non-payment of life insurance policy proceeds can occur for many reasons and any such
delays may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A number of arguments may be made by former beneficiaries (including but not limited to spouses, ex-spouses and
descendants of the insured) under a life insurance policy, by the beneficiaries of the trust that once held the policy, by the estate or
legal heirs of the insured or by the insurance company issuing such policy, to deny or delay payment of proceeds following the death
of an insured, including arguments related to lack of mental capacity of the insured, contestability or suicide provisions in a policy.
The statements in the Non-Prosecution Agreement may make such delays more likely and may increase carrier challenges to paying
out death claims. Furthermore, if the death of an insured cannot be verified and no death certificate can be produced, the related
insurance company may not pay the proceeds of the life insurance policy until the passage of a statutory period (usually five to seven
years) for the presumption of death without proof. Such delays in payment or non-payment of policy proceeds may have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Upon an event of default, we may lose the collateral pledged under the Revolving Credit Facility.

Upon an event of default, absent a waiver, in addition to principal and interest, the lenders’ rights to proceeds from collections
under the Revolving Credit Facility will become due. If these obligations cannot be satisfied, the lenders, or their agent, may dispose
of, release, or foreclose on (including by means of strict foreclosure on all or any of the policies or on our interests in White Eagle,
which might be exercised in a manner intended to impair our rights to excess proceeds of any liquidation of foreclosed assets), or
take other actions with respect to the policies currently pledged as collateral which we or our shareholders may disagree or that may
be contrary to the interests of our shareholders.

We may not be able to refinance the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Revolving Credit Facility contains covenants that may significantly limit our ability to refinance. In addition, the lenders
under the Revolving Credit Facility have a substantial interest in and priority rights to distributions of certain proceeds of the assets.
Such covenants and such interest in and rights to distributions may significantly reduce our ability to attract replacement financing
were we to seek to refinance the credit facility as a means of limiting adverse actions by the lenders in the exercise of their remedies
in relation to any event of default.

We may be unable to deduct interest payments on debt that is attributed to policies that we own, which would reduce
any future income and cash flows.

Generally, under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), interest paid or accrued on debt obligations is
deductible in computing a taxpayer’s federal income tax liability. However, when the proceeds of indebtedness are used to pay
premiums on life insurance policies that are owned by the entity incurring the debt or otherwise used to support the purchase or
ownership of life insurance policies, the interest in respect of such proceeds may not be deductible. Accordingly, so long as we use a
portion of debt financing to pay the premiums on policies owned by us or to support the continued ownership of life insurance policies
by us,
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the interest paid or accrued on that portion of the debt may not be deductible by us for federal income tax purposes. Although we
have net operating losses that we may be able to use to reduce a portion of our future taxable income, the inability to deduct interest
accrued on debt could have a material adverse effect on our future earnings and cash flows available for the payment of interest. We
are exploring alternatives that may permit us to own our policies in a more tax-advantaged manner.

We may not have the cash necessary to settle the conversions of the Notes in combination settlements or to
repurchase the Notes when required.

Prior to the earlier of the date on which we receive the approval of our shareholders to issue shares of common stock upon
conversion of the Notes in excess of 19.99% of our outstanding shares of common stock on the date the Notes were initially issued or
the date on which such shareholder approval is no longer required, holders may only surrender their Notes for conversion for a
combination of cash and common stock at the then applicable conversion rate. In addition, holders of the Notes will have the right to
require us to repurchase the Notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change at 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued and
unpaid interest (including additional interest), if any. A fundamental change is deemed to occur whenever any of the following occurs:
(a) our common stock ceases to be listed or quoted on a national securities exchange in the United States, (b) our shareholders
approve any plans for liquidation or dissolution, or (c) we experience a change in control represented by: (1) a majority of the
members of our board of directors no longer being considered continuing directors, (ii) a transaction whereby our shareholders own
less than 50% of the surviving company after the transaction, or (iii) a person or group obtaining more than 50% of the voting power of
the common stock. However, we may not have enough available cash to pay any such cash amounts upon conversion, or make the
required repurchase of the Note at the applicable time and, in such circumstances, may not be able to obtain the necessary financing
on favorable terms. In addition, our ability to pay cash upon conversion or to repurchase the Notes may be limited by law or by the
agreements governing our indebtedness that exist at the time of the conversion or the repurchase, as the case may be. Our failure to
pay the conversion consideration or to repurchase the surrendered Notes at a time when the conversion consideration or repurchase
is required by the indenture would constitute a default under the indenture. A default under the indenture or a fundamental change
itself, in the case of the repurchase of the Notes, could also lead to a default under the agreements governing our other
indebtedness. If the repayment of the related indebtedness were to be accelerated after any applicable notice or grace periods, we
may not have sufficient funds to repay the indebtedness and to pay the conversion consideration or to repurchase the Notes, as the
case may be.

The conversion rate for the Notes will be adjusted in connection with a make-whole fundamental change.

If a make-whole fundamental change occurs prior to maturity, under certain circumstances, we will increase the conversion rate
by a number of additional shares of common stock for the Notes converted in connection with such make-whole fundamental change.
The increase in the conversion rate will be determined based on the date on which the make-whole fundamental change occurs or
becomes effective and the price paid (or deemed paid) per share of common stock in such fundamental change. A make-whole
fundamental change general means a fundamental change or redemption by us of the Notes. Such increase in the conversion rate
will dilute the ownership interest of our common stock shareholders.

Investigations by the SEC and IRS could materially and adversely affect our business, our financial condition and
results of operations.

On February 17, 2012, we first received a subpoena issued by the staff of the SEC seeking documents dating back to 2007,
generally related to our premium finance business and corresponding financial reporting. The SEC is investigating whether any
violations of federal securities laws have occurred and we have been cooperating with the SEC regarding this matter. We are unable
to predict what action, if any, might be taken in the future by the SEC or its staff as a result of the matters that are the subject to its
investigation or what impact, if any, the
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cost of continuing to respond to the subpoenas might have on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. We have not
established any provision for losses in respect of this matter. Additionally, no assurance can be given that the ultimate outcome of the
SEC Investigation will not result in administrative, civil or other proceedings or sanctions against us or our employees by the SEC or
any other state or federal regulatory agencies. Such proceedings may result in the imposition of fines and penalties, actions against
us or our employees, modifications to business practices and compliance programs or the imposition of sanctions against us.
Protracted investigations could also impose substantial costs and distractions, regardless of its outcome. There can be no assurance
that any final resolution of this and any similar matters will not have a material and adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations.

On February 19, 2014, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries received summonses from the IRS Criminal Investigation
Division requiring us to produce information about the Company and our former structured settlement business and other specified
records from 2010 to the present. Although we have confirmed that the investigation relates to the Company, we are not aware at this
time of what allegations, if any, the IRS intends to investigate. We believe that the investigation is in a preliminary stage and cannot
predict when the investigation will be concluded. The Company intends to cooperate in the investigation.

We are unable to predict what action, if any, might be taken in the future by the IRS as a result of the matters that are the
subject of the summonses or what impact, if any, the cost of responding to the summonses might have on our financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows. In addition, if the investigation results in a determination by the IRS that our Company has failed
to comply with any of its obligations under the Internal Revenue Code or regulations thereunder, the Company could incur additional
tax liability, restitution payment obligations, penalties, fines or other liabilities, including criminal penalties and fines and a reduction in
the Company’s net operating losses, that could have a material adverse effect on the Company, its personnel, its financial condition,
its results of operations, and/or its cash flows.

Negative press and reputational concerns have had and could continue to have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

The negative press resulting from the USAO Investigation, SEC Investigation, IRS investigation and shareholder litigation
matters have harmed our reputation and could otherwise result in a loss of future business with our counterparties and business
partners and could lead to increased difficulty in sourcing capital or lending opportunities. For example, on October 7, 2011, we were
informed by a commercial bank that it had decided to end all banking relationships with us. The abrupt termination of our commercial
banking relationship resulted in operational difficulties and prevented us from transacting with any structured settlement financing
counterparty for most of the fourth quarter of 2011. Other business partners and customers have also curtailed their relationships with
us in the aftermath of the USAO Investigation. As a result of these actions, we have experienced higher costs of doing business due
to less favorable terms and/or the need to find alternative partners.

In general, the life finance industry periodically receives negative press from the media and consumer advocacy groups and as
a result of litigation involving industry participants. A sustained campaign of negative press resulting from media or consumer
advocacy groups, industry litigation or other factors could adversely affect the public’s perception of the industry as a whole, and lead
to reluctance to sell assets to us or to provide us with third party financing. We also have received negative press from competitors.
Any such negative press could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We compete with a number of other finance companies and investors and may encounter additional competition.

There are a number of finance companies and investors that compete with us in the life finance industry. Many are significantly
larger and possess considerably greater financial, marketing, management and other
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resources than we do. The life finance business could also prove attractive to new entrants. As a consequence, competition in this
sector may increase. Increased competition could result in increased acquisition costs, changes to discount rates, margin
compression and/or less favorable lending terms, each of which could materially adversely affect our income, which would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The secondary market is highly regulated; changes in regulation, the USAO Investigation and the SEC Investigation
could materially adversely affect our ability to conduct our business.

Secondary market purchases of life insurance policies are highly regulated. Generally, as a condition to the issuance of provider
licenses held by our subsidiaries, we and/or our licensed subsidiaries submit to potential state regulatory examinations. Our life
settlement provider subsidiary is still undergoing an examination by the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation that was initiated after
we became aware of the USAO Investigation. To the extent that other state insurance or other regulators initiate their own
investigations as a result of the USAO Investigation, the SEC Investigation, the IRS Investigation or the Florida Office of Insurance
Regulation or such other regulators take other action such as imposing fines or rescinding our license in response thereto, our ability
to conduct the business comprising our life finance segment may be materially and adversely affected, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If a regulator or court decides that trusts that were formed to own the life insurance policies that once served as
collateral for our premium finance loans do not have an insurable interest in the life of the insured, such determination
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Generally, there are two forms of insurable interests in the life of an individual, familial and financial. Additionally, an individual is
deemed to have an insurable interest in his or her own life. It is also a common practice for an individual, as a grantor or settlor, to
form an irrevocable trust to purchase and own a life insurance policy insuring the life of the grantor or settlor, where the beneficiaries
of the trust are persons who themselves, by virtue of certain familial relationships with the grantor or settlor, also have an insurable
interest in the life of the insured. In the event of a payment default on our premium finance loan, we generally acquired life insurance
policies owned by trusts (or the beneficial interests in the trust itself) that we believe had an insurable interest in the life of the related
insureds. However, a state insurance regulatory authority or a court may determine that the trust or policy owner did not have an
insurable interest in the life of the insured or that we, as lender, only have a limited insurable interest. Any such determination could
result in our being unable to receive the proceeds of the life insurance policy, which could lead to a total loss on our investment in life
settlements. Any such loss or losses could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We are dependent on the creditworthiness of the life insurance companies that issued the policies comprising our
portfolio. If a life insurance company defaults on its obligation to pay death benefits on a policy we own, we would
experience a loss of our investment, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

We are dependent on the creditworthiness of the life insurance companies that issued the policies that we own. We assume the
credit risk associated with life insurance policies issued by various life insurance companies. The failure or bankruptcy of any such
life insurance company or annuity company could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operation.
A life insurance company’s business tends to track general economic and market conditions that are beyond its control, including
extended economic recessions or interest rate changes. Changes in investor perceptions regarding the strength of insurers generally
and the policies or annuities they offer can adversely affect our ability to sell or finance our assets. Adverse economic factors and
volatility in the financial markets may have a material adverse effect on a life insurance company’s business and credit rating,
financial condition and operating results, and an issuing life insurance company may default on its obligation to pay death benefits on
the life insurance policies that we own. In such
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event, we would experience a loss of our investment in such life insurance policies, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If a life insurance company is able to increase the premiums due on life insurance policies that we own, it will
adversely affect our returns on such life insurance policies.

To keep the life insurance policies that we own in force, insurance premiums due must be timely paid. If a life insurance
company is able to increase the cost of insurance charged for any of the life insurance policies that we own, the amounts required to
be paid for insurance premiums due for these life insurance policies may increase, requiring us to incur additional costs for the life
insurance policies, which may adversely affect returns on such life insurance policies and consequently reduce the tertiary market
value of such life insurance policies. Failure to pay premiums on the life insurance policies when due will result in termination or
“lapse” of the life insurance policies. The insurer may in a “lapse” situation view reinstatement of a life insurance policy as tantamount
to the issuance of a new life insurance policy and may require the current owner to have an insurable interest in the life of the insured
as of the date of the reinstatement. In such event, we would experience a loss of our investment in such life insurance policy.

We have limited operating experience.

Our business operations began in December 2006 and, in connection with the Non-Prosecution Agreement, we terminated our
premium finance business, which had been our primary business since our inception. Consequently, we have limited operating
history. In addition, to the extent we use any of the proceeds of the Notes offering to lend, while we believe we are qualified to identify
and lend against portfolios of life settlements, we have not previously acted as a lender to institutional owners of life settlement
assets. Therefore, the historical performance of our operations may be of limited relevance in predicting future performance.
Furthermore, if we are unable to successfully refocus our life finance segment, our results of operations and financial condition could
be materially and adversely affected.

Uncooperative co-trustees may impair our ability to service life insurance policies.

In certain limited instances, change of ownership forms in respect of life insurance policies that we have acquired through
foreclosures associated with defaulted premium finance loans have not been processed by the applicable insurance carrier and
remain in their original trusts. In these instances, although we have, among other things, contractual rights entitling us to direct the
proceeds of the policies and there is a professional co-trustee authorized to exercise all rights over the policies, we may still need the
cooperation of the non-professional co-trustee to obtain information from the insurance carrier necessary to service the policy.
Without this information, it is possible that a policy could lapse, as was the case with one policy in the quarter ended September 30,
2012. As a result of this lapse, we suffered a complete loss on our investment in that policy. While the value of this policy was
immaterial, further lapses could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.

Changes to statutory, licensing and regulatory regimes governing premium financing or life settlements could have a
material adverse effect on our activities and income.

Changes to statutory, licensing and regulatory regimes could result in the enforcement of stricter compliance measures or
adoption of additional measures on us or on the insurance companies that stand behind the insurance policies that we own, which
could have a material adverse impact on our business activities and income. The SEC issued a task force report in July 2010
recommending that sales of life insurance policies in life settlement transactions be regulated as securities for purposes of the federal
securities laws. To date, the SEC has not made such a recommendation to Congress. However, if the statutory definitions of
“security” were amended to encompass life settlements, we could become subject to additional extensive regulatory requirements
under the federal securities laws, including the obligation to register sales and offerings of life settlements with the SEC as
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public offerings under the Securities Act of 1933 and, potentially, the obligation to register as an “investment company” pursuant to
the Investment Company Act of 1940. Any legislation implementing such regulatory change or a change in the transactions that are
characterized as life settlement transactions could lead to significantly increased compliance costs, increased liability risk and
adversely affect our ability to acquire or sell life insurance policies in the future, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our former structured settlements business may expose us to future claims or contingent liabilities.

Pursuant to the terms of the asset purchase agreement we entered into in connection with the sale of our structured settlements
business, we sold substantially all of that business’ operating assets while retaining substantially all of its liabilities. In addition, we
agreed to indemnify the purchaser for certain breaches of representations and warranties regarding us and various aspects of our
structured settlements business. Many of our indemnification obligations are subject to time and maximum liability limitations,
however, in some instances our indemnification obligations are not subject to any limitations. Significant indemnification claims by the
purchaser could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we are aware
that a former employee at a law firm in New York that represented a number of companies in the structured settlements industry,
including us, may have fraudulently prepared a number of court orders. While we believe the number of structured settlements that
we purchased in transactions involving this law firm that could be affected by these orders is insignificant, both in terms of number of
transactions and loss exposure, such structured settlements illustrate potential claims that we may have to address and could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Failure to maintain the security of personally identifiable and other information, non-compliance with our contractual
or other legal obligations regarding such information, or a violation of our privacy and security policies with respect to
such information, could adversely affect us.

In connection with our business, we collect and retain significant volumes of certain types of personally identifiable and other
information pertaining to our customers, insureds and counterparties. The legal, regulatory and contractual environment surrounding
information security and privacy is constantly evolving. A significant actual or potential theft, loss, fraudulent use or misuse of
customer, counterparty, employee or our data by cybercrime or otherwise, non-compliance with our contractual or other legal
obligations regarding such data or a violation of our privacy and security policies with respect to such data could adversely impact our
reputation and could result in significant costs, fines, litigation or regulatory action.

Disasters, disruptions and other impairment of our information technologies and systems could adversely affect our
business.

Our businesses depend upon the use of sophisticated information technologies and systems, including third party hosted
services and data facilities that we do not control. While we have developed certain disaster recovery plans and backup systems,
these plans and systems are not fully redundant. A system disruption caused by a natural disaster, cybercrime or other impairment
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and may cause delays, loss of critical data and reputational harm,
and could otherwise prevent us from servicing our portfolio of life insurance policies.

The loss of any of our key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continuing contributions of our key executive officers, including Antony
Mitchell, our chief executive officer. Mr. Mitchell has significant experience operating specialty finance businesses, which are highly
regulated. If we should lose Mr. Mitchell, such loss could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. Moreover, we do not maintain key man life insurance with respect to any of our executives.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Provisions in our executive officers’ employment agreements could impede an attempt to replace or remove our
directors or otherwise effect a change of control, which could diminish the price of our common stock.

We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our executive officers. These agreements provide for substantial
payments upon the occurrence of certain triggering events, including a material diminution of base salaries or responsibilities. These
payments may deter any transaction that would result in a change in control, which could diminish the price of our common stock.

Provisions in our articles of incorporation and bylaws could impede an attempt to replace or remove our directors or
otherwise effect a change of control, which could diminish the price of our common stock.

Our articles of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that may entrench directors and make it more difficult for
shareholders to replace directors even if the shareholders consider it beneficial to do so. In particular, shareholders are required to
provide us with advance notice of shareholder nominations and proposals to be brought before any annual meeting of shareholders,
which could discourage or deter a third party from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors or to introduce
a proposal. In addition, our articles of incorporation eliminate our shareholders’ ability to act without a meeting and require the holders
of not less than 50% of the voting power of our common stock to call a special meeting of shareholders.

These provisions could delay or prevent a change of control that a shareholder might consider favorable. For example, these
provisions may prevent a shareholder from receiving the benefit from any premium over the market price of our common stock offered
by a bidder in a potential takeover. Even in the absence of an attempt to effect a change in management or a takeover attempt,
these provisions may adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common stock if they are viewed as discouraging changes in
management and takeover attempts in the future. Furthermore, our articles of incorporation and our bylaws provide that the number
of directors shall be fixed from time to time by our board of directors, provided that the board shall consist of at least three and no
more than fifteen members.

The market price of our stock has been highly volatile.

The market price of our common stock has fluctuated and could fluctuate substantially in the future. This volatility may subject
our stock price to material fluctuations due to the factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section, and other factors including market
reaction to the estimated fair value of our portfolio; rumors or dissemination of false information; changes in coverage or earnings
estimates by analysts; our ability to meet analysts’ or market expectations; and sales of common stock by existing shareholders.

Certain laws of the State of Florida could impede a change of control, which could diminish the price of our common
stock.

As a Florida corporation, we are subject to the Florida Business Corporation Act, which provides that a person who acquires
shares in an “issuing public corporation,” as defined in the statute, in excess of certain specified thresholds generally will not have
any voting rights with respect to such shares, unless such voting rights are approved by the holders of a majority of the votes of each
class of securities entitled to vote separately, excluding shares held or controlled by the acquiring person. The Florida Business
Corporation Act also contains a statute which provides that an affiliated transaction with an interested shareholder generally must be
approved by (i) the affirmative vote of the holders of two thirds of our voting shares, other than the shares beneficially owned by the
interested shareholder, or (ii) a majority of the disinterested directors.

One of our subsidiaries, Imperial Life Settlements, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, is licensed as a viatical settlement
provider and is regulated by the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation. As a Florida
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viatical settlement provider, Imperial Life Settlements, LLC is subject to regulation as a specialty insurer under certain provisions of
the Florida Insurance Code. Under applicable Florida law, no person can finally acquire, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the
voting securities of a viatical settlement provider or its controlling company without the written approval of the Florida Office of
Insurance Regulation. Accordingly, any person who acquires beneficial ownership of 10% or more of our voting securities will be
required by law to notify the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation no later than five days after any form of tender offer or exchange
offer is proposed, or no later than five days after the acquisition of securities or ownership interest if no tender offer or exchange offer
is involved. Such person will also be required to file with the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation an application for approval of the
acquisition no later than 30 days after the same date that triggers the 5-day notice requirement.

The Florida Office of Insurance Regulation may disapprove the acquisition of 10% or more of our voting securities by any
person who refuses to apply for and obtain regulatory approval of such acquisition. In addition, if the Florida Office of Insurance
Regulation determines that any person has acquired 10% or more of our voting securities without obtaining its regulatory approval, it
may order that person to cease the acquisition and divest itself of any shares of our voting securities that may have been acquired in
violation of the applicable Florida law. Due to the requirement to file an application with and obtain approval from the Florida Office of
Insurance Regulation, purchasers of 10% or more of our voting securities may incur additional expenses in connection with
preparing, filing and obtaining approval of the application, and the effectiveness of the acquisition will be delayed pending receipt of
approval from the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation.

The Florida Office of Insurance Regulation may also take disciplinary action against Imperial Life Settlements, LLC’s license if it
finds that an acquisition of our voting securities is made in violation of the applicable Florida law and would render the further
transaction of business hazardous to our customers, creditors, shareholders or the public.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our offices are located at 701 Park of Commerce Boulevard, Boca Raton, Florida 33487 and consist of approximately 21,000 
square feet of leased office space. We consider our facilities to be adequate for our current operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

For a description of legal proceedings, see “Litigation” under Note 15, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated
financial statements.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Shares of our common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “IFT” on February 8,
2011.

The following table shows the high and low sales prices for our common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the
NYSE:
 

   2013  
   High    Low  
1st Quarter   $4.49    $3.80  
2nd Quarter    7.36     3.95  
3rd Quarter    7.58     6.19  
4th Quarter    6.92     5.69  

 
   2012  
   High    Low  
1st Quarter   $2.80    $1.74  
2nd Quarter    4.25     2.57  
3rd Quarter    4.15     3.24  
4th Quarter    4.80     3.11  

As of February 28, 2014, we had 10 holders of record of our common stock.
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Stock Performance Graph

The line graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return in our common stock between February 8, 2011 (the day
shares of our common stock began trading on the NYSE) and December 31, 2013, with cumulative total return on the Russell
MicroCap Index and the Nasdaq Financial Index. This graph assumes a $100 investment in each of Imperial Holdings, Inc., the
Russell Microcap Index and the Nasdaq Financial Index at the close of trading on February 8, 2011. The graph assumes our closing
sales price on February 8, 2011 of $10.81 per share as the initial value of our common stock. We selected these indices because
they include companies with similar market capitalizations to ours. We believe these are the most appropriate comparisons since we
have no comparable publicly traded industry “peer” group operating in the life settlement industry.

The comparisons shown in the graph below are based upon historical data. We caution that the stock price performance shown
in the graph below is not necessarily indicative of, nor is it intended to forecast, the potential future performance of our common stock.

 
   Comparison of Cumulative Total Return  
   02/8/11    12/31/11   12/31/12    12/31/13  
Imperial Holdings, Inc.   $100.00    $ 17.39    $ 41.17    $ 60.50  
Russell Microcap Index   $100.00    $ 88.09    $105.03    $150.96  
Nasdaq Financial Index   $100.00    $ 86.00    $ 97.76    $135.20  

The performance graph above is being furnished solely to accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Item 201(e)
of Regulation S-K, is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any of our filings, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general
incorporation language in such filing.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any dividends on our common stock and do not expect to pay any cash dividends on our common stock for
the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance our operations. Any future determination to pay
cash dividends on our common stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent on our earnings,
financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, any contractual, regulatory and other restrictions on the payment of
dividends by us or by our subsidiaries to us, and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant.
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We are a holding company and have no direct operations. Our ability to pay dividends in the future depends on the ability of our
operating subsidiaries to pay dividends to us. Our Revolving Credit Facility restricts the ability of certain of our special purpose
subsidiaries to pay dividends. In addition, future debt arrangements may contain prohibitions or limitations on the payment of
dividends.

Equity Compensation Plans

Prior to our initial public offering, in February 2011, our board of directors and shareholders approved the Imperial Holdings
2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan. The purpose of the Omnibus Plan is to attract, retain and motivate participating employees and to
attract and retain well-qualified individuals to serve as members of the board of directors, consultants and advisors through the use of
incentives based upon the value of our common stock. Awards under the Omnibus Plan may consist of incentive awards, stock
options, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, performance units, and shares of common stock, restricted stock, restricted
stock units or other stock-based awards as determined by the compensation committee. The Omnibus Plan provides that an
aggregate of 1,200,000 shares of common stock are reserved for issuance under the Omnibus Plan, subject to adjustment as
provided in the Omnibus Plan. See Item 12 — Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters for additional information.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

In January 2014, as part of the settlement of the derivative action styled as Robert Andrzejczyk v. Imperial Holdings, Inc. et al.,
the Company issued 125,628 shares of common stock to counsel for the derivative plaintiffs in a transaction exempt from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. See “Litigation” under Note 15, “Commitments and
Contingencies,” to our consolidated financial statements.

Other than the foregoing, there are no recent sales of unregistered securities that has not been previously included in a
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or in a Current Report on Form 8-K.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth our selected historical consolidated financial and operating data as of such dates and for such
periods indicated below. These selected historical consolidated results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in any
future period. You should read the following financial information together with the other information contained in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the financial
statements and related notes.
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The selected historical income statement data for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010, and 2009, and
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010, and 2009 were derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements and reflect the retroactive revision to reflect the classification of our structured settlement business as discontinued
operations.
 
  Historical  
  Years Ended December 31,  
  2013   2012   2011   2010   2009  
  (in thousands, except share and per share data)  
Income      

Agency fee income  $ —     $ —     $ 6,470   $ 10,149   $ 26,114  
Interest income   28    1,685    7,750    18,326    20,271  
Interest and dividends on investment securities available for sale   14    391    640    —      —    
Origination fee income   —      500    6,480    19,938    29,853  
Gain on forgiveness of debt   —      —      5,023    7,599    16,410  
(Loss) gain on life settlements, net   (1,990)   151    5    1,951    —    
Change in fair value of life settlements   88,686    (5,660)   570    10,156    —    
Change in equity investment   —      —      —      (1,284)   —    
Servicing fee income   310    1,183    1,814    402    —    
Gain on maturities of life settlements with subrogation rights, net   —      6,090    3,188    —      —    
Other income   2,030    748    341    129    —    

Total income   89,078    5,088    32,281    67,366    92,648  

Expenses      
Interest expense   13,657    1,255    8,524    28,155    33,755  
Change in fair value of note payable   (9,373)   —      —      —      —    
Loss on extinguishment of Bridge Facility   3,991    —      —      —      —    
Provision for losses on loans receivable   —      515    7,589    4,476    9,830  
(Gain) loss on loan payoffs and settlements, net   (65)   125    3,837    4,981    12,058  
Amortization of deferred costs   7    1,867    6,076    24,465    18,339  
Personnel costs   8,177    9,452    12,906    8,639    9,161  
Department of Justice   —      —      8,000    —      —    
Legal fees   11,701    23,974    9,855    2,006    2,802  
Professional fees   5,281    5,262    4,373    3,108    4,231  
Insurance   1,953    2,330    756    358    405  
Other selling, general and administrative expenses   1,887    2,366    4,139    4,225    6,297  

Total expenses   37,216    47,146    66,055    80,413    96,878  

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes   51,862    (42,058)   (33,774)   (13,047)   (4,230) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes   39    (39)   —      —      —    

Net income (loss) from continuing operations  $ 51,823   $ (42,019)  $ (33,774)  $ (13,047)  $ (4,230) 

Discontinued Operations:      
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes   2,198    (2,615)   (5,424)   (2,650)   (4,406) 
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes   11,311    —      —      —      —    

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations   13,509    (2,615)   (5,424)   (2,650)   (4,406) 

Net income (loss)  $ 65,332   $ (44,634)  $ (39,198)  $ (15,697)  $ (8,636) 

Earnings (loss) per share:      
Basic earnings (loss) per common share      

Continuing operations  $ 2.44   $ (1.98)  $ (1.75)  $ (3.62)  $ (1.18) 
Discontinued operations  $ 0.64   $ (0.12)  $ (0.28)  $ (0.74)  $ (1.22) 

Net income (loss)  $ 3.08   $ (2.10)  $ (2.03)  $ (4.36)  $ (2.40) 

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share      
Continuing operations  $ 2.44   $ (1.98)  $ (1.75)  $ (3.62)  $ (1.18) 
Discontinued operations  $ 0.64   $ (0.12)  $ (0.28)  $ (0.74)  $ (1.22) 

Net income (loss)  $ 3.08   $ (2.10)  $ (2.03)  $ (4.36)  $ (2.40) 

Weighted average shares outstanding:      
Basic(1)   21,216,487    21,205,747    19,352,063    3,600,000    3,600,000  

Diluted(1)   21,218,938    21,205,747    19,352,063    3,600,000    3,600,000  

 
(1) As of February 3, 2011, the Company had 3,600,000 shares of common stock outstanding. The impact of the Company’s corporate conversion has been

applied on a retrospective basis to January 1, 2009 to determine earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009. As of
December 31, 2013, there were 21,237,166 issued and outstanding shares.
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  Historical  
  December 31,  
  2013   2012   2011   2010   2009  
  (In thousands except share data)  

ASSETS      
Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 14,722   $ 7,001   $ 16,255   $ 14,224   $ 15,891  
Cash and cash equivalents (VIE)   7,977    —      —      —      —    
Restricted cash   13,506    1,162    691    691    —    
Certificate of deposit—restricted   —      —      891    880    670  
Investment securities available for sale, at estimated fair value   —      12,147    57,242    —      —    
Agency fees receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts   —      —      —      561    2,165  
Deferred costs, net   —      7    1,874    10,706    26,323  
Prepaid expenses and other assets   1,331    14,165    3,277    1,868    887  
Deposits—other   1,597    2,855    761    692    982  
Interest receivable, net   —      822    5,758    13,140    21,034  
Loans receivable, net   —      3,044    29,376    90,026    189,111  
Structured settlement receivables at estimated fair value, net   660    1,680    12,376    1,446    —    
Structured settlement receivables at cost, net   797    1,574    1,553    1,090    472  
Investment in life settlements, at estimated fair value   48,442    113,441    90,917    17,138    4,306  
Investment in life settlements, at estimated fair value (VIE)   254,519    —      —      —      —    
Receivable for maturity of life settlements (VIE)   2,100    —      —      —      —    
Investment in life settlement fund   —      —      —      —      542  
Fixed assets, net   74    217    555    851    1,265  
Investment in affiliates   2,378    2,212    1,043    79    —    
Assets of segment held for sale   —      15    30    25    72  

Total assets  $348,103   $ 160,342   $222,599   $153,417   $263,720  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’/MEMBERS’ EQUITY      
Liabilities      

Accounts payable and accrued expenses   2,977    6,606    16,336    3,425    3,170  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (VIE)   341    —      —      —      —    
Payable for purchase of structured settlements    —      —      224    —    
Other liabilities   21,221    20,796    4,279    7,984    —    
Note payable, at estimated fair value (VIE)   123,847    —      —      —      —    
Lender protection insurance claims received in advance   —      —      —      31,154    —    
Interest payable   —      —      5,505    13,820    12,627  
Notes payable and debenture payable, net of discount   —      —      19,277    91,609    231,064  
Income taxes payable   6,295    6,295    6,295    —      —    

Total liabilities   154,681    33,697    51,692    148,216    246,861  
Stockholders’/Members’ Equity      

Member units—preferred (500,000 authorized in the aggregate as of December 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively)      

Member units—Series A preferred (90,796 issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively)   —      —      —      4,035    4,035  

Member units—Series B preferred (25,000 issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively)   —      —      —      2,500    5,000  

Member units—Series C preferred (70,000 issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2010)   —      —      —      7,000    —    

Member units—Series D preferred (7,000 issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2010)   —      —      —      700    —    

Member units—Series E preferred (73,000 issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2010)   —      —      —      7,300    —    

Member units—common (500,000 authorized; 337,500 issued and outstanding as of
outstanding as of December 31, 2010 and 450,000 issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2009)   —      —      —      11,462    19,924  

Common stock (80,000,000 authorized; 21,237,166, 21,206,121 and 21,202,614 issued
and outstanding as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively)   212    212    212    —      —    

Additional paid-in-capital   239,506    238,064    237,755    —      —    
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   —      (3)   (66)   —      —    
Accumulated deficit   (46,296)   (111,628)   (66,994)   (27,796)   (12,100) 

Total stockholders’/members’ equity   193,422    126,645    170,907    5,201    16,859  

Total liabilities and stockholders’/members’ equity  $348,103   $ 160,342   $222,599   $153,417   $263,720  
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Continuing Operations—Selected Operating Data (dollars in thousands):

Life Finance
 

  
For the Years Ended

December 31,  
  2013   2012   2011  
Period Acquisitions—Policies Owned    
Number of policies acquired   432    31    151  
Average age of insured at acquisition   77.7    75.5    78.0  
Average life expectancy—Calculated LE (Years)   12.7    13.2    10.4  
Average death benefit  $ 4,749   $ 5,354   $ 4,929  
Aggregate purchase price  $ 58,645   $ 5,708   $ 56,889  

End of Period—Policies Owned    
Number of policies owned   612    214    190  
Average Life Expectancy—Calculated LE (Years)   11.6    10.6    10.6  
Aggregate Death Benefit  $2,954,890   $1,073,156   $935,466  
Aggregate fair value  $ 302,961   $ 113,441   $ 90,917  
Monthly premium—average per policy  $ 7.5   $ 10.9   $ 10.7  

End of Period Loan Portfolio    
Loans receivable, net  $ —     $ 3,044   $ 29,376  
Number of policies underlying loans receivable   —      22    138  
Aggregate death benefit of policies underlying loans

receivable  $ —     $ 89,650   $653,493  
Number of loans with insurance protection   —      5    91  
Loans receivable, net (insured loans only)  $ —     $ 91   $ 20,785  
Average Per Loan:    
Age of insured in loans receivable   —      75.5    75.0  
Life expectancy of insured (years)   —      15.7    15.6  
Monthly premium  $ —     $ 5   $ 6  
Loan receivable, net  $ —     $ 138   $ 213  
Interest rate   —      13.0%   12.3% 
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Discontinued Operations—Selected Operating Data (dollars in thousands):

Structured Settlements:
 

   
For the Years Ended

December 31,  
   2013   2012   2011  

Period Originations:     
Number of transactions    495    965    873  
Number of transactions from repeat customers    254    333    307  
Average purchase discount rate    17.0%   18.7%   18.2% 
Face value of undiscounted future payments purchased   $86,537   $130,136   $96,628  
Amount paid for settlements purchased   $17,644   $ 24,571   $20,303  
Marketing costs   $ 1,958   $ 5,023   $ 6,087  
Selling, general and administrative (excluding marketing

costs)   $ 9,879   $ 16,524   $15,864  
Average Per Origination During Period:     

Face value of undiscounted future payments purchased   $ 175   $ 135   $ 111  
Amount paid for settlement purchased   $ 36   $ 25   $ 23  

Time from funding to maturity (months)    149.8    132.1    152.1  
Marketing cost per transaction   $ 4   $ 5   $ 7  

Segment selling, general and administrative
(excluding marketing costs) per transaction   $ 20   $ 17   $ 18  

Period Sales:     
Number of transactions originated and sold    518    939    601  
Realized gain on sale of structured settlements   $ 9,494   $ 11,509   $ 5,817  
Average sale discount rate    9.5%   10.6%   10.5% 

End of Period Portfolio:     
Number of transactions on balance sheet    55    90    356  
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes and
the information contained in other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly under the headings “Risk Factors,”
“Selected Financial Data” and “Business.” This discussion and analysis is based on the beliefs of our management, as well as
assumptions made by, and information currently available to, our management. The statements in this discussion and analysis
concerning expectations regarding our future performance, liquidity and capital resources, as well as other non-historical statements
in this discussion and analysis, are forward-looking statements. See “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”
These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those described under “Risk Factors.”
Our actual results could differ materially from those suggested or implied by any forward-looking statements.

Business Overview

We were founded in December 2006 as a Florida limited liability company and in connection with our initial public offering, in
February 2011, Imperial Holdings, Inc. succeeded to the business of Imperial Holdings, LLC and its assets and liabilities.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company sold substantially all of its structured settlements operating assets for $12.0
million. Prior to that time, the Company operated in two reportable business segments: life finance and structured settlements. In the
life finance business, the Company owns a portfolio of 612 life insurance policies and earns income from changes in the fair value and
from death benefits on matured life insurance policies. In the structured settlement business, the Company purchased structured
settlement receivables at a discounted rate and sells these receivables to third parties.

See “Business” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding our business and operations.

2013 Key Highlights, Recent Developments & Outlook

The year 2013 began with the Company anticipating a liquidity shortfall and arranging a $45.0 million bridge financing (the
“Bridge Facility”) from affiliates of certain of its shareholders. This infusion of capital provided the Company with the liquidity it needed
to pay premiums on its portfolio of life insurance policies while trying to secure longer term financing. Ultimately, the Company did
secure longer term capital in the form of a 15-year revolving credit facility, with available proceeds used to pay premiums on the
majority of its portfolio. The Company ended 2013 with a portfolio consisting of 612 life insurance policies with an aggregate death
benefit of $3.0 billion, a nearly threefold increase from the 214 policies it owned at December 31, 2012. In the fourth quarter of 2013,
the Company sold substantially all of the operating assets comprising its structured settlement business for $12.0 million, which
allows management to focus on the core life finance business.

Given the Company’s own experiences in securing long term financing, as well as our knowledge of the life finance market, we
believe there is currently an opportunity to serve as a secured lender to undercapitalized life settlement portfolios whose owners are
seeking alternatives to selling all or portions of their portfolios at distressed prices. Historically, many banks and traditional lenders
have been reluctant to provide loans to life settlement owners. The result of this lack of credit is that policy owners have been and
may be forced to sell policies at distressed prices or simply allow their policies to lapse.

We believe that, in light of our experience in the premium finance and life settlement businesses, we are qualified to identify
attractive portfolio lending opportunities. In February 2014, the Company issued $70.7 million in aggregate principal amount of Notes.
We plan to use a portion of the proceeds to strategically lend against portfolios of life settlements owned by institutional investors and
anticipate that we will be able to enter
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into loan transactions where we would lend, as a first-priority secured lender, on a “last money in—first money out” basis, meaning
that proceeds from the policies pledged as collateral under a loan that we make will first be distributed, after premium payments and
fees to service providers, to pay outstanding interest and principal on the loan. Our expectation is that our participation in any such
loan will be conditioned on our being granted a participation in the proceeds of the death benefits from the underlying portfolios. We
anticipate that this strategy will generate meaningful short term cash flows. The Company does not expect to receive meaningful
distributions of proceeds from policy maturities that have been pledged under the Revolving Credit Facility (as discussed below) for
up to the next five years. We have begun sourcing lending opportunities and will seek to deploy capital in 2014.

Revolving Credit Facility, 2013 Portfolio Growth & Portfolio Management

On April 29, 2013, White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LLC, a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a 15-year revolving credit facility
providing for up to $300.0 million in borrowings (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) to pay premiums on the policies pledged as collateral
under the facility, debt service and for the fees and expenses of certain service providers. The initial advance under the Revolving
Credit Facility was approximately $83.0 million, with a portion of such borrowings used to retire the debt outstanding under an 18
month bridge facility. In addition, proceeds of the initial advance were used to pay transaction fees and expenses, a distribution to the
Company and to fund a $48.5 million release payment under a termination agreement (the “Termination Agreement”) to the
Company’s lender protection insurance coverage provider (the “LPIC Provider”) who released all of its salvage and subrogation rights
in 323 policies that the Company has historically treated as contingent assets and described as “Life Settlements with Subrogation
rights, net” as well as in 93 policies that were owned by CTL Holdings, LLC (“CTL”). On April 30, 2013, the Company acquired CTL
and its 93 policies. At December 31, 2013 the Company’s portfolio consists of 612 policies, with an aggregate death benefit of $3.0
billion compared to 214 policies, with an aggregate death benefit of $1.1 billion at December 31, 2012.

457 policies owned by White Eagle, with an aggregate death benefit of $2.3 billion, and an estimated fair value of approximately
$254.5 million at December 31, 2013 have been pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Company can use
subsequent draws to pay premiums on these policies. The procurement of the $300.0 million 15-year Revolving Credit Facility and
the retirement of the $45.0 million bridge debt served to effectively recapitalize the Company and significantly reduce liquidity risk.
While the Revolving Credit Facility provides the lender with a significant interest in the policies pledged as collateral, the initial
borrowings under the facility allowed the Company to opportunistically increase the size of its portfolio through the extinguishment of
subrogation rights in policies that were historically considered contingent assets and through the acquisition of the CTL policies.

At June 30, 2013, the Company or its subsidiaries owned 402 policies that were acquired through the acquisition of CTL or that
were considered contingent assets prior to the effectiveness of the Termination Agreement, with an aggregate death benefit of $1.9
billion and an estimated fair value of approximately $139.7 million. The addition of these policies resulted in a $65.2 million unrealized
gain on life settlement during the quarter ended June 30, 2013. At December 31, 2013, the Company held 392 of the 402 policies,
with an aggregate death benefit of $1.8 billion and an estimated fair value of approximately $161.1 million. Policy acquisitions similar
in scale and in transaction price to those made during the period should not be anticipated in future periods.

Due to these policy additions, the application of fair value accounting to amounts owing under the Revolving Credit Facility and
the elimination of servicing fee income, the results of periods prior to the entry into the Termination Agreement and Revolving Credit
Facility may not be comparable to the Company’s results at December 31, 2013 or in future periods.
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While the liquidity risk associated with the policies that have been pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility has
been significantly mitigated, any available proceeds under the facility’s waterfall provisions will generally be directed to pay
outstanding interest and principal on the loan unless the lenders determine otherwise. Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to
when the proceeds from maturities of the policies pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility will be distributed to the
Company although the Company believes it may be at least five years before the Company receives meaningful distributions. As
such, the Company must proactively manage its cash in order to effectively run its businesses, maintain the policies that have not
been pledged under the Revolving Credit Facility and opportunistically grow its assets. The Company may in the future pledge and/or
borrow against certain or all of the 155 policies that have not been pledged under the Revolving Credit Facility. It may also determine
to sell all or a portion of these policies and, under certain circumstances, lapse certain of these policies as its portfolio strategy and
liquidity needs dictate. Should it choose to maintain all of the policies that have not been pledged as collateral under the Revolving
Credit Facility, the Company estimates that it will need to pay approximately $8.2 million to maintain these 155 policies in force
through 2014.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company lapsed 20 policies. The Company also surrendered two policies for
gross proceeds of $1.0 million and sold eight policies that were not pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility for gross
proceeds of $5.8 million. Additionally, the Company collected $12.0 million in death benefits from policies that matured during 2013.

Critical Accounting Policies

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires us to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the
reporting period. We base our judgments, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates under different
assumptions and conditions. We evaluate our judgments, estimates and assumptions on a regular basis and make changes
accordingly. We believe that the judgments, estimates and assumptions involved in the accounting for the loan impairment valuation,
income taxes, valuation of structured settlements, the valuation of investments in life settlements, the valuation of securities available
for sale and the valuation of its note payable owing under the Revolving Credit Facility have the greatest potential impact on our
financial statements and accordingly believe these to be our critical accounting estimates. Below we discuss the critical accounting
policies associated with the estimates as well as selected other critical accounting policies. For further information on our critical
accounting policies, see the discussion in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” to our audited consolidated financial
statements.

Fair Value Option

As of July 1, 2010, we elected to adopt the fair value option, in accordance with ASC 825, Financial Instruments, to record
newly-acquired structured settlements at fair value. We have the option to measure eligible financial assets, financial liabilities, and
commitments at fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis. This option is available when we first recognize a financial asset or
financial liability or enter into a firm commitment. Subsequent changes in fair value of assets, liabilities, and commitments where we
have elected fair value option are recorded in our consolidated statement of operations. We have made this election for our
structured settlement assets because it was our intention to sell these assets within the next twelve months, and we believe it
significantly reduces the disparity that exists between the GAAP carrying value of these structured settlements and our estimate of
their economic value.
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We have elected to account for the note payable under the Revolving Credit Facility, which includes its interest in policy
proceeds to the lender, using the fair value method. The fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would have to pay to
transfer the debt to a market participant in an orderly transaction. We calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash
flow model taking into account the stated interest rate of the credit facility and probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies.
Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, our estimates are
not necessarily indicative of the amounts that we, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The most
significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of different
assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair values.

Fair Value Measurement Guidance

We follow ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, which defines fair value as an exit price representing the
amount that would be received if an asset were sold or that would be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based
on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions the
guidance establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. Level 1 relates to quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 relates to observable inputs other than quoted prices included in
Level 1. Level 3 relates to unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value
of the assets or liabilities. Our investments in life insurance policies, structured settlements, and note payable are considered Level 3
assets as there is currently no active market where we are able to observe quoted prices for identical assets and our valuation model
incorporates significant inputs that are not observable.

Ownership of Life Insurance Policies

We account for life insurance policies that we own as investments in life settlements (life insurance policies) in accordance with
ASC 325-30, Investments in Insurance Contracts, which requires us to use either the investment method or the fair value method.
The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis and is irrevocable. We have elected to account for these life insurance
policies as investments using the fair value method.

We initially record investments in life settlements at the transaction price. For policies acquired upon relinquishment by our
borrowers, we determined the transaction price based on fair value of the acquired policies at the date of relinquishment. The
difference between the net carrying value of the loan and the transaction price is recorded as a gain (loss) on loan payoffs and
settlement. For policies acquired for cash, the transaction price is the amount paid.

Valuation of Insurance Policies

Our valuation of insurance policies is a critical component of our estimate for the value of our investments in life settlements (life
insurance policies). We currently use a probabilistic method of valuing life insurance policies, which we believe to be the preferred
valuation method in the industry. The most significant assumptions are the Company’s estimate of the life expectancy of the insured
and the discount rate.

In determining the life expectancy estimate, we analyze medical reviews from independent secondary market life expectancy
providers (each a “LE provider”). An LE provider reviews the medical records and identifies all medical conditions it feels are relevant
to the life expectancy of the insured. Debits and credits are then assigned by each LE provider to the individual’s health based on
these medical conditions. The debit or credit that an LE provider assigns to a medical condition is derived from the experience of
mortality attributed to this condition in the portfolio of lives that it monitors. The health of the insured is summarized by the LE provider
into a life assessment of the individual’s life expectancy expressed both in terms of months and in mortality factor.
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The resulting mortality factor represents an indication as to the degree to which the given life can be considered more or less
impaired than a standard life having similar characteristics (e.g. gender, age, smoking, etc.). For example, a standard insured (the
average life for the given mortality table) would carry a mortality rating of 100%. A similar but impaired life bearing a mortality rating of
200% would be considered to have twice the chance of dying earlier than the standard life.

The probability of mortality for an insured is then calculated by applying the blended life expectancy estimate to a mortality
table. The mortality table is created based on the rates of death among groups categorized by gender, age, and smoking status. By
measuring how many deaths occur during each year, the table allows for a calculation of the probability of death in a given year for
each category of insured people. The probability of mortality for an insured is found by applying the mortality rating from the life
expectancy assessment to the probability found in the actuarial table for the insured’s age, sex and smoking status. The Company
has historically applied an actuarial table developed by a third party. However, beginning in the quarter ended September 30, 2012,
the Company transitioned to a table developed by the U.S. Society of Actuaries known as the 2008 Valuation Basic Table, or the
2008 VBT. However, because the 2008 VBT table does not account for anticipated improvements in mortality in the insured
population, the table was modified in conjunction with outside consultants to reflect these expected mortality improvements. The
Company believes that the change in mortality table does not materially impact the valuation of its life insurance policies and that its
adoption of a modified 2008 VBT table is consistent with modified tables used by market participants and third party medical
underwriters.

The mortality rating is used to create a series of best estimate probabilistic cash flows. This probability represents a
mathematical curve known as a mortality curve. This curve is then used to generate a series of expected cash flows over the
remaining expected lifespan of the insured and the corresponding policy. A discounted present value calculation is then used to
determine the value of the policy. If the insured dies earlier than expected, the return will be higher than if the insured dies when
expected or later than expected.

The calculation allows for the possibility that if the insured dies earlier than expected, the premiums needed to keep the policy in
force will not have to be paid. Conversely, the calculation also considers the possibility that if the insured lives longer than expected,
more premium payments will be necessary. Based on these considerations, each possible outcome is assigned a probability and the
range of possible outcomes is then used to create a value for the policy.

Historically, the Company has obtained the majority of its life expectancy reports from two life expectancy report providers and
only used AVS Underwriting LLC (“AVS”) life expectancy reports for valuation purposes. Beginning in the quarter ended
September 30, 2012, the Company began utilizing life expectancy reports from 21st Services, LLC (“21st Services”) for valuation
purposes and began averaging or “blending,” the results of the two life expectancy reports to establish a composite mortality factor.

During the first quarter of 2013, 21st Services announced revisions to its underwriting methodology that, according to 21st
Services, have generally been understood to lengthen the average reported life expectancy furnished by this life expectancy provider
by 19%. To account for the impact of the revisions and based off of market responses to the methodology change, the Company
initially lengthened the life expectancies furnished by 21st Services by 13% prior to blending them with the life expectancy reports
furnished by AVS. Since that time, the Company has received a significant amount of life expectancy reports from 21st Services that
utilize its revised methodology and has, based on the results of those reports, lengthened the life expectancies on the remaining
policies in its portfolio.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company received 226 updated life expectancy reports from 21st Services, of which 183 were
used to calculate life expectancy extension. These life expectancies reported an average lengthening of life expectancies of 14.67%
and based on this sample, for the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company increased the life expectancies furnished by 21st
Services by 14.67% on the rest of its portfolio of life settlements prior to blending them with the life expectancy reports furnished by
AVS.
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As is the case with most market participants, the Company used a blend of life expectancies that are provided by two third-party
LE providers. These are estimates of an insured’s remaining years. If all of the insured lives in the Company’s life settlement portfolio
live six months shorter or longer than the life expectancies provided by these third parties, the change in estimated fair value at
December 31, 2013 would be as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

Life Expectancy Months Adjustment   Value    Change in Value 
+6   $252,337    $ (50,624) 
—    $302,961     —    
-6   $358,123    $ 55,162  

Future changes in the life expectancies could have a material effect on the fair value of our investment in life settlements, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Prior to the second quarter of 2013, the Company would adjust its average, or blend, of the two life expectancy reports when the
difference in the probability of mortality between the reports was greater than 150%. In those instances, the Company would cap the
higher mortality factor at an amount that was 150% above the lower mortality factor, which ultimately reduced the mortality factor
inputted into the Company’s fair value model. The Company ceased applying such a cap as part of the valuation adjustments
implemented in connection with 21st Services’ revised underwriting methodology.

The Company historically used a 15%—17% range of discount rates to value its life insurance policies. In the third quarter of
2011 and in the immediate aftermath of becoming aware of the USAO investigation, the Company substantially increased the
discount rates inputted into its fair value model as it believed that the USAO Investigation, along with certain unfavorable court
decisions unrelated to the Company contributed to a contraction in the marketplace. Since that time, the Company has been re-
evaluating its discount rates at the end of every reporting period in order to reflect the estimated discount rates that could reasonably
be used in a market transaction involving the Company’s portfolio of life insurance policies. In doing so, the Company relies on
management insight, evaluates the credit worthiness of the insurance carriers, engages third party consultants to corroborate its
assessment, engages in discussions with other market participants and potential financing sources and extrapolates the discount rate
underlying actual sales of policies.

The Company believes that, when given the choice to invest in a policy that was associated with the Company’s premium
finance business and a similar policy without such an association, all else being equal, an investor would have generally opted to
invest in the policy that was not associated with the Company’s premium finance business. However, since entering into the Non-
Prosecution Agreement, investors have required less of a risk premium to transact in these policies and the Company expects that, in
time, investors will continue to require less of a risk premium to transact in policies associated with its premium finance business.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company owned 612 policies with an aggregate investment in fair value of life settlements of
$303.0 million. Of these 612 policies, 569 were previously premium financed and are valued using discount rates that range from
16.80% to 26.80%. The remaining 43 policies which are non-premium financed are valued using discount rates that range from
14.80% to 20.80%. As of December 31, 2013, the weighted average discount rate calculated based on death benefit used in valuing
the policies in our life settlement portfolio was 19.14%.
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The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, the credit exposure to the insurance company
that issued the life insurance policy and our estimate of the risk premium an investor in the policy would require. The extent to which
the fair value could vary in the near term has been quantified by evaluating the effect of changes in the weighted average discount
rate on the death benefit used to estimate the fair value. If the weighted average discount rate were increased or decreased by 1/2 of
1% and the other assumptions used to estimate fair value remained the same, the change in estimated fair value would be as follows
(dollars in thousands):
 

Weighted Average Rate Calculated Based on
Death Benefit   Rate Adjustment  Value    Change in Value 
18.64%    -0.50%  $312,112    $ 9,151  
19.14%    —     $302,961    $ —    
19.64%    0.50%  $294,246    $ (8,715) 

Future changes in the discount rates we use to value life insurance policies could have a material effect on our yield on life
settlement transactions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of our operations.

At the end of each reporting period we re-value the life insurance policies using our valuation model in order to update our
estimate of fair value for investments in policies held on our balance sheet. This includes reviewing our assumptions for discount
rates and life expectancies as well as incorporating current information for premium payments and the passage of time.

Valuation of Note payable

We have elected to account for the note payable under the Revolving Credit Facility, which includes the lender’s interest in
policy proceeds, using the fair value method. The fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would have to pay to transfer the
debt to a market participant in an orderly transaction. We calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model
taking into account the stated interest rate of the Revolving Credit Facility and probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies.
Accordingly, our estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that we, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a
current market exchange. The most significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate.
The use of different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair values.

Life expectancy sensitivity analysis of note payable

A considerable portion of the fair value of the Company’s note payable derives from the timing of receipt of future policy
proceeds. Should life expectancies lengthen such that policy proceeds are collected further into the future, the fair value of this debt
will decline. Conversely, should life expectancies shorten, the fair value of this debt will increase. Considerable judgment is required
in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value.

If all of the insured lives underlying the policies pledged by White Eagle as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility live six
months shorter or longer than the life expectancies used to calculate the estimated fair value of the note payable, the change in
estimated fair value at December 31, 2013 would be as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

Life Expectancy Months Adjustment   

Fair Value of
Note

Payable    Change in Value 
+6   $ 105,912    $ (17,935) 
—    $ 123,847     —    
-6   $ 143,728    $ 19,881  
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Future changes in the life expectancies could have a material effect on the fair value of our note payable, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Discount rate of note payable

The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, credit exposure to insurance companies and our
estimate of the return a lender lending against the policies would require.

Market interest rate sensitivity analysis of note payable

The extent to which the fair value of the note payable could vary in the near term has been quantified by evaluating the effect of
changes in the weighted average discount rate. If the weighted average discount rate were increased or decreased by 1/2 of 1% and
the other assumptions used to estimate fair value remained the same, the change in estimated fair value of the note payable as of
December 31, 2013 would be as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

Discount Rate   
Rate

Adjustment  Note Payable   Change in Value 
23.54%    -0.50%  $ 126,455    $ 2,608  
24.04%    —     $ 123,847    $ —    
24.54%    0.50%  $ 121,331    $ (2,516) 

Future changes in the discount rates could have a material effect on the fair value of our note payable, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of our operations.

At December 31, 2013, the fair value of the debt was $123.8 million and the outstanding principal was approximately $133.2
million. See Note 13, “Fair Value Measurements.”

Income Recognition from Continuing Operations

Our primary source of income from continuing operations are in the form of change in fair value of life settlements, gains on life
settlements, net, interest income and servicing income. Our income recognition policies for this source of income is as follows:
 

 

•  Change in Fair Value of Life Settlements—When the Company acquires certain life insurance policies we initially record
these investments at the transaction price, which is the fair value of the policy for those acquired upon relinquishment or
the amount paid for policies acquired for cash. The fair value of the investment in insurance policies is evaluated at the end
of each reporting period. Changes in the fair value of the investment based on evaluations are recorded as changes in fair
value of life settlements in our consolidated statement of operations. The fair value is determined on a discounted cash
flow basis that incorporates current life expectancy assumptions. The discount rate incorporates current information about
market interest rates, the credit exposure to the insurance company that issued the life insurance policy and our estimate
of the risk premium an investor in the policy would require. The Company recognizes income from life settlement maturities
upon receipt of death notice or verified obituary of insured. This income is the difference between the death benefits and
fair values of the policy at the time of maturity.

 

 
•  Gains on Life Settlements, Net—The Company recognizes gains from life settlement contracts that the Company owns

upon the signed sale agreement and/or filing of ownership forms and funds transferred to escrow.
 

 
•  Interest Income—Interest income on life finance loans is recognized when it is realizable and earned, in accordance with

ASC 605, Revenue Recognition.
 

 
•  Servicing Income—We received income from servicing life insurance policies controlled by a third party in 2012 and 2011.

These services included verifying premiums are paid and correctly applied and updating files for medical history and
ongoing premiums.
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Income Recognition from Discontinued Operations

Our primary source of income from discontinued operations are in the form realized gains on sales of structured settlements.

Realized Gains on Sales of Structured Settlements—Realized gains on sales of structured settlements are recorded when the
structured settlements have been transferred to a third party and we no longer have continuing involvement, in accordance with
ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing.

Deferred Costs

Deferred costs include costs incurred in connection with acquiring and maintaining credit facilities. These costs are amortized
over the life of the related loan using the effective interest method and are classified as amortization of deferred costs in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations. These deferred costs related to the Company’s previous credit facility which
was fully repaid in December 2012. The Company did not recognize any deferred cost on its current credit facility given all costs were
expensed due to electing the fair value option in valuing the credit facility.

Income Taxes

Prior to our initial public offering in 2011, we converted from a Florida limited liability company to a Florida corporation (the
“Conversion”). Prior to the Conversion we were treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes. As a partnership
our taxable income and losses were attributed to our members, and accordingly, no provision or liability for income taxes was
reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for periods prior to the Conversion.

We account for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under ASC 740, deferred income taxes are
determined based on the estimated future tax effects of differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and
liabilities given the provisions of enacted tax laws. Deferred income tax provisions and benefits are based on changes to the assets or
liabilities from year to year. In providing for deferred taxes, we consider tax regulations of the jurisdictions in which we operate,
estimates of future taxable income and available tax planning strategies. If tax regulations, operating results or the ability to
implement tax-planning strategies varies adjustments to the carrying value of the deferred tax assets and liabilities may be required.
Valuation allowances are based on the “more likely than not” criteria of ASC 740.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, due to the large losses and the uncertainties that resulted from the USAO Investigation, SEC
investigation, Non-Prosecution Agreement and class action lawsuits, we recorded a full valuation allowance against our net deferred
tax asset of $2.6 million and $27.8 million, respectively, as it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax asset is not realizable. As
a result of these increases in the valuation allowance, we recorded no income tax benefit for 2013 and 2012.

The accounting for uncertain tax positions guidance under ASC 740 requires that we recognize the financial statement benefit of
a tax position only after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit.
For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit
that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority. We recognize
interest and penalties (if any) on uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense.

In February of 2013, the Company was notified by the Internal Revenue Service of its intention to examine the Company’s
partnership return for the year ended December 31, 2010. Subsequently, the Company was notified that the IRS has elected not to
pursue this examination and as a result the audit notification was revoked.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We have adopted ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation. ASC 718 addresses accounting for share-based awards,
including stock options and warrants, with compensation expense measured using fair value and recorded over the requisite service
or performance period of the award. The fair value of equity instruments awarded upon or after the closing of our initial public offering
will be determined based on a valuation using an option pricing model which takes into account various assumptions that are
subjective. Key assumptions used in the valuation will include the expected term of the equity award taking into account both the
contractual term of the award, the effects of expected exercise and post-vesting termination behavior, expected volatility, expected
dividends and the risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the award.

Gain on Maturities of Life Settlements with Subrogation Rights, net

In prior periods, the Company experienced maturities in respect of policies that were subject to subrogation claims of the LPIC
Provider. These maturities were accounted for as contingent gains in accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies and the Company
recognized gains only when all contingencies were resolved. Upon the execution of the Termination Agreement, the LPIC Provider
released any and all subrogation claims and related salvage rights in the life insurance policies that had been characterized as “Life
Settlements with Subrogation rights, net.” The Company did not reports any gains on maturities, net of subrogation in 2013 and, as a
result of the Termination Agreement, the Company will no longer have any gains on maturities of life settlements with subrogation
rights, net.

Held-for-sale and discontinued operations

The Company reports a business as held-for-sale when management has approved or received approval to sell the business
and is committed to a formal plan, the business is available for immediate sale, the business is being actively marketed, the sale is
anticipated to occur during the ensuing year and certain other specified criteria are met. A business classified as held-for-sale is
recorded at the lower of its carrying amount or estimated fair value less cost to sell. If the carrying amount of the business exceeds its
estimated fair value, a loss is recognized. Depreciation is not recorded on assets of a business classified as held-for-sale. Assets and
liabilities related to a business classified as held-for-sale are segregated in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and major classes are
separately disclosed in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements commencing in the period in which the business is
classified as held-for-sale. The Company reports the results of operations of a business as discontinued operations if the business is
classified as held-for-sale, the operations and cash flows of the business have been or will be eliminated from the ongoing operations
of the Company as a result of a disposal transaction and the Company will not have any significant continuing involvement in the
operations of the business after the disposal transaction. The results of discontinued operations are reported in Discontinued
Operations in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for current and prior periods commencing in the period in which the business
meets the criteria of a discontinued operation, and include any gain or loss recognized on closing or adjustment of the carrying
amount to fair value less cost to sell.

Accounting Changes

Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements discusses accounting
standards adopted in 2013, as well as accounting standards recently issued but not yet required to be adopted and the expected
impact of these changes in accounting standards. Any material impact of adoption is discussed in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

Results of Continuing Operations

2013 Compared to 2012

Net income from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $51.8 million as compared to a net loss of
$42.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, an improvement of $93.8 million. Total income from continuing operations was
$89.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, an increase of $84.0 million over total income from continuing operations of $5.1
million during the same period in 2012. Total expenses from continuing operations were $37.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013 compared to total expenses from continuing operations of $47.1 million incurred during the same period in 2012,
a decrease of $9.9 million, or 21%.

Income

Interest Income. Interest income was $28,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to $1.7 million in 2012, a
decrease of $1.7 million. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company originated no loans. Interest income
declined as the balance of loans receivable, net decreased from $3.0 million as of December 31, 2012 to zero as of December 31,
2013 due to loan maturities. Loans outstanding declined from 22 to zero at December 31, 2013. As a result of the voluntary
termination of our premium finance business and maturity of all outstanding loans, we have ceased earning interest income.

Origination Fee Income. Origination fee income was zero for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $500,000 in
2012. Origination fee income decreased due to a decline in the balance of loans receivable, net, as noted above. As a result of the
voluntary termination of our premium finance business, we did not originate any loans nor generate any origination fees during 2013
or 2012. We have ceased accruing origination fee income.

Change in Fair Value of Life Settlements. Change in fair value of life settlements was a gain of approximately $88.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to a loss of $5.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of
$94.3 million. This increase was a result of a $71.5 million unrealized gain in investment in life settlements primarily associated with
the 416 polices that were acquired during the quarter ended June 30, 2013. The loss in 2012 was primarily driven by increased life
expectancy inputs to the Company’s fair value model reflected in the updated life expectancy reports procured by the Company in
respect to 149 insured lives. These reports showed that, in the aggregate, there was less health impairment and thus longer life
expectancies relative to the original life expectancy reports inputted into the Company’s fair value model.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, four life insurance policies with face amounts totaling $14.1 million matured. The net
gain of these maturities was $9.2 million and is recorded as a change in fair value of life settlements in the consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2013. Proceeds from these maturities totaling $12.0 million were received during the
year ended December 31, 2013 with $2.1 million receivable for maturity of life settlements at December 31, 2013. Of the total
maturities, two policies with a face value of $6.0 and $2.1 million served as collateral under the White Eagle Credit Facility and the
proceeds of $6.0 million were utilized to repay borrowings under the facility in January 2014.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company owned 612 policies with an estimated fair value of $303.0 million compared to
$113.4 million at December 31, 2012, an increase of $189.6 million or 167%. Of the 612 policies, 457 policies were pledged to the
Revolving Credit Facility and 155 policies were not pledged. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company acquired 432
life insurance policies compared to 31 policies during the same period in 2012. Of the 432 policies acquired during 2013, 16 were as
a result of certain of the Company’s borrowers defaulting on premium finance loans and relinquishing the underlying policy to the
Company, compared to 29 policies acquired in the same manner for 2012. Of the remaining 416 policies, 323 policies were acquired
upon the effectiveness of the Termination Agreement with the LPIC Provider and were previously held
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off balance sheet as contingent assets for financial reporting purposes in the prior period, with the remaining 93 acquired through the
Company’s acquisition of CTL, for a total purchase price of $55.5 million. As of December 31, 2013, the aggregate death benefit of the
Company’s investment in life settlements is $3.0 billion.

Of these 612 policies owned as of December 31, 2013, 569 were previously premium financed and are valued using discount
rates that range from 16.80% – 26.80%. The remaining 43 policies are valued using discount rates that range from 14.80% – 20.80%.
See Note 13, “Fair Value Measurements,” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

(Loss) / Gain on life settlements, net. Loss on sale of life settlements, net was $2.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2013 compared to income of $151,000 in 2012. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company surrendered two policies
resulting in a gain of approximately $255,000 and received proceeds of $1.0 million; sold eight policies resulting in a loss of
approximately $922,000 with proceeds received of $5.8 million, and lapsed 20 policies resulting in a loss of $1.3 million. There were
no surrendered policies for the year ended December 31, 2012. The amount of $151,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012 was
associated with the sale of six policies during that period resulting in a gain of approximately $291,000 and a loss of $140,000 for a
policy lapse.

Servicing Fee Income. Servicing income was $310,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to $1.2 million in
2012, a decrease of $873,000 or 74%. Servicing fee income is earned in providing asset servicing for third parties, which we began
providing during the fourth quarter of 2010. This decrease was primarily due to a reduction in the number of policies serviced and at
April 30, 2013 the Company stopped servicing assets for unaffiliated third parties as a result of the Termination Agreement.

Other Income. Other income was $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to $748,000 in 2012, an
increase of $1.3 million. The amount for 2013 is attributable to a write off of liabilities which were payable to a third party. The amount
for 2012 was primarily related to insurance recovery from the Company’s insurance carrier associated with the USAO Investigation.

Gain on maturities of life settlements with subrogation rights, net. In the third quarter of 2011, two individuals covered under
policies which were subject to subrogation claims unexpectedly passed away. The Company collected the death benefit on one of
these policies in the amount of $3.2 million net of subrogation expense during the third quarter of 2011. In the year ended
December 31, 2012, the Company negotiated a settlement in respect of the larger policy and collected approximately $6.1 million, net
of subrogation expenses, and reported a gain in accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies in its consolidated statement of operations
for the year ended December 31, 2012 as all contingencies were resolved. There were no such gains for the year ended
December 31, 2013. As a result of the Termination Agreement, the Company no longer holds life settlements with subrogation rights.

Expenses

Interest expense. Interest expense increased to $13.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $1.3
million during the same period in 2012, an increase of $12.4 million, as the principal on the note payable increased to $133.2 million
as of December 31, 2013. During the year ended December 31, 2012, we repaid all outstanding notes associated with our Cedar
Lane financing facility. The estimated fair value of $123.8 million note payable at December 31, 2013 relates to the Revolving Credit
Facility entered into on April 29, 2013 that is collateralized by the life insurance policies owned by White Eagle. Of the interest
expense of $13.7 million, approximately $10.3 million represents loan origination costs incurred under the Revolving Credit Facility
that were not capitalized as a result of electing the fair value option for valuing this debt and interest paid of $2.8 million. Interest
expense also includes $4,000, $35,000 and $510,000 representing loan closing costs, amortization of note discount and interest paid,
respectively, on the Bridge Facility entered into during the quarter ended March 31, 2013. We expect interest expense on the
Revolving Credit Facility to increase in 2014 as we continue to borrow funds under this facility.
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Change in fair value of note payable. Change in fair value of note payable was approximately $9.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013 compared to zero for the year ended December 31, 2012. This change is associated with the adoption of the fair
value option in accounting for the note payable and the lengthening of life expectancy estimates for the policies in the Revolving
Credit Facility. The Revolving Credit Facility is valued at December 31, 2013 using a discount rate of 24.04%. See Note 13, “Fair
Value Measurements,” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Loss on extinguishment of Bridge Facility. Loss on extinguishment of Bridge Facility was approximately $4.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013, compared to zero during the same period in 2012. This amount is related to the Bridge Facility issued
during the quarter ended March 31, 2013 and was fully repaid during the quarter ended June 30, 2013. The Bridge Facility had a face
of $45.0 million, with a funding discount of $3.6 million and deferred financing cost of approximately $426,000; all amounts were
expensed during the year ended December 31, 2013 as a result of repayment of the facility.

(Gain)/Loss on Loan Payoffs and Settlements, net. Gain on loan payoffs and settlements, net, was $65,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2013 compared to a loss of $125,000 in 2012.

Provision for Losses on Loans Receivable. Provision for losses on loans receivable was zero for the year ended December 31,
2013 compared to $515,000 in 2012. This provision records loan impairments on existing loans in order to adjust the carrying value of
the loan receivable to the fair value of the underlying policy.

Amortization of Deferred Costs. Amortization of deferred costs was $7,000 during the year ended December 31, 2013 as
compared to $1.9 million in 2012. Lender protection insurance related costs accounted for zero and $1.5 million of total amortization
of deferred costs during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. As described previously, the lender protection
insurance program was terminated as of December 31, 2010 and no loans with lender protection insurance remained outstanding as
of December 31, 2013.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. SG&A expenses were $29.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013
compared to $43.4 million in 2012. This was primarily a result of a $1.3 million reduction in personnel cost, $377,000 reduction in
D&O insurance expense, $12.3 million reduction in legal fees and $479,000 reduction in other SG&A expenses.

Legal expenses for 2013 were $11.7 million compared to $24.0 million for 2012. Of the legal expense, approximately $4.5 million
is mainly associated with the USAO Investigation for 2013, compared to $14.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Legal
expense also includes approximately $2.3 million and $5.1 million associated with the class action litigation and derivative action for
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Approximately $749,000 was included in legal expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012, which represents a reserve
established for the Insurance Coverage Declaratory Relief Complaint. Based on the class action settlement, this amount was
reversed during the year ended December 31, 2013 and is offset against legal fees, see Note 15, “Commitments and Contingencies,”
to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

2012 Compared to 2011

Net loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $42.0 million as compared to a net loss of
$33.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, an increase of $8.2 million or 24%. Total income from continuing operations
was $5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, a reduction of $27.2 million over total income from continuing operations of
$32.3 million during the same period in 2011. Total expenses from continuing operations were $47.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 compared to total expenses from continuing operations of $66.1 million incurred during the same period in 2011,
a decrease of $18.9 million, or 29%.
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Income

Agency Fee Income. Agency fee income was zero for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $6.5 million for 2011, a
decrease of $6.5 million. Agency fee income was earned solely as a function of originating loans. We did not fund any loans during
the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to the 55 loans funded during 2011. As a result of the voluntary termination of our
premium finance business, we did not receive any income from agency fees in 2012 and will not in the future.

Interest Income. Interest income was $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $7.8 million for 2011, a
decrease of $6.1 million, or 78%. During the years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company originated zero
and 55 loans respectively. Interest income declined as the balance of loans receivable, net decreased from $29.4 million as of
December 31, 2011 to $3.0 million as of December 31, 2012 due to significant loan maturities. Loans outstanding declined from 138
to 22 at December 31, 2012. There were no significant changes in interest rates. The weighted average per annum interest rate for
life finance loans outstanding as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 was 13.4% and 12.3%, respectively. As a result of the voluntary
termination of our premium finance business, we ceased earning interest income once our outstanding premium finance loans
mature.

Origination Fee Income. Origination fee income was $500,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to $6.5 million
for 2011, a decrease of $6.0 million, or 92%. Origination fee income decreased due to a decline in the average balance of loans
receivable, net, as noted above. Also, the Company reduced origination fees charged after ceasing the LPIC program, under which
the majority of origination fees were passed along to the LPIC provider. Origination fees as a percentage of the principal balance of
the loans originated was 25.0% during 2011. As a result of the voluntary termination of our premium finance business, we did not
originate any loans or loan origination fees during 2012.

Gain on Forgiveness of Debt. Gain on forgiveness of debt was zero for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $5.0
million in 2011. These gains arise out of a settlement agreement with Acorn Capital in 2011. Zero loans out of 119 loans financed in
the Acorn facility remained outstanding as of December 31, 2012. The gains were largely offset by a loss on loan payoffs, net related
to Acorn loans of $4.1 million during 2011.

Change in Fair Value of Life Settlements. Change in fair value of life settlements was a loss of approximately $5.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012 compared to a gain of $570,000 in 2011, a decrease of $6.2 million. This loss was primarily driven by
increased life expectancy inputs to the Company’s fair value model reflected in the updated life expectancy reports procured by the
Company in respect of 149 insured lives. These reports showed that, in the aggregate, there was less health impairment and thus
longer life expectancies relative to the original life expectancy reports inputted into the Company’s fair value model. The $570,000
unrealized change in fair value recorded during the year ended December 31, 2011 included $3.0 million attributable to revisions
made to the application of our valuation technique and assumptions used in our fair value calculation made in the quarter ended
March 31, 2011, as described in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”

In 2012, two updated life expectancy reports showed discrepancies with the previously reviewed and relied upon medical
records of two insureds, resulting in significant extensions to the insureds’ life expectancies. Change in fair value of life settlements
for these two policies accounted for approximately $3.3 million of the $5.7 million loss for the year ended December 31, 2012.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company owned 214 policies with an estimated fair value of $113.4 million compared to $90.9
million at December 31, 2011, an increase of $22.5 million or 25%. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company
acquired 31 life insurance policies compared to 151 policies during the year ended December 31, 2011. Total aggregate death benefit
of polices acquired was $166.0 million and $774.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011,
respectively. Of the 31 policies acquired during 2012, 29 were as a result of certain of the Company’s borrowers defaulting on
premium finance loans and
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relinquishing the underlying policy to the Company, compared to 14 policies acquired in the same manner for 2011. As of
December 31, 2012, the aggregate death benefit of the Company’s investment in life settlements was $1.1 billion. During the year
ended December 31, 2012, we sold 6 policies and wrote off 1 policy.

Of these 214 policies owned as of December 31, 2012, 171 were previously premium financed and were valued using discount
rates that ranged from 16.80% – 33.80%. The remaining 43 policies were valued using discount rates that ranged from 14.80% –
21.30%. See Note 13, “Fair Value Measurements,” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Servicing Fee Income. Servicing income was $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $1.8 million for
2011, a decrease of $631,000 or 35%. Servicing fee income was earned in providing asset servicing for third parties, which we
began providing during the fourth quarter of 2010. This decrease was primarily due to a reduction in the number of policies serviced.

Gain on Maturities of Life Settlements with Subrogation Rights, net. During 2011, two individuals covered under policies that
were subject to subrogation claims unexpectedly passed away. The Company collected the death benefit on one of these polices in
the amount of $3.2 million, net of subrogation expenses. In 2012, the Company negotiated a settlement in respect to the larger policy
and collected approximately $6.1 million, net of subrogation expenses. The gain was reported in accordance with ASC 450,
Contingencies in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Expenses

Interest Expense. Interest expense was $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $8.5 million for 2011, a
decrease of $7.3 million, or 85%. The decrease in interest expense is due to a decline in notes payable from $19.3 million as of
December 31, 2011 to zero as of December 31, 2012. These notes payable, the majority of which were guaranteed under insurance
provided by the LPIC Provider which was discontinued as of December 2010, declined as premium finance loans serving as collateral
for these notes matured during the year ended December 31, 2012.

Provision for Losses on Loans Receivable. Provision for losses on loans receivable was $515,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2012, compared to $7.6 million during 2011, a decrease of $7.1 million or 93%. This provision recorded impairments
on existing loans in order to adjust the carrying value of the loan receivable to the fair value of the underlying policy or when
collectability of the LPIC claim payment was uncertain. See Note 7, “Loans Receivable” and Note 13, “Fair Value Measurements,” to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Loss on Loan Payoffs and Settlements, net. Loss on loan payoffs and settlements, net, was $125,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2012 compared to $3.8 million in 2011, a decrease of $3.7 million, or 97%. In the year ended December 31, 2012, we
wrote off zero loans compared to 15 loans written off in 2011, all of which were included in the Acorn settlement. Excluding the
impact of the Acorn settlements, we had a loss of $125,000 and a gain of $772,000 on loan payoffs and settlements, net, for the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Amortization of Deferred Costs. Amortization of deferred costs was $1.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 as
compared to $6.1 million for 2011, a decrease of $4.2 million, or 69%. Lender protection insurance related costs accounted for
$1.5 million and $4.9 million of total amortization of deferred costs during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. As described previously, the lender protection insurance program was terminated as of December 31, 2010 and loans
with lender protection insurance remained outstanding as of December 31, 2012. Only $7,000 of lender protection insurance related
costs remained to be amortized.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. SG&A expenses were $43.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2012
compared to $40.0 million for 2011. This was due primarily to an increase in legal expenses of $14.1 million, an increase in
professional fees of $889,000 and an increase in D&O insurance expense of $1.6 million. These increases were offset by a decrease
of $8.0 million associated with the Non-Prosecution Agreement, a decrease in personnel costs of $3.5 million and a decrease in other
SG&A of $1.8 million.

Legal expenses for 2012 were $24.0 million compared to $9.9 million for 2011; of the total legal expense for 2012, approximately
$14.3 million was associated with the USAO Investigation compared to $6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. Legal
expense also included approximately $5.1 million associated with the class action litigation and derivative action for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

Adjustments to our allowance for doubtful accounts for past due agency fees were charged to bad debt expense during 2011.
There was no charge to bad debt expense for agency fee receivable for the year ended December 31, 2012. Our determination of the
allowance was based on an evaluation of the agency fee receivable, prior collection history, current economic conditions and other
inherent risks. The allowance for doubtful accounts for past due agency fees was $260,000 as of December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Due to the USAO Investigation, SEC investigation, Non-Prosecution Agreement and the class action lawsuits and the effect that
they and related matters have had on our business, the Company determined that it was more likely than not that the net deferred tax
asset at December 31, 2012 and 2011 was not realizable and accordingly, established a 100 percent valuation allowance against its
net deferred tax asset at December 31, 2012 and 2011. As a consequence, the Company had no income tax provision or benefit for
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Results of Discontinued Operations

2013 Compared to 2012

Net income from our discontinued structured settlement operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $13.5 million as
compared to a loss of $2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, an improvement of $16.1 million. Total income from our
discontinued structured settlement operations was $22.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to $14.0 million in
2012, an increase of $8.6 million. This increase is mainly associated with an $11.3 million gain as a result of the disposal of the
structured settlement operations. During the year ended December 31, 2013, our discontinued structured settlement operations sold
529 structured settlements for a gain of $9.6 million compared to 1,235 structured settlements sold for a gain of $11.5 million during
the same period in 2012, a reduction of $1.9 million or 16%. Unrealized change in fair value of structured settlements receivable was
$1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to $1.8 million in for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Total expenses from our discontinued structured settlement operations were $9.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013
compared to $16.6 million incurred during the same period in 2012, a decrease of $7.5 million, or 45%. This reduction is mainly
attributable to $2.5 million decrease in personnel cost, $3.1 million decrease in advertising, $1.2 million decrease in legal fees,
$588,000 decrease in professional fees and $194,000 decrease in other SG&A expenses.

2012 Compared to 2011

Net loss from our discontinued structured settlement operations for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $2.6 million as
compared to $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, an improvement of $2.8 million. Total income from our discontinued
structured settlement operations was $14.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $11.9 million in 2011, an
increase of $2.1 million. During the year ended
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December 31, 2012, our discontinued structured settlement operations sold 1,235 structured settlements for a gain of $11.5 million
compared to 979 structured settlements sold for a gain of $5.8 million during the same period in 2011, a reduction of $5.7 million or
98%. Unrealized change in fair value of structured settlements receivable was $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2012
compared to $5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, a decrease of $3.5 million, or 66%.

Total expenses from our discontinued structured settlement operations were $16.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2012 compared to $17.4 million incurred during the same period in 2011, a decrease of $747,000, or 4%. This reduction was mainly
attributable to a $1.1 million decrease in advertising, $163,000 decrease in legal fees and a $477,000 decrease in other SG&A
expenses. These reductions were offset by an increase in personnel costs of $608,000 and professional fees of $361,000.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in
the normal course, as well as continued compliance with the covenants contained in the Revolving Credit Facility and other financing
arrangements.

The Company has expended considerable resources responding to and resolving the USAO Investigation with regard to the
Company, as well as responding to the SEC Investigation and related litigation, advancing indemnification costs on behalf of current
and former employees and in conducting an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances surrounding the USAO
Investigation. As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s cumulative legal and related fees in respect of these matters were $34.7
million, including $4.5 million incurred during the year ended December 31, 2013. We believe we will continue to spend significant
amounts on legal matters related to the SEC Investigation and the USAO Investigation, as well as for general litigation and judicial
proceedings over the next year, and possibly beyond. In addition, under the class action and derivative litigation settlements, the
Company has undertaken to advance legal fees and indemnify certain individuals covered under the director and officer liability
insurance policies. The remaining obligation to advance and indemnify on behalf of these individuals, while currently unquantifiable,
may be substantial and could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

We expect to meet our liquidity needs for the next year primarily through our cash resources. While the liquidity risk associated
with the policies that have been pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility has been mitigated, any available proceeds
under the facility’s waterfall provisions will generally be directed to pay outstanding interest and principal on the loan unless the
lenders determine otherwise. Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to when the proceeds from maturities of the policies pledged
as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility will be distributed to the Company. The Company must proactively manage its cash
in order to effectively run its businesses, maintain the policies that have not been pledged under the Revolving Credit Facility and
opportunistically grow its assets. The Company may in the future pledge and/or borrow against certain or all of the 155 policies that
have not been pledged under the Revolving Credit Facility, the majority of which had historically been maintained by the LPIC
Provider. It may also determine to sell all or a portion of these policies and, under certain circumstances, lapse certain of these
policies as its portfolio management strategy and liquidity needs dictate. We may also seek to reduce our operating expenses in order
to preserve the value of our existing portfolio of policies. The lapsing of policies, if any, would create losses as such assets would be
written down to zero.

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $22.7 million of cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash of $13.5
million. Restricted cash includes $12.5 million received from the Company’s D&O Carrier and $1.0 million that was contributed by the
Company. Restricted cash in respect of the final settlement of the class action and derivative litigation and related matters was
released from escrow and paid out in the first quarter of 2014.
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On February 21, 2014, the Company issued $70.7 million in aggregate principal amount of 8.50% senior unsecured notes due
2019. We intend to use the majority of the proceeds to lend against portfolios of policies with underwriting and cash flow
characteristics that are satisfactory to the Company with the remainder of the proceeds used to strategically acquire life insurance
policies in the secondary and tertiary markets, to pay the premiums on certain life insurance policies that we own and for general
corporate purposes, including working capital.

Financing Arrangements Summary

Revolving Credit Facility

Effective April 29, 2013, White Eagle entered into a 15-year Revolving Credit Facility with LNV Corporation, as initial lender,
Imperial Finance & Trading, LLC, as servicer and portfolio manager and CLMG Corp., as administrative agent (the “Agent”).

General & Security. The Revolving Credit Facility provides for an asset-based revolving credit facility backed by White Eagle’s
portfolio of life insurance policies with an initial aggregate lender commitment of up to $300.0 million, subject to borrowing base
availability. White Eagle owns a portfolio of 457 life insurance policies with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.3 billion
and an estimated fair value of approximately $254.5 million at December 31, 2013, which has been pledged as collateral under the
Revolving Credit Facility. In addition, the Company’s equity interests in White Eagle have been pledged under the Revolving Credit
Facility.

Borrowing Base. Borrowing availability under the Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a borrowing base, which at any time is
equal to the lesser of (A) the sum of all of the following amounts that have been funded or are to be funded through the next
distribution date (i) the initial advance and all additional advances to acquire additional pledged policies or that are not for ongoing
maintenance advances, plus (ii) 100% of the sum of the ongoing maintenance costs, plus (iii) 100% of accrued and unpaid interest on
borrowings (excluding the rate floor portion described below), plus (iv) 100% of any other fees and expenses funded and to be funded
as approved by the required lenders, less (v) any required payments of principal and interest previously distributed and to be
distributed through the next distribution date; (B) 75% of the valuation of the policies pledged as collateral as determined by the
lenders; (C) 50% of the aggregate face amount of the policies pledged as collateral (excluding certain specified life insurance
policies); and (D) the then applicable facility limit. As of December 31, 2013, the borrowing base was approximately $135.4 million
and borrowings under the facility were $133.2 million.

Amortization & Distributions. Proceeds from the policies pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility will be
distributed pursuant to a contractual waterfall governing priority of payments. Absent an event of default, after premium payments and
fees to service providers, 100% of the remaining proceeds will be directed to pay outstanding interest and principal on the loan,
unless the lenders determine otherwise. Generally, after payment of interest and principal, collections from policy proceeds are to be
paid to White Eagle up to $76.1 million, then 50% of the remaining proceeds are to be directed to the lenders with the remainder paid
to White Eagle and for any unpaid fees to service providers. With respect to approximately 25% of the face amount of policies pledged
as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility, White Eagle has agreed that if policy proceeds that are otherwise due are not paid
by an insurance carrier, the foregoing distributions will be altered such that the lenders will receive any “catch-up” payments in
respect of amounts that they would have received in the waterfall prior to distributions being made to White Eagle. During the
continuance of events of default or unmatured events of default, the amounts from collections of policy proceeds that might otherwise
be paid to White Eagle will instead be held in a designated account controlled by the lenders and may be applied to fund operating
and third party expenses, interest and principal, “catch-up” payments or percentage payments that would go to the lenders as
described above.
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Use of Proceeds. Generally, ongoing advances may be made for paying premiums on the life insurance policies pledged as
collateral, to pay debt service (other than a “rate floor” component equal to the greater of LIBOR (or the applicable base rate) and
1.5%), and to pay the fees of service providers. Subsequent advances in respect of newly pledged policies are at the discretion of the
lenders and the use of proceeds from those advances are at the discretion of the lenders.

Interest. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR or, if LIBOR is unavailable, the
base rate, in each case plus an applicable margin of 4.00% and subject to the rate floor described above. The base rate under the
Revolving Credit Facility equals the sum of (i) the weighted average of the interest rates on overnight federal funds transactions or, if
unavailable, the average of three federal funds quotations received by the Agent plus 0.75% and (ii) 0.5%. The effective rate at
December 31, 2013 is 5.5%. The Company’s policy is to record interest expense for the cash portion of interest paid during the
period. Accrued interest is reflected as a component of the estimated fair value of the note payable.

Maturity. The term of the Revolving Credit Facility expires April 28, 2028, which is also the scheduled commitment termination
date (though the lenders’ commitments to fund borrowings may terminate earlier in relation to an event of default). The lenders’
interests in and rights to a portion of the proceeds of the policies does not terminate with the repayment of the principal borrowed and
interest accrued thereon, the termination of the Revolving Credit Facility or expiration of the lenders’ commitments.

Covenants/Events of Defaults. The Revolving Credit Facility contains covenants and events of default that are customary for
asset-based credit agreements of this type, but also include cross defaults under the servicing, account control, contribution and
pledge agreements entered into in connection with the Revolving Credit Facility (including in relation to breaches by third parties
thereunder), changes in control of or insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company and relevant subsidiaries and performance of certain
obligations by certain relevant subsidiaries, White Eagle and third parties. The Revolving Credit Facility does not contain any financial
covenants, but does contain certain tests relating to asset maintenance, performance and valuation the satisfaction of which will be
determined by the lenders with a high degree of discretion.

Remedies. The Revolving Credit Facility and ancillary transaction documents afford the lenders a high degree of discretion in
their selection of and implementation of remedies in relation to any event of default, including a high degree of discretion in
determining whether to foreclose upon and liquidate all or any pledged policies, the Company’s interests in White Eagle, and the
manner of any such liquidation. White Eagle has limited ability to cure events of default through the sale of policies or the
procurement of replacement financing.

At December 31, 2013, the fair value of the debt under the Revolving Credit Facility was $123.8 million and the outstanding
principal was approximately $133.2 million as of December 31, 2013. See Note 13, “Fair Value Measurements.”

8.50% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2019

In February 2014, we closed on a private offering for an aggregate $70.7 million of 8.50% senior unsecured convertible notes
due 2019. The Notes were sold to certain accredited investors pursuant to Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1993 and to an
initial purchaser who then sold the Notes to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933. The
Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture dated February 21, 2014, between us and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee
(“the Indenture”). Certain entities affiliated with shareholders of the Company who individually hold in excess of 5% of our common
stock purchased Notes in the offering, including entities affiliated with two members of our Board of Directors.

The Notes are general senior unsecured obligations and rank equally in right of payment with all of our other existing and future
senior unsecured indebtedness. The Notes are effectively subordinate to all of our secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of
the assets collateralizing such indebtedness. The Notes are not guaranteed by our subsidiaries.
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The maturity date of the Notes is February 15, 2019. The Notes accrue interest at the rate of 8.50% per annum on the principal
amount of the Notes, payable semi-annually in arrears on August 15 and February 15 of each year with the first interest payment on
August 15, 2014.

Except as described below, the Notes are convertible into shares of common stock at any time prior to the close of business on
the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, except that, prior to the earlier of the date on which the
Company obtains the approval of its shareholders to issue shares of common stock upon conversion of the Notes in an amount that
exceeds 19.99% of its outstanding common stock on the date the Notes are initially issued in accordance with the listing standards of
the New York Stock Exchange, the date on which such shareholder approval is no longer required, or, August 15, 2018, holders may
only convert their Notes upon the satisfaction of certain conditions.

The Notes may be converted into shares of common stock initially at a conversion rate of 147.9290 shares of common stock per
$1,000 principal amount of Notes (equivalent to a conversion price of $6.76 per share of common stock), subject to adjustment;
provided, however, unless and until the Company obtains the shareholder approval referenced above or such shareholder approval is
no longer required under the listing standards of the NYSE, the number of shares of common stock received upon conversion will be
subject to a “conversion share cap” (equivalent to the pro rata portion of such 19.99% limit represented by the Notes to be converted).
Holders who are either affiliated with the Company’s directors or executive officers or are owners of 5% or more of the Company’s
common stock will be subject to additional limitations on the number of shares of common stock that may be delivered to them with
respect to a conversion of Notes they own prior to shareholder approval. In addition, unless and until such shareholder approval is
obtained or is no longer required under the listing standards of the NYSE, the Company will, unless the Company elects otherwise,
elect “combination settlement” with a specified dollar amount per $1,000 principal amount of Notes of at least $1,000 for all Notes
submitted for exchange, which means the Company will be obligated to settle conversion obligation by paying up to the specified
dollar amount with respect to such Notes in cash and delivering shares of common stock for any conversion value in excess of such
specified dollar amount, subject to the conversion share cap. Any conversion value above the conversion share cap will be paid in
cash.

The Company may not redeem the Notes prior to February 15, 2017. On and after February 15, 2017, and prior to the maturity
date, the Company may redeem for cash all, but not less than all, of the Notes if the last reported sale price of the Company’s
common stock equals or exceeds 130% of the applicable conversion price for at least 20 trading days during the 30 consecutive
trading day period ending on the trading day immediately prior to the date the Company delivers notice of the redemption. The
redemption price will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding,
the redemption date. In addition, if we call the Notes for redemption, a make-whole fundamental change will be deemed to occur. As
a result, we will, in certain circumstances, increase the conversion rate by a number of additional shares of common stock for holders
who convert their notes prior to the redemption date.

The Company intends to seek shareholder approval at its 2014 Annual Shareholder Meeting to issue shares of common stock
upon conversion in excess of the conversion share cap and other limitations imposed by Section 312 of the NYSE Listed Company
Manual that require shareholder approval (i) in order for the Notes to be convertible into a number of shares of common stock that
exceeds 1.0% of the number of shares of common stock or voting power outstanding before the issuance where those shares are
issuable to a director, officer or “substantial security holder” of the Company or an affiliate of such person, and (ii) in order for the
Notes to be convertible into a number of shares of Common Stock that exceeds 5% of the number of shares of Common Stock or
voting power outstanding before the issuance where those shares are issuable to a substantial security holder.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows, which includes both continuing and discontinued operations, from operating,
investing and financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2013   2012   2011  
Statement of Cash Flows Data:     
Total cash (used in) provided by:     
Operating activities   $(24,431)  $(38,142)  $ (46,362) 
Investing activities    (29,044)   48,636    (92,542) 
Financing activities    69,173    (19,748)   140,935  

  

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   $ 15,698   $ (9,254)  $ 2,031  
  

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $24.4 million. Our net income of $65.3 million
was adjusted for; loan origination costs of $10.3 million which were incurred to obtain our revolving credit facility and expensed during
2013; loan financing costs of $2.0 million which represent interest expense associated with the Revolving Credit Facility, which
amount is a non-cash item as it was withheld by the lender and added to the outstanding loan balance; loss on extinguishment of
$4.0 million for deferred financing costs recognized because the Bridge Facility was repaid before the maturity date; change in fair
value of life settlement gains of $88.7 million which is mainly attributable to the significant purchase of a portion of our portfolio during
the second quarter of 2013; change in fair value of credit facility gains of $9.4 million which resulted from the Company adopting the
fair value option for its Revolving Credit Facility; gain from business disposition of $11.3 million which resulted from the sale of the
structured settlement operations; and, a net positive change in the components of operating assets and liabilities of $1.2 million. This
$1.2 million change in operating assets and liabilities is partially attributable to a $12.8 million decrease in prepaid expenses due to
collections of insurance recoveries from our D&O Carrier associated with the class action litigation and derivative settlement and a
$13.5 million increase in restricted cash which holds the amount collected from the D&O Carrier.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $29.0 million and includes $12.1 million in
proceeds received from sale of investment securities available for sale which was a result of the Company’s disposing of its available
for sale investment portfolio, $12.0 million from maturity of life settlements that was associated with three deaths occurred during the
year, $5.8 million from sale of investments in life settlements that were associated with the sale of eight policies during 2013, $11.4
million from business disposition which related to the sale of the structured settlement operations. These were offset by $65.1 million
for premiums paid on investments in life settlements which resulted from an increase in the number of polices held and payments
made on these policies to ensure they are on a quarterly payment schedule and $7.0 million for purchase of investment in life
settlement through the Termination Agreement.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $69.2 million and includes $41.4 million in
proceeds from the bridge facility that was obtained in March 2013, and $78.3 million from our new credit facility that was obtained in
April 2013. These were offset by repayment of the bridge facility of $45.0 million in April 2013 and payment of loan origination cost of
$6.7 million associated with the Bridge Facility and Revolving Credit Facility.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2013 (in thousands):
 

   Total    

Due in Less
than

1 Year    
Due

1-3 Years   
Due

3-5 Years   
More than

5 Years  
Operating leases   $ 477    $ 477    $ —       —       —    
Note payable(1)    133,220     —       —       —       133,220  
Interest payable    1,522     1,522     —       —       —    
Settlement(2)    13,500     13,500     —       —       —    
Warrants(3)    5,400     5,400     —       —       —    

          

  $154,119    $ 20,899    $ —      $ —      $133,220  
          

 
(1) Collectability from policy maturities pledged under the Revolving Credit Facility will generally be used to pay down the Note

payable. Please see Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Financing Arrangement Summary—Revolving Credit Facility—Amortization &
Distributions.

(2) Represents cash settlement portion of the class action settlement and legal fee reimbursement for the derivative settlement.
These amounts were paid in the first quarter of 2014.

(3) Represents the estimated fair value of 2.0 million warrants to be issued in connection with the class action settlement. The
Company expects to issue the warrants by April 15, 2014.

Inflation

Our assets and liabilities are, and will be in the future, interest-rate sensitive in nature. As a result, interest rates may influence
our performance far more than does inflation. Changes in interest rates do not necessarily correlate with inflation or changes in
inflation rates. We do not believe that inflation had any material impact on our results of operations in the periods presented in our
financial statements presented in this report.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At December 31, 2013, there are no off-balance sheet arrangements between us and any other entity that have, or are
reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, income or expenses,
results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to stockholders.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of potential economic loss principally arising from adverse changes in the fair value of financial
instruments. The major components of market risk are credit risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. We have no exposure in
our operations to foreign currency risk. As of December 31, 2013 we did not hold material amount of financial instruments for trading
purposes.

Credit Risk

Credit risk consists primarily of the potential loss arising from adverse changes in the financial condition of the issuers of the life
insurance policies that we own. Historically, we managed our credit risk related to these life insurance policy issuers by generally only
funding premium finance loans for policies issued by companies that had a credit rating of at least “A” by Standard & Poor’s, at least
“A2” by Moody’s, at least “A” by A.M. Best Company or at least “A-” by Fitch. At December 31, 2013, we had no outstanding loans.
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The following table provides information about the life insurance issuer concentrations that exceed 10% of total death benefit
and 10% of total fair value of our investments in life settlements as of December 31, 2013:
 

Carrier   

Percentage of
Total Fair

Value   

Percentage of
Total Death

Benefit   
Moody’s
Rating    

S&P
Rating  

Transamerica Occidental Life Insurance
Company    26.2%   20.3%   A1     AA-  

Lincoln National Life Insurance Company    21.1%   20.9%   A1     AA-  
Lincoln Benefit Life    11.5%   9.8%   Baa1     BBB+  
AXA Equitable    10.0%   11.2%   Aa3     A+  

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2013, fluctuations in interest rates did not impact interest expense in the life finance business. As discussed
above in Liquidity and Capital Resources in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,
the Revolving Credit Facility accrues interest at LIBOR plus an applicable margin. LIBOR under the facility is subject to a floor of 1.5%
and the Company does not expect a fluctuation in interest rates to have a meaningful impact on the Company’s interest expense in
the short term. Increases in LIBOR above the 1.5% floor provided in the Revolving Credit Facility, however, would likely affect the
calculation of the fair value of the note payable under the Revolving Credit Facility. Additional increases in interest rates may impact
the rates at which we are able to obtain financing in the future. Holding other variables constant, a hypothetical 1% increase in LIBOR
would not be expected to have a material impact for fiscal year 2014.

We earn income on the unrealized changes in fair value of life insurance policies we acquire in the life settlement and
secondary markets. However, if the fair value of the life insurance policies we own decreases, we record this reduction as a loss.

As of December 31, 2013, we owned investments in life settlements with a fair value of $303.0 million. A rise in interest rates
could potentially have an adverse impact on the sale price if we were to sell some or all of these assets. There are several factors that
affect the market value of life settlements, including the age and health of the insured, investors’ demand, available liquidity in the
marketplace, duration and longevity of the policy, and interest rates. We currently do not view the risk of a decline in the sale price of
life settlements due to normal changes in interest rates as a material risk.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements required by this Item are included in Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are presented
beginning on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not Applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, conducted an evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2013 that
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management’s report set forth on page F-2 is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9B. Other Information

On March 4, 2014, as part of the corporate governance reforms contemplated by the settlement of the derivative litigation
described in Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements, the Company amended and restated its bylaws, adding an advanced
director resignation requirement in Article 4 and modifying certain conditions to indemnification and advancement in Article 10.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information relating to the directors and officers of the Company, information regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act and information regarding the audit committee and audit committee financial expert is incorporated herein by reference
to the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) to be filed 120 days after
December 31, 2013.

All of the Company’s directors, officers and employees must act in accordance with the Code of Ethics, which has been adopted
by the Company’s Board of Directors. A copy of the Code of Ethics is available on the Company’s website at www.imperial.com in the
“Investor Relations” section, under the Corporate Governance tab. The Company intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement under
Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding disclosure of an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this Code of Ethics with respect to its
principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or persons performing similar functions, by posting
such information on the Company’s website discussed above, unless a Form 8-K is otherwise required by law or applicable listing
rules.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information regarding executive compensation is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed within
120 days after December 31, 2013.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information setting forth the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is hereby incorporated by
reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after December 31, 2013.

Shown below is certain information as of December 31, 2013 regarding equity compensation plans:
 

Plan category   

Number of
securities to be

issued upon
exercise of
outstanding

options,
warrants and

rights    

Weighted-
average exercise

price of
outstanding

options,
warrants and

rights    

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance

under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities

reflected in
other column)  

Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders    N/A     N/A     N/A  

Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders    831,282    $ 8.46     334,166  

      

Total    831,282    $ 8.46     334,166  
      

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information relating to certain relationships and related transactions and director independence is incorporated herein by
reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after December 31, 2013.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information relating to the principal accountant fees and expenses is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy
Statement to be filed with 120 days after December 31, 2013.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements:

Our consolidated financial statements identified in the accompanying Index to Financial Statements at page F-1
herein are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules: The schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required
information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits:

The accompanying Exhibit Index on page E-1 sets forth the exhibits that are filed as part of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

  IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC.

  By:  /S/    ANTONY MITCHELL

  Name: Antony Mitchell
  Title:  Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 10, 2014

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature   Title  Date

/S/    ANTONY MITCHELL

Antony Mitchell   
Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)  
March 10, 2014

/S/    RICHARD O’CONNELL, JR.
Richard O’Connell, Jr.   

Chief Financial Officer and Chief Credit Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  

March 10, 2014

/S/    JAMES CHADWICK

James Chadwick   
Director

 
March 10, 2014

/S/    MICHAEL A. CROW

Michael A. Crow   
Director

 
March 10, 2014

/S/    ANDREW DAKOS

Andrew Dakos   
Director

 
March 10, 2014

/S/    RICHARD DAYAN

Richard Dayan   
Director

 
March 10, 2014

/S/    PHILLIP GOLDSTEIN

Phillip Goldstein   
Chairman of the Board of Directors

 
March 10, 2014

/S/    GERALD HELLERMAN

Gerald Hellerman   
Director

 
March 10, 2014
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is
defined under Rule 13a-15(f) in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements prepared for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Company’s principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. Based on the Company’s evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework,
management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2013.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has been audited by Grant
Thornton, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Imperial Holdings, Inc.

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Imperial Holdings, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in the 1992 Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2013, based on criteria established in the 1992 Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2013, and our report dated March 10,
2014 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 10, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Imperial Holdings, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Imperial Holdings, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income
(loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Imperial Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in the 1992 Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and
our report dated March 10, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 10, 2014
 

F-4

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Table of Contents

Imperial Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
 
          2013                  2012         
  (In thousands except share data)  

ASSETS   

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 14,722   $ 7,001  
Cash and cash equivalents (VIE Note 3)   7,977    —    
Restricted cash   13,506    1,162  
Investment securities available for sale, at estimated fair value   —      12,147  
Deferred costs, net   —      7  
Prepaid expenses and other assets   1,331    14,165  
Deposits—other   1,597    2,855  
Interest receivable, net   —      822  
Loans receivable, net   —      3,044  
Structured settlement receivables, at estimated fair value   660    1,680  
Structured settlement receivables at cost, net   797    1,574  
Investment in life settlements, at estimated fair value   48,442    113,441  
Investment in life settlements, at estimated fair value (VIE Note 3)   254,519    —    
Receivable for maturity of life settlements (VIE Note 3)   2,100    —    
Fixed assets, net   74    217  
Investment in affiliates   2,378    2,212  
Assets of segment held for sale   —      15  

Total assets  $ 348,103   $ 160,342  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   
Liabilities   

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 2,977   $ 6,606  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (VIE Note 3)   341    —    
Other liabilities   21,221    20,796  
Note payable, at estimated fair value (VIE Note 3)   123,847    —    
Income taxes payable   6,295    6,295  

Total liabilities   154,681    33,697  
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15)   

Stockholders’ Equity   

Common stock (80,000,000 authorized; 21,237,166 and 21,206,121 issued and issued
and outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively)   212    212  

Additional paid-in-capital   239,506    238,064  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   —      (3) 
Accumulated deficit   (46,296)   (111,628) 

Total stockholders’ equity   193,422    126,645  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 348,103   $ 160,342  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Imperial Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 31,
 
           2013                  2012                  2011         
   (in thousands, except share and per share data)  
Income   

Agency fee income   $ —     $ —     $ 6,470  
Interest income    28    1,685    7,750  
Interest and dividends on investment securities available for sale    14    391    640  
Origination fee income    —      500    6,480  
Gain on forgiveness of debt    —      —      5,023  
(Loss) gain on life settlements, net    (1,990)   151    5  
Change in fair value of life settlements (Notes 11 & 13)    88,686    (5,660)   570  
Servicing fee income    310    1,183    1,814  
Gain on maturities of life settlements with subrogation rights, net    —      6,090    3,188  
Other income    2,030    748    341  

  

Total income    89,078    5,088    32,281  
  

Expenses     
Interest expense    13,657    1,255    8,524  
Change in fair value of note payable (Notes 12 & 13)    (9,373)   —      —    
Loss on extinguishment of Bridge Facility    3,991    —      —    
Provision for losses on loans receivable    —      515    7,589  
(Gain) loss on loan payoffs and settlements, net    (65)   125    3,837  
Amortization of deferred costs    7    1,867    6,076  
Personnel costs    8,177    9,452    12,906  
Department of Justice    —      —      8,000  
Legal fees    11,701    23,974    9,855  
Professional fees    5,281    5,262    4,373  
Insurance    1,953    2,330    756  
Other selling, general and administrative expenses    1,887    2,366    4,139  

  

Total expenses    37,216    47,146    66,055  
  

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes    51,862    (42,058)   (33,774) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes    39    (39)   —    

  

Net income (loss) from continuing operations   $ 51,823   $ (42,019)  $ (33,774) 
  

Discontinued Operations:     
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes    2,198    (2,615)   (5,424) 
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes    11,311    —      —    

  

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations    13,509    (2,615)   (5,424) 
  

Net income (loss)   $ 65,332   $ (44,634)  $ (39,198) 
  

Earnings (loss) per share:     
Basic earnings (loss) per common share     

Continuing operations   $ 2.44   $ (1.98)  $ (1.75) 
Discontinued operations   $ 0.64   $ (0.12)  $ (0.28) 

  

Net income (loss)   $ 3.08   $ (2.10)  $ (2.03) 
  

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share     
Continuing operations   $ 2.44   $ (1.98)  $ (1.75) 
Discontinued operations   $ 0.64   $ (0.12)  $ (0.28) 

  

Net income (loss)   $ 3.08   $ (2.10)  $ (2.03) 
  

Weighted average shares outstanding:     
  

Basic    21,216,487    21,205,747    19,352,063  
  

Diluted    21,218,938    21,205,747    19,352,063  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Imperial Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
 
   2013    2012   2011  
   (In thousands)  
Net income (loss)   $65,332    $(44,634)  $(39,198) 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:      

Unrealized income (loss) on investment securities available for sale    —       63    (66) 
Reclassification adjustment for gains included in net income    3     —      —    

    

Comprehensive income (loss)   $65,335    $(44,571)  $(39,264) 
    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Imperial Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
 

  

Member
Units -

Common   

Member
Units -

Preferred A   

Member
Units -

Preferred B   

Member
Units -

Preferred C   

Member
Units -

Preferred D   

Member
Units -

Preferred E   
Common

Stock   
Additional

Paid-in   (Accumulated  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive    
  Units   Amount   Units   Amount  Units   Amount  Units   Amount  Units   Amount  Units   Amount  Shares   Amount  Capital   Deficit)   Income (Loss)   Total  
  (in thousands, except share data)  
Balance,

January 1,
2011   337,500   $ 11,462    90,796   $ 4,035    25,000   $ 2,500    70,000   $ 7,000    7,000   $ 700    73,000   $ 7,300    —      —      —     $ (27,796)   —     $ 5,201  

Comprehensive
loss   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      (39,198)   (66)   (39,264) 

Conversion of
debt and
membership
units into
common
shares   (337,500)   (11,462)   (90,796)   (4,035)   (25,000)   (2,500)   (70,000)   (7,000)   (7,000)   (700)   (73,000)   (7,300)   2,300,273    23    38,132    —      —      5,158  

Conversion of
Skarbonka debt
into common
shares, net of
tax   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      1,272,727    13    23,693    —      —      23,706  

Phantom shares
converted into
common
shares   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      27,000    —      290    —      —      290  

Issuance of
common stock
pursuant to
IPO, net of
offering costs   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      17,602,614    176    174,057    —      —      174,233  

Stock-based
compensation   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      1,583    —      —      1,583  

Balance,
December 31,
2011   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      21,202,614   $ 212    237,755   $ (66,994)  $ (66)  $170,907  

Comprehensive
loss   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      (44,634)   63    (44,571) 

Stock-based
compensation   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      309    —      —      309  

Restricted stock
issued   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      3,507    —      —      —      —      —    

Balance,
December 31,
2012   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      21,206,121   $ 212    238,064   $ (111,628)  $ (3)  $126,645  

Comprehensive
income   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —       —      65,332    3    65,335  

Stock-based
compensation   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —       —      1,316    —      —      1,316  

Restricted stock
issued   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      17,286    —      69    —      —      69  

Issuance of
common stock   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      13,759    —      57    —      —      57  

Balance,
December 31,
2013   —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      —      21,237,166   $ 212   $ 239,506   $ (46,296)  $ —     $193,422  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Imperial Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,
 
   2013   2012   2011  
   (In thousands)  
Cash flows from operating activities     
Net income (loss)   $ 65,332   $(44,634)  $(39,198) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:     

Depreciation and amortization    183    385    612  
Revolving Credit Facility origination cost    10,340    —      —    
Revolving Credit Facility financing cost    2,028    —      —    
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on available for sale

securities sale securities    21    962    1,198  
Provision for doubtful accounts    —      —      661  
Provision for losses on loans receivable    —      515    7,589  
Stock-based compensation    1,442    309    1,873  
(Gain) loss on loan payoffs and settlements, net    (65)   125    3,837  
Origination fee income    —      (500)   (6,480) 
Change in fair value of life settlements    (88,686)   5,660    (570) 
Unrealized change in fair value of structured settlements    (1,230)   (1,823)   (5,302) 
Change in fair value of note payable    (9,373)   —      —    
Loss (gain) on life settlements    1,990    (151)   (5) 
Gain on forgiveness of debt    —      —      (5,023) 
Interest income on loans    (258)   (2,014)   (8,303) 
Amortization of deferred costs    7    1,867    6,076  
Loss on extinguishment of Bridge Facility    3,991    —      —    
Gain on sale and prepayment of investment securities available for sale    (22)   (53)   (21) 
Accretion of discount on debenture payable    —      —      233  
Net gain from business disposition    (11,311)   —      —    
Change in value of warrants to be issued    2,299    3,082    —    
Change in assets and liabilities:     

Restricted cash    (13,506)   —      —    
Certificate of deposit-restricted    —      895    —    
Deposits—other    1,258    (2,094)   (68) 
Agency fees receivable    —      —      479  
Investment in affiliates    (165)   (1,171)   (964) 
Structured settlement receivables    3,124    12,827    (5,539) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets    12,848    (10,833)   (1,996) 
Deferred Costs    —      —      2,755  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    (2,938)   (9,730)   12,625  
Other liabilities    (1,874)   13,435    (3,634) 
Interest receivable    95    343    (439) 
Interest payable    —      (5,505)   (6,758) 
Deferred income tax    39    (39)   —    

  

Net cash used in operating activities    (24,431)   (38,142)   (46,362) 
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   2013   2012   2011  
   (In thousands)  
Cash flows from investing activities     

Purchase of fixed assets, net of disposals    (15)   (21)   (311) 
Purchase of investment securities available for sale    —      (35,492)   (127,974) 
Proceeds from sale and prepayments of investment securities available for sale   12,111    79,781    69,490  
Premiums paid on investments in life settlements    (65,121)   (27,804)   (16,321) 
Purchases of investments in life settlements    (7,000)   (130)   (50,480) 
Proceeds from sale of investments in life settlements    5,780    5,626    —    
Proceeds from maturity of investments in life settlements    12,039    —      —    
Proceeds from policy surrender    1,049    —      —    
Proceeds from loan payoffs and lender protection insurance claims received in

advance    691    26,676    51,778  
Originations of loans receivable    —      —      (18,724) 
Net proceeds associated with business disposition    11,422    —      —    

  

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities    (29,044)   48,636    (92,542) 
  

Cash flows from financing activities     
Revolving Credit and Bridge Facility origination cost    (6,731)   —      —    
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of offering expenses    —      —      174,233  
Repayment of borrowings under credit facilities    —      (19,277)   (36,176) 
Restricted cash    1,162    (471)   —    
Repayment of borrowings under bridge facility    (45,000)   —      —    
Borrowings from revolving credit facility    78,342    —      234  
Borrowings from bridge facility    41,400    —      —    
Borrowings from affiliates    —      —      2,644  

  

Net cash provided by (used in) by financing activities    69,173    (19,748)   140,935  
  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    15,698    (9,254)   2,031  
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of the year    7,001    16,255    14,224  

  

Cash and cash equivalents, at end of the year   $ 22,699   $ 7,001   $ 16,255  
  

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:     
Cash paid for interest during the period   $ 1,270   $ 6,746   $ 14,992  

  

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing activities:     
Investment in life settlements acquired in foreclosure   $ 3,168   $ 5,724   $ 6,409  

  

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash financing activities:     
Conversion of debt to common stock   $ —     $ —     $ 35,158  

  

Purchase of policies through release of subrogation claim paid by lender   $ 48,500   $ —     $ —    
  

Credit facility origination costs   $ 4,000   $ —     $ —    
  

Interest payment and fees withheld from borrowings by lender   $ 2,378   $ —     $ —    
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Imperial Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2013

NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Imperial Holdings, Inc. (“Imperial,” the “Company,” “we” or “us”) was formed initially as a Florida limited liability Company
pursuant to an operating agreement dated December 15, 2006 between IFS Holdings, Inc., IMEX Settlement Corporation, Premium
Funding, Inc. and Red Oak Finance, LLC. In connection with the Company’s initial public offering on February 3, 2011, the Company
succeeded to the business, assets and liabilities of the limited liability Company.

The Company, operating through its subsidiaries, is a specialty finance company with its corporate office in Boca Raton, Florida.
The Company, prior to the sale of its structured settlement business discussed below, operated in two reportable business segments:
life finance (formerly referred to as premium finance) and structured settlements. In the life finance business, the Company earns
income from changes in the fair value of life settlements the Company acquires and receipt of death benefits with respect to matured
life insurance policies it owns. In the structured settlement business, the Company purchased structured settlements at a discounted
rate and sold such assets to third parties (see Discontinued Operations below).

In February 2011, the Company completed the sale of 17,602,614 shares of common stock in its initial public offering at a price
of $10.75 per share. The Company received net proceeds of approximately $174.2 million after deducting the underwriting discounts
and commissions and its offering expenses.

Discontinued Operations

On October 25, 2013, the Company sold substantially all of the assets comprising its structured settlement business to Majestic
Opco L.L.C for $12.0 million pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement.

As a result, the Company has discontinued segment reporting and classified its operating results, net of income taxes, as
discontinued operations. The accompanying consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and
the related consolidated statements of operations for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013, and the related
notes to the consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively revised to reflect the classification of our structured
settlement business operating results, net of tax, as discontinued operations. See Note 10, “Discontinued Operations,” for further
information. Unless otherwise noted, the following notes refer to the Company’s continuing operations.

NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries
and its special purpose entities, with the exception of Imperial Settlements Financing 2010, LLC (“ISF 2010”), an unconsolidated
special purpose entity. The special purpose entity has been created to fulfill specific objectives. All significant intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation, including income from servicing policies pledged as collateral under the
Revolving Credit Facility.

Ownership of Life Insurance Policies

In the ordinary course of business, a large portion of our borrowers defaulted by not paying off their loans and relinquished
ownership of their life insurance policies to us in exchange for our release of the obligation to pay amounts due. We also buy life
insurance policies in the secondary and tertiary markets. We account for life insurance policies that we own as investments in life
settlements (life insurance policies) in accordance with ASC 325-30, Investments in Insurance Contracts, which requires us to either
elect the investment method or the fair value method. The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis and is irrevocable.
We have elected to account for these life insurance policies as investments using the fair value method.
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We initially record investments in life settlements at the transaction price. For policies acquired upon relinquishment by our
borrowers, we determined the transaction price based on fair value of the acquired policies at the date of relinquishment. The
difference between the net carrying value of the loan and the transaction price is recorded as a gain (loss) on loan payoffs and
settlement. For policies acquired for cash, the transaction price is the amount paid.

Valuation of Insurance Policies

Our valuation of insurance policies is a critical component of our estimate of the fair value of our investments in life settlements
(life insurance policies). We currently use a probabilistic method of valuing life insurance policies, which we believe to be the
preferred valuation method in the industry. The most significant assumptions are the Company’s estimate of the life expectancy of the
insured and the discount rate.

In determining the life expectancy estimate, we analyze medical reviews from independent secondary market life expectancy
providers (each a “LE provider”). An LE provider reviews the medical records and identifies all medical conditions it feels are relevant
to the life expectancy of the insured. Debits and credits are then assigned by each LE provider to the individual’s health based on
these medical conditions. The debit or credit that an LE provider assigns to a medical condition is derived from the experience of
mortality attributed to this condition in the portfolio of lives that it monitors. The health of the insured is summarized by the LE provider
into a life assessment of the individual’s life expectancy expressed both in terms of months and in mortality factor.

The resulting mortality factor represents an indication as to the degree to which the given life can be considered more or less
impaired than a standard life having similar characteristics (e.g. gender, age, smoking, etc.). For example, a standard insured (the
average life for the given mortality table) would carry a mortality rating of 100%. A similar but impaired life bearing a mortality rating of
200% would be considered to have twice the chance of dying earlier than the standard life. In addition to AVS life expectancy reports,
beginning in the quarter ended September 30, 2012, the Company began utilizing life expectancy reports from 21st Services for
valuation purposes and began averaging or “blending,” the results of the two life expectancy reports to establish a composite
mortality factor.

The probability of mortality for an insured is then calculated by applying the blended life expectancy estimate to a mortality
table. The mortality table is created based on the rates of death among groups categorized by gender, age, and smoking status. By
measuring how many deaths occur during each year, the table allows for a calculation of the probability of death in a given year for
each category of insured people. The probability of mortality for an insured is found by applying the mortality rating from the life
expectancy assessment to the probability found in the actuarial table for the insured’s age, sex and smoking status. The Company
has historically applied an actuarial table developed by a third party. However, beginning in the quarter ended September 30, 2012,
the Company transitioned to a table developed by the U.S. Society of Actuaries known as the 2008 Valuation Basic Table, or the
2008 VBT. However, because the 2008 VBT table does not account for anticipated improvements in mortality in the insured
population, the table was modified in conjunction with outside consultants to reflect these expected mortality improvements. The
Company believes that the change in mortality table does not materially impact the valuation of its life insurance policies and that its
adoption of a modified 2008 VBT table is consistent with modified tables used by market participants and third party medical
underwriters.

The mortality rating is used to create a series of best estimate probabilistic cash flows. This probability represents a
mathematical curve known as a mortality curve. This curve is then used to generate a series of expected cash flows over the
remaining expected lifespan of the insured and the corresponding policy. A discounted present value calculation is then used to
determine the value of the policy. If the insured dies earlier than expected, the return will be higher than if the insured dies when
expected or later than expected.
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The calculation allows for the possibility that if the insured dies earlier than expected, the premiums needed to keep the policy in
force will not have to be paid. Conversely, the calculation also considers the possibility that if the insured lives longer than expected,
more premium payments will be necessary. Based on these considerations, each possible outcome is assigned a probability and the
range of possible outcomes is then used to create a value for the policy.

As is the case with most market participants, the Company used a blend of life expectancies that are provided by two third-party
LE providers. These are estimates of an insured’s remaining years. If all of the insured lives in the Company’s life settlement portfolio
live six months shorter or longer than the life expectancies provided by these third parties, the change in estimated fair value at
December 31, 2013 would be as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

Life Expectancy Months Adjustment   Value    
Change
in Value  

+6   $252,337    $(50,624) 
—   $302,961     —    
-6   $358,123    $ 55,162  

Future changes in the life expectancies could have a material effect on the fair value of our investment in life settlements, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Prior to the second quarter of 2013, the Company would adjust its average, or blend, of the two life expectancy reports when the
difference in the probability of mortality between the reports was greater than 150%. In those instances the Company would cap the
higher mortality factor at amount that was 150% above the lower mortality factor, which ultimately reduced the mortality factor
inputted into the Company’s fair value model. The Company ceased applying such a cap as part of the valuation adjustments
implemented in connection with 21st Services’ revised underwriting methodology. Additionally, the Company increased the life
expectancies furnished by 21st Services that did not utilize the revised underwriting methodology by 14.67% at December 31, 2013
prior to blending them with the life expectancy reports furnished by AVS.

The Company historically used a 15%—17% range of discount rates to value its life insurance policies. In the third quarter of
2011 and in the immediate aftermath of becoming aware of the USAO investigation, the Company substantially increased the
discount rates inputted into its fair value model as it believed that USAO Investigation along with certain unfavorable court decisions
unrelated to the Company contributed to a contraction in the marketplace. Since that time, the Company has been re-evaluating its
discount rates at the end of every reporting period in order to reflect the estimated discount rates that could reasonably be used in a
market transaction involving the Company’s portfolio of life insurance policies. In doing so, the Company relies on management
insight, engages third party consultants to corroborate its assessment, engages in discussions with other market participants and
potential financing sources and extrapolates the discount rate underlying actual sales of policies.

The Company believes that, when given the choice to invest in a policy that was associated with the Company’s premium
finance business and a similar policy without such an association, all else being equal, an investor would have generally opted to
invest in the policy that was not associated with the Company’s premium finance business. However, since entering into the Non-
Prosecution Agreement, investors have required less of a risk premium to transact in these policies and the Company expects that, in
time, investors will continue to require less of a risk premium to transact in policies associated with its premium finance business.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company owned 612 policies with an aggregate investment in fair value of life settlements of
$303.0 million. Of these 612 policies 569 were previously premium financed and are valued using discount rates that range from
16.80% to 26.80%. The remaining 43 policies, which are non-premium financed are valued using discount rates that range from
14.80% to 20.80%. As of December 31, 2013, the weighted average discount rate calculated based on death benefit used in valuing
the policies in our life settlement portfolio was 19.14%.
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The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, the credit exposure to the insurance company
that issued the life insurance policy and our estimate of the risk premium an investor in the policy would require. The extent to which
the fair value could vary in the near term has been quantified by evaluating the effect of changes in the weighted average discount
rate on the death benefit used to estimate the fair value. If the weighted average discount rate were increased or decreased by 1/2 of
1% and the other assumptions used to estimate fair value remained the same, the change in estimated fair value would be as follows
(dollars in thousands):
 

Weighted Average Rate Calculated Based on Death
Benefit   Rate Adjustment  Value    Change in Value 
18.64%    -0.50%  $312,112    $ 9,151  
19.14%    —     $302,961    $ —    
19.64%    0.50%  $294,246    $ (8,715) 

Future changes in the discount rates we use to value life insurance policies could have a material effect on our yield on life
settlement transactions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of our operations.

At the end of each reporting period, we re-value the life insurance policies using our valuation model in order to update our
estimate of fair value for investments in policies held on our balance sheet. This includes reviewing our assumptions for discount
rates and life expectancies, as well as incorporating current information for premium payments and the passage of time.

Valuation of Note payable

We have elected to account for the note payable under the Revolving Credit Facility, which includes the lender’s interest in
policy proceeds, using the fair value method. The fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would have to pay to transfer the
debt to a market participant in an orderly transaction. We calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model
taking into account the stated interest rate of the Revolving Credit Facility and probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies.
Accordingly, our estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that we, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a
current market exchange. The most significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate.
The use of different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair values.

Life expectancy sensitivity analysis of note payable

A considerable portion of the fair value of the Company’s note payable derives from the timing of receipt of future policy
proceeds. Should life expectancies lengthen such that policy proceeds are collected further into the future, the fair value of this debt
will decline. Conversely, should life expectancies shorten, the fair value of this debt will increase. Considerable judgment is required
in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value.

If all of the insured lives underlying the policies pledged by White Eagle as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility live six
months shorter or longer than the life expectancies used to calculate the estimated fair value of the note payable, the change in
estimated fair value at December 31, 2013 would be as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

Life Expectancy Months Adjustment   

Fair Value of
Note

Payable    Change in Value 
+6   $ 105,912    $ (17,935) 
—   $ 123,847     —    
-6   $ 143,728    $ 19,881  
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Future changes in the life expectancies could have a material effect on the fair value of our note payable, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Discount rate of note payable

The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, credit exposure to insurance companies and our
estimate of the return a lender lending against the policies would require.

Market interest rate sensitivity analysis of note payable

The extent to which the fair value of the note payable could vary in the near term has been quantified by evaluating the effect of
changes in the weighted average discount rate. If the weighted average discount rate were increased or decreased by 1/2 of 1% and
the other assumptions used to estimate fair value remained the same, the change in estimated fair value of the note payable as of
December 31, 2013 would be as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

Discount Rate   Rate Adjustment  

Fair Value of
Note

Payable    Change in Value 
23.54%    -0.50%  $ 126,455    $ 2,608  
24.04%    —     $ 123,847    $ —    
24.54%    0.50%  $ 121,331    $ (2,516) 

Future changes in the discount rates could have a material effect on the fair value of our note payable, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of our operations.

At December 31, 2013, the fair value of the debt is $123.8 million. The outstanding principal is approximately $133.2 million as
of December 31, 2013.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from these estimates and such differences could be material. Significant estimates made by management include
income taxes, valuation of securities available for sale, the valuation of structured settlements, the valuation of investments in life
settlements and the valuation of its note payable owing under the Revolving Credit Facility.

As discussed above, the Company uses a discounted cash flow model to calculate the fair value of its life insurance policy
portfolio. That model is based on three principal factors: life expectancy, expected premiums and the discount rate. As discussed in
Note 13, “Fair Value Measurements,” the Company began receiving updated life expectancy reports on the insureds represented in
the Company’s portfolio of life insurance policies during 2012. As a result, the calculation of the life expectancy and discount rate
inputs have changed. While the Company is endeavoring to obtain updated life expectancy reports for all of its policies, at
December 31, 2013, the Company had received updated life expectancies for 226 of the 612 policies in its portfolio, of which 183
were used to calculate life expectancy extension. These life expectancies reported an average lengthening of life expectancies of
14.67% and, based on this sample, for the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company increased the life expectancies furnished
by 21st Services by 14.67% on the rest of its portfolio of life settlements prior to blending them with the life expectancy reports
furnished by AVS Underwriting LLC (“AVS”), which resulted in a reduction of income due to a net unrealized change in fair value of
approximately $54.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2013.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, investments and all highly liquid instruments purchased with an original
maturity of three months or less. The Company maintains the majority of its cash in several operating accounts with one commercial
bank. Balances on deposit are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). However, from time to time, the
Company’s balances may exceed the FDIC insurable amount at its bank.

Investment Securities Available for Sale

Investment securities available for sale are carried at fair value, inclusive of unrealized gains and losses, and net of discount
accretion and premium amortization computed using the level yield method. Net unrealized gains and losses are included in other
comprehensive income (loss) net of applicable income taxes. Gains or losses on sales of investment securities available for sale are
recognized on the specific identification basis.

Management evaluates securities for other than-temporary-impairment on a quarterly basis. Impairment is evaluated
considering numerous factors, and their relative significance varies depending on the situation. Factors considered include the
Company’s intent to hold the security until maturity or for a period of time sufficient for a recovery in value, whether it is more likely
than not that the Company will be required to sell the security prior to recovery of its amortized cost basis, the length of time and
extent to which fair value has been less than amortized cost, the historical and implied volatility of the fair value of the security, failure
of the issuer of the security to make scheduled interest or principal payments, any changes to the rating of the security by a rating
agency and recoveries or additional declines in fair value subsequent to the balance sheet date. The Company liquidated its entire
portfolio of investment securities available for sale during the first quarter of 2013.

Gain on Maturities of Life Settlements with Subrogation Rights, net

Every credit facility entered into by subsidiaries of the Company between December 2007 and December 2010 to finance the
premium finance lending business required lender protection insurance for each loan originated under such credit facility. Generally,
when the Company exercised its right to foreclose on collateral, the Company’s lender protection insurer had the right to direct
control or take beneficial ownership of the life insurance policy, subject to the terms and conditions of the lender protection insurance
policy, including notice and timing requirements. Otherwise, the lender protection insurer maintained its salvage collection and
subrogation rights. The lender protection insurer’s salvage collection and subrogation rights generally provided a remedy by which
the insurer could seek to recover the amount of the lender protection claim paid plus premiums paid by it, expenses and interest
thereon.

In most instances where the Company had foreclosed on the collateral, the lender protection insurer maintained its salvage
collection and subrogation rights, and also covered the cost of the ongoing premiums needed to maintain certain of these life
insurance policies. However, the lender protection insurer may have elected at any time to discontinue the payment of premiums,
which would have resulted in a lapse of the policies if the Company did not otherwise pay the premiums. The Company viewed these
policies as having uncertain value because the lender protection insurer controlled what happens to the policy from a payment of
premium standpoint, and the amount of the lender protection insurer’s salvage collection and subrogation claim rights on any
individual life insurance policy could have equaled the cash flow received by the Company with respect to any such policy. For these
reasons, the Company did not rely on these policies for income generation and these policies were considered contingent.
Accordingly, the policies were not recognized as assets of the Company.

Upon the execution of the Master Termination Agreement and Release (the “Termination Agreement”) (as defined below), the
LPIC Provider released any and all subrogation claims and related salvage rights in the life insurance policies that had been
characterized as “Life Settlements with Subrogation rights, net.” As a result of the Termination Agreement, the Company will no
longer have any gains on maturities of life settlements with subrogation rights, net. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the
Company reported income of $6.1 million as a gain on maturities, net of subrogation expense associated with these policies with
subrogation rights.
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Loan Impairment Valuation

In accordance with ASC 310, Receivables, the Company specifically evaluated all loans for impairment based on the fair value
of the underlying policies as collectability was primarily collateral dependent. The loans were considered to be collateral dependent as
the repayment of the loans was expected to be provided by the underlying insurance policies. In the event of default of a loan, the
Company had the option to take control of the underlying life insurance policy enabling it to sell the policy or, for those loans that were
insured (see below), collect the face value of the insurance certificate.

The loan impairment valuation was evaluated on a monthly basis by management and was based on management’s periodic
review of the fair value of the underlying collateral. This evaluation was inherently subjective as it required estimates that were
susceptible to significant revision as more information became available. The loan impairment valuation was established when,
based on current information and events, it was probable that the Company would be unable to collect the scheduled payments of
principal, interest, and origination fee due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Once established, the impairment
could not be reversed to earnings.

The Company purchased lender protection insurance coverage on loans that were sold to or participated by Imperial Life
Financing, LLC, Imperial PFC Financing, LLC, Imperial Life Financing II, LLC, and Imperial PFC Financing II, LLC. This insurance
mitigated the Company’s exposure to significant losses which may have been caused by declines in the value of the underlying life
insurance policies. For loans that had lender protection insurance coverage, a loan impairment valuation adjustment was established
if the carrying value of the loan exceeded the amount of coverage at the end of the period.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recognized an impairment charge of approximately $437,000 and
$78,000 on the loans and related interest, respectively, and was reflected as a component of the provision for losses on loans
receivable in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company did not
recognize an impairment charge related to impaired loans and interest, respectively. The Company had no loans receivable at
December 31, 2013.

Interest Income and Origination Income

Interest income consisted of interest earned on loans receivable, income from accretion of discounts on purchased loans, and
accretion of discounts on purchased structured settlement receivables. Interest income was recognized when it was realizable and
earned, in accordance with ASC 605, Revenue Recognition. Discounts were accreted over the remaining life of the loan using the
effective interest method.

Loans often included origination fees which were fees payable to the Company on the date the loan matured. The fees were
negotiated at the inception of the loan on a transaction by transaction basis. The fees were accreted into income over the term of the
loan using the effective interest method.

Payments on loans were not due until maturity of the loan. As such, we typically did not have non-performing loans or non-
accrual loans until post maturity of the loan. At maturity, the loans stopped earning interest and origination income.

Interest and origination income on impaired loans was recognized when it was realizable and earned in accordance with
ASC 605, Revenue Recognition. Persuasive evidence of an arrangement existed through a loan agreement which was signed by a
borrower prior to funding and set forth the agreed upon terms of the interest and origination fees. Interest income and origination
income were earned over the term of the loan and were accreted using the effective interest method. The interest and origination fees
were fixed and determinable based on the loan agreement. For impaired loans, we continually reassessed whether the collectability
of the interest income and origination income was reasonably assured because the fair value of the collateral typically increased over
the term of the loan. Our assessment of whether collectability of interest income and origination income was probable was based on
our estimate of proceeds to be received upon maturity of the loan. To the extent that
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additional interest income was not recognized as collectability was not considered probable, origination income was not recognized.
This was consistent with the objective of the interest method, as described in ASC 310-20, of maintaining a constant effective yield
on the net investment in the receivable. Since our loans are due upon maturity, we cannot determine whether a loan was performing
or non-performing until maturity. For impaired loans, our estimate of proceeds to be received upon maturity of the loan was generally
correlated to our current estimate of fair value of the insurance policy, which was the measure to which the loans had been impaired,
but also incorporated expected increases in fair value of the insurance policy over the term of the loan, trends in the market, and our
experience with loan payoffs.

Income Recognition from Continuing Operations

Our primary sources of income from continuing operations are in the form of change in fair value of life settlements, gains on life
settlements, net, interest income and servicing income. Our income recognition policies for these sources of income are as follows:
 

 

•  Change in Fair Value of Life Settlements—When the Company acquires certain life insurance policies we initially record
these investments at the transaction price, which is the fair value of the policy for those acquired upon relinquishment or
the amount paid for policies acquired for cash. The fair value of the investment in insurance policies is evaluated at the end
of each reporting period. Changes in the fair value of the investment based on evaluations are recorded as changes in fair
value of life settlements in our consolidated statement of operations. The fair value is determined on a discounted cash
flow basis that incorporates current life expectancy assumptions. The discount rate incorporates current information about
market interest rates, the credit exposure to the insurance company that issued the life insurance policy and our estimate
of the risk premium an investor in the policy would require. The Company recognizes income from life settlement maturities
upon receipt of a death notice or a verified obituary of the insured. This income is the difference between the death benefits
and fair values of the policy at the time of maturity.

 

 
•  Gains on Life Settlements, Net—The Company recognizes gains from life settlement contracts that the Company owns

upon the signed sale agreement and/or filing of ownership forms and funds transferred to escrow.
 

 
•  Interest Income—Interest income on life finance loans is recognized when it is realizable and earned, in accordance with

ASC 605, Revenue Recognition.
 

 
•  Servicing Income—We received income from servicing life insurance policies controlled by a third party in 2012 and 2011.

These services include verifying premiums are paid and correctly applied and updating files for medical history and
ongoing premiums.

Income Recognition from Discontinued Operations

Our primary source of income from discontinued operations are in the form of realized gains on sales of structured settlements.

Realized Gains on Sales of Structured Settlements—Realized gains on sales of structured settlements are recorded when the
structured settlements have been transferred to a third party and we no longer have continuing involvement, in accordance with
ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing.

Loss on Loan Payoffs and Settlements, Net

When a premium finance loan matures, we record the difference between the net carrying value of the loan and the cash
received, or the fair value of the life insurance policy that is obtained in the event of payment default, as a gain or loss on loan payoffs
and settlements, net. This account was significantly impacted by the Acorn settlement whereby the Company recorded a loss on loan
payoffs and settlements of $4.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2011.
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Fair Value Measurements

The Company follows ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures when required to measure fair value for recognition
or disclosure purposes. ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a three-level hierarchy for fair
value measurements which prioritizes and ranks the level of market price observability used in measuring investments at fair value.
Investments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following categories:

Level 1—Valuation is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that are
accessible at the reporting date. Since valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in an active
market, valuation of these products does not entail a significant degree of judgment.

Level 2—Valuation is determined from pricing inputs that are other than quoted prices in active markets that are either
directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date. Observable inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in
active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, and interest rates and yield
curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals.

Level 3—Valuation is based on inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable. Level 3
inputs include situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the financial instrument. The inputs into the determination
of fair value generally require significant management judgment or estimation.

The availability of valuation techniques and observable inputs and unobservable inputs can vary from investment to investment
and is affected by a wide variety of factors including, the type of investment, whether the investment is new and not yet established in
the marketplace, and other characteristics particular to the transaction.

To the extent that valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the
determination of fair value requires more judgment. Those estimated values do not necessarily represent the amounts that may be
ultimately realized due to the occurrence of future circumstances that cannot be reasonably determined. Because of the inherent
uncertainty of valuation, those estimated values may be materially higher or lower than the values that would have been used had a
ready market for the investments existed. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised by the Company in determining fair value of
assets and liabilities is greatest for items categorized in Level 3. In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into
different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, for disclosure purposes, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the
fair value measurement in its entirety falls is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

Fair value is a market-based measure considered from the perspective of a market participant rather than an entity-specific
measure. Therefore, even when market assumptions are not readily available, the Company’s own assumptions are set to reflect
those that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. The Company uses prices and
inputs that are current as of the reporting date, including periods of market dislocation. In periods of market dislocation, the
observability of prices and inputs may be reduced for many investments. This condition could cause an investment to be reclassified
to a lower level within the fair value hierarchy.

Fair Value Option

As of July 1, 2010, we elected to adopt the fair value option, in accordance with ASC 825, Financial Instruments, to record
newly-acquired structured settlements at fair value. We have the option to measure eligible financial assets, financial liabilities, and
commitments at fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis. This option is available when we first recognize a financial asset or
financial liability or enter into a firm commitment. Subsequent changes in fair value of assets, liabilities, and commitments where we
have elected fair value option
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are recorded in our consolidated statement of operations. We have made this election for our structured settlement assets because it
is our intention to sell these assets within the next twelve months, and we believe it significantly reduces the disparity that exists
between the carrying value of these structured settlements and our estimate of their economic value.

All structured settlements that were acquired subsequent to July 1, 2010 were marked to fair value. Structured settlements that
were acquired prior to July 1, 2010 are recorded at cost.

We have elected to account for the note payable under the Revolving Credit Facility with LNV Corporation, which includes its
interest in policy proceeds to the lender, using the fair value method. The fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would
have to pay to transfer the debt to a market participant in an orderly transaction. We calculate the fair value of the debt using a
discounted cash flow model taking into account the stated interest rate of the credit facility and probabilistic cash flows from the
pledged policies. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly,
our estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that we, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market
exchange. The most significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of
different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair values.

Income Taxes

Prior to our initial public offering in 2011, we converted from a Florida limited liability company to a Florida corporation (the
“Conversion”). Prior to the Conversion we were treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes. As a partnership
our taxable income and losses were attributed to our members, and accordingly, no provision or liability for income taxes was
reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for periods prior to the Conversion.

We account for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under ASC 740, deferred income taxes are
determined based on the estimated future tax effects of differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and
liabilities given the provisions of enacted tax laws. Deferred income tax provisions and benefits are based on changes to the assets or
liabilities from year to year. In providing for deferred taxes, we consider tax regulations of the jurisdictions in which we operate,
estimates of future taxable income and available tax planning strategies. If tax regulations, operating results or the ability to
implement tax-planning strategies varies, adjustments to the carrying value of the deferred tax assets and liabilities may be required.
Valuation allowances are based on the “more likely than not” criteria of ASC 740.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, due to the large losses and the uncertainties that resulted from the USAO Investigation, SEC
investigation, Non-Prosecution Agreement and class action lawsuits, we recorded a full valuation allowance against our net deferred
tax asset of $2.6 million and $27.8 million, respectively, as it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax asset is not realizable. As
a result of these increases in the valuation allowance, we recorded no income tax benefit for 2013 and 2012.

The accounting for uncertain tax positions guidance under ASC 740 requires that we recognize the financial statement benefit of
a tax position only after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit.
For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit
that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority. We recognize
interest and penalties (if any) on uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense.

The Company’s corporate income tax returns for all years are subject to examination. Various state jurisdiction tax years remain
open to examination.
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In February of 2013, the Company was notified by the Internal Revenue Service of its intention to examine the Company’s
partnership return for the year ended December 31, 2010. Subsequently, the Company was notified that the IRS elected not to
pursue this examination and as a result the audit notification was revoked.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have adopted ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation. ASC 718 addresses accounting for share-based awards,
including stock options, with compensation expense measured using fair value and recorded over the requisite service or
performance period of the award. The fair value of stock options and warrants awarded upon or after the closing of our initial public
offering will be determined based on a valuation using an option pricing model which takes into account various assumptions that are
subjective. Key assumptions used in the valuation will include the expected term of the equity award taking into account both the
contractual term of the award, the effects of expected exercise and post-vesting termination behavior, expected volatility, expected
dividends and the risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the award.

Earnings Per Share

The Company computes net income per share in accordance with ASC 260, Earnings Per Share. Under the provisions of
ASC 260, basic net income per share is computed by dividing the net income available to common shareholders by the weighted
average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share adjusts basic net income per share for the
effects of stock options, warrants and restricted stock awards only in periods in which such effect is dilutive. ASC 260 also requires
the Company to present basic and diluted earnings per share information separately for each class of equity instruments that
participate in any income distribution with primary equity instruments.

Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2013, restricted cash includes $12.5 million received from the Company’s D&O Carrier and $1.0 million which
was contributed by the Company. Restricted cash in respect of the final settlement of the class action and derivative litigation and
related matters was released from escrow and paid out in the first quarter of 2014. The Cedar Lane Capital, LLC (“Cedar Lane) credit
facility requires the Company to retain 2% of the principal amount of each loan made to the borrower, for the purposes of indemnifying
the facility for any breaches of representations, warranties or covenants of the borrower, as well as to fund collection efforts, if
required. As of December 31, 2012, the Company’s consolidated financial statements reflected balances of approximately $1.2 million
included in restricted cash.

Gain on Sale of Life Settlements

Gain on sale of life settlements includes gain from company-owned life settlements.

Risks and Uncertainties

In the normal course of business, the Company encounters economic, legal and longevity risk. There are three main
components of economic risk: credit risk, market risk and concentration of credit risk. Credit risk is the risk of default on the
Company’s loan portfolio that results from a borrower’s inability or unwillingness to make contractually required payments. Market risk
for the Company includes interest rate risk. Market risk also reflects the risk of declines in valuation of the Company’s investments,
including declines caused by the selection of increased discount rates associated with the Company’s fair value model for
investments in life settlements. It is reasonably possible that future changes to estimates involved in valuing life settlements could
change and result in material effects to the future financial statements. Concentration of credit risk includes the risk that an insurance
carrier who has issued life insurance policies held by the Company in its portfolio does not remit the amount due under those policies
upon policy maturities due to the deteriorating financial condition of
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the carrier or otherwise. Legal risk includes the risk that statutes define or courts interpret insurable interest in a manner adverse to
the Company’s ownership rights in its portfolio of life insurance policies and the risk that courts allow insurance carriers to retain
premiums paid by the Company in respect of insurance policies that have been successfully rescinded or contested. Longevity risk
refers to the risk that the Company does not experience the mortalities of insureds in its portfolio of life insurance policies that are
anticipated to occur on an actuarial basis in a timely manner, which would result in the Company expending additional amounts for
the payment of premiums.

Held-for-sale and discontinued operations

The Company reports a business as held-for-sale when management has approved or received approval to sell the business
and is committed to a formal plan, the business is available for immediate sale, the business is being actively marketed, the sale is
anticipated to occur during the ensuing year and certain other specified criteria are met. A business classified as held-for-sale is
recorded at the lower of its carrying amount or estimated fair value less cost to sell. If the carrying amount of the business exceeds its
estimated fair value, a loss is recognized. Depreciation is not recorded on assets of a business classified as held-for-sale. Assets and
liabilities related to a business classified as held-for-sale are segregated in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and major classes are
separately disclosed in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements commencing in the period in which the business is
classified as held-for-sale. The Company reports the results of operations of a business as discontinued operations if the business is
classified as held-for-sale, the operations and cash flows of the business have been or will be eliminated from the ongoing operations
of the Company as a result of a disposal transaction and the Company will not have any significant continuing involvement in the
operations of the business after the disposal transaction. The results of discontinued operations are reported in Discontinued
Operations in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for current and prior periods commencing in the period in which the business
meets the criteria of a discontinued operation, and include any gain or loss recognized on closing or adjustment of the carrying
amount to fair value less cost to sell (see Note 10, “Discontinued Operations”).

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications of the prior period amounts and presentation have been made to conform to the presentation for the
current period. These reclassifications relate primarily to the discontinued operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02, Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income. ASU 2013-02 requires entities to report, either on the face of the income statement or in the notes, the effect
of significant reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) on the respective line items in net income if
the amount being reclassified is required under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (‘GAAP’) to be reclassified in its entirety to
net income. For other amounts that are not required under GAAP to be reclassified in their entirety from AOCI to net income in the
same reporting period, an entity is required to cross-reference other disclosures required under GAAP that provide additional detail
about those amounts. Net of Tax, for the required disclosures. ASU 2013-02 was effective as of January 1, 2013 for Imperial and did
not have a significant impact on our financial statements, other than presentation.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-11, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit
When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists (“ASU 2013-11”). ASU 2013-11
requires, unless certain conditions exists, an unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion of an unrecognized tax benefit, to be presented in
the financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, similar tax loss, or a tax credit
carryforward. ASU 2013-11 is effective prospectively for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013, with early adoption
permitted. Retrospective application is permitted. The Company has not yet completed its evaluation as to the impact the adoption of
the statement will have on the Company’s financial statements.
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NOTE 3—CONSOLIDATION OF VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

The Company evaluates its interests in variable interest entities (“VIEs”) on an ongoing basis and consolidates those VIEs in
which it has a controlling financial interest and is thus deemed to be the primary beneficiary. A controlling financial interest has both
of the following characteristics: (i) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance;
and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could potentially be significant to it or the right to receive benefits from the VIE
that could be significant to the VIE.

The following table presents the consolidated assets and consolidated liabilities of VIEs for which the Company has concluded
that it is the primary beneficiary and which are consolidated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of December 31,
2013 and 2012, as well as non-consolidated VIEs for which the Company has determined it is not the primary beneficiary (in
thousands):
 

   Primary Beneficiary    Not Primary Beneficiary  
   Consolidated VIEs    Non-consolidated VIEs  

   Assets    Liabilities    
Total

Assets    
Maximum Exposure

To Loss  
December 31, 2013   $264,596    $124,188    $2,378    $ 2,378  
December 31, 2012   $ —      $ —      $2,212    $ 2,212  

On December 21, 2012, Greenwood Asset Portfolio, LLC (“Greenwood’), a subsidiary of the Company, opened a securities
intermediary account, which provides for a securities intermediary to hold Greenwood’s life insurance policies on its behalf. As of
December 31, 2012, OLIPP IV, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, contributed 191 life settlements with an estimated
fair value of approximately $104.6 million to Greenwood. On March 27, 2013, as part of the Bridge Facility (as defined below),
Greenwood, as issuer, and the Company and OLIPP IV, LLC, as guarantors, entered into an indenture with Wilmington Trust
Company, as indenture trustee, under which an aggregate principal amount of $45.0 million of 12% increasing rate senior secured
bridge notes (the “Bridge Facility”) were issued to certain entities associated with certain of the Company’s shareholders, including to
entities associated with two of the Company’s directors. Interest under the Bridge Facility accrued at 12% per annum for the first nine
months from the issue date, and increases of 600 basis points thereafter to 18% per annum were scheduled.

Effective April 29, 2013, White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LLC (“White Eagle”), a subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
Revolving Credit Facility and a portion of the proceeds from the initial borrowings were used to repay all outstanding amounts under
the Bridge Facility. Ongoing draws under the Revolving Credit Facility may be used, among other things, to pay premiums on the life
insurance policies that have been pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2013, 457 life
insurance policies owned by White Eagle with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.3 billion and an estimated fair value of
approximately $254.5 million at December 31, 2013 were pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility. A Company
subsidiary acts as portfolio manager and servicer for life insurance policies owned by White Eagle and the Company was determined
to be the primary beneficiary of White Eagle as it has a controlling financial interest and the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impacted White Eagle’s economic performance and the obligation to absorb economic gains and losses. In accordance
with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810, Consolidation, the Company consolidated White Eagle in its financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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NOTE 4—EARNINGS PER SHARE

As of February 3, 2011, the Company had 3,600,000 shares of common stock outstanding. The impact of the Company’s
corporate conversion has been applied on a retrospective basis to January 1, 2010 to determine earnings per share for the years
ended December 31, 2011.

As of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, there were 21,237,166, 21,206,121 and 21,202,614 issued and outstanding shares,
respectively.

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing the net earnings attributable to common shareholders by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding, increased to include the number of additional common shares that would have been
outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares had been issued. Conversion or exercise of the potential common shares is not
reflected in diluted earnings per share unless the effect is dilutive. The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding common share equivalents
is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock method, as applicable. In determining whether
outstanding stock options, restricted stock, and common stock warrants should be considered for their dilutive effect, the average
market price of the common stock for the period has to exceed the exercise price of the outstanding common share equivalent.

The following tables reconcile actual basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011 (in thousands except per share data).
 

   2013    2012   2011  
Loss per share:      
Numerator:      

Net income (loss) from continuing
operations   $ 51,823    $ (42,019)  $ (33,774) 

Net income (loss) from discontinued
operations    13,509     (2,615)   (5,424) 

    

Net income (loss)   $ 65,332    $ (44,634)  $ (39,198) 
    

Basic income (loss) per common share:      
Basic income (loss) per share from

continuing operations   $ 2.44    $ (1.98)  $ (1.75) 
Basic income (loss) per share from

discontinued operations   $ 0.64     (0.12)   (0.28) 
    

Basic income (loss) per share available to
common shareholders   $ 3.08    $ (2.10)  $ (2.03) 

    

Diluted income (loss) per common share:      
Diluted income (loss) per share from

continuing operations(1)(2)(3)   $ 2.44    $ (1.98)  $ (1.75) 
Diluted income (loss) per share from

discontinued operations(1)(2)(3)    0.64     (0.12)   (0.28) 
    

Diluted income (loss) per share available
to common shareholders(1)(2)(3)   $ 3.08    $ (2.10)  $ (2.03) 

    

Denominator:      
    

Basic    21,216,487     21,205,747    19,352,063  
    

Add: Restricted stock    2,451     —      —    
    

Diluted(1)(2)(3)    21,218,938     21,205,747    19,352,063  
    

 
F-24

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Table of Contents

(1) The computation of diluted EPS did not include 831,282 options and 4,240,521 warrants for the year ended December 31, 2013,
as the effect of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. The computation of diluted EPS included 2,451 incremental shares
of the 17,286 unvested restricted stock outstanding as of December 31, 2013.

(2) The computation of diluted EPS did not include 487,314 options and 4,240,521 warrants for the year ended December 31, 2012,
as the effect of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

(3) The computation of diluted EPS did not include 627,419 options, 4,240,521 warrants and 3,507 shares of restricted stock for the
year ended December 31, 2011, as the effect of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

NOTE 5—GAIN ON MATURITIES OF LIFE SETTLEMENTS WITH SUBROGATION RIGHTS

In prior periods, the Company experienced maturities in respect of policies that were subject to subrogation claims of the LPIC
Provider. These maturities were accounted for as contingent gains in accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies and the Company
recognized gains only when all contingencies were resolved. Upon the execution of the Termination Agreement, the LPIC Provider
released any and all subrogation claims and related salvage rights in the life insurance policies that had been characterized as “Life
Settlements with Subrogation rights, net.” As a result of the Termination Agreement, the Company will no longer have any gains on
maturities of life settlements with subrogation rights, net. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company reported income
of $6.1 million net of subrogation expense associated with these maturities.

NOTE 6—INVESTMENT SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE

The Company had no securities available for sale at December 31, 2013. The Company liquidated its entire portfolio of
investment securities available for sale during the first quarter of 2013. The amortized cost and estimated fair values of securities
available for sale at December 31, 2012 are as follows (in thousands):
 

   December 31, 2012  

Description of Securities   
Amortized

Cost    
Gross Unrealized

Gains    
Gross Unrealized

Losses   
Estimated
Fair Value 

Corporate bonds   $ 8,275     25    $ (67)  $ 8,233  
Government bonds    3,524     76     —      3,600  
Other bonds    310     4     —      314  

      

Total available for sale securities   $ 12,109    $ 105    $ (67)  $ 12,147  
      

The scheduled maturities of securities at December 31, 2012, by contractual maturity, are shown below. Expected maturities
may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or
prepayment penalties (in thousands).
 

   December 31, 2012  
   Amortized Cost   Estimated Fair Value 
Due in one year or less   $ 6,172    $ 6,197  
Due after one year but less than five years    2,413     2,350  
Due after five years but less than ten years    3,524     3,600  

    

Total available for sale securities   $ 12,109    $ 12,147  
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Information pertaining to securities with gross unrealized losses at December 31, 2012, aggregated by investment category and
length of time that the individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position is as follows (in thousands):
 
   December 31, 2012  
   Less than 12 Months   12 Months or More    Total  

Description of Securities   
Estimated
Fair Value   

Unrealized
Loss   

Estimated
Fair Value   

Unrealized
Loss    

Estimated
Fair Value   

Unrealized
Loss  

Corporate bonds    1,932     (67)   —       —       1,932     (67) 
Government bonds    —       —      —       —       —       —    
Other bonds    —       —      —       —       —       —    

          

Total available for sale securities   $ 1,932    $ (67)  $  —      $  —      $ 1,932    $ (67) 
          

The Company monitors its investment securities available for sale for other-than-temporary impairment, or OTTI, on an
individual security basis considering numerous factors, including the Company’s intent to sell securities in an unrealized loss position,
the likelihood that the Company will be required to sell these securities before an anticipated recovery in value, the length of time and
extent to which fair value has been less than amortized cost, the historical and implied volatility of the fair value of the security, failure
of the issuer of the security to make scheduled interest or principal payments, any changes to the rating of the security by a rating
agency and recoveries or additional declines in fair value subsequent to the balance sheet date. The relative significance of each of
these factors varies depending on the circumstances related to each security.

NOTE 7—LOANS RECEIVABLE

The Company had no loans receivables or interest receivable at December 31, 2013.

A summary of loans receivables at December 31, 2012 is as follows (in thousands):
 

   2012  
Loan principal balance   $ 5,255  
Loan origination fees, net    1,157  
Loan impairment valuation    (3,368) 

  

Loans receivable, net   $ 3,044  
  

An analysis of the changes in loans receivable principal balance during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 is as
follows (in thousands):
 

   2013   2012  
Loan principal balance, beginning   $ 5,255   $ 31,264  
Loan payoffs    (652)   (17,116) 
Loans transferred to investments in life settlements    (4,603)   (8,893) 

  

Loan principal balance, ending   $ —     $ 5,255  
  

Loan origination fees include fees that are payable to the Company on the date the loan matures. The loan origination fees are
reduced by any direct costs that are directly related to the creation of the loan receivable in accordance with ASC 310-20,
Receivables—Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs, and the net balance is accreted over the life of the loan using the effective
interest method. Discounts include purchase discounts, net of accretion, which are attributable to loans that were acquired from
affiliated companies under common ownership and control.

In accordance with ASC 310, Receivables, the Company specifically evaluates all loans for impairment based on the fair value
of the underlying policies as foreclosure is considered probable. The loans are considered to be collateral dependent as the
repayment of the loans is expected to be provided by the underlying policies.
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An analysis of the loan impairment valuation for the year ended December 31, 2012 is as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Loans

Receivable  
Interest

Receivable  Total  

Balance at beginning of period   $ 10,195   $ 1,920   $12,115  
Provision for loan losses    437    78    515  
Charge-offs    (7,264)   (1,051)   (8,315) 

  

Balance at end of period   $ 3,368   $ 947   $ 4,315  
  

An analysis of the loan impairment valuation for the year ended December 31, 2011 is as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Loans

Receivable  
Interest

Receivable  Total  

Balance at beginning of period   $ 7,176   $ 1,340   $ 8,516  
Provision for loan losses    6,793    796    7,589  
Charge-offs    (3,774)   (216)   (3,990) 

  

Balance at end of period   $ 10,195   $ 1,920   $12,115  
  

An analysis of the allowance for loan losses and recorded investment in loans by loan type for the year ended December 31,
2012 is as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Uninsured

Loans   
Insured
Loans   Total  

Loan impairment valuation     

Balance at beginning of period   $ 6,914   $ 3,281   $10,195  
Provision for loan losses    —      437    437  
Charge-offs    (4,222)   (3,042)   (7,264) 

  

Ending balance   $ 2,692   $ 676   $ 3,368  
  

Ending balance: individually evaluated for impairment   $ 2,692   $ 676   $ 3,368  
  

An analysis of the allowance for loan losses and recorded investment in loans by loan type for the year ended December 31,
2011 is as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Uninsured

Loans   
Insured
Loans   Total  

Loan impairment valuation     

Balance at beginning of period   $ 888   $ 6,288   $ 7,176  
Provision for loan losses    6,774    19    6,793  
Charge-offs    (748)   (3,026)   (3,774) 

  

Ending balance   $ 6,914   $ 3,281   $10,195  
  

Ending balance: individually evaluated for impairment   $ 6,914   $ 3,281   $10,195  
  

All loans were individually evaluated for impairment as of December 31, 2012 and 2011. There were no loans collectively
evaluated for impairment and there were no loans acquired with deteriorated credit quality.
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An analysis of the credit quality indicators by loan type at December 31, 2012 is presented in the following table (dollars in
thousands):
 

   Uninsured   Insured(1)  

S&P
Designation   

Unpaid
Principal
Balance    Percent  

Unpaid
Principal
Balance    Percent 

AAA   $ —      0.00%  $ —      0.00% 
AA+    —      0.00%   —      0.00% 
AA    —      0.00%   —      0.00% 
AA-    2,072     43.58%   408     81.44% 
A+    2,548     53.97%   93     18.56% 
A1    —      0.00%   —      0.00% 
A    —      0.00%   —      0.00% 
BB-    134     2.45%   —      0.00% 

      

Total   $4,754     100%  $ 501     100% 
      

 
(1) All of the Company’s insured loans have lender protection coverage with Lexington Insurance Company. As of December 31,

2012, Lexington had a financial strength rating of “A” with a stable outlook by Standard & Poors (S&P). As a result of the entry
into the Termination Agreement on April 30, 2013, the LPIC Provider was released from its obligation to pay claims on loans that
were insured.

The Company had no loans at December 31, 2013.

A summary of our investment in impaired loans at December 31, 2012 is as follows (in thousands):
 

   2012  

Loan receivable, net   $3,011  
Interest receivable, net    724  

  

Investment in impaired loans   $3,735  
  

An analysis of impaired loans with and without a related allowance at December 31, 2012 is presented in the following table by
loan type (in thousands):
 

   
Recorded

Investment   

Unpaid
Principal
Balance    

Related
Allowance   

Average
Recorded

Investment   

Interest
Income

Recognized 

With no related allowance recorded:           

Uninsured Loans   $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —   
Insured Loans    —      —      —      —      —   

With an allowance recorded:           

Uninsured Loans    3,623     4,735     3,413     6,887     1,444  
Insured Loans    112     501     902     7,091     227  

          

Total Impaired Loans   $ 3,735    $5,236    $ 4,315    $ 13,978    $ 1,671  
          

The amount of the investment in impaired loans that had an allowance as of December 31, 2012 was $3.7 million. The amount
of the investment in impaired loans that did not have an allowance was zero as of December 31, 2012. The average investment in
impaired loans during the years ended December 31, 2012 was approximately $14.0 million. The interest recognized on the impaired
loans was approximately $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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The Company had no loans at December 31, 2013. An analysis of past due at December 31, 2012 is presented in the following
table by loan type (in thousands):
 

   
30-59 Days
Past Due    

60-89 Days
Past Due    

Greater Than
90 Days
Past Due    

Total
Past Due 

Uninsured Loans   $ —      $ —      $ 599    $ 599  
Insured Loans    —      —      315     315  

        

Total   $ —      $ —      $ 914    $ 914  
        

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company did not originate any loans. Loan interest receivable at
December 31, 2013 and 2012 was zero and $727,000 net of impairment of zero and $947,000, respectively. As of December 31,
2013, there were no loans on the balance sheet.

The allowance for interest receivable represents interest that is not expected to be collected. At the time the interest income
was recognized and at the end of the reporting period in which the interest income was recognized, the interest income was believed
to be collectible. The Company continually reassesses whether interest income is collectible in conjunction with its loan impairment
analysis. The allowance for interest receivable represents interest that was determined to be uncollectible during a reporting period
subsequent to the initial recognition of the interest income. As of December 31, 2012, the loan portfolio consisted of loans with
original maturities of 2 to 4 years and variable interest rates at an average interest rate of 12.98%. During the year ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, 1 and 85 of our loans were paid off with proceeds of lender protection insurance totaling approximately
$117,000 and $25.6 million, respectively, of which approximately $93,000, and $16.7 million was for the principal of the loans and
approximately $40,000 and $6.5 million was for accrued interest, respectively, and accreted origination fees of approximately $39,000
and $7.1 million, respectively. The Company had an impairment associated with these loans of approximately $56,000 and $4.9
million, respectively. We recognized a gain of zero and a loss of approximately $29,000 on these transactions, respectively, in 2013
and 2012, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, two loans were paid off with proceeds from trusts totaling $1.0 million of which
$686,000 was for principal of the loans and $280,000 was for accrued interest, and accreted origination fees of $262,000. The
Company had an impairment associated with these loans of $101,000 and recognized a loss of $96,000.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we had one loan payoff totaling approximately $574,000 of which $560,000 was for
the principal of the loan and approximately $196,000 was for the accrued interest and zero accreted origination. The Company had
an impairment associated with this loan of approximately $250,000. We recognized a gain of approximately $65,000 on this
transaction.

Our premium finance borrowers were generally referred to us through independent insurance agents and brokers although, prior
to January 2009, we originated some premium finance loans that were sold by life insurance agents that we employed. In certain of
these instances, the life insurance agents employed by the Company worked with external brokers and agents to obtain insurance for
policyholders with the Company extending a premium finance loan to a borrower. We refer to these instances as the “retail non-
seminar business,” which began in December 2006 and was discontinued in January 2009. In total, the Company originated 114
premium finance loans as part of the retail non-seminar business. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had 39 policies in its
portfolio that once served as collateral for premium finance loans derived through the retail non-seminar business.
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NOTE 8—ORIGINATION FEES

The Company had no loans receivable at December 31, 2013. A summary of the balances of origination fees that are included
in loans receivable in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2012 is as follows (in thousands):
 

   2012  
Loan origination fees gross   $1,334  
Un-accreted origination fees    (190) 
Amortized loan originations costs    13  

  

  $1,157  
  

Loan origination fees are fees payable to the Company on the date of loan maturity or repayment. Loan origination costs are
deferred costs that are directly related to the creation of the loan receivable.

NOTE 9—STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

In connection with the Company’s initial public offering, the Company established the Imperial Holdings 2011 Omnibus Incentive
Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”). The purpose of the Omnibus Plan is to attract, retain and motivate participating employees and to attract
and retain well-qualified individuals to serve as members of the board of directors, consultants and advisors through the use of
incentives based upon the value of our common stock. Awards under the Omnibus Plan may consist of incentive awards, stock
options, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, performance units, and shares of common stock, restricted stock, restricted
stock units or other stock-based awards as determined by the compensation committee. The Omnibus Plan provides that an
aggregate of 1,200,000 shares of common stock are reserved for issuance under the Omnibus Plan, subject to adjustment as
provided in the Omnibus Plan. On April 1, 2013, the Company granted 13,759 shares of unrestricted common stock to its outside
directors with an aggregate grant date fair value of approximately $57,000 computed in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation-
Stock Compensation. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company issued 545,000 options to employees at a strike
price of $6.94. The Company recognized approximately $1.3 million, $305,000 and $1.5 million in stock-based compensation
expense relating to stock options it granted under the Omnibus Plan during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. The Company incurred additional stock-based compensation expense of approximately $290,000 related to the
conversion of two phantom stock agreements it had with two employees into 27,000 shares of common stock in connection with its
corporate conversion in the first quarter of 2011 and approximately $69,000, $4,000 and $34,000 in stock-based compensation
relating to restricted stock granted to its board of directors during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Prior to our initial public offering, the Company had no equity compensation plan.

Options

As of December 31, 2013, options to purchase 831,282 shares of common stock were outstanding and unexercised under the
Omnibus Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $8.46 per share. The outstanding options issued in 2011 expire seven years
after the date of grant and were granted with a strike price of $10.75 which was the offering price of our initial public offering or fair
market value (closing price) of the stock on the date of grant and vest over three years. The outstanding options issued on June 6,
2013, will expire seven years after the date of grant and were granted with strike price of $6.94 which was the fair market value
(closing price) of the stock on the day preceding the date of grant and vest over two years. The fair market value of the 545,000
options issued during the year ended December 31, 2013, was $3.8 million.
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The Company has used the Black-Scholes model to calculate fair values of options awarded. This model requires assumptions
as to expected volatility, dividends, terms, and risk free rates. Assumptions used for the periods covered herein, are outlined in the
table below:
 

   
Year Ended

December 31, 2011  
Year Ended

December 31, 2013 
Expected Volatility    54.18% -54.23%   65.50% 
Expected Dividend    0%   0% 
Expected Term in Years    4.5    4.25  
Risk Free Rate    2.16% -2.29%   0.75% 

The Company commenced its initial public offering of common stock in February 2011. Accordingly, there was no public market
for the Company’s common stock prior to this date. Therefore, the Company identified comparable public entities and used the
average volatility of those entities and the Company’s historical volatility to reasonably estimate its expected volatility. The Company
does not expect to pay dividends on its common stock for the foreseeable future. Expected term is the period of time over which the
options granted are expected to remain outstanding and is based on the simplified method as outlined in the SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin 110. The Company will continue to estimate expected lives based on the simplified method until reliable historical data
becomes available. The risk free rate is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the appropriate life of
each option.

The following table presents the activity of the Company’s outstanding stock options of common stock for the year ended
December 31, 2013:
 

Common Stock Options   
Number of

Shares   

Weighted
Average Price

per Share    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term    

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
Options outstanding, January 1, 2013    487,314   $ 10.75     5.11    $ —    
Options granted    545,000   $ 6.94     6.43    $ —    
Options exercised    —      —       —       —    
Options forfeited    (142,180)  $ 8.26     5.54     —    
Options expired    (58,852)  $ 9.75     4.61     —    

      

Options outstanding, December 31, 2013    831,282   $ 8.46     5.51    $ —    
      

Exercisable at December 31, 2013    424,979    9.17     5.08    $ —    
      

Unvested at December 31, 2013    406,303   $ 7.72     5.95    $ —    
      

As of December 31, 2013, all outstanding stock options had an exercise price above the fair market value of the common stock
on that date.

The remaining unamortized amounts of approximately $585,000 and $240,000 will be expensed during 2014 and 2015,
respectively.

Restricted Stock

As of December 31, 2013, 17,286 shares of restricted stock granted to our directors under the Omnibus Plan was outstanding
subject to one year vesting schedule commencing on the date of grant. The fair value of the unvested restricted stock was valued at
$120,138 based on the closing price of the Company’s shares on the grant date. The Company expensed approximately $69,000 in
stock based compensation related to the 17,286 shares of restricted stock during the year ended December 31, 2013.
 

F-31

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Table of Contents

The following table presents the activity of the Company’s unvested restricted stock common shares for the year ended
December 31, 2013:
 

Common Unvested Shares   
Number of

Shares  
Outstanding January 1, 2013    —    
Granted    17,286  
Vested    —    
Forfeited    —    

  

Outstanding December 31, 2013    17,286  
  

The aggregate intrinsic value of these awards is $113,000 and the remaining weighted average life of these awards is .57 years
as of December 31, 2013.

Warrants

On February 11, 2011, three shareholders received ownership of warrants that may be exercised for up to a total of 4,240,521
shares of the Company’s common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $14.51 per share. One-third of the warrants will have
an exercise price equal to 120% of the price of the common stock sold in the Company’s initial public offering. The warrants will expire
7 years after the date of issuance and the exercisability of the warrant will vest ratably over four years.

In connection with the class action settlement, the Company expects to issue two million warrants for shares of the Company’s
stock. The estimated fair value at December 31, 2013 of such warrants was $5.4 million which is included in other liabilities. The
warrants will have a five-year term with an exercise price of $10.75 and are expected to be issued by April 15, 2014.

NOTE 10—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On October 25, 2013, the Company sold substantially all of the assets comprising its structured settlement business to Majestic
Opco LLC for $12.0 million pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement. The Company’s decision to sell the division was to focus on
the life settlements business. No structured settlement receivables were sold and no on-balance sheet liabilities were transferred in
connection with the sale. This sale resulted in the recognition of a gain of $11.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2013.

As a result of the sale, the Company retrospectively reclassified its structured settlement business operating results as
discontinued operations, net of income taxes, in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations for all periods presented
and the Company has discontinued segment reporting. All other footnotes in these financial statements that were affected by this
reclassification of discontinued operations have been updated accordingly.

Operating results related to the Company’s discontinued structured settlement business are as follows:
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2013   2012   2011  
   (in thousands)  
Total income   $11,331   $ 13,995   $ 11,933  
Total expenses    (9,133)   (16,610)   (17,357) 

  

Income (loss) before income taxes    2,198    (2,615)   (5,424) 
Income tax expense    —      —      —    

  

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes   $ 2,198   $ (2,615)  $ (5,424) 
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes    11,311    —      —    

  

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations   $13,509   $ (2,615)  $ (5,424) 
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NOTE 11—INVESTMENT IN LIFE SETTLEMENTS (LIFE INSURANCE POLICIES)

The Company accounts for policies it acquires using the fair value method in accordance with ASC 325-30-50 Investments—
Other—Investment in Insurance Contracts. Under the fair value method, the Company recognizes the initial investment at the
purchase price. For policies that were relinquished in satisfaction of premium finance loans at maturity, the initial investment is the
loan carrying value and for policies purchased in the secondary or tertiary markets, the initial investment is the amount of cash outlay
at the time of purchase. At each reporting period, the Company re-measures the investment at fair value in its entirety and recognizes
changes in fair value in earnings in the period in which the changes occur.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company owned 612 and 214 policies, respectively, with an aggregate estimated fair
value of investments in life settlements of $303.0 million and $113.4 million, respectively.

The weighted average life expectancy calculated based on death benefit of insureds in the policies owned by the Company at
December 31, 2013 was 11.6 years. The following table describes the Company’s investments in life settlements as of December 31,
2013 (dollars in thousands):
 

Remaining Life Expectancy (In Years)   

Number of
Life Settlement

Contracts    
Fair

Value    
Face
Value  

0-1    —      $ —      $ —    
1-2    —       —       —    
2-3    6     8,489     16,875  
3-4    10     14,171     38,100  
4-5    8     13,529     40,250  
Thereafter    588     266,772     2,859,665  

      

Total    612    $302,961    $2,954,890  
      

The weighted average life expectancy calculated based on death benefit of insureds in the policies owned by the Company at
December 31, 2012 was 10.6 years. The following table describes the Company’s investments in life settlements as of December 31,
2012 (dollars in thousands):
 

Remaining Life Expectancy (In Years)   

Number of
Life Settlement

Contracts    
Fair

Value    
Face
Value  

0-1    —     $ —     $ —   
1-2    —      —      —   
2-3    1     1,222     2,500  
3-4    4     3,319     11,450  
4-5    7     11,375     30,950  
Thereafter    202     97,525     1,028,256  

      

Total    214    $113,441    $1,073,156  
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Premiums to be paid for each of the five succeeding fiscal years to keep the life insurance policies in force as of December 31,
2013, are as follows (in thousands):
 

2014    54,462  
2015    53,496  
2016    56,833  
2017    63,457  
2018    67,935  
Thereafter    1,144,557  

  

  $1,440,740  
  

The amount of $1.44 billion noted above represents the estimated total future premium payments required to keep the life
insurance policies in force during the life expectancies of all the underlying insured lives and does not give effect to projected receipt
of death benefits. The estimated total future premium payments could increase or decrease significantly to the extent that actual
mortalities of insureds differs from the estimated life expectancies.

NOTE 12—NOTE PAYABLE

Bridge Facility, Revolving Credit Facility and Related Transactions

On March 27, 2013, Greenwood, as issuer, and the Company and OLIPP IV, LLC, as guarantors, entered into an indenture with
Wilmington Trust Company, as indenture trustee, under which an aggregate principal amount of $45.0 million of 12% increasing rate
senior secured bridge notes were issued to certain entities associated with certain of the Company’s shareholders, including to
entities associated with two of the Company’s directors.

Interests under the Bridge Facility accrued at 12% per annum for the first nine months from the issue date, and increases of 600
basis points thereafter to 18% per annum were scheduled. The Bridge Facility was guaranteed by the Company and secured by the
cash on account at Greenwood and its portfolio of life insurance policies. The Bridge Facility was also secured by pledges of the
equity interests of Greenwood’s direct parent and each subsidiary of the Company, other than its licensed life settlement provider,
that held life insurance policies that were not subject to the subrogation rights of the Company’s lender protection insurance carrier.

Notes under the Bridge Facility were issued at 92% of their face amount, approximately $41.4 million, and were pre-payable at
par at any time. The Bridge Facility was subjected to mandatory prepayment provisions upon the issuance of additional debt, equity
raises and asset sales.

The Bridge Facility was retired on April 29, 2013 and the Company recognized a loss on extinguishment of approximately $4.0
million inclusive of approximately $3.6 million in funding discount and approximately $400,000 in deferred financing cost. Interest paid
was approximately $510,000 and loan closing cost expensed was approximately $4,000 and approximately $35,000 in amortization of
note discount for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Effective April 29, 2013, White Eagle entered into a 15-year revolving credit agreement (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) with LNV
Corporation, as initial lender, Imperial Finance & Trading, LLC, as servicer and portfolio manager and CLMG Corp., as administrative
agent, providing for up to $300.0 million in borrowings. Proceeds from the initial advance under the facility were used, in part, to retire
the Bridge Facility and to fund the Release Payment described below. Ongoing draws under the Revolving Credit Facility may be
used, among other things, to pay premiums on the life insurance policies that have been pledged as collateral under the Revolving
Credit Facility. Proceeds from the policies pledged as collateral will be distributed pursuant to a waterfall. After
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premium payments and fees to service providers, 100% of the remaining proceeds will be directed to pay outstanding principal and
interest on the loan. Generally, after payment of principal and interest, collections from policy proceeds are to be paid to White Eagle
up to $76.1 million, then 50% of the remaining proceeds are to be directed to the lenders with the remainder paid to White Eagle. As
of December 31, 2013, 457 life insurance policies owned by White Eagle with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.3 billion
and an estimated fair value of approximately $254.5 million have been pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility.

On April 30, 2013, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries (together, the “Imperial Parties”) entered into a Master
Termination Agreement and Release (the “Termination Agreement”) with CTL Holdings, LLC (“CTL” and together with the Imperial
Parties, the “LPIC Parties”) and Lexington Insurance Company (the “LPIC Provider”). Under the Termination Agreement, the LPIC
Parties made a payment of $48.5 million to the LPIC Provider (the “Release Payment”) and the LPIC Provider and the LPIC Parties
provided full releases to each other in respect of the lender protection insurance coverage issued by the LPIC Provider and the
claims paid by the LPIC Provider in respect of that coverage. With the effectiveness of the Termination Agreement, the LPIC Provider
released any and all subrogation claims and related salvage rights in 323 life insurance policies with an aggregate death benefit of
approximately $1.6 billion that have been kept off-balance sheet as contingent assets for financial reporting purposes in prior periods
and that had historically been characterized as “Life Settlements with Subrogation rights, net.” 267 of the 323 life insurance policies
were pledged by White Eagle as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2013.

On April 30, 2013, OLIPP III, LLC, a subsidiary of the Company purchased all of the membership interests in CTL from Monte
Carlo Securities, Ltd. in exchange for $7.0 million and for assuming the amount of the Release Payment allocated to CTL. Prior to this
acquisition, the LPIC Provider maintained subrogation rights in the 93 life insurance policies owned by CTL with an aggregate death
benefit of approximately $340.0 million. Those rights were terminated pursuant to the Termination Agreement. The acquisition of CTL
was treated as a related party transaction as the Company’s chief executive officer was the manager of CTL at the time of the
acquisition and was recused from participating in the Company’s Board of Directors’ consideration and approval of the acquisition.

At June 30, 2013, the Company or its subsidiaries owned 402 policies that were acquired through the acquisition of CTL or that
were considered contingent assets prior to the effectiveness of the Termination Agreement, with an aggregate death benefit of $1.9
billion and an estimated fair value of approximately $139.7 million. The addition of these policies resulted in a $65.2 million unrealized
gain on life settlement during the quarter ended June 30, 2013. At December 31, 2013, the Company held 392 of the 402 policies,
with an aggregate death benefit of $1.8 billion and an estimated fair value of approximately $161.1 million. Policy acquisitions similar
in scale and in transaction price to those made during the period should not be anticipated in future periods.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company sold eight policies that were not pledged as collateral under the
Revolving Credit Facility for gross proceeds of $5.9 million.

At December 31, 2013, the Company’s portfolio of life insurance policies consisted of 612 life settlements with an aggregate
death benefit of approximately $3.0 billion. 155 of these policies with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $678.8 million have
not been pledged under the Revolving Credit Facility.

General & Security. The Revolving Credit Facility provides for an asset-based revolving credit facility backed by White Eagle’s
portfolio of life insurance policies with an initial aggregate lender commitment of up to $300.0 million, subject to borrowing base
availability. 457 life insurance policies with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.3 billion and an estimated fair value of
approximately $254.5 million have been pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility at December 31, 2013. In addition,
the Company’s equity interests in White Eagle have been pledged under the Revolving Credit Facility.

Borrowing Base. Borrowing availability under the Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a borrowing base, which at any time is
equal to the lesser of (A) the sum of all of the following amounts that have been funded or
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are to be funded through the next distribution date (i) the initial advance and all additional advances to acquire additional pledged
policies or that are not for ongoing maintenance advances, plus (ii) 100% of the sum of the ongoing maintenance costs, plus
(iii) 100% of accrued and unpaid interest on borrowings (excluding the rate floor portion described below), plus (iv) 100% of any other
fees and expenses funded and to be funded as approved by the required lenders, less (v) any required payments of principal and
interest previously distributed and to be distributed through the next distribution date; (B) 75% of the valuation of the policies pledged
as collateral as determined by the lenders; (C) 50% of the aggregate face amount of the policies pledged as collateral (excluding
certain specified life insurance policies); and (D) the then applicable facility limit. $166.8 million was undrawn with $2.2 million
available to borrow under the Facility at December 31, 2013.

Amortization & Distributions. Proceeds from the policies pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facility will be
distributed pursuant to a waterfall. Absent an event of default, after premium payments and fees to service providers, 100% of the
remaining proceeds will be directed to pay outstanding interest and principal on the loan, unless the lenders determine otherwise.
Generally, after payment of interest and principal, collections from policy proceeds are to be paid to White Eagle up to $76.1 million,
then 50% of the remaining proceeds are to be directed to the lenders with the remainder paid to White Eagle and for any unpaid fees
to service providers. With respect to approximately 25% of the face amount of policies pledged as collateral under the Revolving
Credit Facility, White Eagle has agreed that if policy proceeds that are otherwise due are not paid by an insurance carrier, the
foregoing distributions will be altered such that the lenders will receive any “catch-up” payments in respect of amounts that they would
have received in the waterfall prior to distributions being made to White Eagle. During the continuance of events of default or
unmatured events of default, the amounts from collections of policy proceeds that might otherwise be paid to White Eagle will instead
be held in a designated account controlled by the lenders and may be applied to fund operating and third party expenses, interest and
principal, “catch-up” payments or percentage payments that would go to the lenders as described above.

Use of Proceeds. Generally, ongoing advances may be made for paying premiums on the life insurance policies pledged as
collateral, to pay debt service (other than a “rate floor” component equal to the greater of LIBOR (or the applicable base rate) and
1.5%), and to pay the fees of service providers. Subsequent advances in respect of newly pledged policies are at the discretion of the
lenders and the use of proceeds from those advances are at the discretion of the lenders.

Interest. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR or, if LIBOR is unavailable, the
base rate, in each case plus an applicable margin of 4.00% and subject to the rate floor described above. The base rate under the
Revolving Credit Facility equals the sum of (i) the weighted average of the interest rates on overnight federal funds transactions or, if
unavailable, the average of three federal funds quotations received by the Agent plus 0.75% and (ii) 0.5%. The effective rate at
December 31, 2013 is 5.5%.

The Company’s policy is to record interest expense for the cash portion of interest paid during the period. Accrued interest is
reflected as a component of the estimated fair value of the note payable. Total interest expense on the facility was $2.8 million and
includes $2.0 million withheld from borrowings by the lender and $760,000 paid by the Company for the year ended December 31,
2013.

Maturity. The term of the Revolving Credit Facility expires April 28, 2028, which is also the scheduled commitment termination
date (though the lenders’ commitments to fund borrowings may terminate earlier in an event of default). The lenders’ interests in and
rights to a portion of the proceeds of the policies does not terminate with the repayment of the principal borrowed and interest accrued
thereon, the termination of the Revolving Credit Facility or expiration of the lenders’ commitments.

Covenants/Events of Defaults. The Revolving Credit Facility contains covenants and events of default that are customary for
asset-based credit agreements of this type, but also include cross defaults under the servicing, account control, contribution and
pledge agreements entered into in connection with the Revolving Credit Facility (including in relation to breached by third parties
thereunder), changes in control of or insolvency or
 

F-36

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Table of Contents

bankruptcy of the Company and relevant subsidiaries and performance of certain obligations by certain relevant subsidiaries, White
Eagle and third parties. The Revolving Credit Facility does not contain any financial covenants, but does contain certain tests relating
to asset maintenance, performance and valuation the satisfaction of which will be determined by the lenders with a high degree of
discretion.

Remedies. The Revolving Credit Facility and ancillary transaction documents afford the lenders a high degree of discretion in
their selection of and implementation of remedies in relation to any event of default, including a high degree of discretion in
determining whether to foreclose upon and liquidate all or any pledged policies, the Company’s interests in White Eagle, and the
manner of any such liquidation. White Eagle has limited ability to cure events of default through the sale of policies or the
procurement of replacement financing.

We have elected to account for this note payable, which includes the 50% interest in policy proceeds to the lender, using the fair
value method. The fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would have to pay to transfer the debt to a market participant in
an orderly transaction. We calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model taking into account the stated
interest rate of the credit facility and probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies. Considerable judgment is required in
interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, our estimates are not necessarily indicative of the
amounts that we, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The most significant assumptions are the
estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies
could have a material effect on the estimated fair values. The Company incurred approximately $10.3 million in loan origination costs
under the facility which was expensed as a result of electing the fair value option for valuing this facility.

At December 31, 2013, the fair value of the debt is $123.8 million. As of December 31, 2013, the borrowing base was
approximately $135.4 million including $133.2 million in outstanding principal.

There are no scheduled repayments of principal. Payments are due upon receipt of death benefits and distributed pursuant to
the waterfall as described above.

NOTE 13—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We carry investments in life certain structured settlements, and our note payable at fair value in the consolidated balance
sheets. Fair value is defined as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value is a market based
measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. Fair
value measurements are classified based on the following fair value hierarchy:

Level 1—Valuation is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that are
accessible at the reporting date. Since valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in an active
market, valuation of these products does not entail a significant degree of judgment.

Level 2 —Valuation is determined from pricing inputs that are other than quoted prices in active markets that are either
directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date. Observable inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in
active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, and interest rates and yield
curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals.

Level 3—Valuation is based on inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable. Level 3
inputs include situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the financial instrument. The inputs into the determination
of fair value generally require significant management judgment or estimation.
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The balances of the Company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2013, are as follows (in
thousands):
 

   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3    
Total

Fair Value  
Assets:         
Investment in life settlements   $ —      $ —      $302,961    $302,961  
Structured settlement receivables    —       —       660     660  

        

  $ —      $ —      $303,621    $303,621  
        

The balances of the Company’s liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2013, are as follows
(in thousands):
 

   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3    
Total

Fair Value  
Liabilities:         
Note Payable   $ —      $ —      $123,847    $123,847  

        

  $ —      $ —      $123,847    $123,847  
        

The balances of the Company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2012, are as follows (in
thousands):
 

   Level 1   Level 2    Level 3    
Total

Fair Value  
Assets:         
Investment in life settlements   $ —     $ —     $113,441    $113,441  
Structured settlement receivables    —      —      1,680     1,680  
Investment securities available for sale    —      12,147     —      12,147  

        

  $ —     $12,147    $115,121    $127,268  
        

The Company values its investment in life settlement portfolio in two classes, non-premium financed and premium financed. In
considering the categories, it is generally believed that market participants would require a lower risk premium for policies that were
non-premium financed, while a higher risk premium would be required for policies that were premium financed.
 
($ in thousands)  Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

  
Fair Value
at 12/31/13  

Aggregate
death benefit

12/31/2013   Valuation Technique (s)  Unobservable Input  
Range

(Weighted Average)
Non-premium financed  $ 36,795   $ 206,450   Discounted cash flow  Discount rate  14.80% - 20.80%

    Life expectancy evaluation  (9.0 years)
Premium financed  $ 266,166   $ 2,748,440   Discounted cash flow  Discount rate  16.80% - 26.80%

    Life expectancy evaluation  (11.8 years)
Investment in life settlements  $ 302,961   $ 2,954,890   Discounted cash flow  Discount rate  (19.14%)

    Life expectancy evaluation  (11.6 years)

Structured settlements
receivables  $ 660    N/A   Discounted cash flow  Facility sales discount rates  5.90% - 12.80%

    Discount rate  24.04%*
Note payable  $ 123,847    N/A   Discounted cash flow  Life expectancy evaluation  (11.1 years)
 

* Actual
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Following is a description of the methodologies used to estimate the fair values of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on
a recurring basis and within the fair value hierarchy.

Investment in life settlements—The Company has elected to account for the life settlement policies it acquires using the fair
value method. Due to the inactive market for life settlements, the Company uses a present value technique to estimate the fair value
of our investments in life settlements, which is a Level 3 fair value measurement as the significant inputs are unobservable and
require significant management judgment or estimation. The Company currently uses a probabilistic method of valuing life insurance
policies, which we believe to be the preferred valuation method in the industry. The most significant assumptions are the estimates of
life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate.

In determining the life expectancy estimate, we analyze medical reviews from independent secondary market life expectancy
providers (each a “LE provider”). An LE provider reviews the medical records and identifies all medical conditions it feels are relevant
to the life expectancy of the insured. Debits and credits are then assigned by each LE provider to the individual’s health based on
identified medical conditions. The debit or credit that an LE provider assigns to a medical condition is derived from the experience of
mortality attributed to this condition in the portfolio of lives that the LE provider monitors. The health of the insured is summarized by
the LE provider into a life assessment of the individual’s life expectancy expressed both in terms of months and in mortality factor.

The resulting mortality factor represents an indication as to the degree to which the given life can be considered more or less
impaired than a standard life having similar characteristics (e.g. gender, age, smoking, etc.). For example, a standard insured (the
average life for the given mortality table) would carry a mortality rating of 100%. A similar but impaired life bearing a mortality rating of
200% would be considered to have twice the chance of dying earlier than the standard life. The probability of mortality for an insured
is then calculated by applying the blended life expectancy estimate to a mortality table. The mortality table is created based on the
rates of death among groups categorized by gender, age, and smoking status. By measuring how many deaths occur during each
year, the table allows for a calculation of the probability of death in a given year for each category of insured people. The probability of
mortality for an insured is found by applying the mortality rating from the life expectancy assessment to the probability found in the
actuarial table for the insured’s age, sex and smoking status. Beginning in the quarter ended September 30, 2012, the Company
began using a table developed by the U.S. Society of Actuaries known as the 2008 Valuation Basic Table, or the 2008 VBT.
However, because the 2008 VBT table does not account for anticipated improvements in mortality in the insured population, the table
was modified by outside consultants to reflect these expected mortality improvements. The Company believes that the change in
mortality table does not materially impact the valuation of its life insurance policies and that its adoption of a modified 2008 VBT table
is consistent with modified tables used by market participants and third party medical underwriters.

The mortality rating is used to create a series of best estimate probabilistic cash flows. This probability represents a
mathematical curve known as a mortality curve. This curve is then used to generate a series of expected cash flows over the
remaining expected lifespan of the insured and the corresponding policy. A discounted present value calculation is then used to
determine the value of the policy. If the insured dies earlier than expected, the return will be higher than if the insured dies when
expected or later than expected.

The calculation allows for the possibility that if the insured dies earlier than expected, the premiums needed to keep the policy in
force will not have to be paid. Conversely, the calculation also considers the possibility that if the insured lives longer than expected,
more premium payments will be necessary. Based on these considerations, each possible outcome is assigned a probability and the
range of possible outcomes is then used to create a value for the policy.

Historically, the Company has procured the majority of its life expectancy reports from two life expectancy report providers and
only used AVS life expectancy reports for valuation purposes. Beginning in the quarter
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ended September 30, 2012, the Company began utilizing life expectancy reports from 21st Services, LLC (“21st Services”) for
valuation purposes and began averaging or “blending,” the results of the two life expectancy reports to establish a composite
mortality factor.

On January 22, 2013, 21st Services announced revisions to its underwriting methodology and on February 4, 2013, announced
that it was correcting errors discovered in its previously announced revised methodology. According to 21st Services, these revisions
have generally been understood to lengthen the average reported life expectancy furnished by this life expectancy provider by 19%.
To account for the impact of the revisions and based off of market responses to the methodology change, the Company initially
lengthened the life expectancies furnished by 21st Services by 13% prior to blending them with the life expectancy reports furnished
by AVS.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company received 226 updated life expectancy reports from 21st Services, of which 183 were
used to calculate life expectancy extension. These life expectancies reported an average lengthening of life expectancies of 14.67%
and, based on this sample, for the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company increased the life expectancies furnished by 21st
Services by 14.67% on the rest of its portfolio of life settlements prior to blending them with the life expectancy reports furnished by
AVS. The Company expects to continue to lengthen life expectancies furnished by 21st Services that have not been re-underwritten
using their updated methodology. Since the Revolving Credit Facility necessitates that the Company procure updated life
expectancies on a periodic basis, the amount of policies that are lengthened by the Company in this manner will decrease over time
and the fair value calculations in future periods will, accordingly, reflect the actual impact of the revised 21st Services methodology on
a policy by policy basis as updated life expectancy reports are procured.

Life expectancy sensitivity analysis

As is the case with most market participants, the Company used a blend of life expectancies that are provided by two third-party
LE providers. These are estimates of an insured’s remaining years. If all of the insured lives in the Company’s life settlement portfolio
live six months shorter or longer than the life expectancies provided by these third parties, the change in estimated fair value would
be as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

Life Expectancy Months Adjustment   Value    
Change in

Value  
+6   $252,337    $ (50,624) 
-   $302,961     —    
-6   $358,123    $ 55,162  

Future changes in the life expectancies could have a material effect on the fair value of our investment in life settlements, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Discount rate

The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, the credit exposure to the insurance company
that issued the life insurance policy and our estimate of the risk premium an investor in the policy would require.

The Company believes that investors in esoteric assets such as life insurance policies typically target yields averaging between
12%—17% for investments of more than a 5 year duration, and had historically used a 15%—17% range of discount rates to value its
life insurance policies. In the third quarter of 2011 and in the immediate aftermath of becoming aware of the USAO investigation, the
Company substantially increased the discount rates inputted into its fair value model as it believed that the USAO Investigation along
with certain unfavorable court decisions unrelated to the Company contributed to a contraction in the marketplace that has
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continued to reverberate. Since that time, the Company has been re-evaluating its discount rates at the end of every reporting period
in order to reflect the estimated discount rates that could reasonably be used in a market transaction involving the Company’s
portfolio of life insurance policies. In doing so, the Company relies on management insight, engages third party consultants to
corroborate its assessment, engages in discussions with other market participants and potential financing sources and extrapolates
the discount rate underlying actual sales of policies.

Although the Company believes that its entry into the Non-Prosecution Agreement had a positive effect on the market generally
and for premium financed life insurance policies specifically, the Company believes that, when given the choice to invest in a policy
that was associated with the Company’s premium finance business and a similar policy without such an association, all else being
equal, an investor would have generally opted to invest in the policy that was not associated with the Company’s premium finance
business. However, since entering into the Non-Prosecution Agreement, investors have required less of a risk premium to transact in
these policies and the Company expects that, in time, investors will continue to require less of a risk premium to transact in policies
associated with its premium finance business.

Credit exposure of insurance company

The Company considers the financial standing of the issuer of each life insurance policy. Typically, we seek to hold policies
issued by insurance companies that are rated investment grade by S&P. At December 31, 2013, the Company had nineteen life
insurance policies issued by two carriers that were rated non-investment grade by S&P as of that date. In order to compensate a
market participant for the perceived credit and challenge risks associated with these policies, the Company applied an additional 300
basis point risk premium.

The following table provides information about the life insurance issuer concentrations that exceed 10% of total death benefit
and 10% of total fair value of our investments in life settlements as of December 31, 2013:
 

Carrier   

Percentage of
Total Fair

Value   

Percentage of
Total Death

Benefit   
Moody’s
Rating    

S&P
Rating  

Transamerica Occidental Life Insurance
Company    26.2%   20.3%   A1     AA-  

Lincoln National Life Insurance Company    21.1%   20.9%   A1     AA-  
Lincoln Benefit Life    11.5%   9.8%   Baa1     BBB+  
AXA Equitable    10.0%   11.2%   Aa3     A+  

Estimated risk premium

As of December 31, 2013, the Company owned 612 policies with an aggregate investment in life settlements of $303.0 million.
Of these 612 policies, 569 were previously premium financed and are valued using discount rates that range from 16.80% to 26.80%.
The remaining 43 policies, which are non-premium financed are valued using discount rates that range from 14.80% to 20.80%. As of
December 31, 2013, the weighted average discount rate calculated based on death benefit used in valuing the policies in our life
settlement portfolio was 19.14%.

The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, the credit exposure to the insurance company
that issued the life insurance policy and our estimate of the risk premium an investor in the policy would require. The extent to which
the fair value could vary in the near term has been quantified by evaluating the effect of changes in the weighted average discount
rate on the death benefit used to estimate the fair value. If the weighted average discount rate were increased or decreased by 1/2 of
1% and the other
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assumptions used to estimate fair value remained the same, the change in estimated fair value would be as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Market interest rate sensitivity analysis
 

Weighted Average Rate Calculated Based on Death
Benefit   Rate Adjustment  Value    Change in Value 
18.64%    -0.50%  $312,112    $ 9,151  
19.14%    —     $302,961    $ —    
19.64%    0.50%  $294,246    $ (8,715) 

Future changes in the discount rates we use to value life insurance policies could have a material effect on our yield on life
settlement transactions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of our operations.

At the end of each reporting period we re-value the life insurance policies using our valuation model in order to update our
estimate of fair value for investments in policies held on our balance sheet. This includes reviewing our assumptions for discount
rates and life expectancies as well as incorporating current information for premium payments and the passage of time.

Structured settlement receivables—All structured settlements that were acquired subsequent to July 1, 2010 were marked to fair
value. Structured settlements that were acquired prior to July 1, 2010 were recorded at cost. We make this election because it is our
intention to sell these assets within the next twelve months. Structured settlements are purchased at effective yields which are fixed.
Purchase discounts are accreted into interest income using the effective-interest method for those structured settlements marked to
fair value. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had 20 structured settlements with an estimated fair value of $660,000 and an
average sales discount rate of 8.66%.

Note Payable—Effective April 29, 2013, White Eagle, a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a 15-year Revolving Credit
Facility with LNV Corporation, as initial lender, Imperial Finance & Trading, LLC, as servicer and portfolio manager and CLMG Corp.,
as administrative agent. In connection with the Revolving Credit Facility, White Eagle pledged 459 policies to serve as collateral for its
obligations under the facility. Absent an event of default under the Revolving Credit Facility, ongoing borrowings will be used to pay
the premiums on these policies and certain approved third party expenses. Proceeds from the policies pledged as collateral will be
distributed pursuant to a waterfall. After premium payments and fees to service providers, 100% of the remaining proceeds will be
directed to pay outstanding principal and interest on the loan. Generally, after payment of principal and interest, collections from policy
proceeds are to be paid to White Eagle up to $76.1 million, then 50% of the remaining proceeds are to be directed to the lenders with
the remainder paid to White Eagle. We have elected to account for this long-term debt, which includes the lender’s interest in policy
proceeds, using the fair value method. The fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would have to pay to transfer the debt to
a market participant in an orderly transaction. We calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model taking into
account the stated interest rate of the Revolving Credit Facility and probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies. Accordingly,
our estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that we, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market
exchange. The most significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of
different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair values.

Life expectancy sensitivity analysis of note payable

A considerable portion of the fair value of the Company’s notes payable derives from the timing of receipt of future policy
proceeds. Should life expectancies lengthen such that policy proceeds are collected further into the future, the fair value of this debt
will decline. Conversely, should life expectancies shorten, the fair value of this debt will increase. Considerable judgment is required
in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value.
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If all of the insured lives in the Company’s life settlement portfolio live six months shorter or longer than the life expectancies
used to calculate the estimated fair value of the note payable, the change in estimated fair value would be as follows (dollars in
thousands):
 

Life Expectancy Months Adjustment   
Fair Value of
Note Payable   Change in Value 

+6   $ 105,912    $ (17,935) 
-   $ 123,847     —    
-6   $ 143,728    $ 19,881  

Future changes in the life expectancies could have a material effect on the fair value of our note payable, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Discount rate of note payable

The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, credit exposure to insurance companies and our
estimate of the return a lender lending against the policies would require.

Market interest rate sensitivity analysis of note payable

The extent to which the fair value of the note payable could vary in the near term has been quantified by evaluating the effect of
changes in the weighted average discount. If the weighted average discount rate were increased or decreased by  1⁄2 of 1% and the
other assumptions used to estimate fair value remained the same, the change in estimated fair value of the note payable as of
December 31, 2013 would be as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

Discount Rate   Rate Adjustment  
Fair Value of
Note Payable   Change in Value 

23.54%    -0.50%  $ 126,455    $ 2,608  
24.04%    —     $ 123,847    $ —    
24.54%    0.50%  $ 121,331    $ (2,516) 

Future changes in the discount rates could have a material effect on the fair value our notes payable, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of our operations.

At December 31, 2013, the fair value of the debt was $123.8 million and the outstanding principal was approximately $133.2
million.

Changes in Fair Value

The following tables provide a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the year ended December 31, 2013, for all assets and
liabilities for which the Company determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs (in thousands):
 

Life Settlements:   
Balance, January 1, 2013   $113,441  
Purchase of policies    55,500  
Acquired in foreclosure    3,168  
Change in fair value    88,686  
Matured/lapsed/sold polices    (22,955) 
Premiums paid    65,121  
Transfers into level 3    —    
Transfers out of level 3    —    

  

Balance, December 31, 2013   $302,961  
  

Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to
assets held at December 31, 2013   $ 75,673  
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The Company recorded unrealized change in fair value of approximately $88.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.
 

Structured Settlements:   
Balance, January 1, 2013   $ 1,680  
Purchase of contracts    14,693  
Unrealized change in fair value    1,230  
Sale of contracts    (16,855) 
Collections    (88) 
Transfers into level 3    —    
Transfers out of level 3    —    

  

Balance, December 31, 2013   $ 660  
  

Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to
assets held at December 31, 2013   $ 486  

  

The following tables provide a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the year ended December 31, 2013, for all liabilities for
which the Company determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs (in thousands):
 

Note payable:   
Balance, January 1, 2013   $ —    
Initial Advance under the revolving credit facility    83,020  
Subsequent Draws under the revolving credit facility    50,200  
Unrealized change in fair value    (9,373) 
Transfers into level 3    —    
Transfer out of level 3    —    

  

Balance, December 31, 2013   $123,847  
  

Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to
liabilities at December 31, 2013   $ (9,373) 

  

The following tables provide a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the year ended December 31, 2012, for all assets for
which the Company determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs (in thousands):
 

Life Settlements:   
Balance, January 1, 2012   $ 90,917  
Purchase of policies    130  
Acquired in foreclosure    5,724  
Unrealized change in fair value    (5,660) 
Transfers into level 3    —   
Transfers out of level 3    —   
Sale of policies    (5,334) 
Premiums paid    27,804  
Policies lapsed/written off    (140) 

  

Balance, December 31, 2012   $113,441  
  

Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to
assets held at December 31, 2012   $ (5,898) 
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The Company recorded unrealized change in fair value of approximately $5.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012.
 

Structured Settlements:   
Balance, January 1, 2012   $ 12,376  
Purchase of contracts    24,313  
Unrealized change in fair value    1,823  
Sale of contracts    (36,615) 
Collections    (217) 
Transfers into level 3    —   
Transfers out of level 3    —   

  

Balance, December 31, 2012   $ 1,680  
  

Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to
assets held at December 31, 2012   $ 255  

  

There were no transfers of financial assets between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012.

NOTE 14—SEGMENT INFORMATION

On October 25, 2013, the Company sold its structured settlement business, which was previously reported as an operating
segment. The operating results related to the Company’s structured settlement business have been included in discontinued
operations in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations for all periods presented and the Company has discontinued
segment reporting.

NOTE 15—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease Agreements

The Company leases office space under operating lease agreements. On May 1, 2012, the Company renewed its lease to
expire on October 31, 2014. The lease contains a provision for a 5% increase of the base rent annually on the anniversary of the rent
commencement date. Rent expense under the leases was approximately $438,000, $528,000 and $546,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Future minimum payments under operating leases for December 31, 2014 are
approximately $477,000.

Employment Agreements

In connection with our initial public offering, we entered into employment agreements with certain of our executive officers. The
agreement for our chief executive officer provides for substantial payments in the event that the executive terminates his employment
with us due to a material change in the geographic location where such officer performs his duties or upon a material diminution of
his base salary or responsibilities, with or without cause. For our chief executive officer, payments are equal to three times the sum of
base salary and the average of the three years’ annual cash bonus, unless the triggering event occurs during the first three years of
his employment agreement, in which case the payments are equal to six times base salary. For our chief executive officer, the
agreement provides for bonus incentives based on pre-tax income thresholds.

On April 26, 2012, the Company entered into a Separation Agreement and General Release of Claims (the “Separation
Agreement”) with its chief operating officer, Jonathan Neuman. As part of the Separation Agreement, Mr. Neuman resigned as a
member of the Company’s board of directors and as an employee of the Company. Pursuant to the Separation Agreement, the
Company paid Mr. Neuman a separation payment of $1.4 million. The Separation Agreement does not include a covenant by
Mr. Neuman to refrain from competing with
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Imperial, but does contain customary non-disparagement and non-solicitation provisions. The Separation Agreement provides
releases by each party and also obligates the Company to continue to indemnify Mr. Neuman for his legal expenses substantially in
the same manner contemplated by his employment agreement with the Company. These indemnification expenses amounted to
$2.8 million and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

On February 15, 2012, the Company entered into a retention arrangement with its Chief Financial Officer and Chief Credit
Officer, Richard O’Connell, Jr. The arrangement provides that, in the event Mr. O’Connell’s employment is terminated without cause
or Mr. O’Connell terminates his employment with the Company for good reason, in each case, prior to December 31, 2013,
Mr. O’Connell will be entitled to 24 months’ base salary in addition to any accrued benefits. Additionally, unless Mr. O’Connell’s
employment is terminated for cause, Mr. O’Connell will be entitled to a minimum bonus of $250,000 for each of 2012 and 2013,
subject to the Company’s Board of Directors’ right to terminate the bonus payment in respect of 2013 prior to January 1, 2013. Except
for the provisions relating to severance and other termination benefits, the terms of Mr. O’Connell’s Employment and Severance
Agreement entered into with the Company as of November 4, 2010 remain in effect during the term of the retention arrangement and
the provisions of the employment agreement relating to severance and other termination benefits will again be in effect following any
termination of the retention arrangement if Mr. O’Connell is then employed by the Company.

During the first quarter of 2012, the Company also entered into severance and retention award agreements with certain of its
executive officers (other than the CEO and CFO). The agreements provide for a minimum guaranteed bonus in each of 2012 and
2013 as well as severance payments equal to two years base salary in the event of termination by the Company without cause (as
defined in the respective agreement) provided the executive executes a general release of claims against the Company. Minimum
guaranteed bonuses for 2012 and 2013 were paid in the fourth quarter of 2012 and 2013, respectively.

Effective as of January 1, 2014, each of Mr. O’Connell, Ms. Martinez and Mr. Altschuler entered into employment agreements
with the Company. Mr. O’Connell’s agreement supersedes the employment agreement he entered into with the Company in
connection with its initial public offering. Each employment agreement has an initial term of three years with one year renewal
periods thereafter unless either party to an Employment Agreement provides a non-renewal notice at least 60 days prior to the end of
the applicable term. The agreements provide for an initial base salary of $335,000, $298,000 and $287,000 for Mr. O’Connell,
Ms. Martinez and Mr. Altschuler, respectively, in each case, subject to upward adjustment at the discretion of the Board from time to
time. Each officer is also eligible to receive a target cash bonus each year ranging between 40% and 80% of the officer’s base salary.
In addition, each officer is entitled to otherwise participate in the Company’s long term incentive plan.

Each of the employment agreements provides that, upon termination of employment by the Company without cause or by the
officer for good reason, in addition to accrued benefits, the applicable officer will be entitled to receive a pro-rated portion of the bonus
for the year in which the officer was terminated and a severance payment equal to one year of that officer’s base salary. Following a
change of control, upon termination of employment by the Company without cause or by the officer for good reason, in addition to
accrued benefits, the applicable officer will be entitled to receive a lump-sum severance payment consisting of the pro-rated portion of
the bonus for the year in which the officer was terminated and two-times that officer’s base salary. In either case, unless the officer is
entitled to receive coverage from a new employer, the officer will be reimbursed for the cost of continuation coverage of group health
insurance for a maximum of twelve months.

We do not have any general policies regarding the use of employment agreements, but may, from time to time, enter into such a
written agreement to reflect the terms and conditions of employment of a particular named executive officer, whether at the time of
hire or thereafter.
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Litigation

In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the Company establishes an accrued liability for litigation and regulatory
matters when those matters present loss contingencies that are both probable and estimable. In such cases, there may be an
exposure to loss in excess of any amounts accrued. When a loss contingency is not both probable and estimable, the Company does
not establish an accrued liability. As a litigation or regulatory matter develops, the Company, in conjunction with any outside counsel
handling the matter, evaluates on an ongoing basis whether such matter presents a loss contingency that is probable and estimable.
If, at the time of evaluation, the loss contingency related to a litigation or regulatory matter is not both probable and estimable, the
matter will continue to be monitored for further developments that would make such loss contingency both probable and estimable.
Once the loss contingency related to a litigation or regulatory matter is deemed to be both probable and estimable, the Company will
establish an accrued liability with respect to such loss contingency and record a corresponding amount of litigation-related expense.
The Company continues to monitor the matter for further developments that could affect the amount of the accrued liability that has
been previously established. Excluding expenses of general external legal service providers, USAO litigation-related fees of $4.5
million, $14.3 million and $14.0 million were recognized for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and December 31, 2011,
respectively.

Non-Prosecution Agreement

On September 27, 2011, the Company was informed that it was being investigated by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District
of New Hampshire (the “USAO Investigation”). At that time, the Company was informed that, among other individuals, its former
president and chief operating officer and, three former life finance sales executives were considered “targets” of the USAO
Investigation. The USAO Investigation focused on the Company’s premium finance loan business.

On April 30, 2012, the Company entered into a Non-Prosecution Agreement (the “Non-Prosecution Agreement”) with the USAO,
which agreed not to prosecute the Company for its involvement in the making of misrepresentations on life insurance applications in
connection with its premium finance business or any potential securities fraud claims related to its premium finance business. In the
Non-Prosecution Agreement, the USAO and the Company agreed among other things, that the following facts are true and correct:
(i) at all relevant times (x) certain insurance companies required that the prospective insured applying for a life insurance policy, and
sometimes the agent, disclose information relating to premium financing on applications for life insurance policies, and (y) the
questions typically required the prospective insured to disclose if he or she intended to seek premium financing in connection with the
policy and sometimes required the agent to disclose if he or she was aware of any such intent on the part of the applicant; (ii) in
connection with a portion of the Company’s retail operation known as “retail non-seminar” that began in December 2006 and was
discontinued in January 2009, Imperial had a practice of disclosing on applications that the prospective insured was seeking premium
financing when the life insurance company allowed premium financing from Imperial; however, in certain circumstances, Imperial
internal life agents facilitated and/or made misrepresentations on applications that the prospective insured was not seeking premium
financing when the insurance carrier was likely to deny the policy on the basis of premium financing; and (iii) to the extent that
external agents, brokers and insureds caused other misrepresentations to be made in life insurance applications in connection with
the retail non-seminar business, Imperial failed to appropriately tailor controls to prevent potential fraudulent practices in that
business. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had 39 policies in its portfolio that once served as collateral for premium finance
loans derived through the retail non-seminar business.

In connection with the Non-Prosecution Agreement, Imperial voluntarily agreed to terminate its premium finance business, which
historically accounted for the majority of the Company’s income and terminated certain senior sales staff associated with the premium
finance business. Additionally, the Company paid the United States Government $8.0 million, and agreed to cooperate fully with the
USAO’s ongoing investigation and to refrain from and self-report any criminal conduct. The Non-Prosecution Agreement has a term of
three years until April 30, 2015, but after April 30, 2014 the Company may petition the USAO to forego the final year of the
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Non-Prosecution Agreement, if the Company otherwise complies with all of its obligations under the Non-Prosecution Agreement.
Should the USAO conclude that Imperial has not abided by its obligations under the Non-Prosecution Agreement, the USAO could
choose to terminate the Non-Prosecution Agreement, resume its investigation of the Company, or bring charges against Imperial.
While the Non-Prosecution Agreement effectively resolved the USAO Investigation as it pertains to the Company (subject to the
Company’s continuing compliance with its terms), the USAO is continuing to investigate certain individuals formerly employed by the
Company and the Company is continuing to incur expenses regarding its indemnification obligations with respect to such individuals.

Class Action Litigation, Derivative Demands and the Insurance Coverage Declaratory Relief Complaint

The Class Action Litigation

Initially on September 29, 2011, the Company, and certain of its officers and directors were named as defendants in a putative
securities class action filed in the Circuit Court of the 15th Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, entitled Martin J.
Fuller v. Imperial Holdings, Inc. et al. Also named as defendants were the underwriters of the Company’s initial public offering. That
complaint asserted claims under Sections 11, 12 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, alleging that the Company should
have but failed to disclose in the registration statement for its initial public offering purported wrongful conduct relating to its life
finance business which gave rise to the USAO Investigation. On October 21, 2011, an amended complaint was filed that asserts
claims under Sections 11, 12 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, based on similar allegations. On October 25, 2011, defendants
removed the case to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida.

On October 31, 2011, another putative class action case was filed in the Circuit Court of the 15th Judicial Circuit in and for Palm
Beach County, Florida, entitled City of Roseville Employees Retirement System v. Imperial Holdings, et al, naming the same
defendants and also bringing claims under Sections 11, 12 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 based on similar allegations. On
November 28, 2011, defendants removed the case to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. The plaintiffs
in the Fuller and City of Roseville cases moved to remand their cases back to state court. Those motions were fully briefed and
argued.

On November 18, 2011, a putative class action case was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
Florida, entitled Sauer v. Imperial Holdings, Inc., et al, naming the same defendants and bringing claims under Sections 11 and 15 of
the Securities Act of 1933 based on similar allegations.

On December 14, 2011, another putative class action case filed in United States District Court for the Southern District of
Florida, entitled Pondick v. Imperial Holdings, Inc., et al., naming the same defendants and bringing claims under Sections 11, 12,
and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 based on similar allegations.

On February 24, 2012, the four putative class actions were consolidated and designated: Fuller v. Imperial Holdings et al. in the
United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, and lead plaintiffs were appointed.

Derivative Demands

On November 16, 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors received a shareholder derivative demand from Harry Rothenberg
(the “Rothenberg Demand”), which was referred to the special committee for a thorough investigation of the issues, occurrences and
facts relating to, connected to, and arising from the USAO Investigation referenced in the Rothenberg Demand. On May 8, 2012, the
Company’s Board of Directors received a derivative demand made by another shareholder, Robert Andrzejczyk (the “Andrzejczyk
Demand”). The Andrzejczyk Demand, like the Rothenberg Demand, was referred to the special committee, which determined that it
did not contain any allegations that differed materially from those alleged in the Rothenberg Demand. On July 20, 2012, the Company
(as nominal defendant) and certain of the Company’s officers,
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directors, and a former director were named as defendants in a shareholder derivative action filed in the Circuit Court of the 15th

Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, entitled Robert Andrzejczyk v. Imperial Holdings, Inc. et al. The complaint
alleged, among other things, that the Special Committee’s refusal of the Andrzejczyk Demand was improper.

The Insurance Coverage Declaratory Relief Complaint

On June 13, 2012, Catlin Insurance Company (UK) Ltd. (“Catlin”) filed a declaratory relief action against the Company in the
United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. The complaint sought a determination that there was no coverage
under Catlin’s primary Directors, Officers and Company Liability Policy (the “Policy”) issued to the Company for the period
February 3, 2011 to February 3, 2012, based on a prior and pending litigation exclusion (the “Exclusion”). Catlin also sought a
determination that it was entitled to reimbursement of the approximately $0.8 million in defense costs and fees advanced to the
Company in the first quarter of 2012 under the Policy if it was determined that the Exclusion precluded coverage. The Company
recorded a reserve of $0.8 million for the recovery received; the amount was included in legal fees in the statement of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2012. Based on the settlement as documented below, the amount was reversed at December 31,
2013 and offset against legal fees in the statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2013.

The Settlement

On July 29, 2013, attorneys for the Company, the plaintiffs in the actions discussed above, certain individual defendants, the
underwriters in the Company’s initial public offering and the Company’s director and officer liability insurance carriers (“D&O Carriers”)
executed definitive settlement agreements in respect of the class action litigation, derivative action and insurance coverage
declaratory relief complaint. All of the settlements were contingent on each other with the class action litigation and derivative action
settlements subject to court approval, which was received on December 16, 2013 and December 17, 2013, respectively.

The terms of the class action settlement include a cash payment of $12.0 million, of which $11.0 million is to be contributed by
the Company’s primary and excess D&O Carriers and the issuance of two million warrants for shares of the Company’s stock. The
estimated fair value at December 31, 2013 of such warrants was $5.4 million. The warrants will have a five-year term with an exercise
price of $10.75 and are expected to be issued within 90 days of the date that is 30 days following the final approval of the class action
settlement. The Company recorded a reserve at December 31, 2013 related to the settlement of $17.4 million, which is included in
other liabilities and cash received as insurance recoverable from the Company’s D&O Carrier of $11.0 million, which is included in
restricted cash. $4.1 million net effect of the settlement is included in legal fees in the statement of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2012 and an additional $2.3 million is included in the year ended December 31, 2013. All outstanding amounts for the
shareholder class action suit were paid subsequent to year end.

The derivative action settlement requires implementation of certain compliance reforms and contemplates payment by the
Company’s primary D&O carrier of $1.5 million for legal fees in respect of the derivative actions and the contribution of 125,628
shares of the Company’s stock, which were issued in the first quarter of 2014. During the year ended December 31, 2013, $1.5
million was received from the Company’s D&O Carrier and is included in restricted cash.

The Company established a reserve related to the derivative settlement of $2.5 million at December 31, 2012 which is included
in other liabilities and cash received as insurance recoverable from the Company’s D&O Carrier of $1.5 million, which is included in
restricted cash. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company deposited $500,000 into an insurance trust which was
previously reserved during the year ended December 31, 2012. The net effect of the settlement of $1.0 million was included in legal
fees in the statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2012. All outstanding amounts for the derivative settlement were
paid subsequent to year ended December 31, 2013.
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The settlements also require Imperial to advance legal fees to and indemnify certain individuals covered under the policies. The
obligation to advance and indemnify on behalf of these individuals, while currently unquantifiable, may be substantial and could have
a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and results of operations. See Item 1A. Risk Factors—“Indemnification
and advancement obligations could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.”

SEC Investigation

On February 17, 2012, the Company first received a subpoena issued by the staff of the SEC seeking documents from 2007
through the date of the subpoena, generally related to the Company’s premium finance business and corresponding financial
reporting. The SEC is investigating whether any violations of federal securities laws have occurred and the Company has been
cooperating with the SEC regarding this matter. The Company is unable to predict what action, if any, might be taken in the future by
the SEC or its staff as a result of the investigation or what impact, if any, the cost of responding to the SEC might have on the
Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. The Company has not established any provision for losses in
respect of this matter.

Sun Life

On April 18, 2013, Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada (“Sun Life”) filed a complaint against the Company and several of
its affiliates in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, entitled Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada v.
Imperial Holdings, Inc., et al. (“Sun Life Case”). The complaint seeks to contest the validity of at least twenty-nine policies issued by
Sun Life. The complaint also asserts the following claims: (1) violations of the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations
Act, (2) common law fraud, (3) civil conspiracy, (4) tortious interference with contractual obligations, and (5) an equitable
accounting. In response to a motion to dismiss filed by the Company, Sun Life filed an amended complaint on June 13, 2013. The
Company believes that the amended complaint is without merit and filed another motion to dismiss on July 8, 2013. Sun Life
responded to the second motion to dismiss on August 1, 2013 and the Company filed its reply on August 19, 2013. The Company
intends to defend itself vigorously. No reserve has been established for this litigation.

On July 29, 2013, the Company filed a complaint against Sun Life in United States District Court for the Southern District of
Florida, entitled Imperial Premium Finance, LLC (“IPF”) v. Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada (“IPF Case”). The complaint
asserts claims against Sun Life for breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and fraud, and seeks a
judgment declaring that Sun Life is obligated to comply with the promises made by it in certain insurance policies. The complaint also
seeks compensatory damages of no less than $30 million in addition to an award of punitive damages. On August 23, 2013, Sun Life
moved to dismiss the complaint. IPF filed its response on September 9, 2013, and Sun Life filed its reply on September 19, 2013.

Sanctions Order

On April 27, 2012, after the conclusion of a jury trial in the matter styled Steven A. Sciaretta, as Trustee of the Barton Cotton
Irrevocable Trust a/k/a the Amended and Restated Barton Cotton Irrevocable Trust v. The Lincoln National Life Insurance Company
(“Lincoln”) , the defendant, Lincoln, filed a motion seeking sanctions against the Company’s subsidiary, Imperial Premium Finance
(“IPF”), a non-party to the litigation, relating to its corporate representative deposition and trial testimony. On May 6, 2013, the Court
issued an order sanctioning IPF and ordering it to pay $850,000. On June 4, 2013, IPF filed a Notice of Appeal of the order to the
Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. The Company recorded a reserve of $850,000 that is included in other liabilities as of December
31, 2013.
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Other Litigation

The Company is party to various other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. Due to the inherent
difficulty of predicting the outcome of litigation and other legal proceedings, the Company cannot predict the eventual outcome of
these matters, and it is reasonably possible that some of them could be resolved unfavorably to the Company. As a result, it is
possible that the Company’s results of operations or cash flows in a particular fiscal period could be materially affected by an
unfavorable resolution of pending litigation or contingencies. However, the Company believes that the resolution of these other
proceedings will not, based on information currently available, have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or
results of operations.

NOTE 16—STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

On February 3, 2011, the Company converted from a Florida limited liability company to a Florida corporation at which time the
members of Imperial Holdings, LLC became shareholders of Imperial Holdings, Inc. As a limited liability company, the Company was
treated as a partnership for United States federal and state income tax purposes and, as such, the Company was not subject to
taxation. For all periods subsequent to such conversion, the Company will be subject to corporate-level United States federal and
state income taxes.

After the corporate conversion and prior to the closing of the Company’s initial public offering on February 11, 2011, the
Company converted two phantom stock agreements it had with two employees into 27,000 shares of common stock and incurred
stock compensation of approximately $290,000.

Following the corporate conversion and upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering on February 11, 2011, three
shareholders received ownership of warrants that may be exercised for up to a total of 4,053,333 shares of the Company’s common
stock at a weighted average exercise price of $14.51 per share. In connection with the over-allotment option, the same three
shareholders received ownership of 187,188 additional warrants. The warrants will expire 7 years after the date of issuance and the
exercisability of the warrant will vest ratably over four years.

On February 11, 2011, the Company closed its initial public offering of 16,666,667 shares of common stock at $10.75 per share.
On February 15, 2011, Imperial Holdings, Inc. sold an additional 935,947 shares of common stock. The sale was in connection with
the over-allotment option Imperial Holdings, Inc. granted to its underwriters in connection with Imperial’s initial public offering. As a
result, the total initial public offering size was 17,602,614 shares. All shares were sold to the public at a price of $10.75. The
Company received net proceeds of approximately $174.2 million after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and our
offering expenses.

The Company reserved an aggregate of 1,200,000 shares of common stock under its Omnibus Plan, of which 831,282 options
to purchase shares of common stock granted to existing employees were outstanding as of December 31, 2013, and an additional
20,793 shares of restricted stock of which 3,507 were granted in 2011 and 17,286 were granted in 2013 and 13,759 shares of
unrestricted stock had been granted to directors under the plan subject to vesting. There were 334,166 securities remaining for future
issuance under the Omnibus Plan as of December 31, 2013.

NOTE 17—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Company has adopted a 401(k) plan that covers employees that have reached 18 years of age and completed three
months of service. The plan provides for voluntary employee contributions through salary reductions, as well as discretionary
employer contributions. For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, there were no employer contributions made.
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NOTE 18—SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following tables set forth our unaudited consolidated financial data regarding operations for each quarter of fiscal 2013 and
2012 (in thousands). This information, in the opinion of management, includes all adjustments necessary, consisting only of normal
and recurring adjustments, to state fairly the information set forth therein. Certain amounts previously reported have been reclassified
to conform to the current presentation. These reclassifications had no net impact on the results of operations (in thousands).
 

   Fiscal 2013  
   1st Quarter  2nd Quarter   3rd Quarter   4th Quarter 
Total income    2,160    65,637     14,809     6,472  
(Loss)/income from continuing operations

before income taxes    (5,296)   47,154     6,106     3,898  
Net (loss)/income from continuing operations    (5,336)   47,154     6,106     3,899  
EPS from continuing operations:        

Basic   $ (0.25)  $ 2.22    $ 0.29    $ 0.18  
Diluted   $ (0.25)  $ 2.22    $ 0.29    $ 0.18  

 
   Fiscal 2012  
   1st Quarter  2nd Quarter  3rd Quarter  4th Quarter 
Total income    6,733    12,214    (16,940)   3,081  
(Loss) from continuing operations before

income taxes    (7,150)   (350)   (30,316)   (4,242) 
Net (loss) from continuing operations    (7,109)   (350)   (30,311)   (4,249) 
EPS from continuing operations:      

Basic   $ (0.34)  $ (0.02)  $ (1.43)  $ (0.20) 
Diluted   $ (0.34)  $ (0.02)  $ (1.43)  $ (0.20) 

Above amounts don’t agree to previously filed Form 10-Q’s due to the retrospective presentation of discontinued operations.

NOTE 19—INCOME TAXES

The provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations consisted of (in thousands):
 

   12/31/2013  12/31/2012  12/31/2011 
Continuing operations   $ 39   $ (39)  $ —    
Discontinued operations    —      —      —    

  

Provision (benefit) for income taxes   $ 39   $ (39)  $ —    
  

Current     
Federal   $ —     $ —     $ —    
State    —      —      —    

  

   —      —      —    
Deferred     

Federal   $ 17,182   $ (13,513)  $ (7,680) 
State    2,857    (2,247)   (1,277) 

  

  $ 20,039   $ (15,760)  $ (8,957) 
Valuation allowance (decrease) increase   $ (20,000)  $ 15,721   $ 8,957  

  

Provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing
operations   $ 39   $ (39)  $ —    
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The Company’s actual provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations differ from the Federal expected income
tax provision as follows (in thousands):
 
   2013   2012   2011  
   Amount   Rate   Amount   Rate   Amount   Rate  
Tax provision (benefit) at statutory rate   $ 18,152    35.00%  $(14,720)   35.00%  $(11,821)   35.00% 
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:        

State tax (net of federal benefit)    1,857    3.58    (1,462)   3.48    (851)   2.52  
Pre-conversion loss    —      —      —      —      678    (2.01) 
Pre-conversion deferred tax asset    —      —      —      —      223    (0.66) 
Other    30    0.06    422    (1.00)   14    (0.04) 
Department of Justice settlement    —      —      —      —      2,800    (8.29) 
Valuation allowance (decrease) increase    (20,000)   (38.56)   15,721    (37.39)   8,957    (26.52) 

  

Provision (benefit) for income taxes   $ 39    0.08%  $ (39)   0.09%  $ —      0.00% 
  

On February 3, 2011, the Company converted from a Florida limited liability Company to a Florida corporation (the
“conversion”). Prior to the conversion the Company was treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes. As a
partnership our taxable income and losses were attributed to our members, and accordingly, no provision or liability for income taxes
was reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for periods prior to the conversion.

As a result of the conversion of the Company from a partnership to a corporation, the Company recorded a one-time deferred
tax liability of approximately $4.5 million for the federal and state tax effects of cumulative differences between financial and tax
reporting which existed at the time of the conversion. Pursuant to ASC 740 these deferred taxes were recorded in income tax
expense for the year ending December 31, 2011.

Following the conversion and prior to the initial public offering, one of the founding members entered into a reorganization that
allowed the Company to assume the corporate shareholder’s tax attributes. These tax attributes include approximately $11.2 million
of net operating loss carryovers (“NOLs”). Accordingly, the Company recorded a one-time deferred tax asset of approximately
$4.3 million related to these tax attributes and this amount was recorded as an income tax benefit. The utilization of the acquired
NOLs is subject to an annual limitation based on the value of the Company at the time they were acquired. These NOLs expire
starting in 2028.
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and tax liabilities were (in
thousands):
 

   
December 31,

2013   
December 31,

2012  
Deferred tax assets:    

Federal and State net operating loss carryforward   $ 28,639   $ 25,454  
Allowance for doubtful accounts    —      1,969  
Unrealized loss on life and structured settlements,

net    —      1,813  
Litigation reserves    2,990    2,324  
Revolving credit facility    1,038    —    
Other    1,226    693  

  

Total gross deferred tax assets    33,893    32,253  
Less valuation allowance    (2,567)   (27,803) 

  

Total deferred tax assets    31,326    4,450  
Deferred tax liabilities:    

Unrealized gains on life and structured settlements    26,830    —    
Gain on structured settlements deferred for tax

purposes    4,496    4,436  
Unrealized gain on available for sale investment

securities    —      14  
  

Total gross deferred tax liabilities    31,326    4,450  
  

Total net deferred tax asset (liability)   $ —     $ —    
  

The Company evaluates its deferred tax assets to determine if valuation allowances are required. In its evaluation, management
considers taxable loss carryback availability, expectations of sufficient future taxable income, trends in earnings, existence of taxable
income in recent years, the future reversal of temporary differences, and available tax planning strategies that could be implemented,
if required. Valuation allowances are established based on the consideration of all available evidence using a more likely than not
standard. Based on the Company’s evaluation, a full deferred tax valuation allowance was established against its net deferred tax
assets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. The change in valuation allowance was recognized as a charge (benefit) to income tax
expense. If the valuation allowance is reduced or eliminated, future tax benefits will be recognized as a reduction to income tax
expense that will have a positive non-cash impact on net income and stockholders’ equity. The Company’s deferred tax asset
valuation allowance would be reversed if and when it becomes more likely than not that the Company will generate sufficient taxable
income in the future to utilize the tax benefits of the related deferred tax assets.

Generally, the amount of tax provision or benefit allocated to continuing operations is determined without regard to the tax effects
of other categories of income or loss, such as other comprehensive income. However, an exception to the general rule is provided
when, in the presence of a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets, there is a pretax loss from continuing operations and
pretax income from other categories. In such instances, income from other categories must offset the current loss from operations,
the tax benefit of such offset being reflected in continuing operations. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 we
increased (reduced) our deferred tax valuation allowance from continuing operations by $39,000 and $(39,000) respectively to reflect
the taxable income associated with unrealized gains in accumulated other comprehensive income.
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The Federal and state NOL’s generated through December 31, 2013, by the Company since its conversion to a corporation was
approximately $63.0 million which expire beginning in 2030.

The Company’s income tax returns for all years are subject to examination. Various state jurisdiction tax years also remain open
to examination.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in tax expense.

A reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized benefits at the beginning and end of the period was as follows (in
thousands):
 

   
December 31,

2013    
December 31,

2012    
December 31,

2011  
Balance as of beginning of period   $ 6,295    $ 6,295    $ —    
Additions based on tax positions taken in the

current year    —       —       6,295  
Reductions of tax positions for prior years    —       —       —    

      

Balance as of end of period   $ 6,295    $ 6,295    $ 6,295  
      

The recognition of the unrecognized tax benefits would result in a 0% decrease in the Company’s effective tax rate.

NOTE 20—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Convertible Notes

In February 2014, we closed on the private offering for an aggregate $70.7 million senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019
(the “Notes”). The Notes were sold to certain accredited investors pursuant to Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933 and to
an initial purchaser who then sold the notes to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933. The
Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture dated February 21, 2014, between us and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee
(“the Indenture”). Certain entities affiliated with shareholders of the Company who individually hold in excess of 5% of our common
stock purchased Notes in offering, including entities affiliated with two members of our Board of Directors.

The Notes are general senior unsecured obligations and rank equally in right of payment with all of our other existing and future
senior unsecured indebtedness. The Notes are effectively subordinate to all of our secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of
the assets collateralizing such indebtedness. The Notes are not guaranteed by our subsidiaries.

The maturity date of the Notes is February 15, 2019. The Notes accrue interest at the rate of 8.50% per annum on the principal
amount of the Notes, payable semi-annually in arrears on August 15 and February 15 of each year with the first interest payment on
August 15, 2014

Except as described below, the Notes are convertible into shares of common stock at any time prior to the close of business on
the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, except that, prior to the earlier of the date on which the
Company obtains the approval of its shareholders to issue shares of common stock upon conversion of the Notes in an amount that
exceeds 19.99% of its outstanding common stock on the date the Notes are initially issued in accordance with the listing standards of
the New York Stock Exchange, the date on which such shareholder approval is no longer required, or, August 15, 2018, holders only
convert their Notes upon the satisfaction of certain conditions.
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The Notes may be converted into shares of common stock initially at a conversion rate of 147.9290 shares of common stock per
$1,000 principal amount of Notes (equivalent to a conversion price of $6.76 per share of common stock), subject to adjustment;
provided, however, unless and until the Company obtains the shareholder approval referenced above or such shareholder approval is
no longer required under the listing standards of the NYSE, the number of shares of common stock received upon conversion will be
subject to a “conversion share cap” (equivalent to the pro rata portion of such 19.99% limit represented by the Notes to be converted).
Holders who are either affiliated with the Company’s directors or executive officers or are owners of 5% or more of the Company’s
common stock will be subject to additional limitations on the number of shares of common stock that may be delivered to them with
respect to a conversion of Notes they own prior to shareholder approval. In addition, unless and until such shareholder approval is
obtained or is no longer required under the listing standards of the NYSE, the Company will, unless the Company elects otherwise,
elect “combination settlement” with a specified dollar amount per $1,000 principal amount of Notes of at least $1,000 for all Notes
submitted for exchange, which means the Company will be obligated to settle the conversion obligation by paying up to the specified
dollar amount with respect to such Notes in cash and delivering shares of common stock for any conversion value in excess of such
specified dollar amount, subject to the conversion share cap. Any conversion value above the conversion share cap will be paid in
cash.

The Company may not redeem the Notes prior to February 15, 2017. On and after February 15, 2017, and prior to the maturity
date, the Company may redeem for cash all, but not less than all, of the Notes if the last reported sale price of the Company’s
common stock equals or exceeds 130% of the applicable conversion price for at least 20 trading days during the 30 consecutive
trading day period ending on the trading day immediately prior to the date the Company delivers notice of the redemption. The
redemption price will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding,
the redemption date. In addition, if we call the Notes for redemption, a make-whole fundamental charge will be deemed to occur. As a
result, we will, in certain circumstances, increase the conversion rate by a number of additional shares of common stock for holders
who convert their notes prior to the redemption date.

The Company intends to seek shareholder approval at its 2014 Annual Shareholder Meeting to issue shares of common stock
upon conversion in excess of the conversion share cap and other limitations imposed by Section 312 of the NYSE Listed Company
Manual that require shareholder approval (i) in order for the Notes to be convertible into a number of shares of common stock that
exceeds 1.0% of the number of shares of common stock or voting power outstanding before the issuance where those shares are
issuable to a director, officer or “substantial security holder” of the Company or an affiliate of such person, and (ii) in order for the
Notes to be convertible into a number of shares of Common Stock that exceeds 5% of the number of shares of Common Stock or
voting power outstanding before the issuance where those shares are issuable to a substantial security holder.

IRS Investigation

On February 19, 2014, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries received summonses from the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”) Criminal Investigation Division requesting information about the Company and its former structured settlement business and
other specified records from 2010 to the present. Although we have confirmed that the investigation relates to the Company, the
Company is not aware at this time of what allegations, if any, the IRS intends to investigate. The Company intends to cooperate in the
investigation and is unable, at this time, to predict what action, if any, might be taken in the future by the IRS as a result of the matters
that are the subject of the summonses or what impact, if any, the cost of providing information and documents might have on its
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. In addition, if the investigation results in a determination by the IRS that the
Company has failed to comply with any of its obligations under the Internal Revenue Code or regulations thereunder, the Company
could incur additional tax liability, restitution payment obligations, penalties, fines or other liabilities, including criminal penalties and
fines and a reduction in the Company’s net operating losses, that could have a material adverse effect on the Company, its
personnel, its financial condition, its results of operations, or its cash flows.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

In reviewing the agreements included as exhibits to this report, please remember they are included to provide you with
information regarding their terms and are not intended to provide any other factual or disclosure information about the Company, its
subsidiaries or other parties to the agreements. The Agreements contain representations and warranties by each of the parties to the
applicable agreement. These representations and warranties have been made solely for the benefit of the other parties to the
applicable agreement and:
 

 
•  should not in all instances be treated as categorical statements of fact, but rather as a way of allocating the risk to one of

the parties if those statements prove to be inaccurate;
 

 
•  have been qualified by disclosures that were made to the other party in connection with the negotiation of the applicable

agreement, which disclosures are not necessarily reflected in the agreement;
 

 
•  may apply standards of materiality in a way that is different from what may be viewed as material to you or other

investors; and
 

 
•  were made only as of the date of the applicable agreement or such other date or dates as may be specified in the

agreement and are subject to more recent developments.

Accordingly, these representations and warranties may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or
at any other time. The Company acknowledges that, notwithstanding the inclusion of the foregoing cautionary statements, it is
responsible for considering whether additional specific disclosures of material information regarding material contractual provisions
are required to make the statements in this report not misleading. Additional information about the Company may be found elsewhere
in this report and the Company’s other public files, which are available without charge through the SEC’s website at
http://www.sec.gov.
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ARTICLE 1

Definitions

Section 1.1 Definitions. The following terms shall have the following meanings for purposes of these bylaws:

“Act” means the Florida Business Corporation Act, as it may be amended from time to time, or any successor legislation thereto.

“Deliver” or “delivery” means any method of delivery used in conventional commercial practice, including delivery by hand, mail,
commercial delivery and electronic transmission.

“Distribution” means a direct or indirect transfer of money or other property (except shares in the corporation) or an incurrence of
indebtedness by the corporation to or for the benefit of shareholders in respect of any of the corporation’s shares. A distribution may
be in the form of a declaration or payment of a dividend; a purchase, redemption, or other acquisition of shares; a distribution of
indebtedness; or otherwise.

“Electronic transmission” or “electronically transmitted” means any process of communication not directly involving the physical
transfer of paper that is suitable for the retention, retrieval and reproduction of information by the recipient. For purposes of proxy
voting, the term includes, but is not limited to, facsimile transmission, telegrams, cablegrams, telephone transmissions and
transmissions through the Internet.

“Notice” means written notice and includes, but is not limited to, notice by electronic transmission. Notice shall be effective if
given by a single written notice to shareholders who share an address, to the extent permitted by the Act.

“Principal office” means the office (within or without the State of Florida) where the corporation’s principal executive offices are
located, as designated in the annual report filed with the Florida Department of State.

“Significant Violation” means a breach of fiduciary duty arising from a material violation of a United States federal or state law or
a regulation promulgated by the United States federal or state government.

“Substantially Participated” means (i) personal involvement in a violation of law by a relevant individual and does not encompass
a violation asserted against the corporation itself and (ii) that the relevant individual knowingly or recklessly engaged in a Significant
Violation.
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ARTICLE 2

Offices

Section 2.1 Principal and Business Offices. The corporation may have such principal and other business offices, either
within or without the State of Florida, as the Board of Directors may designate or as the business of the corporation may require from
time to time.

Section 2.2 Registered Office. The registered office of the corporation required by the Act to be maintained in the State of
Florida may but need not be identical with the principal office if located in the State of Florida, and the address of the registered office
may be changed from time to time by the Board of Directors or by the registered agent. The business office of the registered agent of
the corporation shall be identical to such registered office.

ARTICLE 3

Shareholders

Section 3.1 Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of shareholders for the election of directors and the conduct of such other
business as may properly come before the meeting in accordance with these bylaws shall be held at such place and time on such
day, other than a legal holiday, as the Chief Executive Officer of the corporation in each such year determines; provided, that if the
Chief Executive Officer does not act, the Board of Directors shall determine the place, time and date of such meeting. If the election of
directors shall not be held on the day fixed as herein provided for any annual meeting of shareholders, or at any adjournment thereof,
the Board of Directors shall cause the election to be held at a special meeting of shareholders as soon thereafter as is practicable. At
any annual meeting of the shareholders, only such nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors shall be made, and
only such other business shall be conducted or considered, as shall have been properly brought before the meeting. For nominations
to be properly made at an annual meeting, and proposals of other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting,
nominations and proposals of other business must be (a) specified in the corporation’s notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto)
given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (b) otherwise properly made at the annual meeting, by or at the direction of the
Board of Directors or (c) otherwise properly requested to be brought before the annual meeting by a shareholder of the corporation in
accordance with these bylaws. For nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors or proposals of other business to be
properly requested by a shareholder to be made at an annual meeting, a shareholder must (i) be a shareholder of record at the time
of giving of notice of such annual meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors and at the time of the annual meeting, (ii) be
entitled to vote at such annual meeting and (iii) comply with the procedures set forth in these bylaws as to such business or
nomination. The immediately preceding sentence shall be the exclusive means for a shareholder to make nominations or other
business proposals (other than matters properly brought under Rule 14a-8 or Rule 14a-11 under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and included in the corporation’s notice of meeting) before an annual meeting of
shareholders.

Section 3.2 Special Meetings.

(a) Call by Directors. Special meetings of shareholders, for any purpose or purposes, may be called by the Board of
Directors, the Chair of the Board or the Lead Director (if any).

(b) Call by Shareholders. The corporation shall call a special meeting of shareholders in the event that the holders of at
least fifty percent (50%) of all of the votes entitled to be cast on any issue
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proposed to be considered at the proposed special meeting (the “Requisite Percentage”) sign, date, and deliver to the Secretary one
or more written demands for the meeting describing one or more purposes for which it is to be held. (“Special Meeting Request”). The
corporation shall give notice of such a Special Meeting Request within sixty days after the date that the demand is delivered to the
corporation. Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors may be made at a special meeting of shareholders at which
directors are to be elected pursuant to the corporation’s notice of meeting (a) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or
(b) provided that the Board of Directors has determined that directors shall be elected at such meeting, by any shareholder of the
corporation who (i) is a shareholder of record at the time of giving of notice of such special meeting and at the time of the special
meeting, (ii) is entitled to vote at the meeting and (iii) complies with the procedures set forth in these Bylaws as to such nomination.
The immediately preceding sentence shall be the exclusive means for a shareholder to make nominations or other business
proposals before a special meeting of shareholders (other than matters properly brought under Rule 14a-8 or Rule 14a-11 under the
Exchange Act and included in the corporation’s notice of meeting).

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.2, a special meeting requested by shareholders pursuant to
Section 3.2(b) shall not be held if (i) the Special Meeting Request does not comply with this Section 3; (ii) the Special Meeting
Request relates to an item of business that is not a proper subject for shareholder action under applicable law; (iii) the Special
Meeting Request is received by the corporation during the period commencing 90 days prior to the first anniversary of the date of the
immediately preceding annual meeting and ending on the date of the next annual meeting; (iv) an annual or special meeting of
shareholders that included a substantially similar item of business (“Similar Business”) (as determined in good faith by the Board of
Directors) was held not more than 120 days before the Special Meeting Request was received by the Secretary; (v) the Board of
Directors has called or calls for an annual or special meeting of shareholders to be held within 90 days after the Special Meeting
Request is received by the Secretary and the Board of Directors determines in good faith that the business to be conducted at such
meeting includes the Similar Business; (vi) such Special Meeting Request was made in a manner that involved a violation of
Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or other applicable law; or (vii) two or more special
meetings of shareholders called pursuant to the request of shareholders have been held within the 12-month period before the
Special Meeting Request was received by the Secretary. For purposes of this Section 3, the nomination, election or removal of
directors shall be deemed to be Similar Business with respect to all items of business involving the nomination, election or removal of
directors, changing the size of the Board of Directors and filling of vacancies and/or newly created directorships resulting from any
increase in the authorized number of directors.

(d) Any shareholder may revoke such shareholder’s participation in a Special Meeting Request at any time by written
revocation delivered to the Secretary and if, following any such revocation, there are outstanding un-revoked requests from
shareholders holding less than the Requisite Percentage in accordance with this Section 3, the Board of Directors may, in its
discretion, cancel the special meeting. If none of the requesting shareholders appears or sends a duly authorized agent to present the
business to be presented for consideration that was specified in the Special Meeting Request, the corporation need not present such
business for a vote at such special meeting.

Business conducted at a special meeting requested by shareholders pursuant to Section 3 shall be limited to the matters described in
the applicable Special Meeting Request; provided that nothing herein shall prohibit the Board of Directors from submitting matters to
the shareholders at any such special meeting requested by shareholders.

Section 3.3 Place of Meeting. The Board of Directors may designate any place, either within or without the State of Florida,
as the place of meeting for any annual or special meeting of shareholders. If no designation is made, the place of meeting shall be
the principal office of the corporation.
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Section 3.4 Notice of Meeting.

(a) Content and Delivery. Written notice stating the date, time, and place of any meeting of shareholders and, in the case of
a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered not less than ten days nor more than
sixty days before the date of the meeting by or at the direction of the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Secretary, or the
officer or persons duly calling the meeting, to each shareholder of record entitled to vote at such meeting and to such other persons
as required by the Act. Unless the Act requires otherwise, notice of an annual meeting need not include a description of the purpose
or purposes for which the meeting is called. If mailed, notice of a meeting of shareholders shall be deemed to be delivered when
deposited in the United States mail, addressed to the shareholder at his or her address as it appears on the stock record books of the
corporation, with postage thereon prepaid.

(b) Notice of Adjourned Meetings. If an annual or special meeting of shareholders is adjourned to a different date, time, or
place, the corporation shall not be required to give notice of the new date, time, or place if the new date, time, or place is announced
at the meeting before adjournment; provided, however, that if a new record date for an adjourned meeting is or must be fixed, the
corporation shall give notice of the adjourned meeting to persons who are shareholders as of the new record date who are entitled to
notice of the meeting.

(c) No Notice Under Certain Circumstances. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Section, no notice of a meeting of
shareholders need be given to a shareholder if: (1) an annual report and proxy statement for two consecutive annual meetings of
shareholders, or (2) all, and at least two, checks in payment of dividends or interest on securities during a twelve-month period have
been sent by first-class, United States mail, addressed to the shareholder at his or her address as it appears on the share transfer
books of the corporation, and returned undeliverable. The obligation of the corporation to give notice of a shareholders’ meeting to
any such shareholder shall be reinstated once the corporation has received a new address for such shareholder for entry on its share
transfer books.

Section 3.5 Waiver of Notice.

(a) Written Waiver. A shareholder may waive any notice required by the Act or these bylaws before or after the date and
time stated for the meeting in the notice. The waiver shall be in writing and signed by the shareholder entitled to the notice, and be
delivered to the corporation for inclusion in the minutes or filing with the corporate records. Neither the business to be transacted at
nor the purpose of any regular or special meeting of shareholders need be specified in any written waiver of notice.

(b) Waiver by Attendance. A shareholder’s attendance at a meeting, in person or by proxy, waives objection to all of the
following: (1) lack of notice or defective notice of the meeting, unless the shareholder at the beginning of the meeting objects to
holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting; and (2) consideration of a particular matter at the meeting that is not
within the purpose or purposes described in the meeting notice, unless the shareholder objects to considering the matter when it is
presented.
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Section 3.6 Fixing of Record Date.

(a) General. The Board of Directors may fix in advance a date as the record date for the purpose of determining
shareholders entitled to notice of a shareholders’ meeting, entitled to vote, or take any other action. In no event may a record date
fixed by the Board of Directors be a date preceding the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted or a date
more than seventy days before the date of meeting or action requiring a determination of shareholders.

(b) Special Meeting. The record date for determining shareholders entitled to demand a special meeting shall be the close
of business on the date the first shareholder delivers his or her demand to the corporation.

(c) Absence of Board Determination for Shareholders’ Meeting. If the Board of Directors does not determine the record date
for determining shareholders entitled to notice of and to vote at an annual or special shareholders’ meeting, such record date shall be
the close of business on the day before the first notice with respect thereto is delivered to shareholders.

(d) Adjourned Meeting. A record date for determining shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a shareholders’
meeting is effective for any adjournment of the meeting unless the Board of Directors fixes a new record date, which it must do if the
meeting is adjourned to a date more than 120 days after the date fixed for the original meeting.

Section 3.7 Shareholders’ List for Meetings.

(a) Preparation and Availability. After a record date for a meeting of shareholders has been fixed, the corporation shall
prepare an alphabetical list of the names of all of the shareholders entitled to notice of the meeting. The list shall be arranged by class
or series of shares, if any, and show the address of and number of shares held by each shareholder. Such list shall be available for
inspection by any shareholder for a period of ten days prior to the meeting or such shorter time as exists between the record date and
the meeting date, and continuing through the meeting, at the corporation’s principal office, at a place identified in the meeting notice in
the city where the meeting will be held, or at the office of the corporation’s transfer agent or registrar, if any. A shareholder or his or
her agent or attorney may, on written demand, inspect the list, subject to the requirements of the Act, during regular business hours
and at his or her expense, during the period that it is available for inspection pursuant to this Section. The corporation shall make the
shareholders’ list available at the meeting and any shareholder or his or her agent or attorney may inspect the list at any time during
the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

(b) Prima Facie Evidence. The shareholders’ list is prima facie evidence of the identity of shareholders entitled to examine
the shareholders’ list or to vote at a meeting of shareholders.

(c) Failure to Comply. If the requirements of this Section have not been substantially complied with, or if the corporation
refuses to allow a shareholder or his or her agent or attorney to inspect the shareholders’ list before or at the meeting, on the demand
of any shareholder, in person or by proxy, who failed to get such access, the meeting shall be adjourned until such requirements are
complied with.

(d) Validity of Action Not Affected. Refusal or failure to prepare or make available the shareholders’ list shall not affect the
validity of any action taken at a meeting of shareholders.

Section 3.8 Conduct of Meetings by Remote Communication. The Board of Directors may adopt guidelines and procedures
for shareholders and proxy holders not physically present at a special meeting of shareholders to participate in the meeting, be
deemed present in person, vote,
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communicate and read or hear the proceedings of the meeting substantially concurrently with such proceedings, all by means of
remote communication. The Board of Directors may adopt procedures and guidelines for the conduct of a special meeting solely by
means of remote communication rather than holding the meeting at a designated place.

Section 3.9 Quorum.

(a) What Constitutes a Quorum. Shares entitled to vote as a separate voting group may take action on a matter at a
meeting only if a quorum of those shares exists with respect to that matter. If the corporation has only one class of stock outstanding,
such class shall constitute a separate voting group for purposes of this Section. Except as otherwise provided in the Act, a majority of
the votes entitled to be cast on the matter shall constitute a quorum of the voting group for action on that matter.

(b) Presence of Shares. Once a share is represented for any purpose at a meeting, other than for the purpose of objecting
to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting, it is considered present for purposes of determining whether a quorum
exists for the remainder of the meeting and for any adjournment of that meeting unless a new record date is or must be set for the
adjourned meeting.

(c) Adjournment in Absence of Quorum. Where a quorum is not present, the holders of a majority of the shares
represented and who would be entitled to vote at the meeting if a quorum were present may adjourn such meeting from time to time.

Section 3.10 Voting of Shares. Except as provided in the Articles of Incorporation or the Act, each outstanding share,
regardless of class, is entitled to one vote on each matter voted on at a meeting of shareholders.

Section 3.11 Vote Required.

(a) Matters Other Than Election of Directors. If a quorum exists, except in the case of the election of directors, action on a
matter shall be approved if the votes cast favoring the action exceed the votes cast opposing the action, unless the Act or the Articles
of Incorporation require a greater number of affirmative votes.

(b) Election of Directors. Each director shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the shares entitled to vote in the
election of directors at a meeting at which a quorum is present. Each shareholder who is entitled to vote at an election of directors has
the right to vote the number of shares owned by him or her for as many persons as there are directors to be elected. Shareholders do
not have a right to cumulate their votes for directors.

Section 3.12 Conduct of Meeting. The Chair of the Board of Directors, and in his or her absence, the Lead Director (if any),
and in his or her absence, the President, and in his or her absence, a Vice President in the order provided under the Section of these
bylaws titled “Vice Presidents,” and in their absence, any person chosen by the shareholders present shall call a shareholders’
meeting to order and shall act as presiding officer of the meeting, and the Secretary of the corporation shall act as secretary of all
meetings of the shareholders, but, in the absence of the Secretary, the presiding officer may appoint any other person to act as
secretary of the meeting. The presiding officer of the meeting shall have broad discretion in determining the order of business at a
shareholders’ meeting. The presiding officer’s authority to conduct the meeting shall include, but in no way be limited to, recognizing
shareholders entitled to speak, calling for the necessary reports, stating questions and putting them to a vote, calling for nominations,
and announcing the results of voting. The presiding officer also shall take such actions as
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are necessary and appropriate to preserve order at the meeting. The rules of parliamentary procedure need not be observed in the
conduct of shareholders’ meetings; however, meetings shall be conducted in accordance with accepted usage and common practice
with fair treatment to all who are entitled to take part.

Section 3.13 Inspectors of Election. Inspectors of election may be appointed by the Board of Directors to act at any meeting
of shareholders at which any vote is taken. If inspectors of election are not so appointed, the presiding officer of the meeting may, and
on the request of any shareholder shall, make such appointment. The inspectors of election shall determine the number of shares
outstanding, the voting rights with respect to each, the shares represented at the meeting, the existence of a quorum, and the
authenticity, validity, and effect of proxies; receive votes, ballots, consents, and waivers; hear and determine all challenges and
questions arising in connection with the vote; count and tabulate all votes, consents, and waivers; determine and announce the result;
and do such acts as are proper to conduct the election or vote with fairness to all shareholders. No inspector, whether appointed by
the Board of Directors or by the person acting as presiding officer of the meeting, need be a shareholder.

Section 3.14 Proxies.

(a) Appointment. At all meetings of shareholders, a shareholder or attorney-in-fact for a shareholder may vote the
shareholder’s shares in person or by proxy. If an appointment form expressly provides, any proxy holder may appoint, in writing, a
substitute to act in his or her place. A shareholder or attorney-in-fact for a shareholder may appoint a proxy to vote or otherwise act
for the shareholder by signing an appointment form or by electronic transmission. Any type of electronic transmission appearing to
have been, or containing or accompanied by such information or obtained under such procedures to reasonably ensure that the
electronic transmission was, transmitted or authorized by such person is a sufficient appointment, subject to the verification
requested by the corporation under Section 3.16 of these bylaws and Section 607.0724, Florida Statutes. The appointment may be
signed by any reasonable means, including, but not limited to, facsimile or electronic signature. Any copy, facsimile transmission or
other reliable reproduction of the writing or electronic transmission of the appointment may be substituted or used in lieu of the
original writing or electronic transmission for any purpose for which the original writing or electronic transmission could be used if the
copy, facsimile transmission or other reproduction is a complete reproduction of the entire original writing or electronic transmission.

(b) When Effective. An appointment of a proxy is effective when received by the Secretary or other officer or agent of the
corporation authorized to tabulate votes. An appointment is valid for up to eleven months unless a longer period is expressly provided
in the appointment form. An appointment of a proxy is revocable by the shareholder unless the appointment form conspicuously
states that it is irrevocable and the appointment is coupled with an interest.

Section 3.15 Shareholder Nominations and Proposals. Any shareholder nomination or proposal for action at a forthcoming
shareholder meeting must be delivered to the corporation in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations, including, without
limitation, by the deadline for submitting shareholder proposals pursuant to Securities Exchange Commission Regulations Sections
240.14a-8 and 240.14a-11. The presiding officer at any shareholder meeting shall not be required to recognize any proposal or
nomination which did not comply with such deadline.

Section 3.16 Acceptance of Instruments Showing Shareholder Action. If the name signed on a vote, waiver, or proxy
appointment corresponds to the name of a shareholder, the corporation, if acting in good faith, may accept the vote, waiver, or proxy
appointment and give it effect as the act of a shareholder. If the name signed on a vote, waiver, or proxy appointment does not
correspond to the name of a shareholder, the corporation, if acting in good faith, may accept the vote, waiver, or proxy appointment
and give it effect as the act of the shareholder if any of the following apply:
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(i) The shareholder is an entity and the name signed purports to be that of an officer or agent of the entity;

(ii) The name signed purports to be that of a administrator, executor, guardian, personal representative, or conservator
representing the shareholder and, if the corporation requests, evidence of fiduciary status acceptable to the corporation is
presented with respect to the vote, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment;

(iii) The name signed purports to be that of a receiver or trustee in bankruptcy, or assignee for the benefit of creditors of the
shareholder and, if the corporation requests, evidence of this status acceptable to the corporation is presented with respect to
the vote, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment;

(iv) The name signed purports to be that of a pledgee, beneficial owner, or attorney-in-fact of the shareholder and, if the
corporation requests, evidence acceptable to the corporation of the signatory’s authority to sign for the shareholder is presented
with respect to the vote, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment; or

(v) Two or more persons are the shareholder as cotenants or fiduciaries and the name signed purports to be the name of at
least one of the co-owners and the person signing appears to be acting on behalf of all co-owners.

The corporation may reject a vote, waiver, or proxy appointment if the Secretary or other officer or agent of the corporation who is
authorized to tabulate votes, acting in good faith, has reasonable basis for doubt about the validity of the signature on it or about the
signatory’s authority to sign for the shareholder.

ARTICLE 4

Board of Directors

Section 4.1 General Powers and Number. All corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the authority of, and the
business and affairs of the corporation managed under the direction of, the Board of Directors, a majority of whom shall be
Independent Directors. The number of directors shall be established from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors, but no
such resolution shall increase or decrease the number of directors by more than one without the approval of shareholders pursuant to
Section 3.11(a). Initially, the Board shall be comprised of seven (7) directors. For purposes of this section, “Independent Director”
shall mean a person other than an officer or employee of the corporation or its subsidiaries or any other individual having a
relationship which, in the opinion of the board of directors, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out
the responsibilities of a director.

Section 4.2 Qualifications. Directors must be natural persons who are eighteen years of age or older but need not be
residents of this state or shareholders of the corporation.

Section 4.3 Term of Office. The term of each director shall expire at the next annual meeting of shareholders following his
or her election or until his or her successor is elected and qualifies.
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Section 4.4 Removal. Subject to the rights of the holders, if any, of preferred stock of the corporation to elect additional
directors under the specified circumstances, any director may be removed at any time, but only for cause, upon the affirmative vote of
the holders of a 66 2/3% of the combined voting power of the then outstanding shares of stock of the corporation entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.

A director may be removed by the shareholders or directors only at a meeting called for the purpose of removing
him or her, and the meeting notice must state that the purpose or one of the purposes of the meeting is the removal of directors.

No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any director prior to the
expiration of such director’s term of office

Section 4.5 Resignation.

(a) Except as contemplated in Section 4.5(b), a director may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the Board of
Directors or its Chair or to the corporation. Such resignation shall be effective when the notice is delivered unless the notice specifies
a later effective date.

(b) As a condition to being nominated to the Board of Directors or re-nominated for continued service on the Board of
Directors, as the case may be, each incumbent director or director nominee must, in addition to providing any other deliverables
required by these bylaws, sign and deliver to the Board of Directors an irrevocable letter of resignation, in a form satisfactory to the
Board of Directors, with such letter being deemed tendered as of the date of the Board of Director’s determination referred to below.
The letter of resignation will be limited and conditioned upon (i) a finding by the majority of the disinterested members of the Board of
Directors, in accordance with the procedure set out below, that, in connection with the performance of his or her duties as a director
of the corporation, the director either Substantially Participated in a Significant Violation, or recklessly disregarded his or her duty to
exercise reasonable oversight and (ii) the acceptance of the resignation by the disinterested members of the Board of Directors.
Whether a director’s conduct is subject to this provision will be reviewed by the disinterested members of the Board of Directors, who
will determine (i) whether the director’s action or failure to act falls within conduct described above; and (ii) whether to accept or reject
the resignation, or whether other action should be taken. The resignation, if accepted, will be effective at the time the disinterested
members of the Board of Directors accept it.

Section 4.6 Vacancies.

(a) Who May Fill Vacancies. Except as provided below, whenever any vacancy occurs on the Board of Directors, including
a vacancy resulting from an increase in the number of directors, it may be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining
directors though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors, or by the shareholders at a special meeting called in accordance with
Section 3.2 of these bylaws. Any director elected in accordance with the preceding sentence shall hold office until the next annual
meeting of the corporation. If the directors first fill a vacancy, the shareholders shall have no further right with respect to that vacancy,
and if the shareholders first fill the vacancy, the directors shall have no further rights with respect to that vacancy.

(b) Directors Elected by Voting Groups. Whenever the holders of shares of any voting group are entitled to elect a class of
one or more directors by the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, vacancies in such class may be filled by holders of shares of
that voting group or by a majority of the directors then in office elected by such voting group or by a sole remaining director so
elected. If no director elected by such voting group remains in office, unless the Articles of Incorporation provide otherwise, directors
not elected by such voting group may fill vacancies.
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(c) Prospective Vacancies. A vacancy that will occur at a specific later date, because of a resignation effective at a later
date or otherwise, may be filled before the vacancy occurs, but the new director may not take office until the vacancy occurs.

Section 4.7 Compensation. The Board of Directors, irrespective of any personal interest of any of its members, may
establish reasonable compensation of all directors for services to the corporation as directors, officers, or otherwise, or may delegate
such authority to an appropriate committee. The Board of Directors also shall have authority to provide for or delegate authority to an
appropriate committee to provide for reasonable pensions, disability or death benefits, and other benefits or payments, to directors,
officers, and employees and to their families, dependents, estates, or beneficiaries on account of prior services rendered to the
corporation by such directors, officers, and employees.

Section 4.8 Regular Meetings. A regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without other notice than this bylaw
immediately after the annual meeting of shareholders and each adjourned session thereof. The place of such regular meeting shall
be the same as the place of the meeting of shareholders which precedes it, or such other suitable place as may be announced at
such meeting of shareholders. The Board of Directors may provide, by resolution, the date, time, and place, either within or without
the State of Florida, for the holding of additional regular meetings of the Board of Directors without notice other than such resolution.

Section 4.9 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chair of the Board, the Lead
Director (if any), the President or one-third of the members of the Board of Directors. The person or persons calling the meeting may
fix any place, either within or without the State of Florida, as the place for holding any special meeting of the Board of Directors, and if
no other place is fixed, the place of the meeting shall be the principal office of the corporation in the State of Florida.

Section 4.10 Notice. Special meetings of the Board of Directors must be preceded by at least two days’ notice of the date,
time, and place of the meeting. The notice need not describe the purpose of the special meeting.

Section 4.11 Waiver of Notice. Notice of a meeting of the Board of Directors need not be given to any director who signs a
waiver of notice either before or after the meeting. Attendance of a director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such
meeting and waiver of any and all objections to the place of the meeting, the time of the meeting, or the manner in which it has been
called or convened, except when a director states, at the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon arrival at the meeting, any
objection to the transaction of business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

Section 4.12 Quorum and Voting. A quorum of the Board of Directors consists of a majority of the number of directors
prescribed by these bylaws. If a quorum is present when a vote is taken, the affirmative vote of a majority of directors present is the
act of the Board of Directors. A director who is present at a meeting of the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors
when corporate action is taken is deemed to have assented to the action taken unless: (a) he or she objects at the beginning of the
meeting (or promptly upon his or her arrival) to holding it or transacting specified business at the meeting; or (b) he or she votes
against or abstains from the action taken.
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Section 4.13 Conduct of Meetings.

(a) Presiding Officer. The Board of Directors shall elect from among its members a Chair of the Board of Directors, who
shall preside at meetings of the Board of Directors. If the Chair is an employee of the corporation, the Board of Directors shall elect
from among its members a Lead Director, who shall preside at executive sessions of the Board at which employees of the corporation
or any of its subsidiaries shall not be present. The Chair, and in his or her absence, the Lead Director, and in his or her absence, the
President, and in his or her absence, any director chosen by the directors present, shall call meetings of the Board of Directors to
order and shall act as presiding officer of the meeting.

(b) Minutes. The Secretary of the corporation shall act as secretary of all meetings of the Board of Directors but in the
absence of the Secretary, the presiding officer may appoint any other person present to act as secretary of the meeting. Minutes of
any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be prepared and distributed to each director.

(c) Adjournments. A majority of the directors present, whether or not a quorum exists, may adjourn any meeting of the
Board of Directors to another time and place. Notice of any such adjourned meeting shall be given to the directors who are not
present at the time of the adjournment and, unless the time and place of the adjourned meeting are announced at the time of the
adjournment, to the other directors.

(d) Participation by Conference Call or Similar Means. The Board of Directors may permit any or all directors to participate
in a regular or a special meeting by, or conduct the meeting through the use of, any means of communication by which all directors
participating may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting. A director participating in a meeting by this means is deemed to
be present in person at the meeting.

Section 4.14 Committees. The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by a majority of the full Board of Directors, shall
designate from among its members an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, a Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee and one or more other committees each of which, to the extent provided in such resolution and in any charter adopted by
the Board of Directors for any committee, shall have and may exercise all the authority of the Board of Directors, except that no such
committee shall have the authority to:

(i) approve or recommend to shareholders actions or proposals required by the Act to be approved by shareholders;

(ii) fill vacancies on the Board of Directors or any committee thereof;

(iii) adopt, amend, or repeal these bylaws;

(iv) authorize or approve the reacquisition of shares unless pursuant to a general formula or method specified by the Board
of Directors; or

(v) authorize or approve the issuance or sale or contract for the sale of shares, or determine the designation and relative
rights, preferences, and limitations of a voting group except that the Board of Directors may authorize a committee (or a senior
executive officer of the corporation) to do so within limits specifically prescribed by the Board of Directors.

Each committee must have two or more members, who shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors,
by resolution adopted in accordance with this Section, may designate
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one or more directors as alternate members of any such committee, who may act in the place and stead of any absent member or
members at any meeting of such committee. The Board of Directors may adopt a charter for any such committee specifying
requirements with respect to committee chairs and membership, responsibilities of the committee, the conduct of meetings and
business of the committee and such other matters as the Board may designate. In the absence of a committee charter or a provision
of a committee charter governing such matters, the provisions of these bylaws which govern meetings, notice and waiver of notice,
and quorum and voting requirements of the Board of Directors apply to committees and their members as well.

Section 4.15 Lead Director. If the Board of Directors appoints a Lead Director to preside at executive sessions of the Board
of Directors, the Board of Directors may assign to the Lead Director by resolutions such additional duties as the Board of Directors
determines, in its discretion, including acting as a liaison between the Board of Directors and the officers of the corporation and
assisting in the setting of agendas for meetings of the Board of Directors.

Section 4.16 Action Without Meeting. Any action required or permitted by the Act to be taken at a meeting of the Board of
Directors or a committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if the action is taken by all members of the Board or of the
committee. The action shall be evidenced by one or more written consents describing the action taken, signed by each director or
committee member and retained by the corporation. Such action shall be effective when the last director or committee member signs
the consent, unless the consent specifies a different effective date. A consent signed under this Section has the effect of a vote at a
meeting and may be described as such in any document.

ARTICLE 5

Officers

Section 5.1 Number. The principal officers of the corporation shall be a Chief Executive Officer, a President, the number of
Executive Vice Presidents, Senior Vice Presidents and Vice Presidents as authorized from time to time by the Board of Directors, a
Secretary, and a Treasurer, each of whom shall be elected by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall designate from
among the officers it elects those who shall be the executive officers of the corporation responsible for all policy making functions,
under the direction of the Board of Directors. Such other officers and assistant officers as may be deemed necessary may be elected
or appointed by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may also authorize any duly appointed officer to appoint one or more
officers or assistant officers. The same individual may simultaneously hold more than one office.

Section 5.2 Election and Term of Office. The officers of the corporation to be elected by the Board of Directors shall be
elected annually by the Board of Directors at the first meeting of the Board of Directors held after each annual meeting of the
shareholders. If the election of officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as is
practicable. Each officer shall hold office until his or her successor shall have been duly elected or until his or her prior death,
resignation, or removal.

Section 5.3 Removal. The Board of Directors may remove any officer and, unless restricted by the Board of Directors, an
officer may remove any officer or assistant officer appointed by that officer, at any time, with or without cause and notwithstanding the
contract rights, if any, of the officer removed. The appointment of an officer does not of itself create contract rights.

Section 5.4 Resignation. An officer may resign at any time by delivering notice to the corporation. The resignation shall be
effective when the notice is delivered, unless the notice specifies
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a later effective date and the corporation accepts the later effective date. If a resignation is made effective at a later date and the
corporation accepts the future effective date, the pending vacancy may be filled before the effective date but the successor may not
take office until the effective date.

Section 5.5 Vacancies. A vacancy in any principal office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification, or
otherwise, shall be filled as soon thereafter as practicable by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term.

Section 5.6 Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer shall be the principal executive officer of the corporation
and, subject to the direction of the Board of Directors, shall in general supervise all of the business operations and affairs of the
corporation, the daily operations of which shall be under the control of the President. The Chief Executive Officer shall have authority,
subject to such rules as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors, to direct the President in the performance of the President’s
duties. The Chief Executive Officer shall have authority, subject to such rules as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors, to
appoint such agents and employees of the corporation as he or she shall deem necessary, to prescribe their powers, duties and
compensation, and to delegate authority to them. Such agents and employees shall hold office at the discretion of the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chief Executive Officer shall have authority to sign certificates for shares of the corporation the issuance of which shall
have been authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors, and to execute and acknowledge, on behalf of the corporation, all
deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, leases, reports, and all other documents or instruments necessary or proper to be executed in
the course of the corporation’s regular business, or which shall be authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors; and except as
otherwise provided by law or the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer may authorize the President, any Vice President or
other officer or agent of the corporation to execute and acknowledge such documents or instruments in his or her place and stead. In
general, he or she shall perform all duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Section 5.7 President. The President shall be the principal operating officer of the corporation and, subject to the direction
of the Board of Directors and the Chair, shall in general supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the corporation. If the
Chair of the Board is not present, the President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and shareholders. The
President shall have authority, subject to such rules as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors, to appoint such agents and
employees of the corporation as he or she shall deem necessary, to prescribe their powers, duties and compensation, and to delegate
authority to them. Such agents and employees shall hold office at the discretion of the President. The President shall have authority,
subject to such rules as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors and/or the Chair, to sign certificates for shares of the corporation
the issuance of which shall have been authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors, and to execute and acknowledge, on behalf
of the corporation, all deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, leases, reports, and all other documents or instruments necessary or
proper to be executed in the course of the corporation’s regular business, or which shall be authorized by resolution of the Board of
Directors; and, except as otherwise provided by law or the Board of Directors or the Chair, the President may authorize any Vice
President or other officer or agent of the corporation to execute and acknowledge such documents or instruments in his or her place
and stead. In general he or she shall perform all duties incident to the office of President and such other duties as may be prescribed
by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Section 5.8 Vice Presidents. The Board of Directors may appoint one or more Executive Vice Presidents, Senior Vice
Presidents and other Vice Presidents, prescribe their powers and duties, and specify to which other officer a Vice President should
report. The Board of Directors may authorize the President to appoint one or more Vice Presidents, to prescribe their powers, duties
and compensation, and to delegate authority to them.
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Section 5.9 Secretary. The Secretary shall: (a) keep, or cause to be kept, minutes of the meetings of the shareholders and
of the Board of Directors (and of committees thereof) in one or more books provided for that purpose (including records of actions
taken by the shareholders or the Board of Directors (or committees thereof) without a meeting); (b) be custodian of the corporate
records and of the seal of the corporation, if any, and if the corporation has a seal, see that it is affixed to all documents the execution
of which on behalf of the corporation under its seal is duly authorized; (c) authenticate the records of the corporation; (d) maintain a
record of the shareholders of the corporation, in a form that permits preparation of a list of the names and addresses of all
shareholders, by class or series of shares and showing the number and class or series of shares held by each shareholder; (e) have
general charge of the stock transfer books of the corporation; and (f) in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary
and have such other duties and exercise such authority as from time to time may be delegated or assigned by the President or by the
Board of Directors.

Section 5.10 Treasurer. The Treasurer shall: (a) have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities
of the corporation; (b) maintain appropriate accounting records; (c) receive and give receipts for moneys due and payable to the
corporation from any source whatsoever, and deposit all such moneys in the name of the corporation in such banks, trust companies,
or other depositaries as shall be selected in accordance with the provisions of these bylaws; and (d) in general perform all of the
duties incident to the office of Treasurer and have such other duties and exercise such other authority as from time to time may be
delegated or assigned by the President or by the Board of Directors. If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give a
bond for the faithful discharge of his or her duties in such sum and with such surety or sureties as the Board of Directors shall
determine.

Section 5.11 Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers. There shall be such number of Assistant Secretaries and
Assistant Treasurers as the Board of Directors may from time to time authorize. The Assistant Treasurers shall respectively, if
required by the Board of Directors, give bonds for the faithful discharge of their duties in such sums and with such sureties as the
Board of Directors shall determine. The Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers, in general, shall perform such duties and
have such authority as shall from time to time be delegated or assigned to them by the Secretary or the Treasurer, respectively, or by
the President or the Board of Directors.

Section 5.12 Other Assistants and Acting Officers. The Board of Directors shall have the power to appoint, or to authorize
any duly appointed officer of the corporation to appoint, any person to act as assistant to any officer, or as agent for the corporation in
his or her stead, or to perform the duties of such officer whenever for any reason it is impracticable for such officer to act personally,
and such assistant or acting officer or other agent so appointed by the Board of Directors or an authorized officer shall have the
power to perform all the duties of the office to which he or she is so appointed to be an assistant, or as to which he or she is so
appointed to act, except as such power may be otherwise defined or restricted by the Board of Directors or the appointing officer.

Section 5.13 Salaries. The salaries of the principal officers shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors or by a
duly authorized committee thereof, and no officer shall be prevented from receiving such salary by reason of the fact that he or she is
also a director of the corporation.

ARTICLE 6

Contracts, Checks and Deposits; Special Corporate Acts

Section 6.1 Contracts. The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, or any agent or agents to enter into any
contract or execute or deliver any instrument in the name of and
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on behalf of the corporation, and such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances. In the absence of other
designation, all deeds, mortgages, and instruments of assignment or pledge made by the corporation shall be executed in the name
of the corporation by the Chair, the President or one of the Vice Presidents; the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary, when necessary
or required, shall attest and affix the corporate seal, if any, thereto; and when so executed no other party to such instrument or any
third party shall be required to make any inquiry into the authority of the signing officer or officers.

Section 6.2 Checks, Drafts, etc. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidences of
indebtedness issued in the name of the corporation, shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents of the corporation and
in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Section 6.3 Deposits. All funds of the corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit
of the corporation in such banks, trust companies, or other depositaries as may be selected by or under the authority of a resolution
of the Board of Directors.

Section 6.4 Voting of Securities Owned by Corporation. Subject always to the specific directions of the Board of Directors,
(a) any shares or other securities issued by any other corporation and owned or controlled by this corporation may be voted at any
meeting of security holders of such other corporation by the Chair of the Board of this corporation if he or she be present, or in his or
her absence by the President of this corporation if he or she be present, or in his or her absence by any Vice President of this
corporation who may be present, and (b) whenever, in the judgment of the Chair of the Board, or in his or her absence, of the
President, it is desirable for this corporation to execute a proxy or written consent in respect of any such shares or other securities,
such proxy or consent shall be executed in the name of this corporation by the Chair of the Board, the President or one of the Vice
Presidents of this corporation, without necessity of any authorization by the Board of Directors, affixation of corporate seal, if any, or
countersignature or attestation by another officer. Any person or persons designated in the manner above stated as the proxy or
proxies of this corporation shall have full right, power, and authority to vote the shares or other securities issued by such other
corporation and owned or controlled by this corporation the same as such shares or other securities might be voted by this
corporation.

ARTICLE 7

Certificates for Shares; Transfer of Shares

Section 7.1 Consideration for Shares. The Board of Directors may authorize shares to be issued for consideration
consisting of any tangible or intangible property or benefit to the corporation, including cash, promissory notes, services performed,
promises to perform services evidenced by a written contract, or other securities of the corporation. Before the corporation issues
shares, the Board of Directors shall determine that the consideration received or to be received for the shares to be issued is
adequate. The determination of the Board of Directors is conclusive insofar as the adequacy of consideration for the issuance of
shares relates to whether the shares are validly issued, fully paid, and nonassessable. The corporation may place in escrow shares
issued for future services or benefits or a promissory note, or make other arrangements to restrict the transfer of the shares, and may
credit distributions in respect of the shares against their purchase price, until the services are performed, the note is paid, or the
benefits are received. If the services are not performed, the note is not paid, or the benefits are not received, the corporation may
cancel, in whole or in part, the shares escrowed or restricted and the distributions credited.
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Section 7.2 Certificates for Shares. Every holder of shares in the corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate
representing all shares to which he or she is entitled unless the Board of Directors authorizes the issuance of some or all shares
without certificates. Any such authorization shall not affect shares already represented by certificates until the certificates are
surrendered to the corporation. If the Board of Directors authorizes the issuance of any shares without certificates, within a
reasonable time after the issue or transfer of any such shares, the corporation shall send the shareholder a written statement of the
information required by the Act or the Articles of Incorporation to be set forth on certificates, including any restrictions on transfer.
Certificates representing shares of the corporation shall be in such form, consistent with the Act, as shall be determined by the Board
of Directors. Such certificates shall be signed (either manually or in facsimile) by the Chair, the President, any Vice President, the
Secretary or any other persons designated by the Board of Directors and may be sealed with the seal of the corporation or a facsimile
thereof. All certificates for shares shall be consecutively numbered or otherwise identified. The name and address of the person to
whom the shares represented thereby are issued, with the number of shares and date of issue, shall be entered on the stock transfer
books of the corporation. Unless the Board of Directors authorizes shares without certificates, all certificates surrendered to the
corporation for transfer shall be canceled and no new certificate shall be issued until the former certificate for a like number of shares
shall have been surrendered and canceled, except as provided in these bylaws with respect to lost, destroyed, or stolen certificates.
The validity of a share certificate is not affected if a person who signed the certificate (either manually or in facsimile) no longer holds
office when the certificate is issued.

Section 7.3 Transfer of Shares. Prior to due presentment of a certificate for shares for registration of transfer, the
corporation may treat the registered owner of such shares as the person exclusively entitled to vote, to receive notifications, and
otherwise to have and exercise all the rights and power of an owner. Where a certificate for shares is presented to the corporation
with a request to register a transfer, the corporation shall not be liable to the owner or any other person suffering loss as a result of
such registration of transfer if (a) there were on or with the certificate the necessary endorsements, and (b) the corporation had no
duty to inquire into adverse claims or has discharged any such duty. The corporation may require reasonable assurance that such
endorsements are genuine and effective and compliance with such other regulations as may be prescribed by or under the authority
of the Board of Directors.

Section 7.4 Restrictions on Transfer. The face or reverse side of each certificate representing shares shall bear a
conspicuous notation as required by the Act or the Articles of Incorporation of the restrictions imposed by the corporation, if any, upon
the transfer of such shares.

Section 7.5 Lost, Destroyed, or Stolen Certificates. Unless the Board of Directors authorizes shares without certificates,
where the owner claims that certificates for shares have been lost, destroyed, or wrongfully taken, a new certificate shall be issued in
place thereof if the owner (a) so requests before the corporation has notice that such shares have been acquired by a bona fide
purchaser, (b) files with the corporation a sufficient indemnity bond if required by the Board of Directors or any principal officer, and
(c) satisfies such other reasonable requirements as may be prescribed by or under the authority of the Board of Directors.

Section 7.6 Stock Regulations. The Board of Directors shall have the power and authority to make all such further rules and
regulations not inconsistent with law as they may deem expedient concerning the issue, transfer, and registration of shares of the
corporation.
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ARTICLE 8

Seal

Section 8.1 Seal. The Board of Directors may provide for a corporate seal for the corporation.

ARTICLE 9

Books and Records

Section 9.1 Books and Records.

(i) The corporation shall keep as permanent records minutes of all meetings of the shareholders and Board of Directors, a
record of all actions taken by the shareholders or Board of Directors without a meeting, and a record of all actions taken by a
committee of the Board of Directors in place of the Board of Directors on behalf of the corporation.

(ii) The corporation shall maintain accurate accounting records.

(iii) The corporation or its agent shall maintain a record of the shareholders in a form that permits preparation of a list of the
names and addresses of all shareholders in alphabetical order by class of shares showing the number and series of shares held
by each.

(iv) The corporation shall keep a copy of all records required under applicable laws and regulations, including, without
limitation, all written communications within the preceding three years to all shareholders generally or to all shareholders of a
class or series, including the financial statements required to be furnished by the Act, and a copy of its most recent annual report
delivered to the Department of State.

Section 9.2 Inspection Rights. Shareholders and directors are entitled to inspect and copy records of the corporation as
permitted by the Act.

Section 9.3 Distribution of Financial Information. The corporation shall prepare and disseminate financial statements to
shareholders as required by the Act.

Section 9.4 Other Reports. The corporation shall disseminate such other reports to shareholders as are required by the
Act, including reports regarding indemnification in certain circumstances and reports regarding the issuance or authorization for
issuance of shares in exchange for promises to render services in the future.

ARTICLE 10

Indemnification

Section 10.1 Action by Third Party. The corporation shall indemnify any person who was or is a party to any proceeding
(other than an action by, or in the right of, the corporation), by reason of the fact that the person is or was a director, officer, employee
or agent of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against liability incurred in connection with such
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proceeding, including any appeal thereof, if the person acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in,
or not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable
cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. The termination of any proceeding by judgment, order, settlement or conviction or
upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and
in a manner that the person reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation or, with respect to
any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that the conduct of the person was unlawful.

Section 10.2 Action by Corporation. The corporation shall indemnify any person who was or is a party to any proceeding by
or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director, officer,
employee or agent of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of
another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses and amounts paid in settlement not
exceeding, in the judgment of the Board of Directors, the estimated expense of litigating the proceeding to conclusion, actually and
reasonably incurred in connection with the defense or settlement of such proceeding, including any appeal thereof. Such
indemnification shall be authorized if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in, or
not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation, except that no indemnification shall be made under this subsection in respect of
any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable unless, and only to the extent that, the court
in which such proceeding was brought, or any other court of competent jurisdiction, shall determine upon application that, despite the
adjudication of liability but in view of all circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such
expenses that such court shall deem proper.

Section 10.3 Successful Defense of an Action. To the extent that a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation
has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any proceeding referred to in Section 10.1 or Section 10.2, or in
defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by
the person in connection therewith.

Section 10.4 Procedure. Any indemnification under Section 10.1 or Section 10.2, unless pursuant to a determination by a
court, shall be made by the corporation only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that indemnification of the
director, officer, employee or agent is proper in the circumstances because the person has met the applicable standard of conduct set
forth in Section 10.1 or Section 10.2. Such determination shall be made:

(a) By the Board of Directors by majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who were not parties to such proceeding;

(b) If such quorum is not obtainable or, even if obtainable, by majority vote of a committee duly designated by the Board of
Directors (in which directors who are parties may participate) consisting solely of two or more directors not at the time parties to the
proceeding;

(c) By independent legal counsel:

(1) Selected by the Board of Directors prescribed in Section 10.4(a) or the committee prescribed in Section 10.4(b);
or
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(2) If a quorum of the directors cannot be obtained for Section 10.4(a) and the committee cannot be designated
under Section 10.4(b), selected by majority vote of the full Board of Directors (in which directors who are parties may participate); or

(d) By the shareholders by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of shareholders who were not parties to such proceeding
or, if no such quorum is obtainable, by a majority vote of shareholders who were not parties to such proceeding.

Section 10.5 Reasonableness of Expenses. Evaluation of the reasonableness of expenses and authorization of
indemnification shall be made in the same manner as the determination that indemnification is permissible. However, if the
determination of permissibility is made by independent legal counsel, persons specified by Section 10.4(c) shall evaluate the
reasonableness of expenses and may authorize indemnification.

Section 10.6 Expenses Paid in Advance. Expenses reasonably incurred by an officer or director in defending a civil or
criminal proceeding shall be paid by the corporation in advance of the final disposition of such proceeding upon receipt of an
undertaking by or on behalf of such director or officer to repay such amount if such director or officer ultimately is found not to be
entitled to indemnification by the corporation pursuant to this section. Expenses incurred by other employees and agents may be paid
in advance in accordance with the advancement terms.

Notwithstanding Section 10.7, for any proceeding related to a covered matter, the advancement of expenses as
contemplated by this Section 10.6 shall be terminated or reduced or shall be subject to additional conditions under modified
advancement terms if (i) such officer, director or employee does not prevail at trial, enters into a plea arrangement, agrees to the
entry of a final administrative or judicial order imposing sanctions, or otherwise admits to the violation or (ii) the corporation initiates an
investigation and determines that the officer’s, director’s or employee’s action in respect of such covered matter is not indemnifiable,
except to the extent that Section 607.0850(3), Florida Statutes requires the corporation to provide indemnification for expenses. Any
subsequent agreement with a director, officer or employee that addresses indemnification and advancement of expenses shall be
consistent with this paragraph of Section 10.6. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing provided for in this paragraph shall act to
abrogate or modify in any manner any obligation that the corporation otherwise has to indemnify or provide advancement of
expenses (i) existing prior to January 17, 2014 or (ii) that is contemplated in any contract entered into prior to January 17, 2014.

Section 10.7 Willful Misconduct, Etc. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided pursuant to this
ARTICLE 10 are not exclusive, and the corporation may make any other or further indemnification or advancement of expenses of
any of its directors, officers, employees or agents, under any provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, or any bylaw, agreement, vote
of shareholders or disinterested directors, or otherwise, both as to action in the person’s official capacity and as to action in another
capacity while holding such office. However, indemnification or advancement of expenses shall not be made to or on behalf of any
director, officer, employee or agent if a judgment or other final adjudication establishes that the cause of action so adjudicated
constitutes:

(a) A violation of the criminal law, unless the director, officer, employee or agent had reasonable cause to believe the
conduct was lawful or had no reasonable cause to believe the conduct was unlawful;

(b) A transaction from which the director, officer, employee or agent derived an improper personal benefit;
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(c) In the case of a director, a circumstance under which the liability provisions of Section 607.0834, Florida Statutes, are
applicable; or

(d) Willful misconduct or conscious disregard for the best interests of the corporation in a proceeding by or in the right of
the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor or in a proceeding by or in the right of a shareholder.

Section 10.8 Persons No Longer in the Corporation’s Services. Indemnification and advancement of expenses as provided
in this section shall continue, unless otherwise provided when authorized or ratified, to a person who has ceased to be a director,
officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such person, unless otherwise
provided when authorized or ratified.

Section 10.9 Court Ordered Indemnification. Unless the corporation’s Articles of Incorporation provide otherwise,
notwithstanding the failure of the corporation to provide indemnification, and despite any contrary determination of the Board of
Directors or of the shareholders in the specific case, a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation who is or was a party to
the proceeding may apply for indemnification or advancement of expenses, or both to the court conducting the proceeding, to the
circuit court, or to another court of competent jurisdiction.

Section 10.10 Constituent Corporations. For purposes of this ARTICLE 10, the term “corporation” includes, in addition to
the resulting corporation, any constituent corporation (including any constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or
merger, so that any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of a constituent corporation, or is or was serving at the
request of a constituent corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or
other enterprise, is in the same position under this section with respect to the resulting or surviving corporation as such person would
have with respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued.

Section 10.11 Definitions.

For purposes of this ARTICLE 10:

(a) The term “advancement terms” includes such terms or conditions as the Board of Directors deems appropriate;

(b) The term “covered matter” includes any indictment or civil complaint filed by a state or federal governmental
enforcement agency against, an officer, director or any employee, arising out of events occurring on or after January 17, 2014;

(c) The term “other enterprises” includes employee benefit plans;

(d) The term “expenses” includes counsel fees, including those for appeal;

(e) The term “liability” includes obligations to pay a judgment, settlement, penalty, fine (including an excise tax assessed
with respect to any employee benefit plan), and expenses actually and reasonably incurred with respect to a proceeding;

(f) The term “proceeding” includes any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or other type of proceeding, whether
civil, criminal, administrative or investigative and whether formal or informal;
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(g) The term “agent” includes a volunteer;

(h) The term “serving at the request of the corporation” includes any service as a director, officer, employee or agent of the
corporation that imposes duties on such persons, including duties relating to an employee benefit plan and its participants or
beneficiaries; and

(i) The term “not opposed to the best interest of the corporation” describes the actions of a person who acts in good faith
and in a manner the person reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee
benefit plan.

Section 10.12 Insurance. The corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person
who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a
director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability
asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such capacity or arising out of such person’s status as such,
whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify him or her against such liability under the provisions of this
ARTICLE 10.

Section 10.13 Effect of Amendment. No amendment to or repeal of this ARTICLE 10 shall diminish the rights of
indemnification provided for herein to any person who serves or served as a director, officer, employee or agent at any time prior to
such amendment or repeal.

ARTICLE 11

Amendments

Section 11.1 Power to Amend. These bylaws may be amended or repealed by either the Board of Directors or the
shareholders, unless the Act reserves the power to amend these bylaws generally or any particular bylaw provision, as the case may
be, exclusively to the shareholders or unless the shareholders, in amending or repealing these bylaws generally or any particular
bylaw provision, provide expressly that the Board of Directors may not amend or repeal these bylaws or such bylaw provision, as the
case may be.
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Exhibit 10.16

IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC.

8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes

Due February 15, 2019

PURCHASE/PLACEMENT AGREEMENT

February 12, 2014
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PURCHASE/PLACEMENT AGREEMENT

February 12, 2014

FBR CAPITAL MARKETS & CO.
1001 19th Street North
Arlington, Virginia 22209

Dear Sirs:

Imperial Holdings, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”), proposes to issue and sell to you, FBR Capital Markets & Co. (“FBR”),
as initial purchaser, an aggregate of $70,000,000.00 principal amount of 8.50% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019, less
the aggregate principal amount of Regulation D Securities sold by the Company in the Private Placement (each as defined herein)
(the “Firm Securities”), which are convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Common
Stock”).

FBR will also act as the Company’s sole placement agent in connection with the Company’s offer and sale to certain “accredited
investors” (as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D (“Regulation D”) (each an “Accredited Investor”) under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), of that aggregate principal amount of 8.50% senior unsecured convertible
notes due 2019 equal to the difference between the $70,000,000 and the aggregate principal amount of Firm Securities (the
“Regulation D Securities,” and together with the Firm Securities, the “Initial Securities”). The offer and sale of the Regulation D
Securities is referred to herein as the “Private Placement.”

In addition, the Company proposes to grant to you the option described in Section 1(c) hereof to purchase up to an aggregate of
$14,000,000.00 principal amount of additional 8.50% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019 (the “Option Securities” and,
together with the Initial Securities, the “Securities”) to cover additional allotments, if any.

The offer and sale of the Securities to you and to the Accredited Investors, respectively, will be made without registration of the
Securities under the Securities Act, and the rules and regulations thereunder (the “Securities Act Regulations”), in reliance upon the
exemptions from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by Section 4(a)(2) thereof. You have advised the
Company that you will make offers and sales (“Exempt Resales”) of the Firm Securities and the Optional Securities (such securities
referred to collectively herein as “Resale Securities”) purchased by you hereunder in accordance with Section 3 hereof on the terms
set forth in the Final Memorandum (as defined herein), as soon as you deem advisable after this agreement (the “Agreement”) has
been executed and delivered.

In connection with the offer and sale of the Securities, the Company has prepared a preliminary offering memorandum, subject to
completion, dated January 31, 2014, and a supplement thereto dated February 11, 2014 (the “Preliminary Memorandum”), and a final
offering memorandum, dated the date hereof and as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time (the “Final
Memorandum”). Each of the Preliminary Memorandum and the Final Memorandum sets forth certain information concerning the
Company and the Securities. The Company hereby confirms that it has authorized the use of the Preliminary Memorandum and the
Final Memorandum in connection with (i) the offering and resale of the Resale Securities by FBR and by all dealers to whom Resale
Securities may be sold and (ii) the Private Placement. Any references to the Preliminary Memorandum or the Final Memorandum
shall be deemed to include all exhibits and annexes thereto and any and all documents incorporated by reference therein.
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The Company and FBR agree as follows:
 
1. Sale and Purchase.

(a) Upon the basis of the warranties and representations and other terms and conditions herein set forth

(i) the Company agrees to issue and sell to FBR and FBR agrees to purchase from the Company the Firm Securities at a
purchase price of 96.0% of the aggregate principal amount of the Securities (the “Purchase Price”).

(ii) The Company agrees to issue and sell the Regulation D Securities for which the Accredited Investors have subscribed
pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in subscription agreements substantially in the form attached hereto as
Exhibit F (the “Subscription Agreement”). The Regulation D Securities will be sold by the Company pursuant to this
Agreement at a price of 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the Securities (the “Regulation D Purchase Price”). As
compensation for the services to be provided by FBR in connection with the Private Placement, the Company shall pay to
FBR at the Closing Time an amount equal to 4.0% of the aggregate principal amount of the Regulation D Securities sold in
the Private Placement (the “Placement Fee”).

(b) The difference between the aggregate principal amount of the Firm Securities and the Purchase Price shall be the
compensation for the services to be provided by FBR in connection with the performance of its obligations under this Agreement
with respect to the Resale Securities, which amount will be referred to herein as the “Initial Purchaser’s Discount.”

(c) Upon the basis of the representations and warranties and subject to the other terms and conditions herein set forth, the
Company hereby grants an option to FBR to purchase from the Company, as initial purchaser, up to an aggregate principal
amount of $14,000,000.00 of Option Securities at the Purchase Price. The option granted hereby will expire thirty (30) days after
the date hereof and may be exercised in whole or in part from time to time in one or more installments, including at the Closing
Time, only for the purpose of covering additional allotments of Resale Securities in excess of the aggregate principal amount of
the Firm Securities upon written notice by FBR to the Company setting forth (i) the aggregate principal amount of Option
Securities as to which FBR is then exercising the option, (ii) the name and denominations to which the Option Shares are to be
delivered in book entry form through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), and (iii) the time and date of
payment for and delivery of such Option Securities. Any such time and date of delivery shall be determined by FBR, but shall
not be later than five (5) full business days nor earlier than one (1) full business day after the exercise of said option, nor in any
event prior to the Closing Time, unless otherwise agreed in writing by FBR and the Company.

 
2. Payment and Delivery.

(a) The closing of FBR’s purchase of the Firm Securities shall be held at the office of Hunton & Williams LLP, 200 Park Avenue,
New York, New York 10166 (unless another place shall be agreed upon by FBR and the Company). At the closing, subject to
the satisfaction or waiver of the closing conditions set forth herein, FBR shall pay to the Company the Purchase Price by wire
transfer of immediately available funds to an account previously designated by the Company in writing against delivery by or on
behalf of the Company of one or more definitive global securities in book-entry form, which will be deposited by or on behalf of
the Company with DTC or its designated custodian for the account of FBR. The Company will deliver the Securities to FBR by
causing DTC to credit
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the Firm Securities to the account of FBR at DTC. The Company will cause the certificates representing the Securities to be
made available to FBR (and its legal counsel) for inspection at least one business day prior to the Closing Time (defined below)
and any Secondary Closing Time (defined below). Such payment and delivery shall be made at 10:00 a.m., New York City time,
on the third (fourth, if pricing occurs after 4:30 p.m. New York City time) business day after the date hereof (unless another time,
not later than ten (10) business days after such date, shall be agreed to by FBR and the Company). The time at which such
payment and delivery are actually made is hereinafter called the “Closing Time.”

(b) At the Closing Time, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the closing conditions set forth herein

(i) FBR shall pay to the Company the aggregate Regulation D Purchase Price against the Company’s delivery of the
Regulation D Securities to the purchasers thereof, in book-entry form through the facilities of DTC; and

(ii) the Company shall pay to FBR, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account or accounts designated by
FBR, the Placement Fee payable with respect to the Regulation D Securities for which the Company shall have received
the Regulation D Purchase Price.

(c) The closing of FBR’s purchase of the Option Securities shall occur from time to time at the office of Hunton & Williams LLP,
200 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10166 (unless another place shall be agreed upon by FBR and the Company). On the
applicable Secondary Closing Time (as defined herein), subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the closing conditions set forth
herein, FBR shall pay to the Company the Purchase Price for the Option Securities then purchased by FBR by wire transfer of
immediately available funds against the Company’s delivery of the Option Securities in accordance with the procedure set forth
in Section 2(a) above. Such payment and delivery shall be made at 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on each Secondary Closing
Time. The time at which payment by FBR for and delivery by the Company of any Option Securities are actually made is
referred to herein as a “Secondary Closing Time.”

 
3. Offering of the Shares; Restrictions on Transfer.

(a) FBR represents and warrants to and agrees with the Company that it has solicited and will solicit offers to buy the Resale
Securities only from, and has offered and will offer, sell and deliver the Resale Securities only to persons who it reasonably
believes to be “qualified institutional buyers” (as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act Regulation) (“QIBs”) or, if any
such person is buying for one or more institutional accounts for which such person is acting as fiduciary or agent, only when
such person has represented to FBR that each such account is a QIB to whom notice has been given that such sale or delivery
is being made in reliance on Rule 144A, and, in each case, in transactions under Rule 144A (the “Eligible Purchasers”).

(b) The Company represents and warrants to and agrees with FBR that it (together with its subsidiaries and its and their
respective affiliates) has solicited and will solicit offers to buy the Regulation D Securities only from, and has offered and will
offer, sell or deliver the Regulation D Securities only to, Accredited Investors. The Company also represents and warrants and
agrees that it will sell the Regulation D Securities only to persons that have provided to the Company a fully completed and
executed Subscription Agreement in the form of Exhibit F hereto.

(c) Each of FBR and the Company severally represents and warrants to the other that no action is being taken by it or is
contemplated that would permit an offering or sale of the
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Securities or possession or distribution of the Preliminary Memorandum or the Final Memorandum or any other offering material
relating to the Securities in any jurisdiction where, or in any other circumstances in which, action for those purposes is required
(other than in jurisdictions where such action has been duly taken by counsel for FBR).

(d) FBR and the Company agree that FBR may arrange for the private offer and sale of the Regulation D Securities by the
Company to Accredited Investors under restrictions and other circumstances designed to preclude a distribution of the Securities
that would require registration of the Securities under the Securities Act.

(e) FBR and the Company agree that the Securities may be resold or otherwise transferred by the holders thereof only if the
offer and sale of such Securities are registered under the Securities Act or if an exemption from registration is available. FBR
hereby agrees that it has observed and will observe the following procedures in connection with offers and sales of any
Securities sold by the Company to FBR hereunder:

(i) Offers and sales of the Resale Securities will be made only in Exempt Resales by FBR to investors that FBR reasonably
believes to be Eligible Purchasers.

(ii) The Securities will be offered only by approaching prospective purchasers on an individual basis with whom FBR and/or
the Company has an existing relationship. No general solicitation or general advertising within the meaning of Regulation D
will be used in connection with the offering of the Securities.

(iii) Each of the Preliminary Memorandum and the Final Memorandum shall state that the offer and sale of the Securities
have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, and that no resale or other transfer of any Securities or
any interest therein prior to the date that is six months (or one year for “affiliates,” as defined in Rule 144 under the
Securities Act Regulations) (or such shorter period as is prescribed by Rule 144 under the Securities Act Regulations as
then in effect) after the later of the original issuance of such Securities and the last date on which the Company or any
“affiliate” (as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act Regulations) of the Company was the owner of such Securities
may be made by a purchaser of such Securities except as follows:

 
 (A) to the Company,
 
 (B) pursuant to a registration statement that has been declared effective under the Securities Act,
 

 

(C) for so long as the Securities are eligible for resale pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act Regulations,
in a transaction complying with the requirements of Rule 144A to a person who such purchaser reasonably
believes is a QIB that purchases for its own account or for the account of a QIB and to whom notice is given
that the offer, resale, pledge or transfer is being made in reliance on Rule 144A,

 

 
(D) to an Accredited Investor that is acquiring the Securities for his, her or its own account or an investment

adviser who is acquiring the Securities for the account of an Accredited Investor for investment purposes and
not with a view to, or for offer or sale in connection with, any distribution thereof, or
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 (E) pursuant to any other available exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act,

in each case in accordance with any applicable federal securities laws and the securities laws of any relevant state of the
United States or other jurisdiction.

(f) FBR and the Company agree that Exempt Resales of Resale Securities by FBR (and each purchase of Securities from the
Company by FBR) in accordance with this Section 3 shall be deemed to have been made on the basis of and in reliance on the
representations, warranties, covenants and agreements (including, without limitation, agreements with respect to indemnification
and contribution) of the Company herein contained.

(g) With respect to the Regulation D Securities to be offered and sold hereunder by the Company in the Private Placement, the
Company represents and warrants to and agrees with FBR that:

(i) None of the Company nor any predecessor entity, nor, to the Company’s knowledge, any director, executive officer or
other officer of the Company participating in the Private Placement (each, a “Company Covered Person” and, together,
“Company Covered Persons”) is subject to any of the “Bad Actor” disqualifications described in Rule 506(d)(1)(i) to
(viii) under the Securities Act (a “Disqualification Event”), except for a Disqualification Event covered by Rule 506(d)(2) or
(d)(3) under the Securities Act. The Company has exercised reasonable care to determine whether any Company
Covered Person is subject to a Disqualification Event. The Company has complied, to the extent applicable, with its
disclosure obligations set forth in Rule 506(e) under the Securities Act.

(ii) The Company will notify FBR in writing, prior to the Closing Date, of any Disqualification Event relating to any Company
Covered Person not previously disclosed to the placement agent in accordance with Section 3(g)(i) above.

(h) With respect to the Regulation D Securities to be offered and sold hereunder by the Company in the Private Placement, FBR
represents and warrants to and agrees with the Company that:

(i) Neither FBR nor, to FBR’s knowledge, any of its directors, executive officers, other officers participating in the offering of
the Regulation D Securities, general partners or managing members, or any of the directors, executive officers or other
officers participating in the offering of the Regulation D Securities of any such general partner or managing member (each,
a “FBR Covered Person” and, together, “FBR Covered Persons”), is subject to any Disqualification Event except for a
Disqualification Event (i) contemplated by Rule 506(d)(2) and (ii) a description of which has been furnished in writing to the
Company prior to the date hereof or, in the case of a Disqualification Event occurring after the date hereof, prior to the date
of any offering of the Regulation D Securities.

(ii) It is not aware of any person (other than FBR) that has been or will be paid (directly or indirectly) remuneration for
solicitation of purchasers in connection with the sale of any Regulation D Securities. FBR will notify the Company, prior to
any offering of Regulation D Securities, of any agreement entered into between FBR and such person in connection with
such sale.

(iii) FBR will notify the Company in writing, prior to the Closing Date, of any Disqualification Event relating to any FBR
Covered Person not previously disclosed to the Company in accordance with Section 3(h)(i) above.
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4. Representations and Warranties of the Company.

The Company represents and warrants to FBR as of the date hereof and agrees with FBR, that:

(a) the Exchange Act Reports (defined below), when they were filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“Commission”) conformed to the applicable requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”) and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder (the “Exchange Act Regulations”); the Disclosure Package
(defined below), as amended and supplemented as of 4:30 p.m. New York City time on February 12, 2014 (the “Applicable
Time”), did not, as of the Applicable Time, and as of the Closing Time, contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading; and the Final Memorandum does not, as of its date, and will not as of the Closing Time and each
Secondary Closing Time (if any), contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order
to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided,
however, that this representation and warranty shall not apply to any statement in or omission from the Preliminary
Memorandum, the Disclosure Package or the Final Memorandum made in reliance upon and in conformity with information
furnished to the Company in writing by FBR expressly for use therein (that information being limited to that described in the last
sentence of Section 8(b) hereof). All references to the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package or the Final
Memorandum in this Agreement shall be deemed to refer to and include the Company’s Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on
March 4, 2013 (excluding Item 7.01 and the exhibit related thereto), March 14, 2013, May 1, 2013 (excluding Item 7.01 and the
exhibit related thereto), May 23, 2013, June 6, 2013, July 29, 2013, August 30, 2013, September 26, 2013, October 28, 2013
(excluding Item 7.01 and the exhibit related thereto), November 14, 2013, December 17, 2013 (excluding Item 7.01 and the
exhibit related thereto) and December 30, 2013, the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as amended, for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2012 filed on November 14, 2013, the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as amended, for the
quarter ended March 31, 2013 filed on November 14, 2013, the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as amended, for
the quarter ended June 30, 2013 filed on November 14, 2013, the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2013 filed on November 5, 2013 and the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on
April 8, 2013 (the “Exchange Act Reports”) each of which are incorporated by reference in and made part of the Preliminary
Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum. The term “Disclosure Package” as used in this Agreement
shall mean the Preliminary Memorandum as of the Applicable Time together with any Supplement. The term “Supplement” as
used in this Agreement shall mean any writing, relating to the Securities, the use of which FBR has approved in writing prior to
its first use and which is attached hereto as Schedule I;

(b) the Disclosure Package included, as of the Applicable Time, and the Final Memorandum includes as of its date, and will
include at the Closing Time and at each Secondary Closing Time (if any), the information required by Rule 144A;

(c) each of the Company and its subsidiaries has been duly incorporated, formed or organized and is validly existing as a
corporation, limited liability company or general or limited partnership, as applicable, in good standing under the laws of its
respective jurisdiction of incorporation, formation or organization with full corporate, limited liability company or partnership
power and authority to own, lease or operate its respective properties and other assets and to conduct its respective businesses
as described in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, and, in the case of the Company, to execute and deliver
this Agreement and the Indenture (defined below), and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby (including the
issuance, sale and delivery of the Securities) and thereby;
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(d) all issued and outstanding equity securities of each subsidiary have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid
and non-assessable and have not been issued in violation of or subject to any pre-emptive right, co-sale right, registration right,
right of first refusal or other similar right of shareholders, members or partners, as applicable, arising by operation of law, under
the charter, by-laws, operating agreement, partnership agreement or other organizational documents of such subsidiary, under
any agreement to which such subsidiary is a party or otherwise, which right has not been irrevocably waived in its entirety, and
are owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company and, except for pledges of membership interests in connection with that certain
loan and security agreement, dated as of April 29, 2013, by and among White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LLC, as borrower, CLMG
Corp., as administrative agent and the other parties thereto (the “Revolving Credit Facility”), free and clear of any pledge,
security interest, lien, encumbrance, claim or equitable interest;

(e) the Company had, at the date indicated, the duly authorized capitalization set forth in the Disclosure Package and the Final
Memorandum under the caption “Capitalization” after giving effect to the adjustments set forth thereunder; all of the issued and
outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company have been duly and validly authorized and issued and are fully paid and non-
assessable, and have not been issued in violation of or subject to any pre-emptive right or other similar right of stockholders
arising by operation of law, under the articles of incorporation or by-laws of the Company, under any agreement to which the
Company is a party or otherwise; and except as disclosed in or contemplated by the Disclosure Package and the Final
Memorandum, there are no outstanding (i) securities or obligations of the Company or any subsidiary convertible into or
exchangeable for any capital stock of the Company or equity securities of such subsidiary, as applicable, (ii) warrants, rights or
options to subscribe for or purchase from the Company or any subsidiary any such capital stock or equity securities or any such
convertible or exchangeable securities or obligations or (iii) obligations of the Company or any subsidiary to issue or sell any
shares of capital stock or equity securities, any such convertible or exchangeable securities or obligation, or any such warrants,
rights or options;

(f) the Securities have been duly authorized for issuance, sale and delivery to FBR pursuant to this Agreement and, when the
Securities have been executed and authenticated in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture (as defined below) and
issued and delivered by the Company against payment therefor in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Securities
will be duly executed, authenticated, issued and delivered, free and clear of any pledge, lien, encumbrance, security interest or
other claim (except for any such pledge, lien, encumbrance, security interest or other claim arising from FBR or the parties that
purchase the Securities from FBR), will conform to the description of the Securities contained in the Disclosure Package and the
Final Memorandum and will constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the Company, except as may be limited by
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and by general principles
of equity, entitled to the benefits provided by the Indenture to be dated as of February 19, 2014 (the “Indenture”) between the
Company and U.S. Bank, National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), under which they are to be issued, which will be
substantially in the form attached hereto as Annex I; the shares of Common Stock initially issuable upon conversion of the
Securities have been duly and validly authorized and reserved for issuance and, if and when issued and delivered in accordance
with the provisions of the Securities and the Indenture, will be duly and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and the
issuance, sale and delivery of the Securities by the Company and the Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Securities
are not subject to, and will not upon issuance be subject to, any pre-emptive right, co-sale right, registration right, right of first
refusal or other similar right of stockholders arising by operation of law, under the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of the
Company, under any agreement to which the Company is a party or otherwise;
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(g) the Company and each of its subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed by (including, but not limited to, the applicable state
insurance regulator or commissioner), and is in good standing in, each jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business requires
such qualification or licensing, except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified, individually or in the aggregate, could not
reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the business, condition (financial
or otherwise), results of operations or prospects of the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole (a “Material Adverse
Effect”); except for restrictions imposed by the Revolving Credit Facility as disclosed in the Disclosure Package and the Final
Memorandum, no subsidiary is prohibited or restricted, directly or indirectly, from paying dividends to the Company or from
making any other distribution with respect to such subsidiary’s capital stock or from repaying to the Company or any other
subsidiary any amounts which may from time to time become due under any loans or advances to such subsidiary from the
Company or such other subsidiary or from transferring any such subsidiary’s property or assets to the Company or to any other
subsidiary; other than as disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated and combined financial statements of the Company
incorporated by reference in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, the Company does not own, directly or
indirectly, any capital stock or other equity securities of any other corporation or any ownership interest in any partnership, joint
venture or other association;

(h) the Company and each of its subsidiaries has good and marketable title in fee simple to all real property, if any, and good
and marketable title to all personal property, reflected as assets owned by the Company or a subsidiary in the Disclosure
Package and the Final Memorandum, in each case free and clear of all liens, security interests, pledges, charges,
encumbrances, mortgages and defects, except such as (i) are disclosed in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum,
(ii) liens on collateral securing obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility or (iii) could not reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect; and any real property and buildings or personal property held
under lease by the Company or its subsidiaries is held under a lease that is valid, existing and enforceable by the Company or
its subsidiaries, with such exceptions as are disclosed in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum or are not material
and do not interfere with the use made or proposed to be made of such property and buildings by the Company or such
subsidiary, and the Company has not received any notice of any material claim of any sort that has been asserted by anyone
adverse to the rights of the Company under any such lease;

(i) the Company and each subsidiary owns or possesses adequate licenses or other rights to use all patents, trademarks,
service marks, trade names, copyrights, software and design licenses, trade secrets, manufacturing processes, other intangible
property rights and know-how (collectively “Intangibles”) as are necessary to entitle the Company and each subsidiary to conduct
its business as described in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, and neither the Company nor any subsidiary
has received notice of any infringement of or conflict with (and, upon due inquiry, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries knows of any such infringement of or conflict with) asserted rights of others with respect to any Intangibles which
would reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(j) except as otherwise described in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, the Company and its subsidiaries have
not violated, or received notice of any violation with respect to, any law, rule, regulation, order, decree or judgment applicable to
it and its business, including, but not limited to, those relating to transactions with affiliates, except where such non-compliance
would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect;
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(k) Reserved;

(l) except as disclosed in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is
in violation of, or has received notice of, any violation with respect to any federal or state law relating to discrimination in the
hiring, promotion or pay of employees, nor any applicable federal or state wages and hours law, except for any such violation of
law or regulation which would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(m) the Company and each of its subsidiaries are in compliance in all material respects with all presently applicable provisions of
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, including the regulations and published interpretations
thereunder (“ERISA”); no “reportable event” (as defined in ERISA) has occurred with respect to any “pension plan” (as defined
in ERISA) for which the Company or any of its subsidiaries would have any liability; the Company and each of its subsidiaries
have not incurred and do not expect to incur liability under (i) Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of, or withdrawal
from, any “pension plan” or (ii) Section 412 or 4971 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including the
regulations and published interpretations thereunder (the “Code”); and each “pension plan” for which the Company and each of
its subsidiaries would have any liability that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code is so qualified in all
material respects and nothing has occurred, whether by action or by failure to act, which would cause the loss of such
qualification;

(n) neither the Company, any of its subsidiaries nor, to the Company’s knowledge, any officer, director, agent or employee
purporting to act on behalf of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, has at any time, directly or indirectly, (i) made any payment
to any state or federal governmental officer or official, or other person charged with similar public or quasi-public duties, other
than payments required or allowed by applicable law, (ii) engaged in any transactions, maintained any bank account or used any
corporate funds except for transactions, bank accounts and funds which have been and are reflected in the normally maintained
books and records of the Company and its subsidiaries; and neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries nor, to the
knowledge of the Company, any employee or agent of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, has made any payment of funds
of the Company or of any of its subsidiaries or received or retained any funds or has taken any action, directly or indirectly, that
would result in a violation by such persons of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, and the rules and
regulations thereunder (the “FCPA”), including making use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce
corruptly in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay or authorization of the payment of any money, or other property,
gift, promise to give or authorization of the giving of anything of value to any “foreign official” (as such term is defined in the
FCPA) or any foreign political party or official thereof or any candidate for foreign political office, in contravention of the FCPA,
and the Company and its subsidiaries and, to the knowledge of the Company, their affiliates have conducted their businesses in
compliance with the FCPA, or (iii) made any other unlawful payment;

(o) except as otherwise disclosed in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, there are no outstanding loans or
advances or guarantees of indebtedness by the Company or any of its subsidiaries to or for the benefit of any of the officers,
directors, affiliates or representatives of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of the members of the families of any of
them;
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(p) except with respect to FBR, the Company has not incurred any liability for any broker’s or finder’s fees or similar payments
in connection with the offering of the Securities;

(q) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is in breach of, or in default under (nor has any event occurred which with
notice, lapse of time, or both would constitute a breach of, or default under) (i) its articles of incorporation, by-laws, operating
agreement, partnership agreement or other organizational documents in effect as of the date hereof (collectively, the “Charter
Documents”) or (ii) in the performance or observance of any obligation, agreement, covenant or condition contained in any
contract, license, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan or credit agreement or other agreement or instrument to which the
Company or any such subsidiary is a party or by which any of them or their respective properties may be bound or affected,
except in the case of clause (ii) for such breaches or defaults which have been validly waived or would not reasonably be
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(r) except as otherwise disclosed in the Disclosure Package, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the
Indenture (together, the “Transaction Agreements”), the issuance, sale and delivery of the Securities (and the issuance and
delivery of the Common Stock upon the conversion of the Securities), the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the
Transaction Agreements, and compliance with the terms and provisions of the Transaction Agreements by the Company, will not
conflict with, or result in any breach of or constitute a default under (nor constitute any event which with notice, lapse of time, or
both would constitute a breach of, or default under), (i) any provision of the Charter Documents, (ii) any provision of any contract,
license, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan or credit agreement or other agreement or instrument to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or which any of the property or assets of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries may be bound or affected, or (iii) any federal, state, or local law, regulation or rule or any
decree, judgment, permit or order applicable to the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective properties or
other assets, including, but in no way limited to, any law, rule or regulation of any state insurance regulator or commission in a
state in which the Company or its subsidiaries conducts business, except in the case of clauses (ii) or (iii) for such conflicts,
breaches or defaults which have been validly waived or could not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to
have a Material Adverse Effect or result in the creation or imposition of any material lien, charge, claim or encumbrance upon
any property or asset of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(s) this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company and is the legal, valid and binding
agreement of the Company enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally (regardless of whether such principles are
considered in a proceeding at law or in equity), and by general principles of equity, and except to the extent that the
indemnification provisions hereof or thereof may be limited by federal or state securities laws and public policy considerations in
respect thereof; the Indenture has been duly authorized by the Company and at the Closing Time will have been duly executed
and delivered by the Company and will constitute a legal, valid and binding agreement of the Company enforceable in
accordance with its terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws
affecting creditors’ rights generally (regardless of whether such principles are considered in a proceeding at law or in equity),
and by general principles of equity, and except to the extent that the indemnification provisions hereof or thereof may be limited
by federal or state securities laws and public policy considerations in respect thereof;

(t) the Transaction Agreements conform in all material respects to the descriptions thereof contained in the Disclosure Package
and the Final Memorandum;

 
10

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



(u) the statements set forth in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, under the captions “Description of Notes”
and “Description of Capital Stock,” insofar as they purport to constitute a summary of the terms of the Securities and the
Common Stock, under the caption “Existing Indebtedness,” insofar as they purport to constitute a summary of the terms of the
Revolving Credit Facility, and under the caption “Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences,” insofar as they
purport to describe the provisions of the laws and documents referred to therein, are accurate and complete in all material
respects;

(v) except as otherwise disclosed in the Disclosure Package, no approval, authorization, consent or order of or filing with any
federal, state or local governmental or regulatory commission, board, body, authority or agency is required in connection with
the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of the Transaction Agreements or the consummation by the Company
of the transactions contemplated hereby, or the issuance, sale and delivery of the Securities (and the issuance and delivery of
the Common Stock upon the conversion of the Securities) as contemplated hereby, other than (i) such as have been obtained or
made, or will have been obtained or made at the Closing Time or the relevant Secondary Closing Time, as the case may be and
(ii) any necessary consents, approvals, authorizations, registrations, qualifications or notices under the state securities or blue
sky laws of the various jurisdictions in which the Securities are being resold by FBR;

(w) assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties of FBR in Section 3, it is not necessary in connection with the
offer, sale and delivery of the Securities to FBR, or in connection with the offer, sale and initial resale of the Securities by FBR in
a manner contemplated by this Agreement, to register the Securities under the Securities Act or to qualify the Indenture under
the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the “Trust Indenture Act”);

(x) except as otherwise disclosed in the Disclosure Package, the Company and each of its subsidiaries have all necessary
licenses, permits, certificates, authorizations, consents and approvals or, as applicable, qualifies for an applicable exemption
therefrom, and have made all necessary filings required under any federal, state or local law, regulation or rule, and have
obtained all necessary licenses, permits, certificates, authorizations, consents and approvals from all applicable regulatory and
self regulatory authorities, including, but in no way limited to, any and all licenses required to be held by the Company or its
subsidiaries by any state insurance regulator or commission in each state where the Company or its subsidiaries conducts
business, required in order to conduct their respective business and provide the products and services currently provided or
proposed to be provided as described in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, except to the extent that any
failure to have any such licenses, permits, certificates, authorizations, consents or approvals, to make any such filings or to
obtain any such licenses, permits, certificates, authorizations, consents or approvals would not, individually or in the aggregate,
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; except as otherwise disclosed in the Disclosure Package, the
Company and each of its subsidiaries is not in violation of, or in default under, or have received any notice regarding a possible
violation, default or revocation of, any such license, permit, certificate, authorization, accreditation, consent or approval of any
federal, state or local law, regulation or rule or any decree, order or judgment applicable to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, the effect of which could reasonably be expected to, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse
Effect; except as otherwise disclosed in the Disclosure Package, none of the Company or any of its subsidiaries have received
any notification from any regulatory or self-regulatory authority to the effect that any additional authorization, approval, order,
consent, license, certificate, permit, registration or qualification from such regulatory or self-regulatory authority is needed to be
obtained by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, except for the failure to obtain any additional authorization, approval, order,
consent, license, certificate, permit, registration or qualification required by such notification could not reasonably be expected
to, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse
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Effect; and no such license, permit, certificate, authorization, accreditation, consent or approval contains a materially
burdensome restriction that is not adequately disclosed in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum;

(y) the Exchange Act Reports contain accurate summaries of all material contracts, agreements, instruments and other
documents of the Company required to be described in such Exchange Act Reports;

(z) other than as set forth in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, there are no actions, suits, proceedings,
inquiries or investigations pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any of their respective officers or directors, or to which any of their respective properties, assets, or rights are
subject, at law or in equity, before or by any federal, state, local or foreign governmental or regulatory commission, board, body,
authority, arbitral panel or agency which, if determined adversely to the Company or any of its subsidiaries, could reasonably be
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(aa) other than FBR, the Company has not authorized anyone to make any representations regarding the offer and sale of the
Securities, or regarding the Company or any of its subsidiaries in connection therewith;

(bb) the Company has not received notice of any order or decree preventing the use of the Disclosure Package or the Final
Memorandum or any amendment or supplement thereto, or any order asserting that the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement are subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act, and no proceeding for any such purposes has
commenced or is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, is contemplated;

(cc) when issued and delivered pursuant to this Agreement, the Securities will not be of the same class (within the meaning of
Rule 144A under the Securities Act) as securities listed on a national securities exchange registered under Section 6 of the
Exchange Act;

(dd) the Company is subject to Section 13 of the Exchange Act;

(ee) subsequent to the respective dates as of which information is given in each of the Disclosure Package and the Final
Memorandum, and except as may be otherwise stated in such documents, there has not been (i) any event, circumstance or
change that has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect,
whether or not arising in the ordinary course of business, (ii) any transaction which is material to the Company or one of its
subsidiaries taken as a whole that is probable, contemplated or entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, (iii) any
obligation, contingent or otherwise, directly or indirectly incurred by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, other than in the
ordinary course of business, which is material to the Company or such subsidiary, or (iv) any dividend or distribution of any kind
declared, paid or made by the Company on any class of its capital stock, or any purchase by the Company of any of its
outstanding capital stock;

(ff) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has sustained, since September 30, 2013, any material loss or interference
with its business from fire, explosion, flood or other calamity, whether or not covered by insurance, or from any labor dispute or
court or governmental action, order or decree, otherwise than as set forth or contemplated in the Disclosure Package and the
Final Memorandum, which could reasonably be expected to, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect;
and since the respective dates as of which information is given in the Disclosure Package, there has not been any change in the
capital stock or debt of the Company or any of its subsidiaries except (i) issuances of shares of stock as part of a court ordered
settlement of litigation and (ii) such
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issuances of stock or the incurrence of debt in the ordinary course of business, nor has there been any Material Adverse Effect,
or any development involving a prospective Material Adverse Effect, in or affecting the general affairs, management, position
(financial or otherwise), stockholders’ equity or results of operation of the Company and its subsidiaries, otherwise than as set
forth or contemplated in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum;

(gg) the Company is not, nor upon the sale of the Securities will be, an “investment company” or an entity “controlled” by an
“investment company” (as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended);

(hh) except for registration requirements related to the issuance of two million warrants to be issued in connection with a court
ordered settlement of class action lawsuits described in the Disclosure Package or as otherwise disclosed in the Disclosure
Package and the Final Memorandum, there are no persons with registration or other similar rights to have any securities,
including securities which are convertible into or exchangeable for equity securities, registered by the Company under the
Securities Act;

(ii) the Company has not relied upon FBR or legal counsel for FBR for any legal, tax or accounting advice in connection with the
offering and sale of the Securities;

(jj) the independent directors named in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum have been deemed independent of
the Company with such conclusion determined in accordance with Section 303A.02 of the New York Stock Exchange Listed
Company Manual;

(kk) neither the Company, nor any of its respective affiliates (as defined in Section 501(b) of Regulation D) has, whether directly
or through any agent or person acting on its behalf (other than FBR): (i) offered Common Stock or any other securities
convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for Common Stock in a manner in violation of the Securities Act or the Securities
Act Regulations, (ii) distributed any other offering material in connection with the offer and sale of the Securities, or (iii) sold,
offered for sale, solicited offers to buy or otherwise negotiated in respect of any security (as defined in the Securities Act) which
is or will be integrated with the offering and sale of the Securities in a manner that would require the registration of the Securities
under the Securities Act;

(ll) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries (i) is required to register as a “broker” or “dealer” in accordance with the
provisions of the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, or (ii) directly, or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, controls or has any other association with (within the meaning of Article 1 of the by-laws of the Financial Industry
Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”)) any member firm of FINRA;

(mm) none of the Company, its subsidiaries nor any of their respective directors, officers, representatives or affiliates have
taken, directly or indirectly, any action intended, or which might reasonably be expected, to cause or result in, or which has
constituted, under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise, stabilization or manipulation of the price of any security of
the Company to facilitate the sale or resale of the Securities;

(nn) each of the Company and its subsidiaries maintains insurance (issued by insurers of recognized financial responsibility) of
the types, in the amounts and covering such risks as are generally deemed adequate for their respective businesses and the
value of the assets to be held by them upon the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Disclosure Package and
the Final Memorandum, and consistent with insurance coverage maintained by similar companies in similar businesses,
including insurance covering real and personal property owned or leased by the Company and its subsidiaries, respectively,
against theft, damage, destruction, acts of vandalism and all other risks customarily insured against, all of which insurance is in
full force and effect;
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(oo) the financial statements, including the notes thereto, incorporated by reference in the Disclosure Package and the Final
Memorandum, fairly present the financial condition of the Company as of the respective dates thereof, and the results of
operations for the periods then ended, correctly reflect and disclose all extraordinary items, and have been prepared in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis;

(pp) Grant Thornton LLP, who have certified certain financial statements and supporting schedules incorporated by reference in
the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, whose reports with respect to such financial
statements and supporting schedules are incorporated by reference in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package
and the Final Memorandum, and who have delivered the comfort letters referred to in Section 6(b) hereof, are, and were during
the periods covered by its reports, independent registered public accountants with respect to the Company within the meaning
of the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations and is registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board;

(qq) except as otherwise disclosed in the Disclosure Package, the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries and, to the
Company’s knowledge, its affiliates are and have been conducted at all times in compliance with applicable financial
recordkeeping and reporting requirements of, including without limitation, the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act
of 1970, as amended, the Money Laundering Control Act of 1986, as amended, any other money laundering statutes of all
jurisdictions, the rules and regulations thereunder and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines, issued,
administered or enforced by any governmental agency (collectively, the “Money Laundering Laws”) and the “know your
customer” laws of any jurisdiction, except for any such non-compliance as would not, individually or in the aggregate, result in a
Material Adverse Effect, and no action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or governmental agency, authority or body or
any arbitrator involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or, to the Company’s knowledge, any of its affiliates, with respect
to any Money Laundering Laws or “know your customer” laws is pending or, to the Company’s knowledge, threatened;

(rr) Reserved;

(ss) except as otherwise disclosed in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, (i) the Company and its subsidiaries
have accurately prepared and timely filed any and all federal, state, foreign and other tax returns that are required to be filed by
it, if any, and have paid or made provision for the payment of all taxes shown on such returns, including without limitation, all
sales and use taxes and all taxes which the Company and each of its subsidiaries is obligated to withhold from amounts owing to
employees, creditors and third parties, with respect to the periods covered by such tax returns (whether or not such amounts
are shown as due on any tax return) except where the failure to file or pay the taxes, an assessment or lien would not,
individually or in the aggregate, could be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company or its
subsidiaries taken as a whole, (ii) no deficiency assessment with respect to a proposed adjustment of the Company’s or any of
its subsidiaries’ federal, state, local or foreign taxes is pending or, to the Company’s knowledge, threatened, which, if determined
adversely to any such entity, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
(iii) since the date of the most recent audited financial statements, the Company and its subsidiaries have not incurred any
liability for taxes other than in the ordinary course of their business; (iv) there is no tax lien, whether imposed by any federal,
state, foreign or other taxing authority, outstanding against the assets, properties or business of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and (v) all tax liabilities are adequately
provided for on the respective books of the Company and the subsidiaries;
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(tt) Reserved;

(uu) the Disclosure Package, as of the date hereof complied, and the Final Memorandum and any further amendments or
supplements to the Disclosure Package or the Final Memorandum will comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of
the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations;

(vv) as of the Applicable Time, the Disclosure Package did not, and, at the time of each sale of the Securities, the Closing Time
and each Secondary Closing Time (if any), the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum or any amendment or
supplement thereto will not, contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided, however, that the
Company makes no warranty or representation with respect to any statement contained in or omitted from the Preliminary
Memorandum, the Disclosure Package or the Final Memorandum in reliance upon and in conformity with the information
concerning FBR and furnished in writing by or on behalf of FBR to the Company expressly for use therein (that information
being limited to that described in the last sentence of Section 8(b));

(ww) the Company is in compliance, in all material respects, with all applicable corporate governance requirements set forth in
the New York Stock Exchange’s listing standards that are then in effect;

(xx) the descriptions in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum of the legal or governmental proceedings, contracts,
leases and other legal documents therein described present fairly in all material respects the information required to be
described by the Securities Act or by the Securities Act Regulations, and there are no legal or governmental proceedings,
contracts, leases or other documents of a character required to be described in the Disclosure Package and the Final
Memorandum which are not described or filed as required; all agreements between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
their parties expressly described in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum are legal, valid and binding obligations
of the Company or one or more of its subsidiaries, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent
enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights
generally and by general equity principles (regardless of whether such principles are considered in a proceeding at law or
equity);

(yy) (i) the Company has established and has currently in effect disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act Regulations), which (A) are designed to ensure that material information relating to the
Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the Company’s principal executive officer and its principal
financial officer by others within those entities, particularly during the periods in which the periodic reports required under the
Exchange Act are being prepared, (B) have been evaluated for effectiveness as of the end of the last fiscal period covered by
the Exchange Act Reports and (C) to the Company’s knowledge are effective in all material respects to perform the functions for
which they were established and (ii) the Company is not aware of (A) any significant deficiency or material weakness in the
design or operation of its internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information to management and the board of directors or (B) any fraud,
whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Since the most recent evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures described
above, there have been no significant changes in internal control over financial reporting or in other factors that would
significantly affect internal control over financial reporting;
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(zz) the Company and each of its subsidiaries have currently in effect a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to
provide reasonable assurance that (i) transactions are executed in accordance with management’s general or specific
authorizations; (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles as applied in the United States and to maintain asset accountability; (iii) access to
assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization; and (iv) the recorded accountability
for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any
differences;

(aaa) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries nor, to the Company’s knowledge, any officer or director purporting to act
on behalf of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, has at any time made any payment to any agent or broker or person
charged with similar duties of any entity to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries does business for the purpose of
influencing such agent, broker or person to do business with the Company or any of its subsidiaries, in violation of any law, rule
or regulation applicable to the Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(bbb) all securities issued by the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any trusts established by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries have been as of the Applicable Time, or will be as of the Closing Time or any Secondary Closing Time, issued and
sold in compliance with or pursuant to an exemption from (i) all applicable federal and state securities laws, (ii) the laws of the
applicable jurisdiction of incorporation of the issuing entity and (iii) to the extent applicable to the issuing entity, the requirements
of the New York Stock Exchange;

(ccc) no relationship, direct or indirect, exists between or among the Company or any of its subsidiaries on the one hand, and
the directors, officers, shareholders, customers or suppliers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries on the other hand, which
is required by the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations to be described in the Disclosure Package and the Final
Memorandum, which is not so described;

(ddd) the Company, its subsidiaries and any of the officers and directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, in their
capacities as such, are, and at the Closing Time and any Secondary Closing Time will be, in compliance in all material respects
with the applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder that are
effective and applicable to the Company as of the date hereof, it being understood that no representation or warranty is made
with respect to any provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder that are
not effective and applicable to the Company as of the date hereof;

(eee) the Company (i) complies in all material respects with the Privacy Statements (as defined below) as applicable to any
given set of personal information collected by the Company from Individuals (as defined below), (ii) complies in all material
respects with all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations regarding the collection, retention, use, transfer or
disclosure of personal information and (iii) takes reasonable measures to protect and maintain the confidential nature of the
personal information provided to the Company by Individuals in accordance with the terms of the applicable Privacy Statements;
to the Company’s knowledge, no claims or controversies have arisen regarding the Privacy Statements or the implementation
thereof which would, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect. As used herein,
“Privacy Statements” means, collectively, any and all of the Company’s privacy statements and policies published on Company
websites or products or otherwise made available by the Company regarding the collection, retention, use and distribution of the
personal information of individuals, including from visitors or users of any Company websites or products (“Individuals”);
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(fff) Reserved; and

(ggg) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the Company’s knowledge, any of its affiliates or any director,
officer, agent or employee of, or other person associated with or acting on behalf of, the Company or any of its subsidiaries, has
violated the Bank Secrecy Act, as amended, the Uniting and Strengthening of America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required
to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act (USA PATRIOT ACT) of 2001, as amended, or the rules and regulations promulgated
under any such law or any successor law.

 
5. Certain Covenants of the Company. The Company hereby agrees with FBR:

(a) to furnish such information as may be reasonably required and otherwise to cooperate in qualifying the Securities and the
shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Securities for offer and sale under the securities or blue sky laws of
such states as FBR may designate or as required for the Private Placement and to maintain such qualifications in effect as long
as required by such laws for the Exempt Resales of the Resale Securities; provided, however, that the Company shall not be
required to qualify as a foreign corporation or to consent to the service of process under the laws of, or subject itself to taxation
as doing business in, any such state or other jurisdiction (except service of process with respect to the offering and sale of the
Securities);

(b) to prepare the Final Memorandum in a form approved by FBR and to furnish promptly (and with respect to the initial delivery
of such Final Memorandum, not later than 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the first day following the execution and delivery of
this Agreement) to FBR or to purchasers upon the direction of FBR as many copies of the Final Memorandum (and any
amendments or supplements thereto) as FBR may reasonably request for the purposes contemplated by this Agreement;

(c) to advise FBR promptly, confirming such advice in writing, of: (i) the happening of any event known to the Company within
the time during which the Final Memorandum shall (in the view of FBR) be required to be distributed by FBR in connection with
an Exempt Resale (and FBR hereby agrees to notify the Company in writing when the foregoing time period has ended) which,
in the judgment of the Company, would require the making of any change in the Final Memorandum then being used so that the
Final Memorandum would not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading,
or, if for any other reason it shall be necessary or desirable to amend or supplement the Final Memorandum; and (ii) the receipt
of any notification with respect to the modification, rescission, withdrawal or suspension of the qualification of the Securities, or
of any exemption from such qualification or from registration of the Securities, for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or of the
initiation or threatening of any proceedings for any of such purposes and, if any government agency or authority should issue
any such order, to make every reasonable effort to obtain the lifting or removal of such order as soon as possible;

(d) upon FBR’s request following receipt of a notice provided by the Company in accordance with Section 5(c), the Company
shall prepare and provide to FBR, or to purchasers upon the direction of FBR, as many copies as FBR may reasonably request
of any amendment or supplement to the Final Memorandum, and the Company shall not amend or supplement the Final
Memorandum in any manner whatsoever unless FBR shall previously have been advised thereof and shall have consented
thereto in writing;
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(e) Reserved;

(f) not to issue any Supplement in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby without the prior written approval of
FBR, which approval may be withheld, conditioned or delayed in the sole and absolute discretion of FBR;

(g) Reserved;

(h) during any period in the one year (or such shorter period as may then be applicable under the Securities Act regarding the
holding period for securities under Rule 144 under the Securities Act or any successor rule) after the Closing Time in which the
Company is not subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act to furnish, upon request, to any holder of such Shares the
information (“Rule 144A Information”) specified in Rule l44A(d)(4) under the Securities Act and any such Rule l44A Information
will not, at the date thereof, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to
make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading;

(i) to apply the net proceeds from the sale of the Securities in the manner set forth under the caption “Use of Proceeds” in the
Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum;

(j) that neither the Company nor any of its affiliates (as defined in Section 501(b) of Regulation D) will, whether directly or
through any agent or person acting on its behalf (other than FBR): (i) offer Common Stock or any other securities convertible
into or exchangeable or exercisable for Common Stock in a manner in violation of the Securities Act or the Securities Act
Regulations, (ii) distribute any other offering material in connection with the offer and sale of the Securities, other than the
Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, or (iii) sell, offer for sale, solicit offers to buy or
otherwise negotiate in respect of any security (as defined in the Securities Act), any of which will be integrated with the offering
and sale of the Securities in a manner that would require the registration under the Securities Act of the sale by the Company to
FBR, the resale by FBR to Eligible Purchasers, or the sale by the Company of the Regulation D Securities to Accredited
Investors in the Private Placement;

(k) that neither the Company, its subsidiaries, nor any of their respective directors, officers, representatives or affiliates will take,
directly or indirectly, any action intended to, or that might be reasonably expected to, cause or result in, under the Securities Act,
the Exchange Act or otherwise, stabilization or manipulation of the price of any security of the Company;

(l) that, except as directed by FBR, neither the Company nor any of its affiliates will distribute any offering materials in
connection with Exempt Resales;

(m) to pay all expenses, fees and taxes in connection with (i) the preparation of the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure
Package and the Final Memorandum, and any amendments or supplements thereto, and the printing and furnishing of copies of
each thereof to FBR (including costs of mailing and shipment), (ii) the preparation, issuance, sale and delivery of the Securities,
including any stock or other transfer taxes or duties payable upon the sale of the Securities to FBR, and the issuance, sale and
delivery of the Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Securities, (iii) the printing of this Agreement, the Indenture,
closing documents (including any compilations thereof) and any other documents in connection with the offering, purchase, sale
and delivery of the Securities, (iv) the
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qualification of the Securities and the Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Securities for offering and sale under state
laws and the determination of their eligibility for investment under state law as aforesaid (including any filing fees and the fees
and disbursements of counsel for FBR in connection with such qualification and in connection with any blue sky survey
performed thereby), and the printing and furnishing of copies of any blue sky surveys to FBR, (v) all fees and disbursements of
counsel and accountants for the Company, (vi) the preparation of the Securities, the appointment of the Trustee and any agent
of the Trustee and of counsel for the Trustee in connection with the Indenture and the Securities, (vii) the costs and expenses of
the Company incurred in connection with the marketing of the Securities, including all “out of pocket” expenses, road show costs
and expenses (regardless of the form in which the road show is conducted), and expenses of Company personnel, including but
not limited to commercial or charter air travel, local hotel accommodations and transportation, and (viii) performance of the
Company’s other obligations hereunder;

(n) to use reasonable efforts in cooperation with FBR to obtain permission for the Securities to be eligible for clearance and
settlement through DTC;

(o) to reserve and keep available at all times, free of pre-emptive rights, shares of Common Stock for purposes of enabling the
Company to satisfy any obligations to issue shares of Common Stock upon conversion of the Securities;

(p) not to take any action that would prevent FBR from purchasing the Company’s equity securities in the secondary market to
cover short positions entered into pursuant to FBR’s market facilitation activities;

(q) to refrain during the period commencing on the date of this Agreement and ending on the date that is 90 days thereafter,
without the prior written consent of FBR (which consent may be withheld or delayed in FBR’s sole discretion), from (i) offering,
pledging, selling, contracting to sell, selling any option or contract to purchase, purchasing any option or contract to sell,
granting any option, right or warrant for the sale of, lending or otherwise disposing of or transferring, directly or indirectly, any
securities of the Company that are similar to the Securities, any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for
securities of the Company that are similar to the Securities, or any Common Stock or securities convertible into Common Stock,
or filing any registration statement under the Securities Act with respect to any of the foregoing, or (ii) entering into any swap or
other arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any of the economic consequences of ownership of
securities of the Company, whether any such transaction described in clause (i) or (ii) above is to be settled by delivery of
Common Stock, the Securities or such other securities, in cash or otherwise. The foregoing sentence shall not apply to (i) the
Securities to be sold hereunder, (ii) any Common Stock issued by the Company upon the conversion of the Securities or any
option or warrant outstanding on the date hereof and referred to in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and
the Final Memorandum, (iii) such issuances of options or grants of restricted stock under the Company’s stock option and
incentive plans as described in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, or (iv) the
issuance of warrants to purchase up to 2.0 million shares of Common Stock at $10.75 per share pursuant to the settlement of
the class actions consolidated and designated as Fuller v. Imperial Holdings, et al.;

(r) to reimburse FBR for up to $10,000.00 for the cost of preparing a blue sky survey (if commissioned by FBR) and, in the event
that the transactions contemplated hereby are terminated without the purchase of any Securities, to reimburse up to
$200,000.00 of its out-of-pocket expenses relating to the transactions contemplated hereby, including the reasonable fees and
disbursements of its legal counsel;
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(s) that the Company will conduct its affairs in such a manner so as to ensure that the Company will not be an investment
company or an entity controlled by an investment company within the meaning of the Investment Company Act (it being
understood that if the Securities and Exchange Commission broadened the definition of “security” to include the life settlements,
the Company shall not be deemed in breach of this covenant);

(t) at the Closing Time, the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the maximum number of Common Shares issuable
upon conversion shall have been approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange, subject only to official notice of
issuance; and

(u) to seek shareholder approval to issue shares of Common Stock equal to or in excess of (i) 20% of the number of shares of
the Company’s Common Stock outstanding before the issuance of the Company’s shares of Common Stock or of securities
convertible into or exercisable for the Company’s Common Stock, (ii) 5% of the number of shares of the Company’s Common
Stock outstanding before the issuance of the Company’s shares of Common Stock or of securities convertible into or exercisable
for the Company’s Common Stock if issued to holders who own 5% or more of the Company’s Common Stock outstanding
before such issuance and (iii) 1% of the number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock outstanding before the issuance of
the Company’s shares of Common Stock or of securities convertible into or exercisable for the Company’s Common Stock if
issued to holders who are affiliated with the Company’s directors or executive officers, in accordance with the listing standards
of the New York Stock Exchange.

 
6. Conditions of FBR’s Obligations. The obligations of FBR hereunder are subject to (i) the accuracy of the representations and

warranties on the part of the Company on the date hereof, at the Applicable Time, at the Closing Time and, if applicable, each
Secondary Closing Time, (ii) the accuracy of the statements of the Company’s officers made in any certificate pursuant to the
provisions hereof as of the date of such certificate, (iii) the performance by the Company of all of its respective covenants and
other obligations hereunder and (iv) the following other conditions:

(a) The Company shall furnish to FBR at the Closing Time an opinion and disclosure letter of Foley & Lardner LLP, counsel for
the Company, substantially in the form set forth on Exhibit A hereto, and opinion of the Company’s General Counsel, addressed
to FBR and dated the Closing Time, substantially in the form set forth on Exhibit B hereto. Each opinion shall indicate that it is
being rendered to FBR at the request of the Company.

(b) FBR shall have received from Grant Thornton LLP “comfort” letters dated, respectively, as of the date hereof and the Closing
Time, addressed to FBR and in form and substance satisfactory to FBR.

(c) FBR shall have received at the Closing Time a favorable opinion and disclosure letter of Hunton & Williams LLP, counsel for
FBR, dated the Closing Time, substantially in the form set forth on Exhibit D hereto.

(d) Prior to the Closing Time and, if applicable, any Secondary Closing Time (i) no suspension of the qualification of the
Securities for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or of the initiation or threatening of any proceedings for any of such purposes,
shall have occurred, and (ii) the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum and all amendments or supplements thereto, or
modifications thereof, if any, shall not contain an untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not
misleading.
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(e) Between the time of execution of this Agreement and the Closing Time or, if applicable, any Secondary Closing Time, (i) no
event, circumstance or change, individually or in the aggregate, constituting a Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred or
become known, (ii) no transaction which is material to the Company, taken as a whole, shall have been entered into by the
Company that has not been fully and accurately disclosed in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, or any
amendment or supplement thereto, and (iii) no order or decree preventing the use of either the Preliminary Memorandum, the
Disclosure Package or the Final Memorandum, or any amendment or supplement thereto, or any order asserting that any of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act shall have been
issued.

(f) (i) Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries shall have sustained, since September 30, 2013, any material loss or
interference with its business from fire, explosion, flood or other calamity, whether or not covered by insurance, or from any
labor dispute or court or governmental action, order or decree, otherwise than as set forth or contemplated in the Preliminary
Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, and (ii) since the respective dates as of which information is
given in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and Final Memorandum, there has not been any change in the
capital stock (other than the issuance of shares as part of a court ordered settlement of litigation) or debt of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or any change or development involving a prospective change, in or affecting the general affairs,
management, position (financial or otherwise), stockholders’ equity or results of operation of the Company and its subsidiaries,
otherwise than as set forth or contemplated in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and the Final
Memorandum, the effect of which, in any such case described in clause (i) or (ii), is in the judgment of FBR so material and
adverse as to make it commercially impracticable or inadvisable to proceed with the offering and delivery of the Securities on the
terms and in the manner contemplated by this Agreement and the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and Final
Memorandum.

(g) The Company shall have delivered to FBR a certificate, executed by the secretary of the Company and dated as of the
Closing Time, as to (i) the resolutions adopted by the Company’s board of directors addressing entry into and consummation of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the execution and performance of this Agreement and the Indenture and the
authorization, issuance and delivery of the Securities and the Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Securities, and
otherwise in form and substance reasonably acceptable to FBR, (ii) the Company’s articles of incorporation, as amended and
(iii) the Company’s by-laws, as amended, each as in effect at the Closing Time.

(h) The Company shall have delivered to FBR a certificate, executed by its chief executive officer and chief financial officer on
behalf of the Company, to the effect that the representations and warranties by the Company set forth in this Agreement shall be
true and correct as of the Closing Time as though made on and as of such date (except to the extent that such representations
and warranties speak as of another date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be true and correct as of such
other date), the conditions set forth in subsections (d) through (f) of this Section 6 shall have been satisfied and be true and
correct as of the Closing Time, and the Company shall have complied with all covenants and agreements and satisfied all
conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Time. Any certificate signed by
an officer of the Company or any subsidiary delivered to FBR or to counsel for FBR pursuant to or in connection with this
Agreement shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Company to FBR as to the matters covered thereby. By virtue
of this officer’s certificate, the Company is deemed to have made all of the representations and warranties in Section 4 of this
Agreement as of the Closing Time.
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(i) At the time of execution and delivery of this Agreement, FBR shall have received from each of the officers and directors of the
Company a written agreement (a “Lock-up Agreement”) in substantially the form of Exhibit E hereto.

(j) At each Secondary Closing Time, FBR shall have received:

(i) certificates, dated as of each Secondary Closing Time, of the Company, substantially to the same effect as the
certificates delivered at the Closing Time pursuant to subsections (g) and (h), of this Section 6, subject to any exceptions
that, in the reasonable judgment of FBR, are not material.

(ii) the opinion and disclosure letter of Foley & Lardner LLP, and the opinion of Company’s General Counsel, dated as of
each Secondary Closing Time relating to the Option Securities being sold by the Company to FBR at such Secondary
Closing Time, in substantially the same effect as the opinions required by subsection (a) of this Section 6.

(iii) “comfort” letters from Grant Thornton LLP, in form and substance satisfactory to FBR, dated as of each Secondary
Closing Time, substantially the same in scope and substance as the letter furnished to FBR pursuant to subsection (b) of
this Section 6, except that the “specified date” in the letter furnished pursuant to this subsection (j)(iii) shall be a date not
more than three days prior to such Secondary Closing Time.

In the event that any “comfort” letter referred to in subsection (b) of this Section 6 or this subsection (j)(iii) sets forth any
such changes, decreases or increases that, in the reasonable discretion of FBR, are likely, individually or in the aggregate,
to result in a Material Adverse Effect, it shall be a further condition to the obligations of FBR that, at the written request of
FBR, such letters shall be accompanied by a written explanation of the Company as to the significance thereof, unless
FBR deems such explanation unnecessary, which written explanation is reasonably satisfactory to FBR and which details
the actions the Company has taken or plans to take to remediate or otherwise address such change. References to the
Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and/or Final Memorandum with respect to any “comfort” letter referred
to in this Section 6 shall include any amendment or supplement thereto at the date of such letter.

(iv) the opinion and disclosure letter of Hunton & Williams LLP, dated as of each Secondary Closing Time, relating to the
Option Securities being sold by the Company to FBR at such Secondary Closing Time, and otherwise to the same effect as
the opinion required by subsection (c) of this Section 6.

(k) The number of Regulation D Securities to be sold at the Closing Time to investors who have properly executed Subscription
Agreements in the form of Exhibit F hereto, have not had their Subscription Agreements terminated pursuant to Section 6(l)
below and have funded the full amount of their purchase price, plus the number of Resales Securities to be sold at the Closing
Time, shall equal no less than 95% of the aggregate number of Initial Securities.

(l) In the event any Subscription Agreement that has been executed and delivered by a prospective investor in the Regulation D
Securities and accepted by the Company is, as of the Closing Time, either (i) not in full force and effect or (ii) terminable by
either party thereto pursuant to the terms thereof, then neither the Company nor FBR shall have the right to close on the
issuance and sale of the Regulation D Securities covered by such Subscription Agreement without the written consent of the
other. Any such Subscription Agreement with respect to which the Company or FBR elects not to close shall be terminated.
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7. Termination. The obligations of FBR hereunder shall be subject to termination in the absolute discretion of FBR, at any time
prior to the Closing Time or any Secondary Closing Time, if (i) any of the conditions specified in Section 6 shall not have been
fulfilled when and as required by this Agreement to be fulfilled, (ii) trading in securities in general on any exchange or national
quotation system shall have been suspended or minimum prices shall have been established on such exchange or quotation
system, (iii) trading in the Company’s Common Stock has been suspended or materially limited, (iv) there has been a material
disruption in the securities settlement, payment or clearance services in the United States, (v) a banking moratorium shall have
been declared either by the United States or New York state authorities, or (vi) if the United States shall have declared war in
accordance with its constitutional processes or there shall have occurred any material outbreak or escalation of hostilities or
other national or international calamity or crisis or change in economic, political or other conditions of such magnitude in its
effect on the financial markets of the United States as, in the judgment of FBR, to make it impracticable to market the Securities.

If FBR elects to terminate this Agreement as provided in this Section 7, the Company shall be notified promptly by letter or fax.

If the sale to FBR of the Resale Securities, as contemplated by this Agreement, is not carried out by FBR for any reason
permitted under this Agreement or if such sale is not carried out because the Company shall be unable to comply with any of the
terms of this Agreement, (i) the Company shall not be under any obligation or liability to FBR under this Agreement (except to
the extent provided in Sections 5(m), 5(q) and 8 hereof), (ii) and FBR shall be under no obligation or liability to the Company
under this Agreement (except to the extent provided in Section 8 hereof).

 
8. Indemnity.

(a) The Company agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless FBR and its directors and officers, and any person who
controls FBR within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act, from and against any
loss, expense, liability or claim (including the reasonable cost of investigation) which, jointly or severally, FBR or any such
controlling person may incur under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise, insofar as such loss, expense, liability or
claim arises out of or is based upon (i) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement made by the Company herein, (ii) any
breach by the Company of any covenant set forth herein, or (iii) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material
fact contained in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package or the Final Memorandum, any supplement to any of
the foregoing, or any marketing materials, including any “road show” presentation, used in connection with the offering and sale
of the Securities, or that arises out of or is based upon any omission or alleged omission to state a material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading, except insofar as any such loss, expense, liability or claim arises out of or is based upon any untrue statement
or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in and in conformity with information furnished in writing by FBR to the
Company expressly for use in such Preliminary Memorandum, Disclosure Package or Final Memorandum (that information
being limited to that described in the last sentence of Section 8(b) hereof).

(b) FBR agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Company and its directors and officers and any person who controls
the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act, from and against any
loss, expense, liability or claim (including the reasonable cost of investigation) which, jointly or severally, the Company or any
such person may incur under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or
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otherwise, insofar as such loss, expense, liability or claim arises out of or is based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue
statement of a material fact contained in and made in reliance upon and in conformity with information furnished in writing by
FBR to the Company expressly for use in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package or the Final Memorandum (or
in any amendment or supplement thereof by the Company), such information being limited to the following: the eleventh and
twelfth paragraphs of the “Plan of Distribution” section of the Preliminary Memorandum.

(c) If any action is brought against any person or entity (each an “Indemnified Party”), in respect of which indemnity may be
sought pursuant to Section 8(a) or (b) above, the Indemnified Party shall promptly notify the party(ies) obligated to provide such
indemnity (each an “Indemnifying Party”) in writing of the institution of such action and the Indemnifying Party shall assume the
defense of such action, including the employment of counsel and payment of expenses; provided that the failure so to notify the
Indemnifying Party will not relieve the Indemnifying Party from any liability which the Indemnifying Party may have to any
Indemnified Party unless and to the extent the Indemnifying Party did not otherwise know of such action and such failure results
in the forfeiture by the Indemnifying Party of rights and defenses that would have had material value in the defense. The
Indemnified Party(ies) shall have the right to employ its or their own counsel in any such case, but the fees and expenses of
such counsel shall be at the expense of the Indemnified Party(ies) unless the employment of such counsel shall have been
authorized in writing by the Indemnifying Party in connection with the defense of such action or the Indemnifying Party shall not
have employed counsel to have charge of the defense of such action within a reasonable time or such Indemnified Party(ies)
shall have reasonably concluded (based on the advice of counsel) that counsel selected by the Indemnifying Party has an actual
conflict of interest or there may be defenses available to the Indemnified Party(ies) which are different from or additional to
those available to the Indemnifying Party (in which case the Indemnifying Party shall not have the right to direct the defense of
such action on behalf of the Indemnified Party(ies)), in any of which events such fees and expenses shall be borne by the
Indemnifying Party and paid as incurred (it being understood, however, that the Indemnifying Party shall not be liable for the fees
and expenses of more than one separate firm of counsel (in addition to local counsel) for the Indemnified Party in any one action
or series of related actions in the same jurisdiction representing the Indemnified Parties who are parties to such action).
Anything in this paragraph to the contrary notwithstanding, the Indemnifying Party shall not be liable for any settlement of any
such claim or action effected without its written consent. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right to settle any such claim or
action for itself and any Indemnified Party so long as the Indemnifying Party pays any settlement payment and such settlement
(i) includes a complete and unconditional release of the Indemnified Party from all losses, expenses, claims, damages,
injunctions, liability and other obligations with respect to any claims that are the subject matter of such action and (ii) does not
include a statement as to, or an admission of, fault, culpability or a failure to act by or on behalf of the Indemnified Party.

(d) If the indemnification provided for in this Section 8 is unavailable to an Indemnified Party under subsections (a) and (b) of this
Section 8 in respect of any losses, expenses, liabilities or claims referred to therein, then each applicable Indemnifying Party, in
lieu of indemnifying such Indemnified Party, shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by such indemnified party as a result
of such losses, expenses, liabilities or claims (i) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by
the Company, on the one hand, and FBR, on the other hand, from the offering of the Securities or (ii) if the allocation provided
by clause (i) above is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits
referred to in clause (i) above but also the relative fault of the Company, on the one hand, and of FBR, on the other hand, in
connection with the statements or omissions which resulted in such losses, expenses, liabilities or claims, as well as any other
relevant equitable considerations. The relative
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benefits received by the Company, on the one hand, and FBR, on the other hand, shall be deemed to be in the same proportion
as the total proceeds from the offering (net of the Initial Purchaser Discount and the Placement Fee but before deducting
expenses) received by the Company bear to the discounts and commissions and Placement Fee received by FBR. The relative
fault of the Company, on the one hand, and of FBR, on the other hand, shall be determined by reference to, among other things,
whether the untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission relates to
information supplied by the Company or by FBR and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information and
opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. The amount paid or payable by a party as a result of the losses,
claims, damages and liabilities referred to above shall be deemed to include any legal or other fees or expenses reasonably
incurred by such party in connection with investigating or defending any claim or action.

(e) The parties hereto agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 8 were determined by
pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation which does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to in
subsection (d) above. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 8, FBR shall not be required to contribute any amount in
excess of the amount by which the total price at which the Securities were initially offered (in the Exempt Resales and the
Private Placement) exceeds the amount of any damages which FBR has otherwise been required to pay by reason of such
untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission. No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the
meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was not guilty of such
fraudulent misrepresentation.

(f) The indemnity and contribution agreements contained in this Section 8 and the covenants, warranties and representations of
the Company contained in this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on
behalf of FBR or its directors and officers, or any person who controls FBR within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act
or Section 20 of the Exchange Act, or by or on behalf of the Company or its directors and officers or any person who controls the
Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act, and shall survive any
termination of this Agreement or the sale and delivery of the Securities. Each party to this Agreement agrees promptly to notify
the other party of the commencement of any litigation or proceeding against it and, in the case of the Company, against any of
their respective officers and directors, in connection with the sale and delivery of the Securities, or in connection with the
Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and/or Final Memorandum.

 
9. Notices. Except as otherwise herein provided, all statements, requests, notices and agreements shall be in writing delivered by

facsimile (with receipt confirmed), overnight courier or registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or by telegram and:

(a) if to FBR, shall be sufficient in all respects if delivered or sent to FBR Capital Markets & Co., 1001 Nineteenth Street North,
Arlington, Virginia 22209, Attention: Compliance Department, (facsimile: 703-312-9698); with a copy to Hunton & Williams LLP,
951 East Byrd Street, Richmond, Virginia 23219, Attention: Daniel M. LeBey, Esq. (facsimile: (804) 788-8218); and

(b) if to the Company, shall be sufficient in all respects if delivered to the Company at the offices of the Company at 701 Park of
Commerce Boulevard – Suite 301, Boca Raton, Florida 33487 Attention: General Counsel (facsimile: (561) 995-4207); with a
copy to Foley & Lardner LLP, One Independence Drive, Suite 1300, Jacksonville, Florida 32202, Attention: Michael Kirwan
(facsimile: (904) 359-8700).
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10. Duties. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to create a partnership, joint venture or agency relationship between the
parties. FBR undertakes to perform such duties and obligations only as expressly set forth herein. Such duties and obligations of
FBR with respect to the Securities shall be determined solely by the express provisions of this Agreement, and FBR shall not be
liable except for the performance of such duties and obligations with respect to the Securities as are specifically set forth in this
Agreement. The Company acknowledges and agrees that: (i) the purchase and sale of the Securities pursuant to this
Agreement, including the determination of the offering price of the Securities and the Initial Purchaser Discount and the
Placement Fee, is an arm’s-length commercial transaction between the Company, on the one hand, and FBR, on the other
hand, and the Company is capable of evaluating and understanding and understands and accepts the terms, risks and
conditions of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) in connection with each transaction contemplated hereby and
the process leading to such transaction FBR is and has been acting solely as a principal and is not the financial advisor, agent or
fiduciary of the Company or its affiliates, stockholders, creditors or employees or any other party; (iii) FBR has not assumed and
will not assume an advisory, agency or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the Company with respect to any of the transactions
contemplated hereby or the process leading thereto (irrespective of whether FBR has advised or is currently advising the
Company on other matters); and (iv) FBR and its affiliates may be engaged in a broad range of transactions that involve
interests that differ from those of the Company and that FBR has no obligation to disclose any of such interests. The Company
acknowledges that FBR disclaims any implied duties (including any fiduciary duty), covenants or obligations arising from its
performance of the duties and obligations expressly set forth herein. The Company hereby waives and releases, to the fullest
extent permitted by law, any claims that the Company may have against FBR with respect to any breach or alleged breach of
agency or fiduciary duty.

 
11. GOVERNING LAw; HEADINGS. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE

WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PRINCIPLES THAT
WOULD REQUIRE THE APPLICATION OF THE LAW OF ANY OTHER STATE. The section headings in this Agreement have
been inserted as a matter of convenience of reference and are not a part of this Agreement.

 
12. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE PARTIES HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL

BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT AND THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

 
13. Parties at Interest. The Agreement herein set forth has been and is made solely for the benefit of FBR and the Company and the

controlling persons, directors and officers referred to in Section 8 hereof, and their respective successors, assigns, executors
and administrators. No other person, partnership, association or corporation (including a purchaser, in its capacity as such, from
FBR) shall acquire or have any right under or by virtue of this Agreement.

 
14. Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed by the parties in counterparts, which together shall constitute one and the same

agreement among the parties.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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If the foregoing correctly sets forth the understanding among the Company and FBR, please so indicate in the space provided below
for the purpose, whereupon this letter shall constitute a binding agreement between the Company and FBR.

 
Very truly yours,

IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC.

By: /s/ Antony Mitchell

 

Name: Antony Mitchell
Title: Chief Executive Officer

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO PURCHASE/PLACEMENT AGREEMENT]
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Accepted and agreed to as of the date first above written:
 
FBR CAPITAL MARKETS & CO.

By:  /s/ Bradley Wright
 Name: Bradley Wright

 

Title:
 

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Chief Administrative Officer

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO PURCHASE/PLACEMENT AGREEMENT]
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EXHIBIT A

FORM OF OPINION AND DISCLOSURE LETTER
OF FOLEY & LARDNER LLP

[ATTACHED]
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   ATTORNEYS AT LAW

   

ONE INDEPENDENT DRIVE, SUITE 1300
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32202-5017
904.359.2000 TEL
904.359.8700 FAX
www.foley.com

  
February     , 2014

 
CLIENT/MATTER NUMBER
084091-0120

FBR Capital Markets & Co.
1001 19th Street North
Arlington, Virginia 22209

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as counsel for Imperial Holdings, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”), in connection with the issuance
and sale by the Company (A) to FBR Capital Markets & Co., as initial purchaser, (the “Purchaser”) pursuant to that certain
Purchase/Placement Agreement, dated as of February     , 2014 (the “Purchase Agreement”), between the Company and Purchaser,
of (i) an aggregate of $[                    ] principal amount of [        ]% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019 (the “Firm
Securities”), convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 (“Common Stock”), cash or a combination of
shares of Common Stock and cash, and (ii) the option to purchase up to an aggregate of $14,000,000.00 principal amount of
additional [        ]% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019 (the “Option Securities”), convertible into shares of Common Stock,
cash or a combination of shares of Common Stock and cash and (B) of an aggregate of $[                    ] principal amount of additional
[        ]% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019 (the “Private Placement Securities” and together with the Firm Securities and
Option Securities, the “Securities”), convertible into shares of Common Stock, cash or a combination of shares of Common Stock and
cash in a private placement offering directly to accredited investors (as defined in Section 501(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended) (the “Accredited Investors”) pursuant to subscription agreements from the Accredited Investors in the form attached as
Exhibit F to the Purchase Agreement (collectively, the “Subscription Agreement”). The Securities are issued under the Indenture,
dated as of February     , 2014 (the “Indenture”, and together with the Purchase Agreement, collectively the “Transaction
Documents”), between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”). We address this opinion to you
at the request of the Company and pursuant to Section 6(a) of the Purchase Agreement. All capitalized terms used but not defined
herein have the respective meanings ascribed thereto in the Purchase Agreement.

In connection with our representation, we have examined (i) the Purchase Agreement, (ii) the Preliminary Memorandum, (iii) the
Final Memorandum, (iv) the Disclosure Package, (v) the Indenture, (vi) the Company’s Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, each as
amended to date (the “Organizational Documents”), (vii) a certificate issued by the Office of the Secretary of State of Florida, dated as
of a recent date, indicating that the Company is duly formed, in good standing and validly existing as of such date (the “Good
Standing Certificate”), (viii) resolutions of the
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Company’s Board of Directors relating to the authorization of the issuance of the Securities pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, and
(ix) such other proceedings, documents, and records as we have deemed necessary to enable us to render this opinion. In all such
examinations, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, the authenticity of all documents, certificates and instruments
submitted to us as originals, and the conformity with the originals of all documents submitted to us as copies. We have, among other
things, relied upon certificates of public officials and, as to various factual matters, certificates of officers of the Company.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing and the other matters set forth herein, and having regard for such legal considerations
as we deem relevant, we are of the opinion that:

1. Based solely on the Good Standing Certificate, the Company is a duly formed and validly existing corporation in good
standing under the laws of the State of Florida. The Company has the power and authority under the Florida Business Corporations
Act (the “FBCA”) and its Organizational Documents to (i) own, lease or operate its properties and other assets and to conduct its
business as described in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, and (ii) to execute and
deliver the Transaction Documents and to perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents and the Securities.

2. Each subsidiary of the Company listed on Exhibit “A” hereto is a limited liability company, has been duly formed and is
existing and in active status or good standing (as applicable) under the laws of the state of its formation.

3. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of the Transaction Documents has been duly authorized by all
necessary corporate action required by the FBCA and the Organizational Documents, and each of the Transaction Documents has
been duly executed and, to our knowledge, delivered by the Company.

4. Assuming due authorization, execution, and delivery thereof by the Trustee, the Indenture constitutes a valid and legally
binding obligation of the Company enforceable against the Company under New York law in accordance with its terms.

5. The Securities have been duly authorized for issuance, executed, and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due
authorization, execution, and delivery of the Indenture and authentication of the Securities by the Trustee as provided in the
Indenture, when delivered to and paid for by the Purchaser and Accredited Investors as provided for under the Purchase Agreement
and Subscription Agreement, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and will constitute valid and legally binding
obligations of the Company under New York law enforceable against the Company in accordance with their terms.

6. The Indenture, the Securities and the shares of Common Stock initially issuable upon conversion of the Securities conform in
all material respects as to legal matters to the description thereof contained in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package
and the Final Memorandum; and the authorized Common Stock of the Company is as set forth in the Final Memorandum under the
heading “Capitalization.”
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7. The shares of Common Stock initially issuable upon conversion of the Securities (i) have been duly authorized and reserved
for issuance upon conversion of the Securities in accordance with the terms of the Securities and the Indenture, (ii) conform in all
material respects to the description of such Common Stock contained in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and
Final Memorandum under the heading “Description of Capital Stock,” and (iii) when issued upon conversion the Securities, will be
validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. The issuance of the shares of Common Stock is not subject to any pre-emptive right,
co-sale right, registration right, right of first refusal or other similar right arising under the FBCA or the Organizational Documents.

8. Neither the Company nor any subsidiary of the Company listed on Exhibit “A” hereto is required to be and, after giving effect
to the offering and sale of the Securities and the application of the proceeds thereof as described under the heading “Use of
Proceeds” in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, will be required to be, registered as
an “investment company” as defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

9. No consent, approval, authorization, or order of, or filing with, any governmental agency or body or any court is required for
the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of the Transaction Documents or the consummation by the Company of the
transactions contemplated thereby or for the issuance, sale and delivery of the Securities and shares of Common Stock of the
Company that may be issuable upon conversion of the Securities, except in each case such as have been already made, obtained, or
rendered, as applicable, and such as may be required under state securities laws or blue sky laws or Canadian provincial securities
laws or other foreign laws.

10. The execution, delivery and performance of the Indenture and the Purchase Agreement and the issuance, sale and delivery
of the Securities and compliance with the terms and provisions thereof will not result in a breach or violation of any of the terms and
provisions of, or constitute a default under, (i) the Organizational Documents of the Company or the organizational documents of any
of its subsidiaries, (ii) any applicable statute, rule, regulation or order known to us of any U.S. federal or New York or Florida state
governmental agency or body or any U.S. federal or New York or Florida state court having jurisdiction over the Company or any of
its U.S. subsidiaries, or any of their properties or assets, or (iii) any agreement or instrument to which the Company or any of its U.S.
subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its U.S. subsidiaries is bound or to which any of the properties or assets of
the Company or any of its U.S. subsidiaries is subject and in each case that is filed with or incorporated by reference as an exhibit to
any of the Company’s 2013 Exchange Act Reports, or (iv) to our knowledge, any judgment, decree or order of any New York or
Florida state or federal court or other governmental authority binding on the Company or its properties or assets, except, in the case
of clauses (ii) and (iii), for any such breaches, violations, or defaults that would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material
Adverse Effect.

11. In reliance upon the representations and warranties made by the Company and the Purchaser in the Purchase Agreement
and by the Accredited Investors in the Subscription
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Agreement, and assuming the performance by the Company, the Purchaser and the Accredited Investors of their respective
obligations thereunder, it is not necessary in connection with (i) the issuance, sale and delivery of the Securities by the Company to
the Purchaser pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, (ii) the issuance, sale and delivery of the Securities by the Company to the
Accredited Investors pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, or (iii) the initial offer, sale and delivery of the Securities by the
Purchaser, in each case in the manner contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, the Disclosure Package and the Final
Memorandum, to register the Securities or the Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Securities under the Securities Act or
to qualify the Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (it being understood that no opinion is expressed as to
any subsequent resale of the Securities).

12. The statements in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum under the headings
“Existing Indebtedness” and “Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations”, insofar as such statements summarize
legal matters, agreements, documents or proceedings discussed therein, are accurate and fair summaries in all material respects of
such legal matters, agreements, documents or proceedings referenced therein.

The opinions set forth above are subject to the following qualifications:

The enforceability of the Indenture and the Securities and the availability of certain remedies thereunder, including but not
limited to, specific performance and injunctive relief, may be subject to or limited by (a) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
arrangement, moratorium, fraudulent conveyance or transfer, equitable subordination, or other similar laws relating to or affecting the
rights of creditors generally; (b) general equitable principles and the exercise of judicial discretion in the application thereof,
regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding at law or in equity; and (c) the qualification that certain
provisions of the Indenture may be unenforceable in whole or in part under the laws (including judicial decisions) of the State of New
York, but the inclusion of such provisions does not affect the validity as against the Company of the Indenture as a whole and the
Indenture contains adequate provisions for enforcing the obligations governed thereby and otherwise for the practical realization of
the principal benefits intended to be provided thereby, subject to the other qualifications contained herein.

The enforceability of the Indenture is further subject to the qualification that certain waivers (including, without limitation, waivers
of jury trial, waivers of stay, waivers of counterclaims, notice, and rights of redemption, unknown future rights, or defenses to
obligations), procedures, remedies, grants, claims, actions, consents to jurisdiction and other provisions of the Transaction
Documents may be unenforceable under, or limited by, in whole or in part, the law of the State of New York or federal law.

We express no opinion herein as to: (i) antitrust or unfair competition laws or regulations; (ii) zoning, land use, or subdivision
laws or regulations; (iii) labor, ERISA, or other employee benefit laws or regulations; (iv) environmental, racketeering, or health and
safety laws or regulations; (v) banking, insurance or tax laws or regulations; (vi) public utility laws or regulations; (vii) laws, regulations
or policies relating to national or local emergencies; (viii) local laws, regulations, or ordinances (whether or not created or enabled
through legislative action at the federal, state or regional level); (ix) anti-money laundering or anti-terrorism laws and regulations,
including,

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



without limitation, the USA PATRIOT Act (Title III of Public L. 107-56), the Bank Secrecy Act, or any other United States Executive
Orders, including, without limitation, Executive Order 13224 of September 23, 2001 Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions
With Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit or Support Terrorism (66 Fed. Reg. 49079 (2001)); (x) the Foreign Assistance Act;
(xi) the Trading with the Enemy Act, the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, any other laws regarding sanctions or export
limitations or controls, or any regulations issued thereunder, including, without limitation, regulations of the Office of Foreign Assets
Control; (xii) the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or any regulations issued thereunder; (xii) foreign or international laws, regulations, or
ordinances; (xiii) securities or blue sky laws or regulations (except as expressly set forth herein); or (xiv) any laws which in our
experience are not customarily applicable to transactions of the type contemplated by the Transaction Documents.

We have not examined the records of any court or any public, quasi-public, private, or other office in any jurisdiction (other than
as expressly specified herein), and our opinions are subject to matters that an examination of such records would reveal.

We express no opinion as to the effect on the opinions expressed herein of (i) the compliance or non-compliance of any party to
the Transaction Documents (other than Company to the extent expressly set forth in paragraphs 9 and 10) with any state, federal or
other laws or regulations applicable to it, (ii) the legal or regulatory status or the nature of the business of any party (other than
Company to the extent expressly set forth herein); or (iii) the effect of any possible judicial, administrative or other action giving effect
to either the actions of foreign governmental authorities or foreign laws.

We are not passing upon and do not assume any responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or fairness of the statements
contained in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package or the Final Memorandum, including the documents incorporated
by reference therein and any supplements or amendments thereto.

Our opinion in paragraph 2 above as to the formation and status of the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries is rendered exclusively in
reliance on certificates of the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and the Secretary of State of the State of Florida, as
applicable.

We express no opinion as to any provision of any instrument, agreement or other document (i) regarding severability of the
provisions thereof; (ii) providing that the assertion or employment of any right or remedy shall not prevent the concurrent assertion or
employment of any other right or remedy, or that every right and remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to every other right and
remedy, or that any delay or omission to exercise any right or remedy shall not impair any right or remedy or constitute a waiver
thereof; or (iii) regarding consents to, or restrictions upon, governing law, jurisdiction or venue.

We are qualified to practice law in the States of Florida and New York and we do not purport to be experts on the law other than
that of the States of Florida and New York and the Federal laws of the United States of America. We express no opinion with respect
to the laws of any jurisdiction other than the laws of the States of Florida and New York and the Federal laws of the United States of
America.
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Wherever we indicate that our opinion with respect to the existence or absence of facts is “to our knowledge” or with reference
to matters of which we are aware or which are known to us, or with similar qualification, such opinion is, with your permission, based
solely on the current conscious awareness of the individual attorneys in this firm who have participated directly and substantively in
the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents and the individual attorneys in this firm who have provided substantive
attention to legal matters for the Company during the past twelve (12) months, without any investigation or review of our files, and
means that such attorneys do not have a current recollection of any fact or circumstance contradicting the statement, and does not
imply that we know the statement is correct or that this firm (or any attorney in this firm) has undertaken any investigation or
verification of such matters or information except to obtain certificates as to certain factual matters from officers of the Company.

The opinions expressed in this letter are given as of the date hereof, and we do not undertake to advise you of any events
occurring subsequent to the date hereof that might affect any of the matters covered by any of such opinions.

We are furnishing this letter to you in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents and it is
solely for your benefit. This letter and the opinions set forth herein may not be used or relied upon by you for any other purpose or
relied upon for any purpose by any other person or entity (including any person or entity purchasing any of the Securities from the
Purchasers) without our prior written consent. This letter may not be quoted or reproduced in whole or in part or otherwise referred to
in any manner, nor may it be filed with any governmental agency or furnished or circulated to any other person or entity without our
prior written consent, except as required by law or court order.

Foley & Lardner LLP
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EXHIBIT A

List of Subsidiaries of the Company

Imperial Finance & Trading, LLC
Red Reef Alternative Investments, LLC
OLIPP IV, LLC
Markley Asset Portfolio, LLC
White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LLC
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ATTORNEYS AT LAW
ONE INDEPENDENT DRIVE, SUITE 1300
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32202-5017
904.359.2000 TEL
904.359.8700 FAX
www.foley.com

  
February __, 2014

  
CLIENT/MATTER NUMBER
084091-0120

FBR Capital Markets & Co.
1001 19th Street North
Arlington, Virginia 22209     

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as counsel for Imperial Holdings, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”), in connection with the
issuance and sale by the Company (A) to FBR Capital Markets & Co., as initial purchaser, (the “Purchaser”) pursuant to that certain
Purchase Agreement, dated as of February __, 2014 (the “Purchase Agreement”), between the Company and Purchaser, of (i) an
aggregate of $[                                         ] principal amount of [            ]% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019 (the “Firm
Securities”), convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 (“Common Stock”), cash or a combination of
shares of Common Stock and cash, and (ii) the option to purchase up to an aggregate of $14,000,000.00 principal amount of
additional [            ]% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019 (the “Option Securities”), convertible into shares of Common
Stock, cash or a combination of shares of Common Stock and cash and (B) of an aggregate of $[                                         ] principal
amount of additional [            ]% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019 (the “Private Placement Securities” and together with
the Firm Securities and Option Securities, the “Securities”), convertible into shares of Common Stock, cash or a combination of
shares of Common Stock and cash in a private placement offering directly to accredited investors (as defined in Section 501(a) of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended). The Securities are issued under the Indenture, dated as of February __, 2014 (the “Indenture”,
and together with the Purchase Agreement, collectively the “Transaction Documents”), between the Company and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”). As counsel to the Company, we reviewed the Preliminary Memorandum, together
with the documents and information listed on Exhibit A hereto (collectively, the “Pricing Disclosure Package”) and the Final
Memorandum and we have participated in discussions with your representatives and representatives of the Company and its
independent registered public accounting firm regarding such documents and information and related matters. Between the date of
the Final Memorandum and the time of delivery of this letter, we participated in further discussions with your representatives and
those of the Company and its accountants concerning certain matters relating to the Company and reviewed certificates of certain
officers of the Company and letters addressed to you from their accountants. This letter is delivered pursuant to Section 6(a) of the
Purchase Agreement. All capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the respective meanings ascribed thereto in the
Purchase Agreement.

The purpose of our professional engagement was not to establish or to confirm the factual matters set forth in the
Preliminary Memorandum, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, and except as set forth below we have not
undertaken to verify
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independently any of such factual matters. Moreover, many of the documents required to be prepared or used in connection with the
drafting of the Preliminary Memorandum, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum involve matters of a non-legal
nature.

Subject to the foregoing and on the basis of information we gained in the course of performing the services referred to
above, we confirm to you that nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that:

The Preliminary Memorandum, as of the date thereof and the time of delivery of this letter, contained any untrue statement of a
material fact or omitted to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;

The Final Memorandum, as of the date thereof and the time of delivery of this letter, contained any untrue statement of a material fact
or omitted to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading; or

The Pricing Disclosure Package, as of _______ __.m. on February ___, 2014, contained any untrue statement of a material fact or
omitted to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading.

provided, however, that we do not assume any responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the statements contained
in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Pricing Disclosure Package or Final Memorandum (except to the extent set forth in numbered
paragraphs 6,7 and 13 of our opinion to you of even date hereof), and we do not express any belief with respect to the financial
statements and related notes and other financial data derived therefrom, contained in or omitted from the Preliminary Memorandum,
the Pricing Disclosure Package or Final Memorandum.

This letter is furnished to you solely for your benefit in your capacity as Purchaser in connection with the Purchase
Agreement and may not be used, quoted, relied upon or otherwise referred to for any other purpose or by any other person (including
any person purchasing any of the Securities from the Purchaser).

 
Very truly yours,

FOLEY & LARDNER LLP
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EXHIBIT A
 
1. Preliminary Memorandum dated January 31, 2014.
 
2. The supplement to the Preliminary Memorandum, dated February 11, 2014
 
3. The pricing information set forth on Schedule I of the Purchase Agreement.
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EXHIBIT B

FORM OF OPINION OF GENERAL COUNSEL

[ATTACHED]
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[Letterhead of Michael Altschuler, as Chief Legal Officer of
Imperial Holdings, Inc.]

[            ], 2014

FBR Capital Markets & Co.
1001 19th Street North
Arlington, Virginia 22209

Imperial Holdings, Inc.
[            ]% Senior, Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2019

Ladies and Gentlemen:

I am the General Counsel of Imperial Holdings, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”) and, in such capacity, have
represented the Company in connection with the issuance and sale by the Company to FBR Capital Markets & Co. (“FBR”), pursuant
to the Purchase Agreement, dated [            ], 2014 (the “Purchase Agreement”) between the Company and FBR, of $[            ]
aggregate principal amount of the [            ]% Senior, Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2019 of the Company.

This opinion is furnished to you at the request of the Company pursuant to Section 6(a) of the Purchase Agreement. Capitalized
terms used in this letter and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Purchase
Agreement.

As to various questions of fact material to this opinion, I have relied upon certificates or representations of officers of the
Company, appropriate governmental authorities, and other appropriate persons. Any reference herein to “my knowledge” or any
variation of any of the foregoing shall mean that in the course of performing my duties as General Counsel of the Company, I have not
obtained actual, conscious knowledge of the existence or absence of any facts which would contradict my opinion set forth below.

In my examination of the documents I have relied on, I have assumed the genuineness of all signatures (other than those of the
Company), the legal capacity of each signatory to such documents (other than the Company), the authenticity of all documents
submitted to me as originals, the conformity to original documents of documents submitted to me as copies, and the authenticity of the
originals of such latter documents.

The opinions that follow are provided to you as a legal opinion only and not as a guaranty or warranty of the matters discussed
herein. The opinions expressed herein are given as of the date hereof and are based upon currently existing statutes, rules,
regulations and judicial decisions, and I disclaim any obligation to advise you of any change in any of these sources of law or other
subsequent developments which might affect any matters or opinions set forth herein. I also express no opinion herein with respect to
the securities or Blue Sky laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States or of any foreign jurisdiction and I express no
opinion and make no statement herein with respect to the antifraud laws of any jurisdiction. I do not purport to express an opinion on
any laws other than the federal securities laws of the United States of America and the States of New York and Florida, where I am
admitted. To the extent that any other laws govern any of the
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matters as to which I express an opinion herein, I have assumed for purposes of this opinion, with your permission and without
independent investigation, that such laws are identical to the laws of the State of New York, and I express no opinion as to whether
such assumption is reasonable or correct.

Based on the foregoing and subject to the qualifications and limitations stated herein, I am of the opinion that:
 

1. There is, to my knowledge, no pending or threatened action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or governmental agency,
authority or body involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its or their property, of a character required to be disclosed
in the documents incorporated by reference into the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum that is not adequately
disclosed in the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum.

 

2. There is, to my knowledge, no material contract of a character required to be described in the documents incorporated by
reference into the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, or to be filed as an exhibit thereto, that is not described or
filed as required.

This opinion is being delivered to you solely in connection with the Purchase Agreement, is solely for your benefit and may not,
without my prior written consent, be relied upon for any other purpose, or furnished to, quoted to or relied upon by any other party.
The opinions expressed herein are provided solely in my capacity as General Counsel of the Company and not in any capacity as a
private attorney.

 
Very truly yours,

By:  

 

Michael Altschuler
General Counsel of Imperial Holdings, Inc.
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RESERVED
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EXHIBIT D

FORM OF OPINION AND DISCLOSURE LETTER
OF HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP

[ATTACHED]
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HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP
RIVERFRONT PLAZA, EAST TOWER
951 EAST BYRD STREET
RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 23219-4074
 

TEL    804 • 788 • 8200
FAX    804 • 788 • 8218

 
FILE NO: 68748.000020

February [    ], 2014     

FBR Capital Markets & Co.
1001 Nineteenth Street North
Arlington, Virginia 22209

Imperial Holdings, Inc.
Up to $84,000,000 Aggregate Principal Amount of

[            ]% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes Due 2019

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as your counsel in connection with the offer and sale by Imperial Holdings, Inc., a Florida corporation (the
“Company”), of up to $84,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the Company’s [            ]% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes Due
2019 (the “Securities”), including up to $14,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Securities that may be issued and sold by the
Company to FBR Capital Markets & Co. (“you”) pursuant to Section 1(c) of the Purchase/Placement Agreement, dated as of
February [    ], 2014 (the “Purchase/Placement Agreement”), by and between the Company and you. The Securities will be issued
pursuant to an indenture, dated as of February [    ], 2014, by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee (the “Trustee”).

This opinion is furnished to you pursuant to Section 6(c) of the Purchase/Placement Agreement. Capitalized terms used herein
and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings assigned in the Purchase/Placement Agreement.

In connection with the foregoing, we have made such legal and factual examinations and inquiries as we have deemed
necessary or advisable for the purpose of rendering this opinion, including, but not limited to, the examination of the following
documents:

1. the Preliminary Memorandum, subject to completion, dated January 31, 2014, relating to the offering of the Securities;

2. the Supplement to Preliminary Memorandum, subject to completion, dated February 11, 2014;

3. the Disclosure Package;

4. the Final Memorandum, dated February [    ], 2014, relating to the offering of the Securities;

5. the Indenture;
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6. the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as amended, certified as of February [    ], 2014 by the Secretary of State
of the State of Florida;

7. the Bylaws of the Company, as amended, certified by the Secretary of the Company as of February [    ], 2014;

8. resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company and of the Pricing Committee of the Board of Directors relating to,
among other things, the authorization of the issuance of the Securities pursuant to the Purchase/Placement Agreement,
each as certified by the Secretary of the Company as of February [    ], 2014; and

9. the Purchase/Placement Agreement.

For purposes of the opinions expressed below, we have assumed: (i) the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as
originals; (ii) the conformity to the originals of all documents submitted as certified or photostatic copies and the authenticity of the
originals thereof; (iii) the legal capacity of natural persons; and (iv) the genuineness of all signatures.

As to factual matters, we have relied upon representations of the Company and you included in the Purchase/Placement
Agreement, upon certificates delivered pursuant to the Purchase/Placement Agreement and upon certificates of public officials.

Based upon the foregoing and such other information and documents as we have considered necessary for the purposes
hereof, we are of the opinion that:

1. The Company has the corporate power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under the Purchase/Placement
Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated therein.

2. The Purchase/Placement Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company.

3. The Indenture has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company and constitutes a valid and legally binding
obligation of the Company under New York law, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms.

4. Assuming due authentication by the Trustee in accordance with the Indenture, and upon payment and delivery in accordance
with the Purchase/Placement Agreement, the Securities will constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the Company under
New York law, enforceable against the Company in accordance with the terms and entitled to the benefits of the Indenture.

5. The offer and sale of the Securities by the Company to you, the initial resale of the Securities by you and the offer and sale of
the Regulation D Securities by the Company to the Accredited Investors, in each case, under the circumstances contemplated by the
Purchase/Placement Agreement, do not require registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”); it
being understood that no opinion is expressed herein as to any subsequent re-offer or resales of the Securities or the Regulation D
Securities.

6. The shares of common stock, par value $0.01, of the Company issuable upon conversion of the Securities (the “Common
Stock”) have been duly authorized and reserved
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by the Company and, when issued upon conversion of the Securities in accordance with the terms of the Indenture and the
Securities, the Common Stock will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

7. The statements in the Preliminary Memorandum, the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum under the headings
“Description of Notes” and “Description of Capital Stock,” insofar as such statements purport to constitute a summary of the terms of
the Securities and the Common Stock, under the heading “Existing Indebtedness,” insofar as such statements purport to constitute a
summary of the terms of any debt facility to which the Company is a party, and under the heading “Material United States Federal
Income Tax Considerations,” insofar as such statements purport to summarize legal matters, agreements, documents or proceedings
discussed therein, are accurate, complete and fair summaries in all material respects of such legal matters, agreements, documents
or proceedings referred to therein.

We have assumed without independent verification, (i) the accuracy of the respective representations and warranties of the
Company and you set forth in the Purchase/Placement Agreement; (ii) that the Company and you each comply with its respective
covenants and agreements in the Purchase/Placement Agreement; (iii) that the offering and sale of the Securities is made as
contemplated in the Final Memorandum; (iv) that neither the Company nor anyone acting on its behalf has published, distributed,
issued, posted or otherwise used or employed any form of “general solicitation” or “general advertising” within the meaning of Rule
502(c) of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act; (v) that prior to the date hereof, neither the Company nor any other
person covered by the provisions of Rule 506(d) of Regulation D under the Securities Act is subject to any of the disqualifying or
disclosable events set forth in paragraph (d)(1)(i) to (viii) of Rule 506(d) of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act;
(vi) that each of the purchasers who buys the Securities from you is a QIB; (vii) that each of the purchasers who buys the Regulation
D Securities from the Company is an “accredited investor” (as defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D promulgated under the
Securities Act), and a court of competent jurisdiction would conclude that the Company’s steps to verify each such purchaser’s status
as an accredited investor is reasonable for purposes of Rule 506(c)(2)(ii), and (viii) that purchasers who buy the Securities in Exempt
Resales and purchasers who buy the Regulation D Securities receive a copy of the Final Memorandum prior to or contemporaneously
with the confirmation of such sale.

Our opinions set forth in paragraphs 3 and 4 above are qualified to the extent enforceability is subject to (i) bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally, including
without limitation fraudulent conveyance or transfer laws, and preference and equitable subordination laws and principles; (ii) general
principles of equity (whether considered in a proceeding at law or in equity); and (iii) concepts of materiality, unconscionability,
reasonableness, impracticability or impossibility of performance, good faith and fair dealing.
 

 

We have examined the opinion of Foley & Lardner LLP, counsel for the Company, delivered to you pursuant to Section 6(a) of
the Purchase/Placement Agreement. Such opinion appears on its face to be responsive in all material respects to the requirements of
the Purchase/Placement Agreement.
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This opinion is limited to the matters stated herein, and no opinion is implied or may be inferred beyond the matters expressly
stated herein. We do not purport to express any opinion on any laws other than the laws of the Florida Business Corporations Act and
the Securities Act. With respect to any matters in this opinion that are governed by Florida law, we have relied on the opinion of even
date herewith of Foley & Lardner LLP, addressed to you, with such firm’s permission, and these opinions are subject to the same
qualifications, assumptions and limitations as are set forth therein.

This opinion is furnished solely for your benefit in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Purchase/Placement
Agreement and may not be used or relied upon by any other person or for any other purpose, nor may this letter or any copies
thereof be furnished to a third party, filed with any governmental agency, quoted, cited or otherwise referred to without our prior
written consent. This opinion is given as of the date hereof, and we do not undertake to advise you of any changes in the views
expressed herein from matters that might hereafter arise or be brought to our attention.

Very truly yours,
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HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP
RIVERFRONT PLAZA, EAST TOWER
951 EAST BYRD STREET
RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 23219-4074
 

TEL    804 • 788 • 8200
FAX    804 • 788 • 8218

 
FILE NO: 68748.000020

    
February [    ], 2014     

FBR Capital Markets & Co.
1001 Nineteenth Street North
Arlington, Virginia 22209

Imperial Holdings, Inc.
Up to $84,000,000 Aggregate Principal Amount of

[            ]% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes Due 2019

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as your counsel in connection with the offer and sale by Imperial Holdings, Inc., a Florida corporation (the
“Company”), of up to $84,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the Company’s [            ]% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes Due
2019 (the “Securities”), including up to $14,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Securities that may be issued and sold by the
Company to FBR Capital Markets & Co. (“you”) pursuant to Section 1(c) of the Purchase/Placement Agreement, dated as of
February [    ], 2014 (the “Purchase/Placement Agreement”), by and between the Company and you. The Securities will be issued
pursuant to an indenture, dated as of February [    ], 2014, by and between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee (the “Trustee”).

This letter is furnished to you pursuant to Section 6(c) of the Purchase/Placement Agreement. Capitalized terms used herein
and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings assigned in the Purchase/Placement Agreement.

We have participated in various conferences with officers of the Company and its affiliates, as well as with representatives of the
independent auditors for the Company, representatives of the Company’s counsel and with your representatives, at which the
contents of the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum and related matters were discussed and reviewed. Because of the
inherent limitations in the independent verification of factual matters, and the character of the determinations involved in the
preparation of the Disclosure Package and the Final Memorandum, we are not passing upon or assuming responsibility for the
accuracy, completeness or fairness of the statements included in or omitted from the Disclosure Package or the Final Memorandum.
However, subject to and on the basis of the foregoing, we advise you that nothing has come to our attention in the course of such
discussions and reviews that has caused us to believe that:

(i) as of Applicable Time, the Disclosure Package contained an untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state any
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading, or
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(ii) that the Final Memorandum, as of its date and as of the date hereof, contained or contains any untrue statement of a material
fact or omitted or omits to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading,

except that we express no view or belief and make no statement with respect to any of the financial statements and schedules and
notes thereto or other financial or accounting information (or the assumptions with respect thereto), included or incorporated by
reference in, or excluded from, the Disclosure Package or the Final Memorandum.

This letter is furnished solely for your benefit in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Purchase/Placement
Agreement and may not be used or relied upon by any other person or for any other purpose, nor may this letter or any copies
thereof be furnished to a third party, filed with any governmental agency, quoted, cited or otherwise referred to without our prior
written consent. This letter is given as of the date hereof, and we do not undertake to advise you of any changes in the views
expressed herein from matters that might hereafter arise or be brought to our attention.

CIRCULAR 230 DISCLOSURE

TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS IMPOSED BY THE INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE, WE INFORM
YOU THAT (A) ANY UNITED STATES FEDERAL TAX ADVICE CONTAINED HEREIN (INCLUDING ANY ATTACHMENTS OR
ENCLOSURES) WAS NOT INTENDED OR WRITTEN TO BE USED, AND CANNOT BE USED, FOR THE PURPOSE OF
AVOIDING UNITED STATES FEDERAL TAX PENALTIES, (B) ANY SUCH ADVICE WAS WRITTEN TO SUPPORT THE
PROMOTION OR MARKETING OF THE TRANSACTIONS OR MATTERS ADDRESSED HEREIN, AND (C) ANY TAXPAYER TO
WHOM THE TRANSACTIONS OR MATTERS ARE BEING PROMOTED, MARKETED OR RECOMMENDED SHOULD SEEK
ADVICE BASED ON ITS PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISOR.

Very truly yours,
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EXHIBIT E

FORM OF LOCK-UP AGREEMENT

January         , 2014

FBR Capital Markets & Co.
1001 Nineteenth Street North, 18th Floor
Arlington, Virginia 22209

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned understands and agrees as follows:

FBR Capital Markets & Co. (“FBR”) proposes to enter into a Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Imperial Holdings,
Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”), providing for (a) the initial purchase by FBR of senior unsecured notes of the Company
due 2019 (the “Notes”), which are convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock, $0.01 par value per share (“Company
Common Stock”), and the resale of such Notes by FBR to certain eligible purchasers, and (b) an option for FBR to purchase
additional Notes for resale by FBR to certain eligible purchasers (all of such Notes are collectively referred to as the “Securities” and
the transactions referred to in (a) and (b) above are collectively referred to as the “Offering”), in each case, in transactions exempt
from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”).

To induce FBR to continue its efforts in connection with the Offering, the undersigned hereby agrees that, without the prior
written consent of FBR, it will not, during the period commencing on the date hereof and ending 90 days after the date of the final
offering memorandum relating to the Offering (the “Restricted Period”): (A) offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or
contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, lend, or otherwise
transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of Company Common Stock beneficially owned (as such term is used in Rule
13d-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)), by the undersigned or any other securities so
owned convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Company Common Stock; or (B) enter into any swap or other arrangement
that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the Company Common Stock,
whether any such transaction described in clause (A) or (B) above is to be settled by delivery of Company Common Stock or such
other securities, in cash or otherwise. The foregoing sentence shall not apply to:
 

 

(a) the establishment of a trading plan pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act for the transfer of shares of
Company Common Stock, provided that (i) such plan does not provide for the transfer of Company Common Stock
during the Restricted Period and (ii) no public announcement or filing under the Exchange Act shall be required of or
voluntarily made by or on behalf of the undersigned or the Company regarding the establishment of such plan;
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(b) transfers of shares of Company Common Stock or any security convertible into Company Common Stock as a bona
fide gift to (i) a member of the undersigned’s Immediate Family (as defined below), (ii) any trust the beneficiaries of
which are the undersigned and/or members of the undersigned’s Immediate Family (as defined below) or (iii) any
entity the owners, members, beneficial owners or beneficiaries of which include the undersigned and/or members of
the undersigned’s Immediate Family (as defined below);

 

 
(c) to the extent the undersigned is a corporation, limited liability company, partnership, trust or other entity, distributions

of shares of Company Common Stock or any security convertible into Company Common Stock to stockholders,
members or limited partners of, or owners of beneficial interests in, the undersigned; or

 

 
(d) any grant or exercise of stock options, restricted stock or warrants pursuant to employee benefit plans or other

employee compensation plans existing on the date hereof or warrants outstanding as of the date hereof or otherwise
referenced in the Offering’s offering memorandum;

provided that in the case of any transfer or distribution pursuant to clause (b) or (c), each donee or distributee shall sign and deliver a
lock-up letter substantially in the form of this letter; provided further that, notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Agreement is not signed
by March 1, 2014, the Restricted Period shall automatically terminate and your obligations under this letter shall be of no further force
or effect.

For purposes of clause (b) above, “Immediate Family” shall mean spouse, lineal descendant, father, mother, brother or sister of
the undersigned, including “in-laws” and adopted children, or any entity the owners, members, or beneficiaries of which include any
of the foregoing.

In addition, the undersigned agrees that, without the prior written consent of FBR, it will not, during the Restricted Period, make
any demand for or exercise any right with respect to, the registration of any shares of Company Common Stock or any security
convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Company Common Stock. The undersigned also agrees and consents to the entry
of stop transfer instructions with the Company’s transfer agent and registrar against the transfer of the undersigned’s shares of
Company Common Stock except in compliance with the foregoing restrictions.

The undersigned understands that the Company and FBR are relying upon this agreement in proceeding toward consummation
of the Offering. The undersigned further understands that this agreement is irrevocable and shall be binding upon the undersigned’s
heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns.

Whether or not the Offering actually occurs depends on a number of factors, including market conditions. Any Offering will only
be made pursuant to an Purchase Agreement, the terms of which are subject to negotiation between the Company and FBR.
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This Lock-Up Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York without
regard to principles of conflict of laws.

This Lock-Up Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts and delivered by facsimile or .pdf, each of which shall
be deemed to be an original but all of which shall constitute one and the same agreement.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Lock-Up Agreement, or caused this Lock-Up Agreement to be
executed, as of the date first written above.

 
Very truly yours,

 
Name:  
Title:  

 

 

(Address)

Email:   
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Exhibit F

FORM OF SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT

Imperial Holdings, Inc.
701 Park of Commerce Blvd. – Suite 301
Boca Raton, Florida 33487

FBR Capital Markets & Co.
1001 Nineteenth Street North, 18th Floor
Arlington, Virginia 22209

Ladies and Gentlemen:

In connection with a proposed purchase from Imperial Holdings, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”), of senior unsecured
convertible notes due 2019 (the “Notes”), the undersigned hereby confirms and certifies that:

1. The undersigned hereby agrees and gives a binding commitment to purchase from the Company the aggregate principal
amount of Notes specified on the signature page hereto on the terms provided for herein and in the Offering Memorandum (defined
below). The subscription amount for the Notes so subscribed will be paid pursuant to the instructions to be provided by FBR Capital
Markets & Co. (“FBR”) on or before the second business day preceding the Closing Date (as such term is defined in the
Purchase/Placement Agreement to be entered into between the Company and FBR). The undersigned understands and agrees that
the Company reserves the right to accept or reject the undersigned’s subscription for the Notes for any reason or for no reason, in
whole or in part, at any time prior to its acceptance by the Company, and the same shall be deemed to be accepted by the Company
only when this Subscription Agreement is signed by a duly authorized person by or on behalf of the Company; the Company may do
so in counterpart form. To the extent that the actual amount of Notes purchased and received by the undersigned is different than the
number subscribed for, the Company and FBR may amend this Subscription Agreement to reflect the actual amount of Notes
purchased and received by the undersigned. The undersigned understands and agrees that, in the event that FBR fails to acquire the
Notes for resale to eligible investors in accordance with the Plan of Distribution outlined in the Offering Memorandum (as defined
below) (excluding any Notes covered by FBR’s additional allotment option, as described in the Offering Memorandum), this
Subscription Agreement shall automatically terminate. In the event of rejection of any portion of the subscription by the Company or
the termination of this Subscription Agreement in accordance with the previous sentence, such portion of the undersigned’s payment
hereunder will be returned without interest promptly to the undersigned and this Subscription Agreement shall have no force or effect.

2. The undersigned represents and warrants that it is an “accredited investor” within the meaning of Rule 501 under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), as noted on Attachment A entitled “Eligibility Representations of the
Investor” following the signature page to this Subscription Agreement.
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3. The undersigned (check applicable box):
 

 ❑ is:
 

 ❑ is not:

an “affiliate” (as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act) of the Company or acting on behalf of an affiliate of the Company.

4. The undersigned shall deliver on or before two business days preceding the Closing Date (as such term is defined in the
Purchase/Placement Agreement to be entered into between the Company and FBR) the subscription amount for the Notes
subscribed by wire transfer of United States dollars in immediately available funds to an account specified by FBR and authorizes
FBR to deliver the subscription amount on the undersigned’s behalf to the Company at the closing of the offering.

5. The undersigned acknowledges that it has received a copy of the preliminary offering memorandum, subject to completion,
dated January 31, 2014, and will receive a copy of the final Offering Memorandum, relating to the offering of the Notes (collectively,
the “Offering Memorandum”), and the undersigned understands and agrees that the Offering Memorandum speaks only as of its date
and that the information contained in the Offering Memorandum may not be correct or complete as of any time subsequent to that
date.

6. The undersigned understands that the Notes are being offered in a transaction not involving any public offering within the
United States within the meaning of the Securities Act and that the Notes have not been registered under the Securities Act or the
securities laws of any jurisdiction and, unless so registered, may not be sold except as permitted in the following sentence. The
undersigned agrees that, if in the future the undersigned decides to offer, resell, pledge or otherwise transfer such Notes, prior to the
time such Notes would no longer be deemed to be restricted securities for purposes of the Securities Act (the “Resale Restriction
Termination Date”), such Notes may be offered, resold, pledged or otherwise transferred only (a) to the Company or a subsidiary
thereof, (b) pursuant to a registration statement that has been declared effective under the Securities Act, (c) for so long as the Notes
are eligible for resale pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act, in a transaction complying with the requirements of Rule 144A
to a person or entity who the undersigned reasonably believes is a qualified institutional buyer under Rule 144A (a “QIB”) that
purchases for its own account or for the account of a QIB and to whom notice is given that the offer, resale, pledge or transfer is being
made in reliance on Rule 144A, (d) pursuant to offers and sales to non-U.S. persons1 that occur outside the United States within the
meaning of and in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act, or (e) pursuant to any other available exemption from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act (including as provided by Rule 144 thereunder), subject in each of the foregoing cases
to any requirement of law that the disposition of the undersigned’s property be at all times within the
 

1 In order to qualify as a non-U.S. person under Regulation S, the proposed transferee must (a) have his, her or its principal
address outside the United States, (b) be located outside the United States at the time any offer to buy the Notes was made to the
proposed transferee and at the time that the buy order was originated by the proposed transferee, and (c) not be a “U.S. person” (as
defined in Rule 902(k) under the Securities Act).
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undersigned’s control and subject to compliance with any applicable securities laws of any jurisdiction. The foregoing restrictions on
resale will not apply subsequent to the Resale Restriction Termination Date. The undersigned understands that the transfer agent for
the Notes will not be required to accept for registration of transfer any Notes acquired by the undersigned, except upon presentation
of evidence satisfactory to the Company and the transfer agent that the foregoing restrictions on transfer have been complied with.
The undersigned acknowledges that the Company and FBR reserve the right prior to any offer, sale or other transfer of the Notes
(1) pursuant to clause (d) above prior to the end of the one-year restricted period within the meaning of Regulation S under the
Securities Act or (2) pursuant to clause (c) or (e) above prior to the Resale Restriction Termination Date, to require the delivery of an
opinion of counsel, certifications and/or other information satisfactory to the Company and FBR. The undersigned agrees not to
engage in hedging transactions with regard to the Notes unless in compliance with the Securities Act. The undersigned further
understands that any certificates representing Notes acquired by the undersigned will bear a legend reflecting the substance of this
paragraph.

7. The undersigned hereby makes the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements deemed to have been made by
each investor under the section of the Offering Memorandum relating to the Notes entitled “Transfer Restrictions” and agrees to be
bound by the restrictions set forth in such section.

8. The undersigned acknowledges that it has received such information as the undersigned deems necessary in order to make
an investment decision with respect to the Notes. The undersigned understands that the undersigned and its professional advisor(s), if
any, have the right to ask questions of and receive answers from the Company and its officers and directors, and to obtain such
information concerning the terms and conditions of the offering of the Notes to the extent that the Company possesses the same or
could acquire it without unreasonable effort or expense, as the undersigned and any of the undersigned’s professional advisor(s)
deem necessary to verify the accuracy of the information referred to in the Offering Memorandum pursuant to which the Notes are
being offered. The undersigned represents and agrees that the undersigned and the undersigned’s professional advisor(s), if any,
have asked such questions, received such answers and obtained such information as the undersigned and the undersigned’s
professional advisor(s), if any, deem necessary to verify the accuracy (1) of the information referred to in the Offering Memorandum
and (2) of any other information that the undersigned and the undersigned’s professional advisor(s), if any, deem relevant to making
an investment decision with respect to the Notes.

9. The undersigned represents and warrants that (a) the undersigned became aware of this offering of the Notes, and the Notes
were offered to the undersigned solely by means of the Offering Memorandum and/or by direct contact between the undersigned and
the Company or FBR, and not by any other means, including, by any form of general solicitation or general advertising, (b) the
undersigned has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and
risks of an investment in the Notes (and sought such accounting, legal and tax advice as the undersigned has considered necessary
to make an informed investment decision) and is aware that there are substantial risks incident to the purchase of the Notes,
including those summarized under “Risk Factors” in the Offering
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Memorandum, (c) in making the decision to purchase the Notes, the undersigned has relied solely upon the Offering Memorandum
and independent investigation made by the undersigned, and (d) alone, or together with any professional advisor(s), the undersigned
has adequately analyzed the risks of an investment in the Notes and determined that the Notes are a suitable investment for the
undersigned and that the undersigned is able at this time and in the foreseeable future to bear the economic risk of a total loss of the
undersigned’s investment in the Notes; the undersigned acknowledges such a possibility. The undersigned understands and agrees
that the Notes offered pursuant to the Offering Memorandum are not being offered in a manner involving a public offering under, or in
a distribution in violation of, the Securities Act or any state securities laws.

10. The undersigned represents and warrants that (a) the undersigned is acquiring the Notes for the undersigned’s own account
(and not for the account of others) for investment purposes and not with a view to, or for offer or sale in connection with, any
distribution in violation of the Securities Act, (b) the undersigned was not formed for the specific purpose of acquiring the Notes,
(c) the undersigned understands that there is no established market for the Notes and that no public market for the Notes may
develop and that no federal or state agency has passed upon the Notes or the Offering Memorandum, or made any findings or
determination as to the fairness of an investment in the Notes and (d) the undersigned is aware of the restrictions on transfer
contained in the Offering Memorandum.

11. The undersigned (if a natural person) is at least 21 years of age and the undersigned has adequate means of providing for
all his or her current and foreseeable needs and personal contingencies and has no need for liquidity in this investment, and if the
undersigned is an unincorporated association, all of its members who are “U.S. persons” within the meaning of Regulation S under
the Securities Act are at least 21 years of age.

12. The undersigned represents and warrants that neither the undersigned nor any person or entity controlling, controlled by or
under common control with the undersigned, nor any person or entity having a beneficial interest in the undersigned, nor any other
person or entity on whose behalf the undersigned is acting: (i) is a person or entity listed in the annex to Executive Order No. 13224
(2001) issued by the President of the United States (Executive Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons
Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support Terrorism); (ii) is included on the List of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked
Persons maintained by the U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control within the United States Department of the Treasury (“OFAC”); (iii) is
a Designated National as defined in the Cuban Assets Control Regulations, 31 C.F.R. Part 515; (iv) is otherwise subject to U.S.
economic or trade sanctions; (v) is a non-U.S. shell bank or will make payment from or receive payment to a non-U.S. shell bank;
(vi) is a senior non-U.S. political figure or an immediate family member or close associate of such figure, or an entity owned or
controlled by such a figure; or (vii) is prohibited from investing in the Company pursuant to applicable U.S. anti-money laundering,
antiterrorist, economic sanctions and asset control laws, regulations, rules or orders (categories (i) through (vii) collectively, a
“Prohibited Investor”). The undersigned agrees to provide the Company, promptly upon request, all information that the Company
reasonably deems necessary or appropriate to comply with applicable U.S. anti-money laundering,
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antiterrorist, economic sanctions and asset control laws, regulations, rules and orders. The undersigned consents to the disclosure to
U.S. regulators and law enforcement authorities by the Company and its affiliates and agents of such information about the
undersigned as the Company reasonably deems necessary or appropriate to comply with applicable U.S. anti-money laundering,
antiterrorist, economic sanctions and asset control laws, regulations, rules and orders. If the undersigned is a financial institution that
is subject to the Bank Secrecy Act, as amended (31 U.S.C. Section 5311, et. seq.), and its implementing regulations (collectively, the
“Bank Secrecy Act”), the undersigned represents that the undersigned has met and will continue to meet all of its respective
obligations under the Bank Secrecy Act. The undersigned further represents and warrants that the funds used to purchase the Notes
were legally derived under U.S. and any applicable foreign law, and were not derived from any activities in any geographic area
subject to U.S. economic or trade sanctions, or with any entity or person subject to such sanctions. The undersigned acknowledges
that if, following the investment in the Notes by the undersigned, the Company reasonably believes that the undersigned is a
Prohibited Investor or has invested with funds derived illegally or will use the proceeds of the investment to further illegal activity or
refuses to provide promptly information that the Company requests, the Company has the right or may be obligated to prohibit
additional investments, segregate the assets constituting, and/or withhold or suspend distributions to the undersigned in respect of,
the investment in accordance with applicable regulations or immediately require the undersigned to transfer the Notes. The
undersigned further acknowledges that neither the undersigned will have any claim against the Company or any of its affiliates or
agents for any form of damages as a result of any of the foregoing actions.

13. The undersigned acknowledges that FBR has acted as agent for the Company in connection with the sale of the Notes and
consents to FBR’s actions in this regard and hereby waives any and all claims, actions, liabilities, damages or demands the
undersigned may have against FBR in connection with any alleged conflict of interest arising from FBR’s engagement as an agent of
the Company with respect to the sale by the Company of the Notes to the undersigned.

14. The undersigned agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Company and FBR, their respective directors, executive
officers and each other person, if any, who controls or is controlled by the Company or FBR, within the meaning of Section 15 of the
Securities Act or Section 20 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, from and against any and all loss, liability, claim,
damage and expense whatsoever (including, without limitation, any and all expenses whatsoever reasonably incurred in
investigating, preparing or defending against any litigation commenced or threatened or any claim whatsoever) arising out of or
based upon (a) any false, misleading or incomplete representation, declaration or warranty or breach or failure by the undersigned to
comply with any covenant or agreement made by the undersigned in this Subscription Agreement or in any other document furnished
by the undersigned to any of the foregoing in connection with this transaction or (b) any action for securities law violations by the
undersigned.

15. The undersigned understands and agrees that the undersigned is purchasing Notes directly from the Company and not from
FBR and that FBR did not make any representations, declarations or warranties to the undersigned regarding the Notes, the
Company or the Company’s offering of the Notes.

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



16. The undersigned has attached the proper accredited investor verification forms as set forth in the table in Attachment B
hereto (the “Verification Forms”). The Verification Forms are true and correct as of the date provided on such forms, and the
undersigned is not aware of any changes to such form between the date of such form and the date hereof.

17. The Company and FBR may request from the undersigned such additional information as the Company or FBR may deem
necessary to evaluate the eligibility of the undersigned to acquire the Notes, and may request from time to time such information as
the Company or FBR may deem necessary to determine the eligibility of the undersigned to hold the Notes or to enable the Company
to determine the Company’s compliance with applicable regulatory requirements or tax status, and the undersigned shall provide
such information as may reasonably be requested.

18. The undersigned acknowledges that FBR, the Company and others will rely on the acknowledgments, understandings,
agreements, representations and warranties contained in this Subscription Agreement. The undersigned agrees to promptly notify
FBR and the Company if any of the acknowledgments, understandings, agreements, representations and warranties set forth herein
are no longer accurate. The undersigned agrees that each purchase by the undersigned of Notes within six months from the date of
this Subscription Agreement will constitute a reaffirmation of the acknowledgments, understandings, agreements, representations
and warranties herein (as modified by any such notice) by the undersigned as of the time of such purchase, including with respect to
the Notes then purchased.

19. The undersigned represents and warrants that the execution, delivery and performance of this Subscription Agreement by
the undersigned are within the powers of the undersigned, have been duly authorized and will not constitute or result in a breach or
default under or conflict with any order, ruling or regulation of any court or other tribunal or of any governmental commission or
agency, or any agreement or other undertaking, to which the undersigned is a party or by which the undersigned is bound, and, if the
undersigned is not an individual, will not violate any provisions of such entity’s charter documents, including, without limitation, its
incorporation or formation papers, bylaws, indenture of trust or partnership or operating agreement, as may be applicable. The
signature on this Subscription Agreement is genuine, and the signatory, if the undersigned is an individual, has legal competence and
capacity to execute the same, or, if the undersigned is not an individual, the signatory has been duly authorized to execute the same,
and this Subscription Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the undersigned, enforceable in accordance with
its terms.

20. The undersigned hereby acknowledges and agrees that this Subscription Agreement is an agreement solely between the
undersigned and the Company and that this Subscription Agreement is independent of any other subscription or similar agreement
between the Company, on the one hand, and any other purchaser of the Notes, on the other hand.
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21. Neither this Subscription Agreement nor any rights that may accrue to the undersigned hereunder may be transferred or
assigned.

22. The undersigned, on the undersigned’s own behalf and on behalf of each Account, if any, acknowledges that FBR, the
Company and others may be relying on the exemptions from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act.

23. FBR (which is a third party beneficiary of this subscription agreement) and the Company are entitled to rely upon this
Subscription Agreement and are irrevocably authorized to produce this Subscription Agreement or a copy hereof to any interested
party in any administrative or legal proceeding or official inquiry with respect to the matters covered hereby.

THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF
THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO THE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS OTHER THAN SECTIONS 5-
1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATION LAW THAT WOULD OTHERWISE REQUIRE THE
APPLICATION OF THE LAW OF ANY OTHER STATE.

NOTE: YOU MUST SUPPLY THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION AND SIGN THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT WHERE
INDICATED BELOW
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Subscription Agreement to be executed as of the date set forth
below.
 

   
Signature of Investor  Signature of Joint Investor, if applicable

   
Name of Investor  Name of Joint Investor, if applicable
(Please indicate name and capacity of person signing above if the investor is
other than a natural person.)  

(Please indicate name and capacity of person signing above if the investor is
other than a natural person.)

  
Name in which Notes are to be registered (if different)  Date:                                  , 2014

If the investor is a natural person, the investor’s State/Province of residence  is:  

Social Security No. or EIN:                          

If there are joint investors, please check one:  

❑       Joint Tenants with Rights of Survivorship  

❑       Tenants-in-Common  

❑       Community Property  

If the investor is other than a natural person, it:  

•    is the following type of organization:  

•    is organized under the laws of:  

•    has its principal place of business in:   ; and

•    was formed for the purpose of:  

   
Business Address – Street  Mailing Address – Street (if different)

   
City                                         State
                                                 Zip  

City                                         State
                                                 Zip

Attn.:   Attn.:  

Telephone No.:   Telephone No.:  

Facsimile No.:   Facsimile No.:  

Email:   Email:  

Name of Sales Representative:
 
Number of Notes subscribed for:
 
Subscription Amount: $

(You must pay the Subscription Amount pursuant to the instructions to be provided by FBR. To the extent the actual amount of Notes
purchased and received by the undersigned is different than the amount subscribed for, the Company and FBR may amend this
agreement to reflect the actual amount of Notes purchased and received by the undersigned.)
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ATTACHMENT A

ELIGIBILITY REPRESENTATIONS OF THE INVESTOR
 
A. ACCREDITED INVESTOR STATUS FOR ENTITIES
 (Pleasecheck the applicable subparagraphs):
 

1.

  

❑

  

We are either: a bank as defined in Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act acting in its individual or fiduciary
capacity; a savings and loan association or other institution as defined in Section 3(a)(5)(A) of the Securities Act
acting in its individual or fiduciary capacity; a broker or dealer registered pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; an insurance company as defined in section 2(13) of the Securities Act; an investment
company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 or a business development company as defined
in Section 2(a)(48) of the Securities Act; a small business investment company licensed by the U.S. Small
Business Administration under Section 301(c) or (d) of the Small Business Investment Act of 1958; an employee
benefit plan within the meaning of Title I of ERISA and (i) the investment decision is made by a plan fiduciary, as
defined in Section 3(21) of ERISA, which is either a bank, savings and loan association, insurance company or
registered investment adviser, or (ii) the employee benefit plan has total assets over $5,000,000, or (iii) the
employee benefit plan is self directed and its investment decisions are made solely by persons that are accredited
investors (within the meaning of Rule 501(a) under the Securities Act); a plan established and maintained by a
state, its political subdivisions, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or its political subdivisions for the benefit
of its employees, and such plan has assets in excess of $5,000,000.

2.
  

❑
  

We are a private business development company as defined in Section 202(a)(22) of the Investment Advisers Act
of 1940.

3.

  

❑

  

We are an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, a corporation, a Massachusetts or similar
business trust, or a partnership, not formed for the specific purpose of acquiring Notes, with total assets in excess
of $5,000,000.

4.

  

❑

  

We are a trust with total assets in excess of $5,000,000, that was not formed for the specific purpose of
purchasing Notes and whose purchase is directed by a person who has such knowledge and experience in
financial and business matters that he is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of investing in the Company.

5.
  

❑
  

We are an entity in which all of the equity owners are accredited investors (within the meaning of Rule 501(a)
under the Securities Act).
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B. ACCREDITED INVESTOR STATUS FOR INDIVIDUALS
 (Pleasecheck the applicable subparagraphs):
 

1.   ❑   I am a director or executive officer of the Company.

2.

  

❑

  

I am a natural person and have a net worth, either alone or with my spouse, of more than $1,000,000 (excluding
the value of my primary residence). In calculating your net worth, please take the following into account: (a) if the
fair market value of your primary residence is less than the amount of indebtedness secured by your primary
residence (including first and second mortgage, equity lines, etc.) then include in such calculation as a liability the
amount by which the indebtedness on your primary residence exceeds its fair market value; (b) if the fair market
value of your primary residence exceeds the aggregate amount of indebtedness secured by your primary
residence (including first and second mortgage, equity lines, etc.), then exclude from such calculation the value of
your primary residence and the amount of indebtedness secured by your primary residence; and (c)
notwithstanding the foregoing, if you have increased the amount of indebtedness on your primary residence in the
last 60 days before the date you submit this questionnaire, then include as a liability in such calculation the
amount by which such indebtedness has increased in the last 60 days. For example, if you have drawn on a
home equity line during the last 60 days, include the amount of that incremental debt as a liability in calculating
your net worth. Similarly, if you have refinanced your mortgage during the last 60 days with a mortgage loan that
has a higher amount, you must include as a liability the amount, if any, that the new mortgage loan exceeds the
old mortgage loan. If you purchased your primary residence in the last 60 days, however, do not include as a
liability in such calculation the amount, if any, by which the amount of the mortgage loan on your new primary
residence exceeds the amount of the mortgage loan on your old primary residence.

3.

  

❑

  

I am a natural person and had income in excess of $200,000 during each of the previous two years and
reasonably expect to have income in excess of $200,000 during the current year, or joint income with my spouse
in excess of $300,000 during each of the previous two years and reasonably expect to have joint income in
excess of $300,000 during the current year.

 

C. DTC INFORMATION:
 

Name of DTC Participant:    

Participant’s DTC Account Number:   

Investor’s Account Number with Participant:    
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ATTACHMENT B

LIST OF ACCEPTABLE VERIFICATION FORMS
 
If you are a:   You may provide:

natural person that has a net worth, either alone or with my spouse,
of more than $1,000,000 (excluding the value of my primary
residence).

  

(A)   For Assets (each dated within the last three months):
 

•    Bank statements;
 

•    Brokerage statements or other statement of
security holdings;

 

•    Certificates of deposit; or
 

•    Third party appraisal reports or tax assessments.
 

For Liabilities, a credit report from a nationwide
consumer reporting agency (dated within the last
three months); or

 

(B)   A written confirmation from a registered broker-
dealer, an SEC-registered investment advisor, a
licensed attorney or a certified public accountant that
such person has taken reasonable steps to verify that
you are an accredited investor within the last three
months.

a natural person that had income in excess of $200,000 during each
of the previous two years and reasonably expect to have income in
excess of $200,000 during the current year, or joint income with my
spouse in excess of $300,000 during each of the previous two years
and reasonably expect to have joint income in excess of $300,000
during the current year.

  

(A)   Either of the following forms (for the two most recent
years):

 

•    Form W-2;
 

•    Form 1099;
 

•    Schedule K-1; or
 

•    Form 1040; and
 

(B)   A written representation that you (and, if applicable,
your spouse) have a reasonable expectation to
reaching the income level necessary to qualify as an
accredited investors during the current year.
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A director or officer of the Company
  

Signed D&O questionnaire or other evidence
(appointment resolutions, etc.)

a bank as defined in Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act acting in
its individual or fiduciary capacity   

Verification of current registration with applicable
regulatory body.

a savings and loan association or other institution as defined in
Section 3(a)(5)(A) of the Securities Act acting in its individual or
fiduciary capacity   

Verification of current registration with applicable
regulatory body.

a broker or dealer registered pursuant to Section 15 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934   

Verification of current registration with applicable
regulatory body.

an insurance company as defined in section 2(13) of the Securities
Act   

Verification of current registration with applicable
regulatory body.

an investment company registered under the Investment Company
Act of 1940 or a business development company as defined in
Section 2(a)(48) of the Securities Act   

Verification of current registration with applicable
regulatory body.

a small business investment company licensed by the U.S. Small
Business Administration under Section 301(c) or (d) of the Small
Business Investment Act of 1958   

Verification of current registration with applicable
regulatory body.

an employee benefit plan within the meaning of Title I of ERISA and
the investment decision is made by a plan fiduciary, as defined in
Section 3(21) of ERISA, which is either a bank, savings and loan
association, insurance company or registered investment adviser   

Verification of current registration with applicable
regulatory body and recent statement or other evidence
of the existence of the plan fiduciary.

an employee benefit plan within the meaning of Title I of ERISA and
the investment decision is made by a plan fiduciary, as defined in
Section 3(21) of ERISA, and the employee benefit plan has total
assets over $5,000,000   

Verification of current registration with applicable
regulatory body and recent (within prior two months)
bank or brokerage statements verifying amount of plan
assets.
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an employee benefit plan within the meaning of Title I of ERISA and
the investment decision is made by a plan fiduciary, as defined in
Section 3(21) of ERISA, and the employee benefit plan is self
directed and its investment decisions are made solely by persons
that are accredited investors (within the meaning of Rule 501(a)
under the Securities Act)   

Verification of current registration with applicable
regulatory body and separate verification of accredited
investor status of the investment decision makers.

a plan established and maintained by a state, its political
subdivisions, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or its
political subdivisions for the benefit of its employees, and such plan
has assets in excess of $5,000,000.   

Verification of current registration with applicable
regulatory body and recent (within prior two months)
bank or brokerage statements verifying amount of plan
assets.

a private business development company as defined in
Section 202(a)(22) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940   

Verification of current registration with applicable
regulatory body.

We are an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code
with total assets in excess of $5,000,000.   

Most recent Form 990 series return

We are a corporation, a Massachusetts or similar business trust, or
a partnership, not formed for the specific purpose of acquiring
Notes, with total assets in excess of $5,000,000.   

Most recent audited financial statements

We are a trust with total assets in excess of $5,000,000, that was
not formed for the specific purpose of purchasing Notes and whose
purchase is directed by a person who has such knowledge and
experience in financial and business matters that he is capable of
evaluating the merits and risks of investing in the Company.   

Trust formation documents, recent (within prior two
months) bank or brokerage statements verifying amount
of trust assets and name of person with power to invest
in securities of the Company.

We are an entity in which all of the equity owners are accredited
investors (within the meaning of Rule 501(a) under the Securities
Act).   

Accredited investor verifications from all owners.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Imperial Holdings, Inc. has accepted this Subscription Agreement as of the date set forth below.
 
Date:                         , 2014   IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC.

  By:   

  Name:   

  Title:   
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SCHEDULE I

APPROVED SUPPLEMENTS
 
1. Supplement to the Preliminary Memorandum dated February 11, 2014
 

2. Pricing Term Sheet dated February 12, 2014
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ANNEX I

FORM OF INDENTURE

[ATTACHED]
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of Imperial Holdings, Inc., a Florida corporation
 
Entity   Jurisdiction

CTL Holdings, LLC   Illinois
Greenwood Asset Portfolio, LLC   Delaware
Haverhill Receivables, LLC   Georgia
Imperial Finance & Trading, LLC   Florida
Imperial Life and Annuity Services, LLC   Florida
Imperial Life Financing II, LLC   Georgia
Imperial Life Settlements, LLC   Delaware
Imperial Litigation Funding, LLC   Florida
Imperial PFC Financing, LLC   Illinois
Imperial PFC Financing II, LLC   Georgia
Imperial Premium Finance, LLC   Florida
Imperial Settlements Financing 2010, LLC   Georgia
Imperial SRC V, LLC   Florida
Markley Asset Portfolio, LLC   Delaware
MXT Investments, LLC   Florida
OLIPP I, LLC   Delaware
OLIPP II, LLC   Delaware
OLIPP III, LLC   Delaware
OLIPP IV, LLC   Delaware
OLIPP Ireland Limited   Ireland
Portfolio Servicing, LLC   Florida
PSC Financial, LLC   Florida
Red Reef Alternative Investments, LLC   Delaware
Sovereign Life Financing, LLC   Delaware
Washington Square Financial, LLC   Georgia
White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LLC   Delaware
WSF Contingent, LLC   Florida
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We have issued our reports dated March 10, 2014, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and internal control over
financial reporting included in the Annual Report of Imperial Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2013. We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said reports in the Registration Statement of Imperial
Holdings, Inc. on Form S-8 (File No. 333-172114, effective February 8, 2011).

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP
Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 10, 2014
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Antony Mitchell, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Imperial Holdings, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

 

 
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 

/s/ Antony Mitchell
Antony Mitchell
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 10, 2014
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Richard S. O’Connell, Jr., certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/ of Imperial Holdings, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

 

 
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 

/s/ Richard S. O’Connell, Jr.
Richard S. O’Connell, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Credit Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 10, 2014
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Exhibit 32.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Imperial Holdings, Inc. (the Registrant) on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2013 as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Antony Mitchell,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant, certify to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted
pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of

operations of the Registrant.
 

/s/ Antony Mitchell
Antony Mitchell
Chief Executive Officer and Director

March 10, 2014
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Exhibit 32.2

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Imperial Holdings, Inc. (the Registrant) on Form 10-K/A for the period ended
December 31, 2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Richard S. O’Connell,
Jr., Chief Financial Officer and Chief Credit Officer of the Registrant, certify to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of

operations of the Registrant.
 

/s/ Richard S. O’Connell, Jr.
Richard S. O’Connell, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Credit Officer

March 10, 2014

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.


	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents

